




Dear Fellow 
Shareholders, 
The technological leaps being made around 
artificial intelligence (AI) are impressive, and 
its application is being broadly applied across 
nearly every business. Ours is no exception. 
From simplifying the abstracting of leases to 
speeding up the architectural design of tenant 
spaces to improving the efficiency of building 
HVAC and other systems, AI is flexing its 
muscles in ways we only dreamed about a few 
years ago. So when my team suggested using 
AI tools to write this letter to you, I said, 
"Sure! Let's see what it can come up with." 
And that's where its limitations were exposed. 

The result was perfect grammar, wonderful 
sentence composition, and lots of factual 
statements. I was struck by the notion that 
the letter could apply to many companies . In 
other words, it was pretty darn generic. I 
couldn't help but draw a parallel with the 
shopping center business. As you travel from 
city to city and suburb to suburb around the 
country and look for a place to buy groceries, 
shop for a new pai r of jeans, get a meal, or 
even a cup of coffee, it's not hard to imagine 
the oft-repeated feeling of deja vu . The reality 
is that most shopping centers across the 
country feel very similar. Generic if you will. 
The same retailers and restaurants offering 
the same products and services in the same 
clinical way. It's what has happened over the 
last 30 years in retail, and it is efficient, just 
like AI. But what if you believe, as we at 
Federal Realty do, that being a lbit different 
and a bit more special can make for a more 
valuable shopping center? 

The chain retailers that dominate the retail 
landscape are enormously important to the 
viabillity and traffic generation of a retail 
destination, and it's why the TJX Companies 
(TJ Maxx, Marshalls, HomeGoods, and Sierra 
Trad ing) and grocer Ahold Delhaize (Giant 
Food, Stop & Shop and others) are our largest 
and second-largest tenants, respectively. 
These great operators serve as important 
ancho rs for the shopping center and generate 
increased traffic from their loyal customer 
bases. But it takes more than a great anchor 

to create a great shopping center, and that's 
where Federal Realty comes in. 

At Federal, the combination of a strong 
anchor system, unique best-in-class restaurant 
and retail operators in the adj acent spaces, 
and placemaking expertise that creates a 
fami l iar and comfortable environment to 
spend time in all work together to create a 
shopping experience different from others. In 
other words, not generic. We've refined t hese 
attributes over our 60-plus-year history, and it 
has resulted in a reputation for excellence and 
confidence in execution from retailers, 
brokers, and others that is both the envy of 
our industry and can serve as a springboard 
into new markets and opportunities that 
we've just begun to explore. 

New acquisitions like Virginia Gateway in 
Gainesville, Virgin ia; The Shops at Pembroke 
Gardens in Pembro ke Pines, Florida; and our 
latest, De l Monte Shopping Center in 
Monterey, Californiia, all reflect that vision. 
Under-managed, under-tenanted shopping 
centers that could be so much more based on 
the demographics of the customer that they 
are (or cou ld be) serving. The common thread 
is one of a more affluent but underserved 
customer in a dominant, well-located 
shopping center, now in the hands of Federal 
Realty, with its long-proven track record of 
creating best-in-class retail destinations. 

That formu la led to a very successful 2024. 
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INDUSTRY-LEADING CONSISTENCY 

57 consecutive years 
of increased dividends. 
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*Annualized dividends per share 

A lo o k Back 

2024 was an extremely successful year for the 
company with strong results across the board . 
We delivered funds from operations per 
common share of $6.77, a company record. 1 

We completed leases for nearly 2.4 million 
square feet of comparable space, a company 
record . We hit leased occupancy of 96.2% and 
physiical occupancy of 94.1 %, levels we 
haven't seen in nearly 20 years. We stabilized 
four redevelopments while progressing work 
on our remaining $785 million redevelopment 
pipeline. We saw the benefit of the return-to­
office movement with increased demand for 
our remaining office mixed-use product and 
ended the year with 1 Santana West and 91 5 
Meeting Street at Pike & Rose at 82% and 91 % 
committed, respectively, under signed leases 
and heavily negotiated LOis. We acquired two 
new assets, Virgin ia Gateway in Gainesville, 
Virg inia and Pinole Vista Crossing in Pinole, 
Cal ifornia, investing $275 million at a 
combined return in the low 7% range, a return 

$4 .40 . 

2024 

well in excess of what those properties would 
trade at today and well in excess of our cost 
of capital , even with today's elevated interest 
rates. We lowered our leverage through 
opportunistic ATM issuances, which funded 
accretive acquisitions, selective asset sales, 
and growing free cash flow, and ended the 
year with $1 .4 billiion of liquidity to support 
our growth in 2025. You get the point. Our 
multi-faceted business plan delivered results 
across all fronts in 2024. 

And of course, what I believe to be our most 
remarkable achievement-increasing our 
dividend to common shareholders for the 57th 
consecutive year. No other REIT comes close 
(the next highest is 31 years), and only 1 3 
publ icly traded S&P 500 companies surpass 
this record , many of which are household 
names in industrial and consumer goods. 
Unlike industrial and consumer goods 
compan ies that can raise prices with inflation, 
real estate-built on long-term , fixed-rent 
contracts-demands a different strategy. Our 

1 FFO is a non-GAAP financial measure. See page 46 of our Form 1 0-K f or information on FFO and 
FFO per share. 
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ability to consistently grow dividends year 
after year stems from the strength of our 
super ior real estate. Real estate that allows us 
to capture higher rents as tenant leases expire 
and to negotiate strong rent increases during 
the lease terms. And real estate that is 
supported by a resilient balance sheet that 
allows for growth through multiple economic 
cycles- a true testament to our foundation 
that has been built over the past si x decades. 

looking Ahead 

For the past 20 years, our goal has remained 
the same: deliver a steady stream of growing 
cash flow through the inevitable highs and 
lows of economic cycles. What has evolved is 
how we adjust our playbook to address those 
cycles. We've purposefully maintained multiple 
growth strategies through the years- acquiring 
new assets, developing from the ground up, 
and redeveloping existing assets. In 2025, we 
plan to draw on all of these strategies to drive 
continued growth. 

On the acquisition f ront, we're off to a strong 
start with the recent acquisition of Del Monte 
Shopping Center, a 674,000-square·foot 
grocery-anchored lifestyle center in Monterey, 
California. We saw in Del Monte a unique 
opportunity to acquire the dominant property 
in an affluent trade area where the quality of 
avai lable retail doesn't satisfy the consumer 
demand. There was nothing better than getting 
confirmation of that thesis during the due 
di ligence process when a local broker said 
there were tenants who had not considered 
this property or the Monterey market in 
general, but would do so now because Federal 
owns the property. Not only a validation of 
our thes is on the opportunity at this property, 
but a wonderful reminder of Federal's stellar 
reputation among retail tenants and the 
brokerage community. We look forward to 
better serving that affluent Monterey consumer 

and see a lot of additional opportunities in 
202 5 to explore other affluent markets where 
we can acquire the dominant retail property 
and use our unique skill sets to ensure that the 
property better services its affluent consumer. 

On the development front, we recently 
announced the start of a $45 million ground-up 
development of residential over retail at one of 
our properties in Hoboken, New Jersey, and 
hope to be able to announce at least one other 
residential project at an existing property later 
this year. Through our redevelopment 
capab ilities, we focus on keeping existing 
assets relevant for today's retailers and 
consumers, and you can see that at the 
recently announced re-tenanting and 
reimagination of a portion of our Andorra 
Shopping Center in Phi ladelphia, Pennsylvania, 
and the soon to be completed total redo of 
Huntington Shopping Center in Huntington, 
New York. The com mon denominator for all of 
these projects is t hat they start with well­
located properties-properties that can support 
vertical densification and properties where 
there is sufficient consumer and tenant 
demand to support the rents needed for 
development and redevelopment. And, as 
importantly, they can all be created and 
executed by an internal team with a wide range 
of expertise, a competitive advantage that few 
other companies can match. 

As we head into 2025, challenges remain­
persistent inflation, higher but historically 
normal interest rates, and an economy 
supported largely by the spending of more 
affluent consumers. A new administration in 
Washington has shaken things up in its initial 
mont hs in office, and that is adding uncertainty 
into ithe mix with very little clarity at this point 
for what the impacts-both positive and 
negative-of that shake-up may be. Through it 
all, our management team remains focused 
and nimble, with one clear goal in mind: 
creating real estate value for our shareholders. 
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In Closing 

We are optimistic about the future and look 
forward to another year of growth, progress, 
and success in 2025. Our team of a little over 
300 makes it all possible through their 
dedication, creativity, and a love for what it is 
we do. I'm immensely grateful to each and 
every one of them and truly appreciate their 
contributions to the success of the company. 

The same goes for our Board of Trustees, who 
bring invaluable guidance and steadfast 
commitment to ensure the company is run in 
the best interest of our shareholders. 

On behalf of our Board of Trustees and our 
entire team, I thank you for your continued 
support and look forward to serving you in the 
years ahead. 

Sincerely, 

Donald C. Wood 

Chief Executive Officer 
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

Portions of Federal Realty Investment Trust's Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
"SEC") for its annual meeting of shareholders to be held in May 2025 will be incorporated by reference into Part ill hereof. 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

This report combines the annual reports on Form 1 0-K for the year ended December 31 , 2024, of Federal Realty Investment 
Trust and Federal Realty OP LP. Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, references to "Federal Realty 
Investment Trust," the "Parent Company" or the "Trust" mean Federal Realty Investment Trust; and references to "Federal 
Realty OP LP" or the "Operating Partnership" mean Federal Realty OP LP. The term "the Company," "we," "us," and "our" 
refer to the Parent Company and its business and operations conducted through its directly and indirectly owned subsidiaries, 
including the Operating Partnership. References to "shares" and "shareholders" refer to the shares and shareholders of the 
Parent Company and not the limited partnership interests for limited partners of the Operating Partnership. 

The Parent Company is a real estate investment trust ("REIT") that owns I 00% of the limited liability company interests of, is 
the sole member of, and exercises exclusive control over Federal Realty GP LLC (the "General Partner"), which is the sole 
general partner of the Operating Partnership. As of December 31 , 2024, the Parent Company owned I 00% of the outstanding 
partnership units (the "OP Units") in the Operating Partnership. 

The Company believes combining the annual reports on Form 10-K of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership into 
this single report provides the following benefits: 

Enhances investors' understanding ofithe Parent Company and the Operating Partnership by enabling investors to view 
the ibusinesses as a whole in the same manner as management views and operates the business; 

Eliminates duplicate disclosure and provides a more streamlined and readable presentation; and 

Creates time and cost efficiencies through the preparation of one combined report instead of two separate reports. 

Management operates the Parent Company and the Operating PartnershJp as one business. Since the Operating Partnership is 
managed by the Parent Company, and the Parent Company conducts substantially all of its operations through the Operating 
Partnership, the management of the Parent Company consists of the same individuals as the management of the Operating 
Partnership. 

We believe it is important to understand the few differences between the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership in the 
context of how the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership operate as a consolidated company. The Parent Company is 
a REIT, whose only material asset is its direct and indirect interest in the Operating Partnership. As a result, the Parent 
Company does not conduct business itself other than issuing public equity from time to time. The Parent Company is not 
expected to incur any material indebtedness. The Operating Partnership holds substantially all of our assets and retains the 
ownership interests in the Company's joint ventures. Except for net proceeds from public equity issuances by the Parent 
Company, which are contributed to the Operating Partnership in exchange for OP Units, the Operating Partnership generates all 
capital required by the Company's business. Sources of this capital include the Operating Partnership' s operations, its direct or 
indirect incurrence of indebtedness, and the issuance of partnership units. 

Shareholders' equity, partner capital, and non-controlling interests are the primary areas of difference between the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Parent Company and those of the Operating Partnership. The Operating Partnership' s capital 
currently includes OP Units owned by the Parent, and may in the future include OP Units owned by third parties. OP Units 
owned by third parties, if any, are accounted for in capital in the Operating Partnership's financial statements and in non­
controlling interests in the Parent Company's fmancial statements. 

The Parent Company consolidates the Operating Partnership for financial reporting purposes, and the Parent Company does not 
have assets other than its investment in the Operating Partnership. Therefore, while shareholders' equity and partners' capital 
differ as discussed above, the assets and liabilities of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership are the same on their 
respective financial statements. 

In order to highlight the differences between the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership, there are sections in this report 
that separately discuss the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership, including separate financial statements (but 
combined footnotes), separate controls and procedures sections, and separate Exhibit 31 and 32 certifications. In the sections 
that combine disclosure for the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership, this report refers to actions or holdings as being 
actions or holdings of the Company. 
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PART I 

Forward-Looking Statements 

Certain statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements. Those statements include 
statements regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of Federal Realty Investment Trust and Federal Realty OP LP 
(together, "we" "our" or "us") and members of our management team, as well as the assumptions on which such statements are 
based, and generally are identified by the use of words such as "may," "will," "seeks," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," 
"expects," "plans," " intends," "should" or similar expressions. Actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by 
such forward-looking statements. Further, forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we 
undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of 
unanticipated events or changes to future operating results over time, unless required by law. 

The following are some of the risks and uncertainties, although not all risks and uncertainties, that could cause our actual results 
to differ materially from those presented in our forward-looking statements: 

risks that our tenants will not pay rent, may vacate early or may file for bankruptcy or that we may be unable to renew 
leases or re-let space at favorable rents as leases expire or to fill existing vacancy; 
risks that we may not be able to proceed with or obtain necessary approvals for any development, redevelopmen t or 
renovation project, and that completion of anticipated or ongoing property development, redevelopment, or renovation 
projects that we do pursue may cost more, take more time to complete or fail to perfonn as expected; 
risks normally associated with the real estate industry, including risks that occupancy levels at our properties and the 
amount of rent that we receive from our properties may be lower than expected, that new acquisitions may fail to 
perfonn as expected, that competition for acquisitions could result in increased prices for acquisitions, that costs 
associated with the periodic maintenance and repair or renovation of space, insurance and other operations may 
increase, that environmental issues may develop at our properties and result in unanticipated costs, and, because real 
estate is illiquid, that we may not be able to sell properties when appropriate; 
risks that our growth will be limited if we cannot obtain additional capital, or if the costs of capital we obtain are 
significantly higher than historical levels; 
risks associated with general economic conditions, including inflation and local economic conditions in our geographic 
markets; 
risks of financing on terms which are acceptable to us, our ability to meet existing financial covenants and the 
limitations imposed on our operations by those covenants, and the possibility of increases in interest rates that would 
result in increased interest expense; 
risks related to our status as a real estate investment trust, commonly referred to as a REIT, for federal income tax 
purposes, such as the existence of complex tax regulations relating to our status as a RETT, the effect of future changes 
in REIT requirements as a result of new legislation, and the adverse consequences of the failure to qualify as a REIT; 
and 

• risks related to natural disasters, climate change and public health crises (such as worldwide pandemics), and the 
measures that international, federal, state and local governments, agencies, law enforcement and/or health authorities 
implement to address them, may precipitate or materially exacerbate one or more of the above-mentioned risks, and 
may significantly disrupt or prevent us from operating our business in the ordinary course for an extended period. 

In addition, we describe risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results and events to differ materially in "Risk 
Factors" (Part I, Item IA of this Annual Report on Form 10-K), "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market 
Risk" (Part II, Item 7A), and " Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations" (Part 
II, Item 7). 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

General 

Federal Realty Investment Trust (the "Parent Company" or the "Trust") is an equity real estate investment trust ("REIT"). 
Federal Realty OP LP (the "Operating Partnership") is the entity through which the Trust conducts substantially all of its 
operations and owns substantially off of its assets. The Trust owns I 00% of the limited liability company interest of, is sole 
member of, and exercises exclusive control over Federal Realty GP LLC (the "General Partner"), which in tum, is the sole 
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general partner of the Operating Partnership. Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, "we," "our," and "us" 
means the Trust and its business and operations conducted through its directly and indirectly owned subsidiaries, including the 
Operating Partnership. We specialize in the ownership, management, and redevelopment of high quality retail and mixed-use 
properties located primarily in communities where we believe retail demand exceeds supply, in strategically selected 
metropolitan markets in the Mid-Atlantic and Northeast regions of the United States, California, and South Florida. As of 
December 31, 2024, we owned or had a majority interest in community and neighborhood shopping centers and mixed-use 
properties which are operated as I 02 predominantly retail real estate projects comprising approximately 26.8 
million commercial square feet. In total, the real estate projects were 96.2% leased and 94.1% occupied at December 31, 2024. 
Our revenue is primarily generated from lease agreements with tenants. We have paid quarterly dividends to our shareholders 
continuously since our founding in 1962 and have increased our dividends per common share for 57 consecutive years. 

We were founded in 1962 as a REIT under the laws of the District of Columbia and re-formed as a REIT in the state of 
Maryland in 1999.ln January of2022, we consummated the UPREIT reorganization described in the Explanatory Note at the 
beginning of this Annual Report. We operate in a manner intended to qualify as a REIT for tax purposes pursuant to provisions 
of the internal Revenue Code of 19~6, as amended (the "Code"). Our principal executive offices are located at 909 Rose 
Avenue, North Bethesda, Maryland 20852. Our telephone number is (30 I) 998-8100. Our website address is 
ww.,vfederalrealty.com. The information contained on our website is not a part of this report and is not incorporated herein by 
reference. 

Business Objectives and Strategies 

Our primary business objective is to own, manage, acquire and redevelop a portfolio of high quality retail focused properties 
that will: 

• provide increasing cash flow for distribution to shareholders; 
• generate higher internal growth than the shopping center industry over the long term; 

provide potential for capital appreciation; and 
protect investor capital. 

Om portfolio includes, and we continue to acquire and redevelop, high QUality retail in many formats ranging from regional, 
community and neighborhood shopping centers that often are anchored by grocery stores to mixed-use properties that are 
typically centered around a retail component but also include residential and office components. 

Operating Strategies 

We continuously evaluate and assess our operating strategies to ensure they are effective and put us in the best position to 
address changes in the market. We actively manage our properties to maximize rents and maintain occupancy levels by 
attracting and retaining a strong and diverse base of tenants and replacing less relevant, weaker, underperforming tenants with 
stronger ones. Our properties are generally located in some of the most d!ensely populated and affluent areas of the country. 
These strong demographics help our tenants generate higher sales, which has generally enabled us to maintain higher 
occupancy rates, charge higher rental rates, and maintain steady rent growth, all of which increase the value of our portfolio. 
Our operating strategies also include: 

• increasing rental rates through the negotiation of contractual rental increases during the term of the lease, the renewal 
of expiring leases or the leasing of space to new tenants at higher rental rates while limiting vacancy and down-time; 

• maintaining a diversified tenant base, thereby limiting exposure to any one tenant' s fmancial or operating difficulti·es; 
• actively managing the merchandising mix of our tenant base to achieve a balance of strong national and regional 

tenants with local specialty tenants; 
• minimizing overhead and operating costs; 

actively managing the physical appearance of our properties and the construction quality, condition and design of the 
buildings and other improvements located on our properties to maximize our ability to attract customers and thereby 
generate higher rents and occupancy rates; 

• managing our properties to take into account their impact on climate change and their resilience in the face of climate 
change; 

• developing local and regional market expertise in order to capitalize on market and retailing trends; 
leveraging the contacts and experience of our management team to build and maintain long-term relationships with 
tenants; 

• providing exceptional customer service; and 
• creating an experience at many of our properties that is identifiable, unique and serves the surrounding communities to 

help insulate these properties and the tenants at these properties from the impact of on-line retailing. 
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Investing Strategies 

Our investment strategy is to deploy capital at risk-adjusted rates of return that exceed our long-term weighted average cost of 
capital in projects that have potential for future income growth and increased value. Our investments primarily fall into one of 
the following four categories: 

renovating, expanding, reconfiguring and/or retenanting our existing properties to take advantage of under-utilized 
land or existing square footage to incr·ease revenue; 
renovating or expanding tenant spaces for tenants capable of producing higher sales, and therefore, paying higher 
rents; 

• acquiring quality retail and mixed-use properties located in densely populated and/or affluent areas where barriers to 
entry for further development are high, and that have possibilities for enhancing operating performance and creating 
value through renovation, expansion, reconfiguration and/or retenanting; and 

• developing the retail portions of mixed-use properties and developing or otherwise investing in non-retail portions of 
mixed-use properties. we already own in order to capitalize on the overall value created in these properties. 

Investment Criteria 

When we evaluate potential redevelopment, retenanting, expansion, acquisition and development opportunities, we consider 
such factors as: 

the expected returns in relation to our short and long-term cost of capital as well as the anticipated risk we will face in 
achieving the expected returns; 

• the anticipated growth rate of operating income generated by the property; 
• the ability to increase the long-term value of the property through redevelopment and retenanting; 

the tenant mix at the property, tenant sales performance and the creditworthiness of those tenants; 
• the geographic area in which the property is located, including the population density, household incomes, education 

levels, as well as the population and income trends in that geographic area. This may from time to· time include the 
evaluation of new markets; 

• competitive conditions in the vicinity of the property, including gross leasable area (GLA) per capita, competition for 
tenants and the ability of others to create competing properties through redevelopment, new construction or 
renovation; 

• access to and visibility of the property from existing roadways and the potential for new, widened or realigned, 
roadways within the property' s trade area, which may affect access and commuting and shopping patterns; 
the level and success of our existing investments in the market area; 

• the current market value of the land, buildings and other improvements and the potential for increasing those market 
values; and 
the jphysical condition of the land, buildings and other improvements, including the structural and environmental 
condition. 

Financing Strategies 

Our financing strategies are designed to enable us to maintain an investment grade balance sheet while retaining sufficient 
flexibility to fund our operating and investing activities in the most cost-efficient way possible. Our financing strategies 
include: 

maintaining a prudent level of overall leverage and an appropriate pool of unencumbered properties that is sufficient to 
support our unsecured borrowings; 
managing our exposure to variable-rate debt; 

• maintaining sufficient levels of cash and available line of credit to fund operating and investing needs on a short-term 
basis; 

• taking advantage of market opportunities to refinance existing debt, reduce interest costs and manage our debt maturity 
schedule so that a significant portion of our debt relative to our size does not mature in any one year; 
selling properties that have limited growth potential or are not a strategic fit within ow- overall portfolio and 
redeploying the proceeds to redevelop, renovate, retenant and/or expand our existing properties, acquire new properties 
or reduce debt; and 

• utilizing the most advantageous long-term source of capital available to us to finance redevelopment and acquisition 
opportunities, which may include: 

the sale of our equity or debt securities through public offerings, including our at-the-market ("ATM") equity 
program in which we may from time to time offer and sell common shares including through forward sales 
contracts, or private placements, 

o the incurrence of indebtedness through unsecured or secured borrowings including exchangeable debt, 
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the issuance of units in our operating partnership (generally issued in exchange for a tax deferred contTibution 
of property); these units typically receive the same distributions as our common shares and the holders of 
these units have the right to exchange their units for cash or common shares at our option, or 
the use of joint venture arrangements. 

Human Ca)Jital 

At February I 0, 2025, we had 304 full-time employees and 5 part-time employees. None of our employees are represented by a 
collective bargaining unit. We believe that our relationship with our employees is good. We are an Equal Opportunity/ 
Affirmative Action employer, and strive to maintain a workplace that is free from discrimination on the basis of race, color, 
religion, sex, sexual orientation, nationality, disability, or protected Veteran status. 

Health, Safety, and Wellness 

We are commiued to the health, safety, and well ness of our employees, and foster an environment that allows our people to 
succeed while balancing work and life. We provide our employees with access to health and wellness programs, which includes 
benefits that support both physical and mental health. We have also transitioned to a hybrid work model. 

Compensation and Benefits 

We provide competitive pay and benefits including health, dental, vision, short and long-term disability, life insurance and a 
40l(k) retirement program, as well as a generous paid time off program that includes vacation, sick, and personal leave. In 
addition to our equity awards program, we also offer a quarterly recognition program, as well as rewarding employees with spot 
bonuses for stellar performance or going above and beyond the base requirements of their job description. 

Talent Development 

Employees have access to a variety of different training courses, books, lbook summaries and audio books, and an array of 
source materials covering a myriad of different business and soft skills training subjects. Additionally, we provide 
reimbursement for tuition and professional licensures. 

Community Involvement 

Giving back to the commw1ity is an integral part of who we are and what we do. We provide ample ways to give back through 
programs at our properties or charitable endeavors and volunteer opportunities that also serve as team building exercises for our 
employees. 

Tax Status 

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under the federal income tax laws when we filed our 19,62 tax return. As a REIT, we are 
generally not subject to federal income tax on taxable income that we distribute to our shareholders. Under the Code, REITs are 
subject to numerous organizational and operational requirements, including the requirement to generally distribute at least 90% 
of taxable income each year. We will be subject to federal income tax on our taxable income (including, for our taxable years 
ending on or prior to December 31,2017, any applicable alternative minimum tax) at regular corporate rates ifwe fail to qualify 
as a REIT for tax purposes in any taxable year, or to the extent we distribute less than 100% of our taxable income. We will 
also generally not qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax purposes for four years following the year during 
which qualification is lost. Even if we qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to certain state and 
local income and franchise taxes and to federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed taxable income. 

We have elected to treat certain of our subsidiaries as taxable REIT subsidiaries, which we refer to as a TR.S. In general, a TRS 
may engage jn any real estate business and certain non-real estate businesses, subject to certain limitations under the Code. A 
TRS is subject to federal and state income taxes. Our TRS activities have not been material. 

General Economic Conditions 

The economy continues to face several issues including inflation risk, high interest rates, and potentially worsening economic 
conditions presenting risks for our business and tenants. We continue to monitor and address risks related to the general stat·e of 
the economy. The extent of the future effects on our business, results of operations, cash flows, and growth strategies is highly 
uncertain and will ultimately depend on future developments, none of which can be predicted. 
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Governmental Regulations Affecting Our Proper t ies 

We and our properties are subject to a variety of federal, state and local environmental, health, safety and similar laws. Please 
see Item lA. "Risk Factors- Risk Factors Related to our REIT Status and Other Laws and Regulations" for further discussion 
of potential material effects of our compliance with government regulation, including environmental regulations and the rules 
governing REITs. 

The application of these laws to a specific property that we own depends on a variety of property-specific circumstances, 
including the current and fom1er uses of the property, the building materials used at the property and the physical layout of the 
property. Under certain environmental laws, we, as the owner or operator of properties currently or previously owned, may be 
required to investigate and clean up certain haz ardous or toxic substances, asbestos-containing materials, or petroleum prod1!.1ct 
releases at the property, we may be held liable for property damage and for investigation and clean up costs incurred in 
connection with the contamination, and we may be liable under common law to third parties for damages and injuries resulting 
from environmental contamination emanating from the real estate. Such costs or liabilities could exceed the value of the 
affected real estate. The presence of contamination or the failure to remediate contamination may adversely affect our ability to 
sell or lease real estate or to borrow using the real estate as collateral. 

Neither existing environmental, health, safety and similar laws nor the costs of our compliance with these laws has had a 
material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations, and management does not believe they will in the 
future. In addition, we have not incurred, and do not expect to incur, any material costs or liabilities due to environmental 
contamination at properties we currently own or have owned in the past. However, we cannot predict the impact of new or 
changed laws or regulations on properties we currently own or may acquire in the future. We have no current plans for 
substantial capital expenditures with respect to compliance with environmental, health, safety and similar laws and we carry 
environmental insurance which covers a number of environmental risks for most of our properties. 

Energy and Emissions Regulations Affecting Our Properties 

Some jurisdictions in which we own property have enacted or may enact legislation that requires use of only certain types of 
energy sources, limits energy usage on site, or limits allowable emissions from buildings with fmes or other costs being 
imposed for exceeding those limits. This type of legislation typically includes an extended period of time from adoption to 
implementation to allow property owners ample opportunity to make investments and take other actions to comply with the 
legislation. Any investments we believe we will need to make to comply with laws that have been passed to date are being 

included as part of our ordinary capital improvement planning process for our properties. We also address the potential effects 
of these types of laws in our energy reduction and energy efficient efforts that are described in more detail in Item 7. 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations- Corporate Responsibility." These 
types of laws have not had a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations and management does 
not believe they will have a material adverse effect in the future. We cannot, however, predict the impact o.fnew or changed 
laws or reguiations on properties we currently own or may acquire in the future. 

Competition 

Numerous commercial developers and real estate companies compete with us with respect to the leasing and the acquisition of 
properties. Some of these competitors may possess greater capital resources than we do, although we do not believe that any 
single competitor or group of competitors in any of the primary markets where our properties are located are dominant in that 
market. This competition may: 

• reduce the number of properties available for acquisition; 
• increase the cost of properties available for acquisition; 
• interfere with our abiility to attract and retain tenants, leading to increased vacancy rates and/or reduced rents; and 
• adversely affect our ability to minimize expenses of operation. 

Retailers at our properties also face increasing competition from online retailers, outlet stores, discount shopping clubs, 
superstores, and other forms of sales and marketing of goods and services, such as direct mail. This competition could 
contribute to lease defaults and insolvency of tenants. 

Available Information 

Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments 
to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange 
Act") are available free of charge through the Investors section of our website at wwwfederalrealty.com as. soon as reasonably 
practicable after we electronically file the material with, or furnish the material to, the Securities and Exchange Commission, or 
the SEC. 
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Our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct, Code ofEthics applicable to our Chief Executive Officer 
and senior fmancial officers, Whistleblower Policy, organizational documents and the charters of our audit committee, 
compensation and human capital committee and nominating and corporate governance committee are all available in the 
Corporate Governance section of the Investors section of our website. 

Amendments to the Code of Ethics or Code of Business Conduct or waivers that apply to any of our executive officers or our 
senior financial officers will be disclosed in the Corporate Governance section of our website as well. 

ITEM lA. RISK FACTORS 

This Annual Report on Forn1 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities 
Act of 1933, Section 21 E of the Exchange Act and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Also, documents that 
we "incorporate by reference,. into this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including documents that we subsequently file with the 
SEC will contain forward-looking statements. When we refer to f01ward-looking statements or information, sometimes we use 
words such as "may," "will," "could," "should," "plans," "intends," "expects," "believes," "estimates," "anticipates" and 
"continues." In particular, the below risk factors describe forward-looking information. The risk factors describe risks that may 
affect these statements but are not all-inclusive, particularly with respect to possible future events. Many things can happen that 
can cause actual results to be different from those we describe. These factors include, but are not limited to the following: 

Risk Factors Related to our Real ~state Investments and Operations 

Revenue from our properties may be reduced or limited if the retail operations of our tenants arc not successful. 

Revenue from our properties depends primarily on the ability of our tenants to pay the full amount of rent and other charges due 
under their leases on a timely basis. Some of our leases provide for the payment, in addition to base rent, of additional rent 
above the base amount according to a specified percentage of the gross sales generated by the tenants and generally provide for 
reimbursement of real estate taxes and expenses of operating the property. Economic, legal, and/or competitive conditions, as 
well as public health concerns, may impact the success of om tenants' retail operations and therefore the amount of rent and 
expense reimbursements we receive from our tenants. Any reduction in our tenants' abilities to pay base rent, percentage rent, or 
other charges on a timely basis, including the closing of stores prior to the end of the lease term or the filing by any of our 
tenants for bankruptcy protection, will adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. In the event of default 
by a tenant, we may experience delays and unexpected costs in enforcing our rights as landlord under lease terms, which may 
also adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. 

Our net income depends on the success and continued p•·esence of our "anchor" tenants. 

Our net income could be adversely affected in the event of a downturn in the business, or the bankruptcy or insolvency, of any 
anchor store or anchor tenant. Anchor tenants generally occupy large amounts of square footage, pay a significant portion of the 
total rents at a property and contribute to the success of other tenants by drawing significant numbers of customers to a 
property. The closing of one or more anchor stores at a property could adversely affect that property and result in lease 
terminations by, or reductions in rent from, other tenants whose leases may permit termination or rent reduction in those 
circumstances or whose own operations may suffer as a result. If we were to experience high levels of anchor turnover and 
closings, an oversupply of larger retail spaces could result and we may see an increase in vacancy, and/or a decrease in rents for 
those spaces, which could have a negative impact to our net income. As of December 31, 2024, our anchor tenant space is 
97.5% leased and 95.2% occupied. 

A shift in retail shopping from brick a nd mortar stores to online shOJ>J>ing may have an adverse impact on our cash 
flow, financial condition and results of operations. 

Many retailers operating brick and mortar stores have made online sales a vital piece of their business. The shift to online 
shopping may cause declines in brick and mortar sales generated by certain of our tenants and may cause certain of our tenants 
to reduce the size or number of their retail locations in the future. This risk is partially mitigated by our strategy of maintaining 
a diverse portfolio of retail properties. The trend of retailers utilizing brick and mortar locations for 'showroom' and on-line 
sales distribution purposes (particularly at shopping centers in densely populated areas like ours) may further mitigate this risk. 
However, there can be no assurance that our shopping centers will not be further impacted by the shift to online shopping. As a 
result, our cash flow, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. 
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We have properties that arc geographically concentrated, and adverse economic or real estate market declines in these 
areas could have a material adverse effect on us. 

As of December 31, 2024, our tenants operated in 12 states and the District of Columbia. Any adverse situation that 
disproportionately affects the the markets where our properties are concentrated may have a magnified adverse effect on our 
portfolio. Refer to "Properties" (Item 2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K) for additional discussion of the geographic 
concentration. Real estate markets are subject to economic downturns, as they have been in the past, and we ca1mot predict how 
economic conditions will impact this market in both the short and long tenn. 

Declines in the economy or a decline in the real estate market in these states could hurt our financial perfom1ance and the value 
of our properties. Factors that may negatively affect economic conditions in these states include: 

• business layoffs or downsizing; 
• industry slowdowns; 

elevated levels of inflation over an extended period of time; 
increasing interest rates; 
increased business restrictions due to health crises; 

• relocations of businesses; 
• changing demographics; 

increased telecommlllting and use of alternative work places; 
infrastructure quality; 

• any oversupply of, or reduced demand for, real estate; 
• concessions or reduced rental rates under new leases for properties where tenants defaulted; and 

increased operating costs including insurance premiums and real estate taxes. 

We may be unable to collect balances due from tenants that file for bankrUJltcy protection. 

I fa tenant or lease guarantor files for bankruptcy, we may not be able to collect all pre-petition amounts owed by that party. In 
addition, a tenant that files for bankruptcy protection may terminate our lease in which event we would have a general 
unsecured claim that would lilkely be for less than the full amount owed to us for the remainder of the lease term, which could 
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. 

We may experience difficulty or delay in renewing leases or re-leasing space. 

We derive most of our revenue directly or indirectly from rent received from our tenants. We are subject to the risks that, upon 
expiration or termination of leases, whether by their tenns, as a result of a tenant bankruptcy, general economic conditions or 
otherwise, leases for space in our properties may not be renewed, space may not be re-leased, or the terms of renewal or re­
lease, including the cost of required renovations or concessions to tenants, may be less favorable than current lease terms and 
may include decreases in rental rates. As a result, our net income could be reduced. 

Our development activities have inherent risks. 

The ground-up development of improvements on real property, as opposed to the renovation and redevelopment of existing 
improvements, presents substantial risks. We generally do not look to acquire raw land for future development; however, we do 
intend to develop and construct additional buildings on projects we already own in order to maximize the value of our real 
estate. We may also choose to delay completion of a project if market conditions do not allow an appropriate return. If 
conditions arise and we are not able or decide not to complete a project or if the expected cash flows of our project do not 
exceed the book value, an impairment of the project may be required. If any new projects are not successful, it may adversely 
affect our fmancial condition and results of operations. 

In addition to the risks associated with real estate investment in general, as described elsewhere and the specific risks above, the 
risks associated with our remaining development activities include: 

contractor changes may delay the completion of development projects and increase overall costs; 
• significant time lag between commencement and stabilization subjects us to greater risks due to fluctuations in the 

general economy; 
delivery of residential product into uncertain residential environments may result in lower rents or longer time periods 
to reach economic stabilization; 

• substantial amount of our investment is related to infrastructure and the overall value of the project may be negativ·ely 
impacted if we do not complete subsequent phases; 

• failure or inability to obtain construction or permanent financing on favorable terms; 
expenditure of money and time on projects that may never be completed; 
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difficulty securing key anchor or other tenants may impact occupancy rates and projected revenue; 
inability to achieve projected rental rates or anticipated pace oflease-up; 
higher than estimated construction or operating costs, including labor and material costs; and 

• possible delay in completion of a project because of a number offactors, including COVID-19, supply chain 
disruptions and shortages, inflation, weather, labor disruptions, construction delays or delays in receipt of zoning or 
other regulatory approvals, acts of terror or other acts of violence, or acts of God (such as fires, earthquakes or floods). 

Redevelopments and acquisitions may fail to 11erform as expected. 

Our investment strategy includes the redevelopment and acquisition of high quality, retail focused properties in densely 
populated areas with high average household incomes and signifil;ant barriers to adding wmpetitive retail supply. The 
redevelopment and acquisition of properties entail risks that include the following, any of which could adversely affect our 
results of operations and our ability to meet our obligations: 

our estimate of the costs to improve, r·eposition or redevelop a property may prove to be too low, or the time we 
estimate to complete the improvement, repositioning or redevelopment may be too short. As a result, the property may 
fail to achieve the returns we have projected, either temporarily or for a longer period; 

• we may not be able to identify suitable properties to acquire or may be unable to complete the acquisition of the 
properties we identify; 

• we may not be able to integrate an acquisition into our existing operations successfully; 
properties we redevelop or acquire may fail to achieve the occupancy or rental rates we project, within the time frames 
we pr~ject, at the time we make the decision to invest, which may result in the properties' fai lure to achieve the returns 
we projected; 
our pre-acquisition evaluation of the physical condition of each new investment may not detect certain defects or 
identify necessary repairs until after the property is acquired, which could significantly increase our total acquisition 
costs or decrease cash flow from the property; and 

• our investigation of a property or building prior to our acquisition, and any representations we may receive from the 
seller of such building or property, may fail to reveal various liabilities, which could reduce the cash flow from the 
property or increase our acquisition cost. 

Our pcrf01·mance and value a•·c subject to gene•·al risks associated with the real estate industry. 

Our economic perfom1ance and the value of our real estate assets, and consequently, the value of our investments, are subject to 
the risk that i f our properties do not generate revenues sufficient to meet our operating expenses, including debt service and 
capital expenditures, our cash flow and ability Ito pay distributions to our shareholders will be adversely affected. As a real 
estate company, we are susceptible to the following real estate industry risks: 

economic downturns in general, or in the areas where our properties are located; 
adverse changes in local real estate market conditions, such as an oversupply or reduction in demand; 
changes in tenant preferences that reduce the attractiveness of our properties to tenants; 
zoning or regulatory restrictions; 
decreases in market rental rates; 

• weather conditions that may increase or decrease energy costs and other weather-related expenses; 
costs associated with the need to periodically repair, renovate and re-lease space~ and 
increases in the cost of adequate maintenance, insurance and other operating costs, including real estate taxes, 
associated with one or more properties, which may occur even when circumstances such as market factors and 
competition cause a reduction in revenues from one or more properties, although real estate taxes typically do not 
increase upon a reduction in such revenues. 

Each of these risks could result in decreases in market rental rates and increases in vacancy rates, which could adversely affect 
our financial condition and results of operation. 

Many real estate costs arc fixed, even if income from our properties decreases. 

Our financial results depend primarily on leasing space in our properties to tenants on terms favorable to us. Costs associated 
with real estate investment, such as real estate taxes, insurance and maintenance costs, generally are not reduced even when a 
property is not fully occupied, rental rates decrease, or other circumstances cause a reduction in income from the property. As a 
result, cash flow from the operations of our properties may be reduced if a tenant does not pay its rent or we are unable to rent 
our properties on favorable terms. Under those circumstances, we might not be able to enforce our rights as landlord without 
delays and may incur substantial legal costs. Additionally, new properties that we may acquire or redevelop may not produce 
any significant revenue immediately, and the cash flow from existing operations may be insufficient to pay the operating 
expenses and debt service associated with such new properties until they are fully occupied. 
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Competition may limit our ability to pm·chasc new llroperties and generate sufficient income from tenants. 

Numerous commercial developers and real estate companies compete with us in seeking tenants for our existing properties and 
properties for acquisition. This competition may: 

reduce properties available for acquisition; 
increase the cost of properties available for acquisition; 

• reduce rents payable to us; 
interfere with our ability to attract and retain tenants; 

• lead to increased vacancy rates at our properties; and 
• adversely affect our ability to minimize expenses of operation. 

Retailers at our properties also face increasing competition from online retailers, outlet stores, discount shopping clubs and 
other forms of sales and marketing of goods, such as direct mail. This competition could contribute to lease defaults and 
insolvency of tenants. If we are unable to continue to attract appropriate retail tenants to our properties, or 1to purchase new 
properties in our geographic markets. it could materially affect our ability to generate net jncome, service our debt and make 
distributions to our shareholders. 

We may be unable to sell properties when ap(lropriate because real estate investments are illiquid. 

Real estate investments generally cannot be sold quickly. In addition, there are some limitations under federal income tax laws 
applicable to real estate and to REITs in particular that may limit our ability to sell our assets. We may not be able to alter our 
portfolio promptly in response to changes in economic or other conditions including being unable to sell a p roperty at a return 
we believe is appropriate due to the economic environment. Our inability to respond quickly to adverse changes in the 
performance of our investments could have an adverse effect on our ability to meet our obligations and make distributions to 
our shareholders. 

We may have limited flexibility in dealing with our jointly owned investments. 

Our organizational documents do not limit the amount of funds that we may invest in properties and assets owned jointly with 
other persons or entities. As of December 31 , 2024, we held 18 predominantly retail real estate projects jointly with other 
persons in addition to properties owned in a "downREIT" structure. Additionally, as of December 31 , 2024 , we owned an 
interest in the hotel component of Assembly Row. We may make additional joint investments in the future. Our existing and 
future joint investments may subject us to special risks, including the possibility that our partners or co-investors might become 
bankrupt, that those partners or co-investors might have economic or other business interests or goals which are unlike or 
incompatible with our business interests or goals, that those partners or co-investors might be in a position to take action 
contrary to our suggestions or instructions, or in opposition to our policies or objectives, and that disputes may develop with our 
joint venture partners over decisions affecting the property or the joint venture, which may result in litigation or arbitration or 
some other form of dispute resolution. Although as of December 31, 2024, we held the controlling interests in all of our existing 
co-investments (except the hotel investment discussed above, the investment in the La Alameda shopping center acquired in 
2017, and the investment in the Chandler Festival and Chandler Gateway shopping centers acquired in 2022), we generally 
must obtain the consent of the co-investor or meet defined criteria to sell or to finance these properties. Joint ownership gives a 
third party the opportunity to influence the return we can achieve on some of our investments and may adversely affect our 
ability to make distributions to our shareholders. We may also be liable for the actions of our co-investors. 

Our insurance coverage on our properties may be inadequate. 

We currently carry comprehensive insurance on all of our properties, including insurance for liability, fire, flood, earthquake, 
environmental matters, rental loss and acts of terrorism. All of these policies contain coverage limitations. We believe these 
coverages are of the types and amounts customarily obtained for or by an owner of similar types of real property assets located 
in the areas where our properties are located. We intend to obtain similar insurance coverage on subsequently acquired 
properties. 

The availability of insurance coverage may decrease and the prices for insurance may increase as a consequence of significant 
losses incurred by the insurance industry and other factors outside our control. As a result, we may be unable to renew or 
duplicate our current insurance coverage in adequate amounts or at reasonable prices. In addition, insurance companies may no 
longer offer coverage against certain types of losses, such as losses due to terrorist acts, pandemics, and toxic mold, or, if 
offered, the expense of obtaining these types of insurance may not be justified. We therefore may cease to have insurance 
coverage against certain types. of losses and/or there may be decreases in the limits of insurance available. If an uninsured loss 
or a loss in excess of our insured limits occurs, we could lose all or a portion of the capital we have invested in a property, as 
well as the anticipated future revenue from the property, but still remain obligated for any mortgage debt or other financial 
obligations related to the property. We cannot guarantee that material losses in excess of insurance proceeds will not occur in 
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the future. If any of our properties were to experience a catastrophic loss, it could seriously disrupt our operations, delay 
revenue and result in large expenses to repair or rebuild the property. Also, due to inflation, changes in codes and ordinances, 
environmental considerations and other factors, it may not be feasible to use insurance proceeds to replace a building after it has 
been damaged or destroyed. Further, we may be unable to collect insurance proceeds if our insurers are unable to pay or contest 
a claim. Events such as these could adversely affect our results of operations and our ability to meet our obligations, including 
distributions to our shareholders. 

Natural disasters, climate change and health crises, could have an adverse impact on our cash flow and operating 
results. 

Climate change may add to the unpredictability and frequency of natural disasters and severe weather conditions, impact the 
availability of natural resources, and create additional uncertainty as to future trends and exposures. Certain of our operations 
are located in areas that are subject to natural disasters and severe weather conditions such as hurricanes, earthquakes, droughts, 
snow storms, floods and fires. The impact of climate change or the occurrence of natural disasters can delay new development 
projects, increase investment costs to repair or replace damaged properties, increase operating costs, create additional 
investment costs to make improvements to existing properties to comply with climate change regulations, increase future 
property insurance costs, impact the availability of water and other natural resources, and negatively impact the tenant demand 
for space. If insurance is unavailable to us or is unavailable on acceptable terms, or if our insurance is not adequate to cover 
business interruption or losses from these events, our earnings, liquidity or capital resources could be adversely affected. 

In addition, our business is subject to risks related to the effects of public health crises, epidemics, and pandemics. Such events 
could: 

inhibit global, national and local economic activity; 
• drive inflation, adversely affect trading activity in securities markets, which could negatively impact the trading priices 

of our common shares and debt securities and our ability to access the securities markets as a source of liquidity; 
adversely affect our tenants' financial condition by limiting foot traffic and staffing at their businesses, which could 
affect their ability to pay rent and will ingness to make new leasing commitments; 
reduce our cash flow, which could impact our ability to pay dividends at the current rate and in the current format or at 
all or to service our debt; 

• temporarily or permanently reduce the demand for retail or office space; 
• interfere with our business operations by requiring our personnel to work remotely; 

increase the frequency of cyber-attacks; 
disrupt supply chains that could be important in our development and redevelopment activities; 
result in labor shortages; 
interfere with potential purchases and sales of properties; 

• impact our ability to pay dividends at the current rate and in the current format or at all; and 
have other direct and indirect effects that are difficult to predict. 

Such risks depend upon the nature and severity of the public health concern, as well as the extent and duration of government­
mandated orders and personal decisions to limit travel, economic activity and personal interaction, none of which can be 
predicted with confidence. In particular, we cannot predict the impact of stay-at-home and other government orders instituted in 
response to a public health concern, which may vary by jurisdiction, or a public health concerns' short and long term economic 
effects, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business 

Risk Factors Related to our Funding Strategies and Capital Structure 

The amount of debt we have and the restrictions imposed by that debt could adversely affect our business and financial 
condition. 

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $4.5 billion of debt outstanding. Of that outstanding debt, approximately 
$515.8 million was secured by all or a portion of 8 of our real estate projects. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 86.7% 
of our debt is fixed rate or is fixed via interest rate swap agreements, which includes all of our property secured debt and our 
unsecured senior notes. Our organizational documents do not limit the level or amount of debt that we may incur. The amount 
of our debt outstanding from time to time could have important consequences to our shareholders. For example, it could: 

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our debt, thereby reducing 
funds available for operations, property acquisitions, redevelopments and other appropriate business opportunities that 
may arise in the future; 
limit our ability to make distributions on our outstanding common shares and preferred shares; 
make it difficult to satisfy our debt service requirements; 
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require us to dedicate increased amounts of our cash flow from operations to payments on debt upon refinancing or on 
our variable rate, unhedged debt, if interest rates rise; 
limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the factors that affect the profitability of 
our business; 
limit our ability to obtain any additional debt or equity financing we may need in the future for working capital, debt 
refinancing, capital expenditures, acquisitions, redevelopments or other general corporate purposes or to obtain such 
financing on favorab:Ie tenns; and/or 
limit our flexibility in conducting our business, which may place us at a disadvantage compared to competitors with 
less debt or debt with less restrictive terms. 

Our ability to make scheduled principal payments of, to pay interest on, or to refinance our indebtedness will depend primarily 
on our future performance, which to a certain extent is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors beyond our 
control. There can be no assurance that our business will continue to generate sufficient cash flow from operations in the future 
to service our debt or meet our other cash needs. If we are unable to generate this cash flow from our business, we may be 
required to refinance all or a portion of our existing debt, sell assets or obtain additional financing to meet our debt obligations 
and other cash needs, including the payment of dividends required to maintain our status as a real estate investment trust. We 
cannot assure you that any such refinancing, sale of assets or additional financing would be possible on terms that we would 
fmd acceptable. 

We are obligated to comply with financial and other covenants pursuant to our debt obligations tha t could r·estrict our 
operating activities, and the failu re to comply with such covenants could result in defaults that accelerate payment 
under our debt agreements. 

Our revolving credit faci lity, unsecured term loan, and certain series of notes include financial covenants that may limit our 
operating activities in the future. We are also required to comply with additional covenants that include, among other things, 
provisions: 

relating to the maintenance of property securing a mortgage; 
restricting our ability to pledge assets or create liens; 
restricting our ability to incur additional debt; 

• restricting our ability to amend or modify existing leases at properties securing a mortgage; 
• restricting our ability to enter into transactions with affiliates; and 

restricting our ability to consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets. 

As of December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with all of our default related fmancial covenants. If we were to breach any 
of om default related debt covenants, including the covenants listed above, and did not cure the breach within any applicable 
cure period, our lenders could require us to repay the debt immediately, and, if the debt is secured, could immediately begin 
proceedings to take possession of the property securing the loan. Many of our debt arrangements, including our public notes 
and our revolving credit facility, are cross-defaulted, which means that the lenders under those debt arrangements can put us in 
default and require immediate repayment of their debt if we breach and fail to cure a default under certain of our other debt 
obligations. As a result, any default under our debt covenants could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, our 
results of operations, our ability to meet om obligations and the market value of our shares. 

Adverse changes in our credit rating could affect ow· borrowing capacity and borrowing terms. 

Our credit worthiness is rated by nationally recognized credit rating agencies. The credit ratings assigned are based on our 
operating performance, liquiruty and leverage ratios, financial condition and prospects, and other factors viewed by the credit 
rating agencies as relevant to our industry and the economic outlook in general. Our credit rating can affect the amount of 
capital we access, as well as the terms of certain existing and future financing we obtain. Since we depend on debt fmancing to 
fund the growth of our business, an adverse change in our credit rating, including actual changes in outlook, or even the 
initiation of review of our credit rating that could result in an adverse change, could have a material adverse effect on us. 

Our ability to grow will be limited if we cannot obtain additional capital. 

Our growth strategy is focused on the development and redevelopment of properties we already own and the acquisition of 
additional properties. We believe that it will be difficult to ftmd otu· expected growth with cash from operating activities 
because, in addition to other requirements, we are generally required to distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our 
taxable income each year to continue to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. As a result, we must rely primariily 
upon the availability of debt o·r equity capital, which may or may not be available on favorable terms or at all. Debt could 
include the sale of debt secmities and mortgage loans from third parties. If economic conditions and conditions in the capital 
markets are not favorable at the time we need to raise capital, we may need to obtain capital on less favorable terms. 
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Additionally, we cannot guarantee that additional financing, refinancing, or other capital will be available in the amounts we 
desire or on favorable terms. Our access to debt or equity capital depends on a number of factors, including the market' s 
perception of our growth potential and risk profile, our ability to pay dividends, and our current and potential future earnings. 
Depending on the outcome of these factors as well as the impact of the economic environment, we could experience delay or 
difficulty in implementing our growth strategy on satisfactory terms, or be unable to implement this strategy. 

Rising interest rates could ad versely affect o ur cash flow and the ma rket price of our outstanding debt and J)referrcd 
shares. 

Of our $4.5 billion of debt outstanding as of December 31, 2024, approximately $852.1 million bears interest at a variable rate, 
of which, $600.0 million is our unsecured term loan that bears interest at a variable rate of SOFR plus 85 basis points plus 
0.1 0%. The remaining $252.1 million is comprised of a $200.0 million mortgage payable that bears interest at a variable rate of 
SOFR plus 9 5 basis points, which is effectively fixed by three interest rate swap agreements through the initial maturity date, 
and $52. 1 million in mortgages payable that bear interest at a variable rate of SOFR plus 195 basis points and are effectively 
fixed by two interest rate swap agreements. We also have a $1.25 billion revolving credit faci lity, on which no balance was 
outstanding at December 31, 2024, that bears interest at SOFR plus 77.5 basis points, plus 0.10%. We may borrow additional 
funds at variable interest rates in the future. Increases in interest rates would increase the interest expense on our variable rate 
debt and reduce our cash flow, which could adversely affect our ability to service our debt and meet our other obligations and 
also could reduce the amount we are able to distribute to our shareholders. We may enter into additional hedging arrangements 
or other transactions for all or a portion of our variable rate debt to limit our exposure to rising interest rates. However, the 
amounts we are required to pay under variable rate debt to which hedging or similar arrangements relate may increase in the 
event of non-performance by the counterparties to any such hedging arrangements. In addition, an increase in market interest 
rates may lead purchasers of our debt securities and preferred shares to demand a higher annual yield, which could adversely 
affect the market price of our outstanding debt securities and preferred shares and the cost and/or timing of refinancing or 
issuing additional debt securities or preferred s!hares. 

H edging activity may expose us to risks, including the risks that a co unterpar ty will not l)erform and that the hedge will 
not yield the economic benefits we anticipate, which may adversely affect us. 

We may use derivative instruments to manage exposure to variable interest rate risk. We generally enter into interest rate swaps 
to manage our exposure to variable interest rate risk and treasury locks to manage the risk of interest rates rising prior to the 
issuance of debt. These and similar hedging arrangements involve risks, including the risks that counterparties may fail to honor 
their obligations under these arrangements, that these arrangements may not be effective in reducing our exposure to interest 
rate changes, that the amount of income we earn from hedging transactions may be limited by federal tax provisions governing 
REITs, and that these arrangements may reduce the benefits to us if interest rates decline. Developing and implementing an 
interest rate risk strategy is complex, and there can be no assurance that our hedging activities will be completely effective at 
insulating us from risks associated with interesll: rate fluctuations. 

Additionally, in connection with our offering in January 2024 of3.25% Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2029, we have entered 
into capped call transactions with certain option counterparties. The capped call transactions cover, subject to customary 
adjustments, the number of common shares initially underlying the notes. The capped call transactions are 'expected genera lay to 
reduce the potential dilution to our common shares upon any exchange of notes and/or offset any cash payments we are 
required to make in excess of the principal amount of exchanged notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset 
subject to a cap. The option counterparties are financial institutions, and we are subject to the risk that any or all of them might 
default under the capped call transactions. Our exposure to the credit risk of the option counterparties is not secured by any 
collateral. Global economic conditions have resulted in the actual or perceived failure or financial difficulties of certain 
financial institutions and could adversely impact the option counterparties' performance UJnder the capped call transactions. lf 
an option counterparty becomes subject to insolvency proceedings, we will become an unsecured creditor in those proceedings 
with a claim equal to the termination amount at that time as determined pursuant to the capped call documentation with such 
option counterparty. Our exposure will depend on many factors but, generally, an increase in our exposure will be correlated to 
an increase in the market price and in the volatiility of the common shares. In addition, upon a default by an option counterparty, 
we may suffer adverse tax consequences and more dilution than we currently anticipate with respect to the common shares. We 
can provide no assurances as to the financial stability or viability of the option counterparties. 

Risk Factors Related to our· REIT Status and Othe•· Laws and Re~ulations 

Failure to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes would u use the Par ent Com(lany to be taxed as a 
corporation, which would substantially reduce funds available for payment of distrib utions. 
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We believe that we are organized and qualified as a REIT for federal income tax purposes and currently intend to operate in a 
manner that will allow us to continue to qualify as a REIT under the Code. However, we cannot assure you that we will remain 
qualified as such in the future. 

Qualification as a REJT involves the application of highly technical and complex Code provisions and applicable income tax 
regulations tlhat have been issued under the Code. Certain facts and circumstances not entirely within our control may affect our 
ability to qualify as a REIT. For example, in order to qualify as a REIT, at least 95% of our gross income in any year must be 
derived from qualifying rents and certain other income. Satisfying this requirement could be difficult, for example, if defaults 
by tenants were to reduce the amount of income from qualifying rents. As a REIT, we must generally make annual distributions 
to shareholders of at least 90% of our taxable income. In addition, new legislation, new regulations, new administrative 
interpretations or new court decisions may significantly change the tax laws with respect to qualification as a RETT or the 
federal income tax consequences of such qualification. Any modification in the tax treatment of REITs could have a significant 
adverse impact to our net income. 

If we fail to qualify as a REIT: 
• we would not be allowed a deduction for distributions to shareholders in computing taxable income; 
• we would be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates; 
• unless we are entitled to relief under specific statutory provisions, we could not elect to be taxed as a REIT for four 

taxable years following the year during which we were disqualified; 
we could be required to pay significant income taxes, which would substantially reduce the funds available for 
investment or for distribution to our shareholders for each year in which we failed or were not permitted to qualify; 
and 
we would no longer be required by law to make any distributions to our shareholders. 

To maintain our status as a REl T, we limit the amount of shares any one shareholder of the Parent Company can own. 

The Code imposes certain limitations on the ownership of the stock of a REIT. For example, not more than 50% in value of our 
outstanding shares of capital stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code) 
during the last half of any taxable year. To protect our REIT status, the Parent Company's declaration of trust prohibits any one 
shareholder from owning (actually or constructively) more than 9.8% in value of the outstanding common shares or of any class 
or series of outstanding preferred shares. The c·onstructive ownership rules are complex. Shares of the Parent Company's capital 
stock owned, actually or constructively, by a group of related individuals and/or entities may be treated as constructively owned 
by one of those individuals or entities. As a result, the acquisition of less than 9.8% in value of the outstanding common shares 
and/or a class or series of preferred shares (or the acquisition of an interest in an entity that owns common shares or preferred 
shares) by an individual or entity could cause that individual or entity (or another) to own constructively more than 9.8% in 
value of the outstanding capital stock. If that happens, either the transfer of ownership would be void or the shares would be 
transferred to a charitable trust and then sold to someone who can own those shares without violating the 9.8% ownership limit. 

The Board of Trustees may waive these restrictions on a case-by-case basis. In addition, the Board of Trustees and two-thirds of 
our shareholders eligible to vote at a shareholder meeting may remove these restrictions if they determine it is no longer in our 
best interests for the Parent Company to attempt to qualify, or to continue to qualify, as a REIT. The 9.8% ownership 
restrictions may delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change of our control that might involve a premium price for the 
common shares or otherwise be in the shareholders' best interest. 

Legislative, .administr ative, r egulatory or othe•· actions affecting REITs, including positions taken by the IRS, could 
have a material adverse effect on us a nd our investors. 

The rules dealing with U.S. federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process, 
and by the Internal Revenue Service ("'RS") and the U.S. Department of the Treasury ('Treasury"). Changes to the tax laws or 
interpretations thereof by the IRS and the Treasury, with or without retroactive application, could materially and adversely 
affect us and our investors. No prediction can be made as to the likelihood of passage of new tax legislation or other 
provisions, or the direct or indirect effect on us and our shareholders. Accordingly, such new legislation, Treasury regulations, 
administrative interpretations or court decisions could significantly and negatively affect our ability to quatiify to be taxed as a 
REIT and/or the U.S. federal iincome tax consequences to us and our investors of such qualification. 

We may be required to incum· additional debt to qualify as a REIT. 

As a REIT, we must generally make annual distributions to shareholders of at least 90% of our taxable income. We are subject 
to income tax on amotmts of undistributed taxable income and net capital gain. In addition, we would be subject to a 4% excise 
tax if we fail to distribute sufficient income to meet a minimum distribution test based on our ordinary income, capital gain and 
aggregate undistributed income from prior years. We intend to make distributions to shareholders to comply with the Code's 
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dist-ribution provisions and to avoid federal income and excise tax. We may need to borrow ftmds to meet our distribution 
requirements because: 

our income may not be matched by our related expenses at the time the income is considered received for purposes of 
determining taxable income; and 
non-deductible capital expenditures, creation of reserves, or debt service requirements may reduce available cash but 
not taxable income. 

In these circumstances, we might have to borrow funds on terms we might otherwise fmd unfavorable and we may have to 
borrow funds even if our management believes the market conditions make borrowing fmancially unattractive. Current tax law 
also allows us to pay a portion of our distributions in shares instead of cash. 

E nvironmental laws and regulations could reduce the value or p rofitability of our prOJler ties. 

All real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to federal, state and local laws, ordinances and 
ref,'Ulations relating to hazardous materials, environmental protection and human health and safety. Under various federal, state 
and local laws, ordinances and regulations, we and our tenants may be responsible for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or 
toxic substances released on or in properties we own or operate, as well as certain other potential costs relating to hazardous or 
toxic substances (including governmental fines and injuries to persons and property). This liability may be imposed whether or 
not we knew about, or were responsible for, the presence of hazardous or toxic substances. Further, the presence of 
contamination on our properties or the failure to properly remediate contamination at any of our properties may adversely affect 
our ability to sell or lease those properties or to borrow funds by using those properties as collateral. The costs or liabilities 
could exceed the value of the affected real estate. We are not aware of any environmental condition with respect to any of our 
properties that management believes would have a material adverse effect on our business, assets or results of operations taken 
as a whole. 

ln addition, changes in government legislation and regulation on climate change could result in increased capital expenditures 
to improve the energy efficiency of our existing properties and could also require us to spend more on our development or 
redevelopment projects without a corresponding increase in revenues, which may adversely affect our financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows. 

T he Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 could require us to take remedial steps with respect to existing or newly 
acquired properties. 

Our existing properties, as well as properties we may acquire, as commercial facilities, are required to comply with Title IJJ of 
the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Investigation of a pro petty may reveal non-compliance with this Act. The 
requirements of this Act, or of other federal , state or local laws or regulat ions, also may change in the future and restrict further 
renovations of our properties with respect to access for disabled persons. Future compliance with this Act may require 
expensive changes to the properties. 

T he revenues generated by our tenants could be negatively affected by various federal, state and local laws to which they 
a re subject. 

We and our tenants are subject to a wide range of federal, state and local laws and regulations, such as local licensing 
requirements, consumer protection laws and state and local fire, life-safety and similar requirements that affect the use of the 
properties. The leases typically require that each tenant comply with all laws and regulations. Failure to comply could result in 
fmes by governmental authorities, awards of damages to private litigants, or restrictions on the ability to conduct business 0111 

such properties. Non-compliance of this sort could reduce our revenues from a tenant, could require us to pay penalties or fi'nes 
relating to any non-compliance, and could adversely affect our ability to sell or lease a property. 

Certain tax .and a nti-takeover pr ovisions of the Parent Company's declaration of trust and bylaws, a nd certain 
r·cstrictions in the Par tnership's limited partncr·ship agreement, may inhibit a change of our cont rol. 

Certain provisions contained in the Parent Company's declaration of trust and bylaws and the Maryland General Corporation 
Law, as applicable to Maryland REITs, may discourage a third party from making a tender offer or acquisition proposal to us. If 
this were to happen, it could delay, deter or prevent a change in control or the removal of existing management. These 
provisions also may delay or prevent the shareholders from receiving a premium for their common shares over then-prevailing 
market prices. These provisions include: 

the REIT ownership limit described above; 
authorization of the issuance of our preferred shares with powers, preferences or rights to be determined by the Board 
of Trustees; 
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special meetings of our shareholders may be called only by the chainnan of the board, the chief executive officer, the 
president, by one-third of the tmstees or by shareholders possessing no less than 25% of all the votes entitled to be cast 
at the meeting; 

• the Board ofTmstees, without a shareholder vote, can classify or reclassify unissued shares of beneficial interest, 
including the reclassification of common shares into preferred shares and vice-versa; 
a two-thirds shareholder vote is required to approve some amendments to the declaration of trust; and 
advance-notice requirements for proposals to be presented at shareholder meetings. 

In addition, if we elect to be governed by it in the future, the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Law could delay or prevent a 
change in control. Under Maryland law, unless a REIT elects not to be subject to this law, "control shares" acquired in a 
"control share acquisition" have no voting rights except to the extent approved by shareholders by a vote of two-thirds of the 
votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding shares owned by the acquirer and by officers or trustees who are employees of 
the REIT. "Control shares" are voting shares that would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing tmstees within 
specified ranges of voting power. A "control share acquisition" means the acquisition of control shares, with some exceptions. 

The Parent Company's bylaws state that the Maryland control share acquisition law will not apply to any acquisition by any 
person of our common shares. This bylaw provision may be repealed, in whole or in part, at any time, whether before or after 
an acquisition of control shares, by a vote of a majority of the shareholders entitled to vote, and, upon such repeal, may, to the 
extent provided by any successor bylaw, apply to any prior or subsequent control share acquisition. 

In addition, certain provisions in the Partnership 's limited partnership agreement (the " Partnership Agreement") may delay or 
make more d!ifficult unsolicited acquisitions of us or changes in our control. These provisions could discourage third parties 
from making proposals involving an unsolicited acquisition of us or change of our control, although some shareholders might 
consider suclh proposals, if made, desirable. These provisions also make -it more difficult for third parties to alter the 
management structure of the Partnership without the concurrence of our Board of Trustees. These provisions include, among 
others: 

• redemption rights of limited partners and certain assignees of units of limited partnership interest ("OP Units"); 
• transfer restrictions on OP Units and restrictions on admissions of partners; 

a requirement that the General Partner may not be removed as the general partner of the Partnership without its 
consent; 

• the ability of the General Partner to issue preferred partnership interests in the Partnership with terms that it may 
determine, without the approval or consent of any Limited Partner; and 

• restrictions on the ability of the General Partner, the Partnership or the Parent Company to transfer its interests in the 
Partnership or otherwise engage in certain extraordinary transactions, including, among others, certain mergers, 
business combinations, sales of all or substantially all of their assets and recapitalizations. 

General Risk Factors 

The market value of our debt and equity securities is subject to various factors that may cause significant fluctuations or 
volatility. 

As with other publicly traded securities, the market price of our debt and equity securities depends on various factors, which 
may change fTom time to time and/or may be unrelated to our financial condition, operating performance or prospects that may 
cause significant fluctuations or volatility in such prices. These factors include, among others: 

general economic and financial market conditions; 
• level and trend of interest rates; 
• our ability to access the capital markets to raise additional capital; 

the issuance of additional equity or debt securities; 
• changes in our funds from operations ("FFO") or earnings estimates; 
• changes in our credit or analyst ratings; 

our fmancial condition and performance; 
market perception of our business compared to other REITs; and 
market perception ofREITs, in general, compared to other investment alternatives. 

We cannot assure you we will continue to pay dividends in the current composition or at historical rates. 

Our ability to continue to pay dividends on our common shares at historical rates or to increase our common share dividend 
rate, and our ability to pay preferred share dividends and service our debt securities, will depend on a number offactors, 
including, among others, the following: 

our financial condition and results of future operations; 
the performance by our tenants under their contractual lease agreements; 
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the tenns of our loan covenants; and 
our ability to acquire, finance, develop or redevelop and lease additional properties at attractive rates. 

Jfwe do not maintain or increase, or if we change the composition of the dividend on our common shares, it could have an 
adverse effect on the market price of our common shares and other securities. Any preferred shares we may offer in the future 
may have a fixed dividend rate that would not increase with any increases in the dividend rate of our common shares. 
Conversely, payment of dividends on our common shares may be subject to payment in full of the dividends on any preferred 
shares and payment of interest on any debt securities we may offer. 

The Parent Company is a holding company with no direct operations, and it will rely on funds received from the 
Partnership to pay its obligations and make distributions to its shareholders. 

The Parent Company is a holding company and expects to conduct substantially all of its operations through the Partnership. 
The Parent Company will not have, apart from an interest in the Partnership, any independent operations. As a result, the Parent 
Company will rely on disn·ibUJtions from the Partt1ership to make any distributions we declare on our common shares. The 
Parent Company will also rely on distributions from the Partnersrup to meet its obligations, including any tax liability on 
taxable income allocated to the Parent Company from the Partnership. Through its ownersrup and control of the General 
Partner, the Parent Company exercises exclusive control over the Partnership, including the authority to cause the Partnership to 
make distributions, subject to certain limited approval and voting rights of the Partnership's Limited Partners as described in the 
Partnership Agreement. In addition, because the Parent Company is a holding company, your claims as shareholders are 
structurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities and obligations to preferred equity holders of the Partnership and 
its subsidiaries. Therefore, in the event of a bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or reorganization of the Partnership or its 
subsidiaries, assets of the Partnership or the applicable subsidiary will be available to satisfy any claims of our shareholders 
only after such liabilities and obligations have been satisfied in full. 

We currently own 100% of the OP Units issued by the Partnership and are its sole Limited Partner. However, in connection 
with our future acquisition activities or otherwise, we may issue additional OP Units to third parties and admit additional 
Limited Partners. Such issuances would reduce the Parent Company' s percentage ownership in the Partnership. 

Loss of our key management could adversely affect performance and the value of our common shares. 

We are dependent on the efforts of our key management. Although we believe qualified replacements could be found for any 
departures of key executives, the loss of their services could adversely affect our performance and the value of our common 
shares. 

We may adjust our business policies without shareholder approval. 

We may modify our approach to investment, fmancing, borrowing, and other operating strategies without shareholder approval. 
A change in the approach to any of these items could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations, and the 
market price of our securities. 

Our current business plan focuses on our investment in rugh quality retail based properties that are typically neighborhood and 
community shopping centers or mixed-use properties, principally through redevelopments and acquisitions .. If this business plan 
is not successful, it could have a material adverse effect on our fmancial condition and results of operations. 

Given these uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements that we make, 
including those in this Annual Report on Form 1 0-K. Except as may be required by law, we make no promise to update any of 
the forward-looking statements as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. You should carefully review the 
above risks and the risk factors. 

We face risks relating to cyber threats that could cause loss of confidential information and other business disru11tions. 

We rely extensively on information technology systems to process transactions and manage our business, and our business is at 
risk from and may be impacted by cybersecurity incidents. These could include attempts to gain unauthorized access to our data 
and computer systems as well as attacks on third party's information technology systems that we rely on to provide important 
infonnation technology services relating to key business ftmctions, such as payroll. Cyber attacks can be both individual and/or 
highly organized attempts by very sophisticated hacking organizations. A cyber attack could compromise the confidential 
information of our employees, tenants, and vendors. A successful attack could adversely affect our business operations, results 
of operations, or financial condition by, among other things, disrupting our collection of revenue, interfering with our ability to 
satisfy our financial obligations by restricting access to our assets, or causing inaccuracies in our financial reporting. We 
employ a number of measures to prevent, detect, and mitigate these threats, which include password encryption, multi-factor 
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authentication, frequent password change events, firewall detection systems, anti-virus software in-place, frequent backups, a 
redundant data system for core applications, and penetration testing; however, there is no guarantee such efforts will be 
successful in preventing a material cybersecurity incident. 

ITEM lB. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

None. 

ITEM lC. CYBER SECURITY 

Please see Item 7. "Managements's Discussion and Analysis of financial Condition and Results of Operations- Cyber Security" 
for discussion regarding the cyber security policies of the Company. 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

General 

As of December 31, 2024, we owned or had a majority ownership interest in community and neighborhood shopping centers 
and mixed-used properties which are operated as 102 predominantly retail real estate projects comprising approximately 26.8 
million commercial square feet. These properti·es are located primarily in densely populated and affiuent communities in 
strategic metropolitan markets in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic regions of the United States, California, and South Florida. No 
single commercial or residential property accounted for over I 0% of our 2024 total revenue. We believe that our properties are 
adequately covered by commercial general liability, fire, flood, earthquake, terrorism and business interruption insurance 
provided by reputable companies, with commercially reasonable exclusions, deductibles and limits. 

Tenant Diversification 

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately 3,500 commercial leases and 3,100 residential leases, with commercial 
tenants ranging from sole proprietors to major national and international retailers. No one tenant or affiliated group of tenants 
accounted foT more than 2.6% of our annualized base rent as of December 31 , 2024. As a result of our tenant diversification, we 
believe our exposure to any one bankruptcy filing has not been and will not be significant, however, multiple fi lings by a 
number of tenants could have a significant impact. 
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Geographic Diversification 

Our 102 real estate projects are located in 12 states and the District of Columbia. The following table shows the number of 
projects, the gross leasable area ("GLA") of co:nunercial space and the percentage of total portfolio gross leasable area of 
commercial space in each state as of December 31, 2024. 

State 

California 

Virginia 

Maryland 

Massachusetts 

New Jersey 

Pennsylvania 

New York 

Florida 

Arizona 

Illinois 

Connecticut 

Michigan 

District of Columbia 

Total 

Leases, Lease Ter ms and Lease E xpirations 

Number of 
Pt·ojects 

20 

20 

17 

7 

7 

9 

7 

4 

2 
4 

3 

I 

I 
102 

Percentage 
ofGt·oss 

Gross Leasable Leasable 
At·ea Area 

(In square feet) 

6,394,000 23.8 % 

4,767,000 17.8 % 

4,526,000 16.9 % 

2,251,000 8.4 % 

1,883,000 7.0 % 

1,822,000 6.8% 

1,500,000 5.6 % 

1,287,000 4.8% 

947,000 3.5 % 

776,000 2.9% 

420,000 1.6% 

205,000 0.7 % 

54,000 0.2 % 
26,832,000 100.0% 

Our leases are classified as operating leases and typically are structured to require the monthly payment of minimum rents in 
advance, subject to periodic increases during the term of the lease, percentage rents based on the level of sa les achieved by 
tenants, and reimbursement of a majority of on-site operating expenses and real estate taxes. These features in our leases 
generally reduce our exposure to higher costs and allow us to participate in improved tenant sales. 

Commercial property leases generally range from three to ten years; however, certain leases, primarily with anchor tenants, may 
be longer. Many of our leases contain tenant options that enable the tenant to extend the term of the lease at expiration at pre­
established rental rates that often include fixed rent increases, consumer p rice index adjustments or other market rate 
adjustments from the prior base rent. Leases on residential units are generally for a period of one year or less and, in 2024, 
represented approximately 9.6% of total rental income. 

20 



The following table sets forth the schedule of lease expirations for our commercial leases in place as of December 31 , 2024 
for each of the 10 years beginning with 2025 and after 2034 in the aggregate assuming that none of the tenants exercise futme 
renewal options. Annualized base rents reflect in-place contractual rents as of December 31, 2024. 

Percentage of 
Leased Percentage of AnuuaUzed Annualized 
Square Leased Square Base Rent Base Rent 
Footage Footage Rcpnsentcd by Represented by 

Year of Lease Expiration Expiring Expiring Expiring Leases Expiring Leases 

2025 1,840,000 7 % $ 50,270,000 6 % 
2026 2,635,000 10 % 78,748,000 10 % 

2027 3,109,000 12 % 101,199,000 13% 

2028 2,822,000 II % 89,376,000 I I % 

2029 3,529,000 14 % 116,085,000 14 % 
2030 2, 152,000 9 % 65,247,000 8% 
2031 1,405,000 6 % 48,918,000 6 % 
2032 2,280,000 9 % 77,122,000 10 % 
2033 1,485,000 6 % 48,238,000 6 % 
2034 1,253,000 5 % 39,630,000 5 % 

Thereafter 2,731,000 II % 88,177,000 I I % 

Total 25,241,000 100 % $ 803,0 I 0,000 100 % 

During 2024, we signed leases for a total of2,434,000 square feet of retail space including 2,392,000 square feet of comparable 
space leases (leases for which there was a prior tenant) at an average rental increase of 11% on a cash basis. New leases for 
comparable spaces were signed for 979,000 square feet at an average rental increase of 15% on a cash basis. Renewals for 
comparable spaces were signed for 1,413,000 square feet at an average rental increase of 8% on a cash basis. Tenant 
improvements and incentives for comparable spaces were $26.03 per square foot, of which, $58.91 per square foot was for new 
leases and $3.25 per square foot was for renewals in 2024. 

During 2023, we signed leases for a total of2,09 1 ,000 square feet of retail space including 2,027,000 square feet of comparable 
space leases (leases for which there was a prior tenant) at an average rental increase of l 0% on a cash basis. New leases for 
comparable spaces were signed for 1,016,000 square feet at an average rental increase of 13% on a cash basis. Renewals for 
comparable spaces were signed for I ,0 I I ,000 square feet at an average rental increase of 8% on a cash basis. Tenant 
improvements and incentives for comparable spaces were $29.84 per square foot, of which, $56.95 per square foot was for new 
leases and $2.60 per square foot was for renewals in 2023. 

The rental increases associated with comparable spaces generally include all leases signed for retail space in anns-length 
transactions reflecting market leverage between landlords and tenants during the period, excluding leases at properties sold or 
under contract to be sold. The comparison between the rent for expiring leases and new leases is determined by including 
contractual rent on the expiring lease, including percentage rent considered to part of base rent, and the comparable annual rent 
and in some instances, projections of percentage rent, to be paid on the new lease. In atypical circumstances, management may 
exercise judgment as to how to most effectively reflect the comparability of spaces reported in this calculation. The change an 
rental income on comparable space leases is impacted by numerous factors including current market rates, location, individual 
tenant creditworthiness, use of space, market conditions when the expiring lease was signed, capital investment made in the 
space and the specific lease structure. Tenant improvements and incentives include the total dollars committed for the 
improvement (fit out) of a space as it relates to a specific lease. Incentives include amounts paid to tenants as an inducement to 
sign a lease that do not represent building impr·ovements. Costs related to tenant improvements require judgement by 
management in determining what are costs specific to the tenant and not deferred maintenance on the space. 

In the past five years, we have executed comparable space leases for I. 7 to 2.4 million square feet of retai I space each year and 
expect the volume for 2025 will be in line with these historical averages. Although we expect overall positive increases in 
annual rent for comparable spaces, changes in annual rent for any individual lease or combinations of individual leases reported 
in any particular period may be positive or negative and we can provide no assurance that the annual rents on comparable space 
leases will continue to increase at historical levels, if at all. A decline in current economic conditions could adversely impact 
our volume of leasing activity and the amount of rent we are able to charge to new or renewing tenants. 

The leases signed in 2024 generally become effective over the following two years though some may not become effective l!.IDtil 
2027 and beyond. Further, there is risk that some new tenants will not ultimately take possession of their space and that tenants 
for both new and renewalleas.es may not pay all of their contractual rent due to operating, financing or other matters. However, 
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our historical increases in rental rates do provide infonnation about the tenant/landlord relationship and the potential increase 
we may achieve in rental income over time. 

Retail and R esidential Properties 

The following table sets forth information concerning all real estate projects in which we owned an equity interest, had a 
leasehold interest, or otherwise controlled and are consolidated as of December 31 , 2024. Except as otherwise noted, we are the 
sole owner of our real estate projects. Principal tenants are the largest tenants in the project based on square feet leased or are 
tenants important to a project's success due to their ability to attract retai I customers. 

Sqmu-e Avenlge Base 
Fect(l ) I Rent Per 

Yeu Yeat· Apartment Square Pet·centage 
Pt·operty, C ity, State, Zip Code Completed Acquit·ed Units Foot(2) Leased(3) Principal Tenant(s) 

Arizona 

Camelback Colonnade 1977,2019 2021 642,000 $18.40 94% Fry's Food & Drug 
Phoenix, AZ 85016(4) Marshalls 

Nordstrom Last Chance 
Best Buy 
Floor & Decor 

Chandler Festival 2000 2022 355,000 $19.01 90% Ross Dress for Less 
Chandler, AZ 85224(5)(6) Nordstrom Rack 

TJ Maxx 
Ulta 

Chandler Gateway 2001 2022 262,000 $10.83 98% Walmart 
Chandler, AZ 85226(5)(6) Hobby Lobby 

Pet co 

lhe Shops at Hilton Village 1982, 1989 202112022 305,000 $36.25 86% cvs 
Scousdale, AZ 85250(4)(7) Houston's 

California 

Azalea 2014 2017 226,000 $31.37 LOO% Marshalls 
South Gate, CA 90280(4)(6) Ross Dress for Less 

Ulta 
Michaels 

Bell Gardens 1990, 2003, 2017/2018 371,000 $24.01 98% Food 4 Less 
Bell Gardens, CA 90201(4)(6)(7) 2006 El Super 

Marshalls 
Ross Dress for Less 
Bob's Discount Furniture 

Colorado Blvd 1905-1988 1998 42,000 $62.89 73% Banana Republic 
Pasadena, CA 91 I 03(7) True Food Kitchen 

Crow Canyon Commons 1980, 1998, 200512007 239,000 $36.8 1 85% Sprouts 
San Ramon, CA 94583 2006 Total Wine & More 

Alamo Ace Hardware 

East Bay Bridge 1994-200 1, 2012 441 ,000 $2 1.26 88% Pak-N-Save 
Emeryville & Oakland, CA 94608 2011, 2012 Target 

Home Depot 
Nordstrom Rack 
Michaels 

Escondido Promenade 1987 1996/2010 298,000 $30.87 98% TJ Maxx 
Escondido, CA 92029 Dick's Sporting Goods 

Ross Dress for Less 
Bob's Discount Furniture 

Fourth Street 1948, 1975 2017 7 1,000 $40.38 47% CB2 
Berkeley, CA 94710(4) Bellwether Coffee 

freedom Plaza 2020 2018 114,000 $32.02 95% Smart & final 
Los Angeles, CA 90002(4)(7) Nike 

Blink Fitness 
Ross Dress for Less 

Grossmont Center 1961, 1963, 2021 877,000 $14.93 96% Target 
La Mesa, CA 91942(4) 1982-1983, Walmart 

2002 Barnes & Noble 
Macy's 
cvs 

Hastings Ranch Plaza 1958, 1984, 2017 273,000 $9.49 100% Marshalls 
Pasadena, CA 91 1 07(7) 2006, 2007 HomeGoods 

cvs 
Hollywood Blvd 1929, 1991 1999 181.000 S32.65 86% Target 

Hollywood. CA 90028 Marshalls 
L.A. Fitness 
cvs 

La Alameda 2008 2017 245,000 $28.44 93% Marshalls 
Walnut Park, CA 90255(5)(6)(7) Ross Dress for Less 

CVS 
Pet co 

22 



Square Avct·ngc Base 
Fect(l) I R ent Per 

Year Year Apartment Square P ercentage 
Property, C ity, State, Zip Code C ompleted Acquit·ed Units Foot(2) Leased(3) P t·incipal T enant(s) 

Old Town Center 1962, 1998 1997 98,000 $47.60 89% Anthropologie 
Los Gatos, CA 95030 Sephora 

Arhaus Furniture 
Telefetic Barcelona 

Olivo at Mission Hills 2018 2017 155,000 $34.70 100% Target 
Mission Hills, CA 91345(4) 24 Hour Fitness 

Ross Dress lor Less 
Ulta 

Pinole Vista Crossing 1995,2015 2024 2 16,000 $22.42 100% FoodMaxx 
Pinole, CA 94564 TJMaxx 

Nordstrom Rack 
HomeGoods 
Ulta 

Plaza Del Sol 2009 2017 48,000 $25.14 93% Marshalls 
South El Monte, CA 9 1733(4) 

Plaza El Segundo I The Point 2006-2007, 2011/2013 502,000 $47.1 1 98% Whole Foods 
El Segundo, CA 90245 (6) 2016 Nordstrom Rack 

HomeGoods 
Dick's Sporting Goods 
Multiple Restaurants 

San Antonio Center 1958, 2015/2019 2 13,000 $17.89 100% Trader Joe's 
Mountain View, CA 94040(7)(8) 1964-1965, Wahnart 

1974-1975, 24 Hour Fitness 
1995-1997 

Santana Row 2002, 2009, 1997 1,231,000 $58.49 98% Crate & Barrel 
San Jose, CA 95128(7)( I 0) 2016,2020 Container Store 

Best Buy 
Sephora 
Cisco Systems 
NetApp 
Multiple Restaurants 

Santana Row Residential 2003-2006, 1997/2012 662 units N/A 96% 
San Jose, CA 95 128 201 1,2014 

Sylmar Towne Center 1973 2017 148,000 $20.14 92% Food 4 Less 
Sylmar, CA 91342(4) cvs 

Westgate Center 
San Jose, CA 95129 

1960- 1966 2004 650,000 $22.72 93% Target 
Nordstrom Rack 
Nike Factory 
TJ Maxx 
Ross Dress for Less 

Connecticut 

Bristol Plaza 1959 1995 264,000 $15.63 95% Stop & Shop 
Bristol, CT 060 I 0 TJ Maxx 

Burlington 

Darien Commons 1920-2009, 2013/20 18 121 ,000 $47.68 89% Equinox 
Darien, CT 06820 2023 Walgreens 

Multiple Restaurants 

Darien Commons Residential 2022 2013/2018 124 units N/A 98% 
Darien, CT 06820 

Greenwich Avenue 1968 1995 35,000 $96.19 100% Saks Fifth Avenue 
Greenwich A venue, CT 06830 

District of Columbia 

Friendship Center 1998 2001 54,000 $28.43 100% Marshalls 
Washington, DC 20015 Maggiano's 

Florida 

Coco Walk 1990/1994, 2015-2017 278,000 $48.82 99% Cinepolis Theaters 
Coconut Grove, FL 33133(11) 1922-1973, Youfit HealU1 Club 

2018-2021 Multiple Restaurants 

Del Mar Village 1982, 1994 2008/2014 187.000 $24.53 97% WitmDi.xie 
Boca Raton, FL 33433 & 2007 cvs 

L.A. Fitness 

Shops at Pembroke Gardens 2007 2022 391,000 S31.98 99% Nike Factory 
Pembroke Pines, FL 33027 Old Navy 

DSW 
Barnes & Noble 

Tower Shops 1989,2017 2011/2014 431,000 $28.17 99% Trader Joe's 
Davie, FL 33324 TJ Maxx 

Ross Dress for Less 
Best Buy 
Ulta 
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Square Average Base 
Fect(l) I Rent Per 

Year Year Apartment Square P ercentage 
Property, C ity, State, Zip Code C ompleted Acqui•·ed Units Foot(2) Leased(3) P1·iucipal Tenant(s) 

Illinois 

Crossroads 1959 1993 168,000 $23.56 95% L.A. Fitness 
Highland Park, IL 60035 Ulta 

Binny's 
Ferguson's Bath, Kitchen, & 
Lighting Gallery 

Finley Square 1974 1995 258,000 $21.04 79% Michaels 
Downers Grove, 1L 605 15 Five Below 

Portillo's 

Garden Market 1958 1994 139,000 $15.91 99% Mariano's Fresh Market 
Western Springs, lL 60558 Walgreens 

Riverpoint Center 1989,2012 2017 211 ,000 $2 1.47 94% Jewel Osco 
Chicago, IL 60614 Marshalls 

Old Navy 
Ma.-vland 

Bethesda Row 1945-1 991 1993-2006/ 530,000 $58.81 97% Giant Food 
Bethesda, MD 20814(6)(7) 2001,2008 2008/2010 Apple 

Anthropologie 
Equinox 
Multiple Restaurants 

Bethesda Row Residential 2008 1993 180 units N/A 93% 
Bethesda, MD 20814 (6) 

Congressional Plaza 1965 1965 325,000 $39.7 1 94% The Fresh Market 
Rockville, MD 20852(4) Ulta 

Barnes & Noble 
Container Store 

Congressional Plaza Residential 2003,2016 1965 194 units N/A 96% 
Rockville, MD 20852(4) 

Courthouse Center 1975 1997 33,000 $27.85 81% 
Rockville, MD 20852 

Federal Plaza 1970 1989 249,000 $39.81 94% Trader Joe's 
Rockvi lle, MD 20852 TJ Maxx 

Micro Center 
Ross Dress for Less 

Gaithersburg Square 1966 1993 204,000 $32.78 98% Marshalls 
Gaithersburg. MD 20878 Ross Dress lor Less 

Ashley Furniture HomeStore 
CVS 

Governor Plaza 1963 1985 243,000 $19.96 100% Aldi 
Glen Burnie, MD 21961 Dick's Sporting Goods 

Ross Dress for Less 
Pet co 
Bob's Discount Furniture 

Laurel 1956 1986 367,000 $24.74 96% Giant Food 
Laurel, MD 20707 Marshalls 

L.A. Fitness 
HomeGoods 

Montrose Crossing 1960- 1979, 2011/2013 369,000 $34.83 100% Giant Food 
Rockville, MD 20852 1996,2011 Marshalls 

Home Depot Design Center 
Old Navy 
Burling ton 

Pening Plaza 1963 1985 398,000 $16.97 100% Giant Food 
Baltimore, MD 2 11 34 Home Depot 

Dick's Sporting Goods 
Micro Center 

Pike & Rose 1963, 20 14, 1982/2007/ 854,000 $46.55 100% Porsche 
North Bethesda, MD 20852( I 0) 2018,2020 2012 Uniqlo 

REI 
H&M 
L.L. Bean 
Choice Hotels 
Multiple Restaurants 

Pike & Rose Residential 2014,20 16, 1982/2007 765 units N/A 96% 
North Bethesda, MD 20852 2018 

Plaza Uel Mercado 1969 2004 116,000 $34.45 98% Aldi 
Silver Spring, MD 20906 cvs 

L.A. Fit ness 

Quince Orchard 1975 1993 271,000 $25.6 1 87% Aldi 
Gaithersburg. MD 20877(7) HomeGoods 

L.A. fitness 
Staples 
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Square Avct·ngc Base 
Fect(l) I Rent Per 

Year Year Apartment Square P ercentage 
Property, C ity, State, Zip Code C ompleted Acquit·ed Units Foot(2) Leased(3) P t·iucipal Tenant(s) 

TiiE A VENUE at White Marsh 1997 2007 3 15,000 $28.97 99% AMC 
Baltimore, MD 2 1236(8) Ulta 

Old Navy 
Nike 

The Shoppes at Nottingham Square 2005-2006 2007 33,000 $54.96 100% 
Baltimore, MD 2 1236 

White Marsh Other 1985 2007 5 1,000 $39.79 100% 
Baltimore, MD 2 1236 

White Marsh Plaza 1987 2007 80,000 $24.07 98% Giant food 
Baltimore, MD 2 1236 

Wildwood 1958 1969 88,000 $ 110.97 100% Balducci's 
Bethesda, MD 20814 CVS 

Multiple Restaurants 

Massachusetts 

Assembly Row/ 2005,20 14, 2005-2011/ 1,230,000 $40.76 97% Trader Joe's 
Assembly Square Marketplace 2018,2021 2013 TJ Maxx 

Somerville, MA 02145(1 0) AMC 
Nike 
Bob's Discount Furniture 
PUMA 
Multiple Restaurants 

Assembly Row Residential 
Somerville, MA 02145 

2018,2021 2005-2011 947 units N/A 94% 

Campus Plaza 1970 2004 114,000 $19.44 96% Roche Bros. 
Bridgewater, MA 02324 Burl ington 

Five Below 

Chelsea Commons 1962,1969, 2006-2008 233,000 $15.64 100% Home Depot 
Chelsea, MA 02150(6) 2008 Planet Fitness 

cvs 
Burlington 

Dedham Plaza 1959 1993/2016/ 253,000 $23.41 93% Star Market 
Dedham, MA 02026 2019 Planet Fitness 

Linden Square 1960,2008 2006 224,000 $52.81 98% Roche Bros. 
Wellesley, MA 02481 7 units N/A 100% cvs 

Multiple Restaurants 

North Dartmouth 2004 2006 
North Dartmouth, MA 02747 

48,000 $17.22 100% Stop & Shop 

Queen Anne Plaza 
Norwell, MA 02061 

1967 1994 149,000 $2 1.55 99% Big Y Foods 
TJ Maxx 
HomeGoods 

Michigan 

Gratiot Plaza 1964 1973 205,000 $14.23 99% Kroger 
Rosevi lle, Ml 48066 Best Buy 

DSW 

New .Jersev 

Brick Plaza 1958 1989 403,000 $23.10 97% Trader Joe's 
Brick Township, NJ 08723(7) AMC 

HomeGoods 
Ulta 
Burlington 

Brook 35 1986, 2004 2014 98,000 $41.59 94% Banana Republic 
Sea Grit, NJ 08750(4)(6)(8) Gap 

Tommy's Tavern + Tap 

Ellisburg 1959 1992 260,000 $18.64 99% Whole Foods 
Cherry Hill, NJ 08034 Five Below 

RHOutlet 
Hoboken 1887-2006 2019/2020/ 171,000 $59.69 99% cvs 

Hoboken, NJ 07030(4)(6)(12) 2022 New York Sports Club 
129 units N/A 99% Sephora 

Multiple Restaurants 

Mercer on One (fonnerly Mercer Mall) 1975 2003/2017/ 549,000 $27.04 100% Shop Rite 
Lawrenceville, NJ 08648(7) 2023 Nike 

Ross Dress for Less 
Nordstrom Rack 
RET 
Testa 

The Grove at ShrewsbUJy 1988, 1993 2014 191,000 $53.76 100% Bloomies 
Shrewsbury, NJ 07702(4)(6)(8) & 2007 Lululemon 

Anthropologie 
Pottery Barn 
Wi II iams-Sonorna 
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Squa re Avct·ngc Base 
F ect(l) I R ent P er 

Year Year Apartmen t Squa re P ercentage 
Property, C ity, State, Zip Code C ompleted Acquit·ed Units Foot(2) Leased (3) P t·incipal T enant(s) 

Troy Hills 1966 1980 2 11,000 $19.75 100% Target 
Parsippany-Troy, NJ 07054 Floor & Decor 

Michaels 
New York 

Fresh Meadows 1949 1997 408,000 $41.03 98% Lid! 
Queens, NY 1 1365 Island of Gold 

AMC 
Kohl's 
Planet Fitness 

Georgetowne Shopping Center 1969, 2006, 2019 147,000 $44.02 92% Food way 
Brooklyn, NY I 1234 2015 Five Below 

I HOP 

Greenlawn Plaza 1975,2004 2006 103,000 s 18.39 94% Greenlawn Farms 
Greenlawn, NY 11743 Planet Fitness 

Hauppauge 1963 1998 134,000 $27.17 95% Shop Rite 
Hauppauge, NY 11788 TJ Maxx 

Five Below 

Huntington 1962 1988/2007/ 2 11,000 $36.01 98% Whole Foods 
Huntington, NY 11746 2015 Petsma rt 

REI 
Ulta 
Container Store 

Huntington Square 1980, 2007 2010/2023 244,000 $24.2 1 94% Aldi 
East Northport, NY 11731 At Home 

AMC 

Melville Mall 1974 2006 253,000 $3004 100% Uncle Giuseppe's Marketplace 
Huntington, NY 11747(7) Marshalls 

Dick's Sporting Goods 
Public Lands 

Pennsylvania 

Andorra 1953 1988 252,000 $16.01 98% TJ Maxx 
Philadelphia, PA 19 128 Kohl's 

L.A. Fitness 
Five Below 

BaJa Cynwyd on City Avenue 1955 1993 174,000 $37.82 95% Acme Markets 
Bala Cynwyd , PA 19004 Michaels 

L.A. Fitness 
Bala Cynwyd on City Avenue Residential 

Bala Cynwyd , PA 19004 
2020 1993 87 units NI A 92% 

Flourtown 1957 1980 158,000 $23.23 98% Giant Food 
Flourtown, PA 1903 1 Movie Tavern 

Lancaster 1958 1980 126,000 s 19.46 99% Giant Food 
Lancaster, PA 17601(7) AutoZone 

Langhome Square 1966 1985 223,000 $20.10 98% Redner's Warehouse Markets 
Levittown, PA 19056 Marshalls 

Planet Fitness 

Lawrence Park 1972 1980/2017 357,000 $25.15 100% Acme Markets 
Broomall, PA 19008 TJ Maxx 

HomeGoods 
Barnes & Noble 
Lankenau Medical Center 

Northeast 1959 1983 209,000 $2 1.70 87% Marshalls 
Philadelphia, PA 19 114 Ulta 

Skechers 
Cmnch Fitness 

Willow Grove 1953 1984 86,000 $25.59 98% Amazon Food 
Willow Grove, PA 19090 Marshalls 

Five Below 
Wytmewood 1948 1996 237,000 $32.03 97% Giant Food 

Wym1ewood, PA 19096 
9 units N/A 67% 

Old Navy 
DSW 

Virginia 

29th Place 1975-2001 2007 168,000 $2 1.50 99% HomeGoods 
Charlottesvillle, VA 2209 1 DSW 

Staples 

Barcroft Plaza 1963, 1972, 2006/2007/ 113,000 $31.15 98% Hanis Teeter 
Falls Church, VA 22041 1990, & 2016 

2000 
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Square Avct·ngc Base 
Fect(l ) I Rent Per 

Year Year Apartment Square P ercentage 
Property, C ity, State, Zip Code C ompleted Acquit·ed Units Foot(2) Leased(3) P t·iucipal Tenant(s) 

Barracks Road 1958 1985 495,000 $29.22 9 1% Harris Teeter 
Charlottesville, VA 22905 Kroger 

Anthropologie 
Old Navy 
Ulta 
Michaels 

Birch & Broad 1960/1962 1967/1972 144,000 $39.23 100% Giant Food 
Falls Church, VA 22046 cvs 

Staples 

Ch~st~rbrook 1967 2021 89,000 $28.70 83% Saf~way 
McLean, VA 22101(4) Starbucks 

Fairfax Junction 1981, 1986, 2019/2020 124,000 $28.82 97% Aldi 
Fairfax, VA 22030(8) 2000 CVS 

Planet Fitness 

Graham Park Plaza 1971 1983 133,000 $39.64 95% Giant Food 
Falls Church, VA 22042 

Idyl wood Plaza 1991 1994 73,000 $48.70 100% Who1eFoods 
Falls Church, VA 22030 

Kingstowne TO\\~le Center 1996, 2001, 2022 4 11,000 $28.36 100% Giant Food 
Kingstowne, VA 22315 2006 Safeway 

TJMaxx 
HomeGoods 
Five Below 
Ross Dress for Less 

Mount Vemon/South Valley/ 1966, 2003/2006/ 565,000 $20.86 98% Shoppers Food Warehouse 
7770 Richmond Hwy 1972,1987 2021 TJ Maxx 
Alexandria, VA 22306(8) & 200 1 Home Depot 

Old Navy 
Burlington 

Old Keene Mill 1968 1976 90,000 $45.74 100% Trader Joe's 
Springfield, VA 22152 Walgreens 

Planet Fitness 
Pike 7 Plaza 1968 1997/2015 175,000 $49.15 98% Lid! 

Vienna, VA 22 180 TJ Maxx 
DSW 
Ulta 

Providence Place (fonnerly Pan Am) 1979 1993 228,000 $23.93 96% Safeway 
Fairfax, VA 2203 1 Micro Center 

cvs 
Michaels 

Tower Shopping Center 1960 1998 109,000 $29.61 95% L.A. Mart 
Springfield, VA 22150 Total Wine & More 

Talbots 

Twinbrooke Centre 1977 2021 101 ,000 $27.84 98% Safeway 
Fairfax, VA 22032 Walgreens 

Tyson's Station 
Falls Church, VA 22043 

1954 1978 48,000 $52.70 97% Trader Joe's 

Village at Shirbngton 1940, 1995 277,000 $40.74 87% Harris Teeter 
Arlington, VA 22206(7) 2006-2009 cvs 

AMC 
Multiple Restaurants 

Virginia Gateway 1999, 2024 664,000 $27.15 98% Giant Food 
Gainesville, VA 20015 2006-2008, HomeGoods 

20 13-2016 Total Wine & More 
Best Buy 
Ulta 

West post 2001-2002 1998/2010 298,000 $34.14 98% Harris Teeter 
Arlington, VA 22202 Target 

T1 Maxx 
Ulta 
Walgreens 
DSW 

Willow Lawn 1957 1983 462,000 $23.48 99% Kroger 
Richmond, VA 23230 Old Navy 

Ross Dress for Less 
Gold's Gym 
Dick's Sporting Goods 
Ulla 

Tota l - C omm ercial (9) 26,832,000 $31.81 96% 

Total-Residential 3,104 units 95% 

(I) Represents the GLA of the commercial pmt ion of the property. Some of our properties include office space which is included in this square footage. 

27 



(2) Average base rent per square foot is calculated as the aggregate, annualized in-place contractual (defined as cash basis excluding rent abatements) 
minimum rent for all occupied spaces divided by the aggregate GLA of all occupied spaces. Average base rent is for commercial spaces only. 

(3) Percentage leased is expressed as a percentage of rentable commercial square feet occupied or subject to a lease. Residential percentage leased is 
expressed as a percentage of units occupied or subject to a lease. 

(4) We own the controlling interest in this property. 
(5) We own a noncontrolling interest in this property. 
(6) All or a portion of this property is encumbered iby a mortgage loan. 
(7) All or a portion of this property is owned pursuant to a ground lease. 
(8) We own all or a portion of this property in a "downREIT" partnership, of which a wholly owned subsidiary of the Trust is the sole general partner, 

with third party partners holding operating partnership units. 
(9) Aggregate infonnation is calculated on a GLA weighted-average basis, excluding Chandler Festival, Chandler Gateway, and La Alameda, which are 

a ll unconsolidated properl'ies at December 31 , 2024. 
(I 0) Portion of property is currently under development. See further discussion in Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations. 
( I I) This property includes interests in four nearby buildings. 
( 12) This property includes 40 buildings primarily along Washington Street and 14th Street in Hoboken, New Jersey. 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

We are involved from time-to-time in various Legal and regulatory proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business, 
including, but not limited to, commercial disputes, environmental matters, and litigation in connection with transactions such as 
acquisitions and divestitures. We believe that our current proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, liquidity or results of operations. See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for further discussions. 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 
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PART JJ 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR OUR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Our common shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "FRT." Listed below are the high and low sales 
prices of our common shares as reported on the New York Stock Exchange and the dividends declared for ,each of the periods 
indicated. 

2024 
Fourth quarter 

Third quarter 

Second quarter 

First quarter 

2023 .... 
Fourth quarter 

Third quarter 

Second quarter 

First quarter 

On February I 0, 2025, there were I ,906 holders of record of our common shares. 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Pt·ice Per Shat·e 

High Low 

I l 8.09 $ 109 .41 

118.34 $ 99.64 

105.98 $ 95.98 

104.54 $ 97.13 

107.61 $ 85.59 

104.58 $ 89.90 

100.67 $ 85.27 

I 15.08 $ 90.44 

Dividends 
Declat·ed 
Per Shar-e 

$ 1.100 

$ 1.100 

$ 1.090 

$ 1.090 

$ 1.090 

$ 1.090 

$ 1.080 

$ 1.080 

Our ongoing operations generally will not be subject to federal income taxes as long as we maintain our REIT status and 
distribute to shareholders at least I 00% of our taxable income. Under the Code, REITs are subject to numerous organizational 
and operational requirements, including the requirement to generally distribute at least 90% of taxable income. 

Future distributions will be at the discretion of our Board of Trustees and will depend on our actual net income available for 
common shareholders, financial condition, capital requirements, the annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions 
of the Code and such other factors as the Board of Trustees deems relevant. We have paid quarterly dividends to our 
shareholders continuously since our founding in 1962 and have increased our regular annual dividend rate for 57 consecutive 
years. 

Our total annual dividends paid per common share for 2024 and 2023 were $4.37 per share and $4.33 per share, respectively. 
The annual dlividend amounts are different from dividends as calculated for federal income tax purposes. Distributions to the 
extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits for federal income tax purposes generally will be taxable to a 
shareholder as ordinary dividend income. Distributions in excess of current and accumulated earnings and profits will be treated 
as a nontaxable reduction of the shareholder's basis in such shareholder' s shares, to the extent thereof, and thereafter as taxable 
capital gain. Distributions that are treated as a reduction of the shareholder's basis in its shares will have the effect of increasing 
the amount of gain, or reducing the amount of loss, recognized upon the sale of the shareholder' s shares. No assurances can be 
given regarding what portion, if any, of distributions in 2025 or subsequent years will constitute a return of capital for federal 
income tax purposes. During a year in which a REIT earns a net long-term capital gain, the REIT can elect under 
Section 857(b)(3) of the Code to designate a portion of dividends paid to shareholders as capital gain dividends. If this election 
is made, then the capital gain dividends are generally taxable to the shareholder as long-term capital gains. 

The following table reflects the income tax status of distributions per share paid to common shareholders: 

Ordinary dividend 

Capital gain 

Return of capital 

$ 

$ 

Yeat· Ended 
December 31, 

2024 

3.583 $ 

0.656 

0.131 

4.370 $ 

2023 

3.551 

0.130 

0.649 

4.330 

Distributions on our 5.417% Series I Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares were paid at the rate of $1.354 per share per 
annum commencing on the issuance date ofMarch 8, 2007. Distributions on our 5.0% Series C Cumulative Redeemable 
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Preferred Shares were paid at the rate of$1.250 per depositary share per annum, commencing on the issuance date of 
September 29, 2017. We do not believe that the preferential rights available to the holders of interest in our preferred shares or 
the financial covenants contained in our debt agreements had or will have an adverse effect on our ability to pay dividends in 
the normal course of business to our common shareholders or to distribute amounts necessary to maintain our qualification as a 
REIT. 

Total Stockholder Return Performance 

The following performance graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on Federal Realty's common shares with the 
S&P 500 Index and the index of equity real estate investment trusts prepared by the National Association of Real Estate 
Investment Trusts ("NAREIT"') for the five fiscal years commencing December 31, 2019, and ending December 31, 2024, 
assuming an investment of $100 and the reinvestment of all dividends into additional common shares during the holding period. 
Equity real estate investment trusts are defined as those that derive more than 75% of their income from equity investments in 
real estate assets. The FTSE NAREIT Equity REIT Total Return Index includes all tax qualified real estate investment trusts 
listed on the NYSE, NYSE MKT, or the NASDAQ National Market. Stock performance for the past five years is not 
necessarily indicative of future results. 

COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN 
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Under the terms of various operating partnershjp agreements of certain of our affiliated limited partnerships, the interest of 
limited partners in those limited partnerships may be redeemed, subject to certain conditions, for cash or an equivalent number 
of our common shares, at our option. During the three months ended December 31 , 2024, we issued 14,051 common shares in 
connection with the redemption of downREIT operating partnership units. Any equity securities sold by us during 2024 that 
were not registered have been previously reported in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 

Pu•·chases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Pm·chasers 

During 2024, 332 restricted common shares were forfeited by former employees. 

From time to time, we could be deemed to have repurchased shares as a result of shares withheld for tax purposes upon a stock 
compensation related vesting event. 
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ITEM 6. RESERVED 
None. 

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 

This section generally discusses 2024 and 2023 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2024 and 2023. Discussions 
of 2022 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2023 and 2022 that are not included in this Form 1 0-K can be found in 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,2023 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
February 12, 2024. 

Forward-Looking Statements 

Certain statements in this section or elsewhere in this report may be deemed "fmward-looking statements". See "Item I A. Risk 
Factors" in this report for important information regarding these forward-looking statements and certain risk and uncertainties 
that may affect us. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes 
thereto appearing in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this report. 

Overview 

Federal Realty Investment Trust (the "Parent Company" or the "Trust") is an equity real estate investment trust ("REJT"). 
Federal Realty OP LP (the "Operating Partnership") is the entity through which the Trust conducts substantially all of its 
operations and owns substantially all of its assets. The Trust owns I 00% of the limited liability company interest of, is sole 
member of, and exercises exclusive control over Federal Realty GP LLC (the "General Partner"), which in tum, is the sole 
general partner of the Operating Partnership. Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, "we," "our," and "us" 
means the Trust and its business and operations conducted through its directly and indirectly owned subsidiaries, including the 
Operating Partnership. We specialize in the ownership, management, and redevelopment of high quality retail and mixed-use 
properties located primarily in communities where we believe demand exceeds supply, in strategically selected metropolitan 
markets in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic regi·ons of the United States, California, and South Florida. As ofDecember 31 , 
2024, we owned or had a majority interest in community and neighborhood shopping centers and mixed-use properties which 
are operated as 102 predominantly retail real estate projects comprising approximately 26.8 million commercial square feet. In 
total, the real estate projects were 96.2% leased and 94.1% occupied at December 31 , 2024. We have paid quarterly dividends 
to our shareholders continuously since our founding in I 962 and have increased our dividends per common share for 57 
consecutive years. 

General Economic Conditions 

The economy continues to face several issues including inflation risk, high interest rates, and potentially worsening econonlic 
conditions, which presents risks for our business and our tenants. We continue to monitor and address risks related to the 
general state of the economy. We believe that the actions we have taken to improve our frnancial position and maximize our 
liquidity will continue to mitigate the impact to our cash flow caused by tenants not timely paying contractual rent. 

Additional discussion of the impact of current economic conditions on our results and long-term operations can be found 
throughout Item 7 and Item 1A. Risk Factors. 

Corporate Responsibility 

We actively endeavor to operate and develop our properties in a sustainable, responsible, and effective manner with the 
objective being to drive long-term growth and aid in value creation for ow shareholders, tenants, employees, and local 
communities. We have aligned our program and efforts with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, as described 
in our Sustainability Policy and our 2023 Environmental Social and Governance Report, which are provided only for 
informational purposes on our website and not incorporated by reference herein. 

We are committed to implementing sustainable business practices at our operating properties that focus on energy efficiency, 
water conservation and waste minimization and have established greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions reduction targets in 
accordance with the Science-Based Targets initiative as well as energy reduction targets. To achieve these targets, we are 
actively addressing energy efficiency projects on site such as upgrading to LED lighting, procuring green energy, reducing 
electric consumption, and increasing our onsite solar generation capacity. We have installed on-site solar systems at 28 of our 
properties with a capacity of 15 MW with more projects actively in progress. We also installed electric vehicle car charging 
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stations in numerous properties throughout our portfolio. We ctUTently have over 400 charging stations in operation with more 
under construction. 

We also understand that we face risks presented by climate change and are working to evaluate our risk exposure. ln our 2023 
Sustainability report, we provided a disclosure pursuant to the Task Force on Climate Related Financial Disclosure and we 
intend to provide that disclosure annually. 

We are also flighty committed to our employees and fostering a work environment that promotes growth, development and 
personal well-being. Our four core values are accountability, excellence, innovation and integrity and we seek to attract and 
retain talented professionals who embrace those values. All of our efforts with respect to corporate responsibility are overseen 
by our Board of Trustees. 

Our development activities have been heavily focused on owning, developing and operating properties that are certified under 
the U.S. Green Building Council' s® ("USGBC") Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design™ (LEED®) rating system 
which serves. as a third-party verification that a building or community was designed and built to mitigate its environmental 
footprint. We currently have 25 LEED certified buildings and our Pike & Rose project has achieved LEED for Neighborhood 
Development Stage 3 Gold certification. 

Cyber Security 

Our chief information officer, who has over 30 years of experience in managing information systems for real estate companies, 
heads our internal team of technology professionals who are responsible for managing our cybersecurity risks, which includes 
identifying our primary areas of risk, establishing processes, procedures, and systems to mitigate those risks and identifying and 
remediating any breaches that may occur. Cybersecurity risk management falls under our general counsel as part of our overall 
risk management program, which is ultimately overseen by the Audit Committee of the Board of Trustees. Our team is 
supported by a third party company that we have retained to act as our chief information security officer based on the third 
party company's experience in preventing cybersecurity incidents, advising clients about appropriate cybersecurity procedures 
and processes, and assessing the integrity of those procedures and processes. The assessment and management of our 
cybersecurity risks covers all of our internal systems as well as the systems of third parties who maintain our data. 

We rely on our management team's experience in risk management, in consultation with our third party advisor, to 
appropriately address cybersecurity threats. As part of our processes to manage risks fTOm cybersecurity threats, we have 
developed and enforce company-wide policies related to password encryption, strength and expiration, we require multi-factor 
authentication where appropriate, and we conduct regular employee training about our policies and cybersecurity threats. We 
make use of firewalls, anti-virus software, backups, redundancies, regular penetration testing, and our systems monitor and :flag 
irregularities in how our information systems are accessed or used. Any known cybersecurity incidents would be reported by 
our chief information officer to our general cot.msel and disclosure committee for evaluation and remediation, and for a 
determination of how we might develop further security systems and procedures to address evolving cybersecurity threats. 
Management provides written and verbal updates to the Audit Committee at least quarterly identifying our primary areas of 
risk, actions taken or planned to be taken to mitigate those risks, and specific activities undertaken during the quarter, including 
employee training and the results of that training. Management would also provide updates to seek oversight from the Audit 
Committee on an ad hoc basis. in connection with any material cybersecurity incident, should one occur. 

We have not experienced any cybersecurity incident that has had a material impact on our business stTategy, results of 
operations, or financial condition. For more information, see Item lA. Risk Factors ("We face risks relating to cybersecurity 
threats that could cause loss of confidential information and other business distributions"). 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in confom1ity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, refened to as "GAAP", requires management to make estimates and assumptions that in certain circumstances affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and revenues and expenses. These 
estimates are prepared using management's best judgment, after considering past and current events and economic conditions. 
In addition, information relied upon by management in preparing such estimates includes internally generated financial and 
operating information, external market information, when available, and when necessary, infonnation obtained from 
consultations with third party experts. Actual results could differ from these estimates. A discussion of possible risks which 
may affect these estimates is included in "Item lA. Risk Factors" of this report. Management considers an .accounting estimate 
to be critical if changes in the estimate could have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations or financial 
condition. 
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Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements; however, the 
most critical accounting policies, which are most important to the portrayal of our fmancial condition and results of operations, 
and involve the use of complex estimates and significant assumptions as to future uncertainties and, therefore, may result in 
actual amounts that differ from estimates, are as follows: 

Collectibility of Lease Income 

Our leases with om tenants are classified as operating leases. When collection of substantially all lease payments during the 
lease tennis considered probable, the lease qualifies for accrual accounting. When collection of substantially all lease payments 
during the lease term is not considered probable, total lease revenue is limited to the lesser of revenue recognized under accrual 
accounting or cash received. Determining the probability of collection of substantially all lease payments during a lease tem1 
requires significant judgment. This determination is impacted by numerous factors including our assessment of the tenant's 
credit worthiness, economic conditions, tenant sales productivity in that location, historical experience with the tenant and 
tenants operating in the same industry, future prospects for the tenant and the industry in which it operates, and the length of the 
lease tenn. If leases currently classified as probable are subsequently reclassified as not probable, any outstanding lease 
receivables (including straight-line rent receivables) would be written-off with a corresponding decrease in rental income. f.or 
example, in the event that our collectibility determinations were not accurate and we were required to write off additional 
receivables equaling I% of rental income, our rental income and net income would decrease by $11.7 million. If leases 
currently classified as not probable are subsequently changed to probable, any lease receivables (including straight-line rent 
receivables) are re-instated with a corresponding increase to rental income. 

Real Estate Acquisitions 

Upon acquisition of operating real estate properties, we estimate the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired including land, 
building, improvements, leasing costs, intangibles such as acquired leases, assumed debt, and current assets and liabilities, if 
any. Based on these estimates, we allocate the purchase price to the applicable assets and liabilities. We uti lize methods similar 
to those used by independent appraisers in estimating the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities. The value allocated to 
acquired leases is amortized over the related lease tenn and reflected as rental income in the statement of operations. We 
consider qualitative and quantitative factors in ·evaluating the likelihood of a tenant exercising a below market renewal option 
and include such renewal options in the calculation of in-place lease value when we consider these to be bargain renewal 
options. If the value of below market lease intangibles includes renewal option periods, we include such renewal periods in the 
amortization period utilized. If a tenant vacates its space prior to contractual tennination of its lease, the unamortized balance of 
any acquired lease value is written off to rental income. 

During 2024 and 2023, we acquired properties included in our consolidated financial statements with a total purchase price of 
$341.0 million. $1.8 million, or I% of the total purchase price was allocated to above market lease assets and $ 18.5 million, or 
5% was allocated to below market lease liabilities. If the amounts allocated in 2024 and 2023 to below market lease liabilities 
and building assets were each reduced by 5% of the total purchase price, annual below market lease liability amortization 
increasing rental income wouM decrease by approximately $0.8 million (using the weighted average life of below market 
liabilities at each respective acquired property) and annual depreciation expense would decrease by approximately $0.4 million 
(using a depreciable life of35 years). 

Long-Lived Assets and Impairment 

There are estimates and assumptions made by management in preparing the consolidated financial statements for which the 
actual results will be determined over long periods of time. This includes the recoverability of long-lived assets, including our 
properties that have been acquired or redeveloped and our investment in certain joint ventures. Management's evaluation of 
impairment includes review for possible indicators of impainnent as well as, in certain circumstances, undiscounted and 
discounted cash flow analysis. Since most of our investments in real estate are wholly-owned or controlled assets which are 
held for use, a property with impairment indicators is first tested for impairment by comparing the undiscounted cash flows, 
taking into account the anticipated hold period, including residual value, to the current ne€ book value of the property. If the 
undiscounted cash flows are less than the net book value, the property is written down to expected fair value. 

The calculation of both discounted and undiscounted cash flows requires management to make estimates offutme cash flows 
including revenues, operating expenses, required maintenance and development expenditures, market conditions, demand for 
space by tenants and rental rates over long peri·ods. Because our properties typically have a long life, the assumptions used t·o 
estimate the future recoverability of book value requires significant management judgment. We are also required to estimate the 
anticipated hold period. A change in the expected holding period from a long tenn hold to a short tenn would cause a 
significant change in the undiscounted cash flows and could result in an impairment charge. Actual results could be 
significantly different from the estimates. Thes·e estimates have a direct impact on net income, because recording an impairment 
charge results in a negative adjustment to net income. 
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Recently Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. 

2024 Acquisitions and Dispositions 

On May 3 I, 2024, we acquired the fee interest in Virginia Gateway, which is comprised of five adjacent shopping centers in 
Gainesville, Virginia, totaling 664,000 square feet, for $2 I 5.0 million. Approximately $21. I million and $0.4 million of net 
assets acquired were allocated to other assets for "acquired lease costs" and "above market leases," respectiively, and $13.3 
million of net assets acquired were allocated to other liabilities for "below market leases." 

On July 3 I, 2024, we acquired the fee interest in Pinole Vista Crossing, a 2 16,000 square foot retail shopping center in Pinole, 
California for $60.0 million. Approximately $5.7 million of net assets acquired were allocated to other assets for "acquired 
lease costs," and $4.0 million of net assets acquired were allocated to other liabilities for "below market leases." 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold our Third Street Promenade property and a portion of our White Marsh 
Other property for sales prices totaling $ I 06.8 million, resulting in a gain on sale of $53.8 million. 

2024 Significant Debt and Equity Transactions 

On January 11, 2024, our Operating Partnership issued $485.0 million aggregate principal amount of3.25% Exchangeable 
Senior Notes due 2029 (the "Notes") in a private placement. The notes bear interest at an annual rate of3.25%, payable 
semiannually in arrears on January I 51

h and July I 51
h of each year, beginning July I 5, 2024. The notes mature on January I 5, 

2029, unless earlier exchanged, purchased, or redeemed. Net proceeds after the initial purchaser's discount and offering costs 
were approximately $471.5 million. Interest expense, including $2.6 million of debt issuance cost amortization, was $17.9 
million related to these Notes for the year ended December 3 I , 2024. Including the debt cost amortization, the current effective 
interest rate on these notes is approximately 3.9%. The unamortized debt issuance costs related to the Notes were $ 10.9 milnion 
at December 3 I, 2024. 

Prior to the close of business on July 15, 2028, the Notes will be exchangeable at the option of the holders only upon certain 
circumstances and during certain periods. On or after July 15,2028, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading 
day immediately preceding the maturity date of the Notes, holders may exchange their Notes at any time. The Operating 
Partnership will settle exchanges of the Notes by delivering cash up to the principal amount of the Notes exchanged, and if 
applicable, cash, common shares of the Trust, or a combination thereof at our option, in respect of the remainder, if any, of the 
exchange obligation in excess of the principal amount. If we elect to settle any portion of the exchange obligation in excess ·of 
the principal amount with shares of the Trust, an equivalent number of common units will be issued by the Operating 
Partnership to the Trust. The exchange rate initially equals 8.1436 common shares per $1 ,000 principal amount of the Notes 
(which is equivalent to an exchange price of approximately $ I 22.80 per common share and reflects an exchange premium of 
approximately 20% based on the closing price of $102.33 on January 8, 2024). The initial exchange rate is subject to 
adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events, including in the event of a payment of a quarterly common dividend in excess 
of $ 1.09 per share, but will not be adjusted for .any accrued and unpaid interest. While our quarterly common dividend per slhare 
currently exceeds $1.09, the exchange rate has not materially changed. 

The Operating Partnership may redeem the Notes, at its option, in whole or in part, on or after January 20, 2027 if the last 
reported sales price of the common shares has been at least I 30% of the exchange price then in effect for at least 20 trading 
days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 day consecutive trading period (including the last trading day of such period) 
ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the Operating Partnership provides notice of 
redemption. The redemption price will be equal to I 00% of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and 
unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding the redemption date. 

In connection with the Notes, we entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain of the initial purchasers 
of the notes or their affiliates or other financial institutions. The capped call transactions cover, subject to customary 
adjustments, the number of our common shares that initially underlie the Notes. The capped call transactions are expected 
generally to reduce the potential dilution to our common shares upon exchange of any Notes and/or offset any cash payments 
we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of the Notes, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap. The 
cap price of the capped call transaction initially is approximately $ I 43.26 per share, which represents a premium of 
approximately 40% over the last reported sale price of our common shares of $102.33 on the New York Stock Exchange on 
January 8, 2024, and is subject to certain adjustments under the terms of the capped call transactions. A portion of the proceeds 
from the Notes were used to pay the capped caa! premium of$19.4 million, which will be recorded in shareholders' equity for 
the Trust and capital for the Operating Partnership. 

On January 16, 2024, we repaid the $600.0 million 3.95% senior unsecured notes at maturity. 
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On February 6, 2024, we exercised our first opllion and extended the maturity date of our $600.0 million unsecured term loan to 
April 16, 2025, with an additional one year extension at our option still available to further extend the loan to April16, 2026. 

On March 8, 2024, we amended our existing at-the-market ("A TM") equity program under which we may from time to time 
offer and sell common shares. This amendment reset the aggregate offering price of the program to $500.0 million. Our ATM 
equity program also allows shares to be sold through forward sales contracts. We intend to use the net proceeds to fund 
potential acquisition opportunities, fund our development and redevelopment pipeline, repay indebtedness and/or for general 
corporate purposes. 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we issued 2,059,654 common shares at a weighted average price per share of $109.20 
for net cash proceeds of$222.3 million including paying $2.2 million in commissions and $0.4 million in additional offering 
expenses related to the sales o.f these common shares. For the year ended! December 3 I, 2023, we issued I ,309,994 common 
shares at a weighted average p rice per share of $ I 0 I . 74 for net cash proceeds of$ I 31.7 million including paying $1.3 million in 
commissions and $0.2 million in additional offering expenses related to the sales of these common shares. 

We also entered into forward sales contracts for the three months and year ended December 31, 2024 for 476,497 common 
shares and I. I 86,422 common shares, respectively under our ATM equity program at a weighted average offering price of 
$I I 5.43 and $ I 15. 72, respectively. During the three months and year ended December 3 I , 2024, we settled a portion of the 
forward sales agreements entered into during the year by issuing 709,925 common shares for net proceeds of$81.7 million. 

The forward price that we will receive upon physical settlement of the agreements is subject to the adjustment for (i) 
commissions, (ii) floating interest rate factor equal to a specified daily rate less a spread, (iii) the forward purchasers' stock 
borrowing costs and (iv) scheduled dividends during the term of the forward sale agreements. The remaining open forward 
shares may be settled at any time on or before December 2025. As of December 31, 2024, we have the remaining capacity to 
issue up to $144.4 million in common shares under our ATM equity program. 

Capitalized Costs 

Certain external and internal costs directly related to the development, redevelopment and! leasing of real estate, including pre­
construction costs, real estate taxes, insurance, and construction costs and salaries and related costs of personnel directly 
involved, are capitalized. We capitalized external and internal costs related to both development and redevelopment activities of 
$I 36 million and $8 million, respectively, for 2024 and$ I 83 million and$ I 0 million, respectively, for 2023. We capitalized 
external and internal costs related to other property improvements of $ 103 million and $5 million, respectively, for 2024 and 
$91 million and $4 million, respectively, for 2023. We capitalized external and internal costs related to leasing activities of $27 
million and $4 million, respectively, for 2024 and $2 1 million and $3 million, respectively, for 2023. The amount of capitali led 
internal costs for salaries and related benefits for development and redevelopment activities, other property improvements, and 
leasing activities were $8 million, $4 million, and $4 million, respectively, for 2024 and $9 million, $4 minion, and $3 million, 
respectively, for 2023. Total capitalized costs were $283 million for 2024 and $3 I 2 million for 2023, respectively. 

Outlook 

Our long-term growth strategy is focused on growth in earnings, funds from operations, and cash flows primarily through a 
combination of the following: 

growth in our comparable property portfolio, 

expansion of our portfolio through property acquisitions, and 

growth in our portfolio from property redevelopments and expansions. 

Although general economic impacts of elevated levels of inflation and higher interest rates are impacting us in the short-term, 
our long-term focus has not changed. 

Our comparable properly growth is primarily driven by increases in rental rates on new leases and lease renewals, changes in 
portfolio occupancy, and the redevelopment of those assets. Over the long-term, the infill nature and strong demographics of 
our properties provide a strategic advantage aUowing us to maintain relatively high occupancy and generally increase rental 
rates. We continue to experience strong demand for our commercial space as evidenced by the 2.4 million square feet of 
comparable space leasing we've completed in 2024, and the 2. 1% spread between our leased rate of 96.2% and our occupied 
rate of 94.1 %. However, the effects of high levels of inflation and interest rates continue to negatively impact our business with 
the largest impacts being higher interest costs, increased material costs, and higher operating costs. We continue to see impacts 
of increased costs for certain construction and other materials that support our development and redevelopment activities. 
Worsening supply chain disruptions could also result in extended time frames and/or increased costs for completion of our 
projects and tenant build-outs, which could delay the commencement of rent payments under new leases. Similarly, if our 
tenants experience significant disruptions in supply chains supporting their own products, staffing issues due to labor shortages, 
or are otherwise impacted by worsening economic conditions, their ability to pay rent may be adversely affected. We continue 
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to monitor these macroeconomic developments and are working with our tenants and our vendors to limit the overall impact to 
our business. 

We believe the locations and nature of our centers and diverse tenant base partially mitigates any potential negative changes in 
the economic environment. However, any significant reduction in our tenants' abilities to pay base rent, percentage rent or other 
charges, will adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. We seek to maintain a mix of strong national, 
regional, and local retailers. At December 31 , 2024, no single tenant accounted for more than 2.6% of annualized base rent. 

We continue to have several development projects in process being delivered as follows: 
Phase IV at Pike & Rose is a 276,000 square foot office building (which includes I 0,000 square feet of ground floor 
retail space). Approximately 220,000 square feet of the office space is leased and all of the retail space is leased. The 
builillng is expected to cost between $180 million and $190 million, and began delivering in late September 2023. As 
of December 31,2024, approximately 164,000 square feet of office space is open and 5,000 square feet of retail space 
IS open. 

• Construction on Santana West includes an eight story 369,000 square foot office building, which is expected to cost 
between $325 million and $335 million. Approximately 241,000 square feet of space is leased, of which 29,000 square 
feet of space is open as of December 31, 2024. 

• Throughout the portfolio, we currently have redevelopment projects underway with a projected total cost of 
approximately $271 million that we expect to stabilize over the next several years. 

The above includes our best estimates based on information currently known, however, the completion of construction, final 
costs, and the timing of leasing and opecings may be further impacted by the current environment includillg the duration and 
severity of the economic impacts of broader, as well as local, economic conilltions, inflation, higher interest rates, and higher 
operating costs. 

The development of future phases of Assembly Row, Pike & Rose, Santana Row, and other properties will be pursued 
opportunistically based on, among other things, market conditions, tenant demand, and our evaluation of whether those phases 
will generate an appropriate financial return. 

We continue to review acquisition opportunities that complement our portfolio and provide long-term growth oppornmities. 
Initially, some of our acquisitions do not contribute significantly to earnings growth; however, we believe they provide long­
tenn re-leasing growth, redevelopment opportunities, and other strategic opportunities. Any growth fr om acquisitions is 
contingent on our ability to find properties that meet our qualitative standards at prices that meet our financial hurdles. Changes 
in interest rates may affect our success in achieving earnings growth through acquisitions by affecting both the price that must 
be paid to acquire a property, as well as our ability to economically finance the property acquisition. Generally, our acquisitions 
are initially financed by available cash and/or borrowings under our revolving credit facility which may be repaid later with 
funds raised through the issuance of new equity or new long-term debt. We may also fmance our acquisitions through the 
issuance of common shares, preferred shares, or units in the Operating Partnership, as well as through assumed mortgages and 
property sales. 

At December 31, 2024, the leasable commercial square feet in our properties was 96.2% leased and 94.1% occupied. The leased 
rate is higher than the occupied rate due to leased spaces that are being redeveloped or improved or that are awaiting permits 
and, therefore, are not yet ready to be occupied. Our occupancy and leased rates are subject to variability over time due to 
factors including acquisitions, the timing of the start and stabilization of our redevelopment projects, lease ,expirations and 
tenant closings and bankruptcies. 

Com(>arable Properties 

Throughout this section, we have provided certain information on a "comparable property" basis. Infom1ation provided on a 
comparable property basis includes the results of properties that we owned and operated for the entirety of both periods being 
compared except for properties that are currently under development or are being repositioned for significant redevelopment 
and investment. For the year ended December 31 , 2024 and the comparison of 2023, all or a portion of 95 properties were 
considered comparable properties and seven were considered non-comparable properties. For the year ended December 31 , 
2024, one property and two portions of properties were moved from non-comparable properties to comparable properties, two 
properties and one portion of a property were moved from acquisitions to comparable properties, and two properties were 
removed from comparable as we no longer own the properties, compared to the designations as of December 31, 2023. While 
there is judgment surrounding changes in designations, we typically move non-comparable properties to comparable properties 
once they have stabilized, which is typically considered 90% physical occupancy or when the growth expected from the 
redevelopment has been included in the comparable periods. We typically remove properties from comparable properties when 
the repositioning of the asset has commenced and has or is expected to have a significant impact to property operating income 
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within the calendar year. Acquisitions are moved to comparable properties once we have owned the property for the entirety of 
comparable periods and the property is not under development or being repositioned for significant redevelopment and 
investment. 
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2024 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2023 

Rental income 

Other property income 

Mortgage interest income 

Total property revenue 

Rental expenses 

Real estate taxes 

Total property expenses 

Property operating income (I) 

General and administrative expense 

Depreciation and amortization 

Gain on sale of real estate 

Operating income 

Other interest income 

Interest expense 

Income from partnerships 

Total other, net 

Net income 

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 

Net income attributable to the Trust 

Change 

2024 2023 D~lla t·s % 

(DollNt' amounts in thousa nds) 

$ ] ,170,078 $ 1,101,439 $ 68,639 

31 ,258 29,602 I ,656 

1,116 1,113 3 ___ .....;.... __ 
l ,202,452 I, 132,154 70,298 

249,569 231 ,666 17,903 

142,230 131,429 10,801 

391,799 363,095 28,704 

810,653 769,059 41 ,594 

(49,739) (50,707) 968 

(342,598) (321, 763) (20,835) 

54,040 9,881 44,159 

472,356 406,470 65,886 

4,294 4,687 (393) 

(175,476) (167,809) (7,667) 

___ 3.:.._,1_60_ 3,869 (709) 

(168,022) (159,253) (8,769) __ ____;, _ ____;, 

304,334 247,217 57,117 

--~(9.:.....,1_26~) --~(_10~,2_32~) ____ 1~,1_06_ 

$ 295,208 $ 236,985 =$==5=8=,2=23= 

6.2% 

5.6% 

0.3% 

6.2% 

7.7% 

8.2% 

7.9% 

5.4% 

(1.9)% 

6.5% 

446.9% 

16.2% 

(8.4)% 

4.6% 

(18.3)% 

5.5% 

23.1 % 

(10.8)% 

24.6% 

( I) Property operating income is a non-GAAP measure that consists of rental income and mortgage interest income, less rental 
expenses and real estate taxes. This measure is used internally to evaluate the perforn1ance of property operations to the 
previous period and we consider it be a significant measure. We believe that property operating income is useful to investors 
in measuring the operating perfom1ance of our property portfolio because the definition excludes various items included in 
operating income that do not relate to, or are not indicative of, the operating performance of our properties, such as general 
and administrative expenses and depreciation and amortization, and allows us to isolate disparities in operating income 
caused by acquisitions, dispositions, and stabilization of properties. P'roperty operating income may, therefore, provide a 
more consistent metric for comparing the operating performance of our real estate between periods. Property operating 
income should not be cons.idered an alternative measure of operating results or cash tlow rrom operations as determined in 
accordance with GAAP. The reconciliation of operating income to property operating income for 2024 and 2023 is as 
follows: 

Operating income 

General and administrative 

Depreciation and amortization 

Gain on sale of real estate 

Property operating income 

Property Revenues 

$ 

$ 

2024 2023 
(in thousands) 

472,356 $ 406,470 

49,739 50,707 

342,598 321,763 

(54,040) (9,881) 

810,653 $ 769,059 

Total property revenue increased $70.3 million, or 6.2%, to $1.20 billion in 2024 compared to $1.13 billion in 2023. The 
percentage occupied at our shopping centers was 94.1% at December 31, 2024 compared to 92.2% at December 31, 2023. 
Rental income consists primarily of minimum rent, cost reimbursements from tenants and percentage rent, and is net of 
collectibility related adjustments. Other property income includes revenue for our Pike & Rose hotel, parking income, and other 
incidental income from our properties. The increase in property revenues is due primarily to the following: 
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• an increase of $37.7 million from comparable properties primarily related to higher rental rates of 
approximately $22.8 million, a $12.4 million increase in recoveries from tenants on higher expenses, and higher 
average occupancy of approximately $4.4 million, partially offset by a $2 . .5 million decrease in lease 
termination fee income and a $0.8 million increase in collectibility related adjustments, 

• an increase of $ 17.7 million from non-comparable properties primarily driven by occupancy increases at Pike & 
Rose Phase IV, Huntington Shopping Center, Darien Commons, and Santana West, 

• an increase of $17.4 million from 2024 and 2023 acquisitions, and 

• an increase of $5.3 million from Escondido Promenade, which was reconsolidated in the second quarter of2023 
after we gained control of the property (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for additional 
information), 

partially offset by 

• a decrease of $9.0 million from property dispositions. 

Pr·oper ty Expenses 

Total property expenses increased $28.7 million, or 7.9%, to $391.8 million in 2024 compared to $363.1 million in 2023. 
Changes in the components of property expenses are discussed below. 

Rental Expenses 

Rental expenses increased $ 17.9 million, or 7.7%, to $249.6 million in 2024 compared to $231.7 million in 2023. This increase 
is primarily due to the following: 

• an increase of $11.0 million from comparable properties due primari ly to higher repairs and maintenance costs, 
snow removal costs, utili ties and insurance costs, and an increase in management fees on higher revenues, 

• an increase of $3.3 million from 2024 and 2023 acquisitions, 

• an increase of $3.2 million from non-comparable properties driven by openings at Pike & Rose Phase IV, 
Huntington Shopping Center, Santana West, and Darien Commons, and 

• an increase of $1.0 million from Escondido Promenade, which was reconsolidated in the second quarter of 2023 
after we gained control of the property, 

partially offset by 

• a decrease of $ 1.4 million from property dispositions. 

As a result of the changes in rental income and rental expenses as discussed above, rental expenses as a percentage of rental 
income increased to 21.3% for the year ended December 31 , 2024 from 21.0% for the year ended December 31 , 2023. 

Real Estate Taxes 

Real estate tax expense increased $10.8 million, or 8.2% to $142.2 million in 2024 compared to $131.4 million in 2023 due 
primarily to the following: 

• an increase of $6.1 million from comparable properties due to higher assessments and successful tax appeals in 
2023, 

• an increase of $2.8 million from non-comparable properties due primarily to successful tax appeals in 2023, and 
openings at Pike & Rose Phase IV, Darien Commons, and Huntington Shopping Center, 

• an increase of $1.9 million from 2024 acquisitions, and 

• an increase of $0.6 million from Escondido Promenade, which was reconsolidated in the second quarter of2023 
after we gained control of the property, 

partially offset by 

• a decrease of $0.7 million from property dispositions. 

Property Operating Income 

Property operating income increased $41.6 million, or 5.4%, to $810.7 million in 2024 compared to $769.1 million in 2023. 
This increase is primarily driven by higher rental rates and average occupancy, 2024 acqu.isitions, 2023 and 2024 openings at 
our non-comparable properties, and the reconsolidation of Escondido Promenade during the second quarter of2023, partially 
offset by property dispositions, higher rental expenses after recoveries from tenants, and lower lease termination fee income. 
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General and administrative expenses 

General and administrative expense decreased $ 1.0 million, or 1.9%, to $49.7 million in 2024 compared to $50.7 million in 
2023. This decrease is primariily driven by lower employee compensation expense and higher amounts allocated to operations 
as a result of higher revenues, partially offset by a $3.7 million one-time charge related to the departure of an executive officer. 

Depreciation and amortization 

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $20.8 million, or 6.5%, to $342.6 million in 2024 from $321.8 million in 
2023. This increase is due primarily to 2024 acquisitions, our investment in comparable properties, the opening of Pike & Rose 
Phase IV, placing redevelopment properties into service, and the reconsolidation of Escondido Promenade during the second 
quarter of2023, partially offset by property dispositions. 

Gain on Sale of Real Estate 

The $54.0 million gain on sale of real estate for the year ended De~e::mber 31 , 2024 is due primarily to the salt: of Third Street 
Promenade and a portion of our White Marsh Other property (see Note 3 to the consolida1Led financial statements for additional 
information). 

The $9.9 million gain on sale of real estate for the year ended December 31 , 2023 is due primarily to the sale of our Town 
Center of New Britain shopping center and a portion of Third Street Promenade (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements for additional information). 

Operating Income 

Operating income increased $65.9 million, or 16.2%, to $472.4 million in 2024 compared to $406.5 million in 2023. This 
increase is primarily driven by higher gains on sale of real estate, higher rental rates and average occupancy, 2024 acquisitions, 
2023 and 2024 openings at om non-comparable properties, and the reconsolidation of Escondido Promenade during the second 
quarter of2023, partially offset by property dispositions, higher rental expenses after recoveries from tenants, and lower lease 
termination fee income. 

Other 

Interest Expense 

Interest expense increased $7.7 million, or 4.6%, to $175.5 million in 2024 compared to $ 167.8 million in 2023. This increase 
is due primarily to the following: 

• an increase of $5.1 million due to a higher overall weighted average borrowing rate, 

• a decrease of $2.1 million in capitalized interest, and 

• an increase of $0.4 due to higher weighted average borrowings. 

Gross interest costs were $196.0 million and $190.4 million in 2024 and 2023, respectively. Capitalized interest was 
$20.5 million and $22.6 million in 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Discussions of year-to-year comparisons between 2023 and 2022 can be found in "Management' s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 1 0-K for the fiscal year 
ended December 31,2023 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 12,2024. 

Liquidity and CaJlital Resources 

Due to the nature of our business and strategy, we typically generate significant amOtmts of cash from operations which is 
largely paid to our common and preferred shareholders in the fonn of dividends because as a REIT, the Trust is generally 
required to make annual distributions to shareholders of at least 90% of our taxable income (cash dividends paid in 2024 were 
approximately $373.3 million). Remaining cash flow from operations after regular debt service requirements (including debt 
service relating to additional or replacement debt, as well as scheduled debt maturities) and dividend payments is used to fund 
recurring and non-recurring capital projects (such as tenant improvements and redevelopments). We maintain an unsecured 
$ 1.25 billion revolving credit facility to fund short term cash flow needs and also look to the public and private debt and equity 
markets, joint venture relationships, and property dispositions to fund capital expenditures on a long-term basis. 

On January ll, 2024, we issued $485.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.25% exchangeable senior notes, for which the 
proceeds were used to repay our $600.0 million of3.95% senior unsecured notes at maturity on January 16, 2024. Our $600.0 
million unsecured term loan has a maturity in April 2025, however, there is a one-year extension at our option that would 
extend the maturity to April 2026, if exercised. In addition to the term loan, we have $243.1 million of debt maturing during the 
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remainder of2025, of which, $200.0 million is the mortgage loan secured by Bethesda Row, which has two one-year 
extensions, at our option, that would extend the maturity date to December 28, 2027. 

As of December 31 , 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $ 123.4 million and no balance outstanding on Ollf $1.25 bill ion 
unsecured revolving credit facility. We also have outstanding forward sales agreements for net proceeds of$54.7 million as of 
December 31, 2024, and the capacity to issue up to $ 144.4 mjllion in common shares under the ATM program. 

For the year ended 2024, the weighted average amount of borrowings outstanding on our revolving credit facility was $33.5 
mil.! ion, and the weighted average interest rate, before amortization of debt fees, was 6.1 %. 

Our capital requirements in 2025 will depend on acquisition oppornmities, the level and general timjng of om redevelopment 
and development activities, and the overall economic environment. We currently have development and redevelopment projects 
in various stages of construction with remaining costs of $228 million. We expect to incur the majority of those costs in the 
next two years. We expect other capital costs to be at levels consistent with 2024. 

We believe cash flow from operations, the cash on our balance sheet, and our $ 1.25 billion revolving credit facility will allow 
us to continue to operate our business in the short-term. Given our ability to access the capital markets, we also expect debt .or 
equity to be available to us, although newly issued debt would likely be at higher interest rates than we currently have 
outstanding. We also have the ability to delay the timing of certain development and redevelopment projects as well as limit 
future acquisitions, reduce our operating expenditures, or re-evaluate our dividend policy. We expect these sources of liquidity 
and opportunities for operating flexibility to allow us to meet our financial obligations over the long term. We intend to operate 
with and to maintain our long term commitment to a conservative capital structure that will allow us to maintain strong debt 
service coverage and fixed-charge coverage ratios as part of our commitment to investment-grade debt ratings. 

Summary of Cash Flows 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Net cash used in investing activities 

Net cash used in financing activities 

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of year 

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of year 

YtHJ. Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 

(In thouSHildS) 

$ 574,563 $ 555,830 

(358,325) 

(33,849) 

$ 

(446,826) 

(252,298) 

(124,561) 

260,004 

163,656 

96,348 

135,443 $ 260,004 

Change 

$ 18,733 

(88,501) 

(218,449) 

(288,217) 

163,656 

$ {124,5612 

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $18.7 million to $574.6 mjllion during 2024 from $555.8 million during 
2023. The increase was primarily attributable to higher net income after adjusting for non-cash items and gains on sale of real 
estate, partially offset by the timing of interest payments. 

Net cash used in investing activities increased $88.5 million to $446.8 million during 2024 from $358.3 mi llion during 2023. 
The increase was primarily attributable to: 

• a $213.3 million increase in acquisition of real estate primarily due to the May 2024 acquisition of the Virginia 
Gateway and the July 2024 acquisition of Pinole Vista Crossing (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements for additional information), as compared to the January 2023 Huntington Square acquisition and the 
acquisition of our partner's 22.3% TIC interest in Escond!ido Promenade in May 2023, 

partially offset by, 

• a $71.5 million increase in net proceeds from the sale of real estate primarily due to $99.9 million of net 
proceeds from the sale of Third Street Promenade and a portion of our White Marsh Other property in 2024, as 
compared to $28.5 million of net proceeds from the sale of Town Center ofNew Britain and a portion of Third 
Street Promenade in 2023, and 

• a $64.4 million decrease in capjtal expenditures. 

Net cash used in fmancing activities increased $218.4 mjllion to $252.3 million during 2024 from $33.8 million during 2023. 
The increase was primarily attributable to: 
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• a $325.0 million increase in repayment of senior notes due to the January 2024 repayment of our $600.0 million 
3.95% senior tmsecured notes at maturity, as compared to the June 2023 repayment of our $275.0 million 2.75% 
senior unsecured notes, 

• $199.2 million in net proceeds .from the mortgage loan secured by our Bethesda Row property, which was 
entered into in December 2023, 

• a $19.4 million premium paid for the capped call transaction entered into in connection with the issuance of 
$485.0 million 3.25% exchangeable senior notes in January 2024, 

• a $12.4 million increase in dividends paid to common and preferred shareholders due to an increase in the 
number of outstanding shares, as well as an increase to the common share dividend rate, and 

• a $12.3 million increase in distributions to and redemptions of noncontrolling interests primarily related to our 
April 2024 acquisition of the noncontrolling interest in the partnership that owns our Coco Walk property for 
approximately $12.4 million, 

partially offset by, 

• a $172.2 million increase in net proceeds from the issuance of common shares under our A TM program, 

• a $125.8 million net increase in proceeds from the issuance of senior notes due to net proceeds of $4 71.5 
million from the issuance of$485.0 million 3.25% exchangeable senior notes in January 2024, as compared to 
$345.7 million in net proceeds from the issuance of $350.0 million of 5.375% senior unsecured notes in April 
2023, and 

• a $55.0 million decrease in repayment of mortgages, fmance leases, and notes payable primarily due to the 
October 2023 finance lease buyout (see Note 3 to the consolidated fmancial statements for .additional 
information) 

Cash Requirements 

The following table provides a summary of material cash requirements comprising our fixed, noncancelable obligations as of 
December 31, 2024: 

C ash Requirements by Pe.-iod 

Next Twelve Gr·eater· tha n 
Total Months Twelve Mout hs 

(In thousands) 

Fixed and variable rate debt (principal only) (1) $ 4,496,724 $ 848,130 $ 3,648,594 

Fixed and variable rate debt- our share of unconsolidated real estate 
partnerships (principal only)(2) 62,467 34,877 27,590 

Lease obligations (minimum rental payments) (3) ............................ 287,930 6,608 281 ,322 
Redevelopments/capital expenditure contracts ........................... 252,365 228,394 23,97 1 

Real estate commitments ( 4) . .................. 9,713 9,713 

Total estimated cash requirements ................................................ $ 5,109,199 $ 1,118,009 $ 3,991,190 

( I) The weighted average interest rate on our fixed and variable rate debt is 3.9% as of December 31 , 2024. Of the $848. 1 
million of debt maturing in the next twelve months as of December 31, 2024, $600.0 million is related to our term loan, 
which has a one-year option to extend the April 2025 maturity date to April 2026. Additionally, we !have two one-year 
extensions, at our option, to extend the December 2025 maturity date of our $200.0 million mortgage loan secured by 
Bethesda Row to December 2027. 

(2) The weighted average interest rate on the fixed and variable rate debt related to our unconsolidated real estate 
partnerships is 4.36% as ofDecember 31 , 2024. 

(3) This includes minimum rental payments related to both finance and operating leases. 

( 4) This includes the liability related to the sale under threat of condenmation at San Antonio Center as further discussed in 
Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Jn addition to the amounts set forth in the table above and other liquidity requirements previously discussed, the following 
potential commitments exist: 

(a) Under the terms of the Congressional Plaza partnership agreement, a minority partner has the right to require us and 
the other minority partner to purchase its 26.63% interest in Congressional Plaza at the in~erest's then-current fair market value. 
If the other minority partner defaults in their obligation, we must purchase the full interest. Based on management's current 
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estimate of fair market value as of December 3 I , 2024, our estimated liability upon exercise of the put option would range from 
approximately $60 million to $63 million. 

(b) Under the terms ofvaJious other partnership agreements, the partners have the right to exchange their operating 
partnership units for cash or the same number of our common shares, at our option. As of December 31, 2024, a total of 
608,348 downREIT operating partnership units are outstanding. 

(c) The other member in. The Grove at Shrewsbury and Brook 35 has the right to require us to purchase all of its 
approximately 4.1% interest in The Grove at Shrewsbury and approximately 6.5% interest in Brook 35 at the interests' then­
current fair market value. Based on management's current estimate of fair market value as of December 31, 2024, our estimated 
maximum liability upon exercise of the put option would range from $8 million to $9 million. 

(d) The other member in Hoboken has the right to require us to purchase all of its I 0% ownership interest at the interest's 
then-current fair market value. Based on management's current estimate of fair market value as of December 31, 2024, our 
estimated maximum liability upon exercise of the put option would range from $11 million to $12 million. 

(e) Effective June 14,2026, the other member in Camelback Colormade and Hilton Village has the right to require us to 
purchase all of its 2.0% ownership interest at the interest's then-current fair market value. Based on management's current 
estimate of fair value as of December 31, 2024, our estimated maximum liability upon exercise of the put option would range 
from $4 million to $5 million. 

(f) Effective October 6, 2027, the other member in the partnership that owns equity method investments in Chandler 
Festival and Chandler Gateway has the right to require us to purchase its 2.5% net ownership interest. Based on management's 
current estimate offai.r value as of December 31, 2024, our estimated maximum liability upon exercise of the put option would 
range from $1 million and $2 million. 

(g) Effective June I , 2029, the other member in Grossmont Center has the right to require us to purchase all of its 40.0% 
ownership interest at the interest's then-current fair market value. Based on management's current estimate of fair value as of 
December 31, 2024, our estimated maximum liability upon exercise of the put option would range from $68 million to $73 
million. 

(h) At December 31 , 2024, we had letters of credit outstanding of approximately $5.9 million. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

At December 31, 2024, we have four real estate related equity method investments with total debt outstanding of $15 1.3 
million, of which our share is $62.5 million. Om investment in these ventures at December 31, 2024 was $29.4 million. 

Other than the items disclosed in the Cash Requirements table, we have no off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 
2024 that are reasonably likely to have a current or future material effect on our financial condition, changes in financial 
condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, cash requirements, or capital resources. 

43 



Debt Financing Arrangements 

The following is a sununary of our total debt outstanding as of December 31,2024: 
Odginal Pdncipal Balance as Statetl Interest Rate 

Debt of December 31, as of l)ecembe•· 31, 
DesCI'iption of Debt Issuetl 2024 2024 Maturity Date 

(Dollars in thousands) 
Mortgages payable 

Secured fixed rate 
Azalea .. .. . . . Acquired $ 40,000 3.73% November I , 2025 
Bethesda Row (I) 200,000 200,000 SOFR + 0.95% December 28, 2025 
Bell Gardens Acquired 11,215 4.06% August I , 2026 

Plaza El Segundo 125,000 125,000 3.83% June 5, 2027 
The Grove at Shrewsbury (East) ................ 43,600 43,600 3.77% September I , 2027 
Brook 35 11,500 11 ,500 4.65% July 1, 2029 

Hoboken (24 Buildings) (2) .. 56,450 52,123 SOFR + 1.95% December 15, 2029 
Various Hoboken (14 Buildings) (3) Acquired 28,838 Various Various through 2029 

Chelsea Acquired 3,568 5.36% January 15, 2031 

Subtotal 515,844 
Net unamortized debt issuance costs and 
discount (l ,466) 

Total mortgages payable, net 514,378 
Notes payable 

Term Loan (4)(6) 600,000 600,000 SOFR + 0.85% April 16, 2025 
Revolving credit facility (4) (6) (5) SOFR + 0.775% April 5, 2027 
Various 6,311 1,680 Various Various through 2059 

Subtotal 601 ,680 
Net unamortized debt issuance costs (266) 

Total notes payable, net 601,414 
Senior notes and debentures (6) 

Unsecured fixed rate 
1.25% notes 400,000 400,000 1.25 % February 15, 2026 
7.48% debentures ......... 50,000 29,200 7.48% August 15, 2026 
3.25% notes ............. 475,000 475,000 3.25% July 15, 2027 
6.82% medium tcnn notes 40,000 40,000 6.82 % August I , 2027 

5.375% notes 350,000 350,000 5.375 % May I , 2028 

3.25% exchangeable notes . . . . ....... 485,000 485,000 3.25 % January 15, 2029 

3.20% notes 400,000 400,000 3.20% June 15, 2029 
3.50% notes 400,000 400,000 3.50% June I, 2030 

4.50% notes 550,000 550,000 4.50 % December I, 2044 

3.625% notes 250,000 250,000 3.625% August I, 2046 

Subtotal 3,379,200 
Net unamortized debt issuance costs and 
premium (21,360) 

Total senior notes and debentures, net 3,357,840 

Total debt, net $ 4,473,632 

(1) The interest rate on th is mortgage loan is fixed at a weighted average interest rate of 5.03% through the initial maturity 

date through three interest rate swap agreements. We have two one-year extensions, at our option to extend the 
maturity date of this mortgage loan to December 28, 2027. 

(2) The interest rate on th is mortgage loan is fixed at 3.67% through two interest rate swap agreements. 

(3) The interest rates on these mortgages range from 3.91% to 5.00% . 

(4) Our revolving credit facility SOFR loans bear interest at Daily Simple SOFR or Term SOFR and our term loan bears 
interest at Term SOFR as defined in the respective credit agreements, plus 0.1 0%, plus a spread, based on our current 
credit rating. 

(5) The maximum amount drawn under our $ 1.25 billion revolving credit facility during 2024 was $202.7 million and the 
weighted average effective interest rate on borrowings tmder our revolving credit facility, before amortization of debt 
fees, was 6. I%. 

(6) The Operating Partnership is the obligor under our revolving credit facility, term loan, and senior notes and 
debentures. Effective April I, 2024, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership guarantees the loan. 
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Our revolving credit faci li ty, unsecured tenn loan, and other debt agreements include financial and other covenants that may 
limit our operating activities in the future. As of December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with all financial and other 
covenants related to our revolving credit facility, term loan, and senior notes. Additionally, we were in compliance with all of 
the financial and other covenants that could trigger a loan default on our mortgage loans. If we were to breach any of these 
fmancial and other covenants and did not cure il:he breach within an applicable cure period!, our lenders could require us to repay 
the debt immediately and, if the debt is secured, could immediately begin proceedings to take possession of the property 
securing the loan. Many of our debt arrangements, including our public notes and our revolving credit facility, are cross­
defaulted, which means that the lenders under those debt arrangements can put us in default and require immediate repayment 
of their debt if we breach and fail to cure a default under certain of our other debt obligations. As a result, any default under our 
debt covenants could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, our results of operations, our ability to meet our 
obligations and the market value of our shares. Our organizational documents do not limit the level or amount of debt that we 
may mcur. 

The following is a summary of our scheduled principal repayments as of December 31, 2024: 

Unsecured Secured Total 

(In thousands) 

2025 $ 600,538 (I) $ 247,592 (2) $ 848,130 
2026 429,299 26,282 455,581 
2027 515,043 (3) 178,282 693,325 

2028 350,000 2,511 352,511 
2029 885,000 60,434 945,434 
Thereafter 1,201 ,000 743 1,201 ,743 

$ 3,980,880 $ 515,844 $ 4,496,724 (4) 

( I) Our $600.0 million term loan matures on April 16, 2025, plus one one-year extension at our option to April 16, 2026. 

(2) Our $200.0 million mortgage loan secured by Bethesda Row matures on December 28, 2025 plus two one-year 
extensions, at our option to December 28, 2027. 

(3) Our $1.25 billion revolving credit facility matures on April 5, 2027, plus two six-month extensions at our option to 
April 5, 2028. As of December 31 , 2024, there was no outstanding balance under this credit facility. 

( 4) The total debt maturities differ from the total reported on the consolidated balance sheet due to the unamortized net 
debt issuance costs and premium/discount on mortgage loans, notes payable, and! senior notes as of December 31 , 
2024. 

Interest Rate Hedging 

We may use derivative instruments to manage exposure to variable interest rate risk. We generally enter into interest rate swaps 
to manage our exposure to variable interest rate risk and treasury locks to manage the risk of interest rates rising prior to the 
issuance of debt. We enter into derivative instruments that qualify as cash flow hedges and do not enter into derivative 
instruments for speculative purposes. 

Interest rate swaps associated with cash flow hedges are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Effectiveness of cash flow 
hedges is assessed both at inception and on an ongoing basis. The effective portion of changes in fair value of the interest rate 
swaps associated with cash flow hedges is recorded in other comprehensive income which is included in "accumulated other 
comprehensive income" on the balance sheets, statement of shareholders' equity, and statement of capital. Cash flow hedges 
become ineffective if critical terms of the hedging instrument and the delbt instrument do not perfectly match such as notional 
amOtmts, settlement dates, rese t dates, calculation period and SOFR rate .. In addition, the default risk of the cotmterparty is 
evaluated by monitoring the credit worthiness of the counterparty which includes reviewing debt ratings and financial 
performance. If a cash t1ow hedge is deemed ineffective, the ineffective portion of changes in fair value of the interest rate 
swaps associated with cash flow hedges is recognized in earnings in the period affected. 

As of December 31 , 2024, we have two interest rate swap agreements that effectively fix the interest rate on a mortgage payable 
associated with our Hoboken portfolio at 3.67% and we have three interest rate swap agreements that effectively fix the interest 
rate on a mortgage payable associated with Bethesda Row at 5.03% through the initial maturity date. Our Assembly Row hotel 
joint venture is also a party to two interest rate swap agreements that effectively fix 100% of its outstanding $38.6 million of 
debt through May 2025 at 6.39% and 50% of its outstanding debt from Jlllne 2025 through May 2028 at 6.03%. All swaps were 
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges. Hedge ineffectiveness has not impacted our earnings in 2024, 2023 and 2022. 
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REJT Qualification 

We intend to maintain our qualification as a REJT under Section 856(c) of the Code. As a REIT, we generally will not be 
subject to corporate federal income taxes on income we distribute to our shareholders as long as we satisfy certain technical 
requirements of the Code, including the requirement to distribute at least 90% of our taxable income to our shareholders. 

Funds Fr·om Operations 

Funds from operations ("FFO") is a supplemental non-GAAP financial measure of real estate companies' operating 
perfonnance. The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts ("NAREIT") defines FFO as follows: net income, 
computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP, plus real estate related depreciation and amortization, and excluding gains and losses 
on the sale of real estate or changes in control, net of tax, and impairment write-downs of certain real estate assets and 
investments in entities when the impairment is directly attributable to decreases in the value of depreciable real estate held by 
the entity. We compute FFO in accordance witlh the NAREIT defmition, and we have historically reported our FFO availab]e 
for common shareholders in addition to our net income and net cash provided by operating activities. It should be noted that 
FFO: 

does not represent cash flows from operating activities in accordance with GAAP (which, unlike FFO, 
generally reflects all cash effects of transactions and other events in the detennination of net income); 

• should not be considered an alternative to net income as an indication of our performance; and 

• is not necessarily indicative of cash flow as a measure of liquidity or ability to fund cash needs, 
including the payment of dividends. 

We consider FFO available for common shareholders a meaningful, additional measure of operating perfom1ance primarily 
because it excludes the assumption that the value of the real estate assets diminishes predictably over time, as implied by the 
historical cost convention of GAAP and the recording of depreciation. We use FFO primarily as one of several means of 
assessing our operating performance in comparison with other REITs. Comparison of our presentation ofFFO to similarly titled 
measures for other REITs may not necessarily be meaningful due to possible differences in the application of the NAREIT 
definition used by such REITs. 

An increase or decrease in FFO available for common shareholders does not necessarily result in an increase or decrease in 
aggregate distributions because our Board of Trustees is not required to increase distributions on a quarterly basis. However, we 
must distribute at least 90% of our annual taxable income to remain qualified as a REIT. Therefore, a significant increase in 
FFO will generally require an increase in distTibutions to shareholders although not necessarily on a proportionate basis. 

The reconciliation of net income to FFO available for common shareholders is as follows: 

Net income. 

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 

Gain on deconsolidation of a VIE 

Gain on sale of real estate 

Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets 

Amortization of initial direct costs of leases 

Funds from operations 

Dividends on preferred shares (1) 

Income attTibutable to downREIT operating partnership units 

Income attributable to unvested shares 

Funds from operations available for common shareholders 

Weighted average number of common shares, diluted (I )(2) 

Funds from operations available for common shareholders, per diluted share 
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Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands, except pc•· share data) 

$ 304,334 

(9,126) 

$ 247,217 $ 395,661 

(1 0,232) (1 0, 170) 

(70,374) 

$ 

$ 

(54,040) (9,881) (93,483) 

302,455 28 5,689 266,741 

33,377 31 ,208 27,268 

577,000 544,001 515,643 

(7,500) (7,500) (7,500) 

2,743 2,767 2,810 

(2,004) -~(1..;..,9_5~5) -~('.:...•7_97~) 

570,239 $ 537,313 $ 509,156 

84,286 82,044 80,603 

6.77 $ 6.55 $ 6.32 
==== 



( I) For the years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023 and 2022, dividends on our Series l preferred stock were not deducted 
in the calculation ofFFO available to common shareholders, as the related shares were dilutive and included in 
"weighted average number of common shares, diluted." 

(2) The weighted average common shares used to compute FFO per diluted common share includes downREIT operating 
partnership units that were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS. Conversion of these operating partnership 
units is dilutive in the computation of FFO per diluted common share but is anti-dilutive for the computation of diluted 
EPS for 2024 and 2023. 

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

Our use of financial instruments, such as debt instruments, subjects us to market risk which may affect our future earnings and 
cash flows, as well as the fair value of our assets. Market risk generally refers to the risk of loss from changes in interest rates 
and market prices. We manage our market risk by attempting to match anticipated inflow of cash from our operating, investing 
and fmancing activities with anticipated outflow of cash to fund debt payments, dividends to common and preferred 
shareholders, investments, capital expenditures and other cash requirements. 

We may enter into certain types of derivative financial instruments to further reduce interest rate risk. We use interest rate 
protection and swap agreements, for example, to convert some of our var iable rate debt to a fixed-rate basis or to hedge 
anticipated financing transactions. We use derivatives for hedging purposes rather than speculation and do not enter into 
financial instruments for trading purposes. 

Interest Rate Risk 

The following discusses the effect of hypotheti,cal changes in market rates of interest on interest expense for our variable rate 
debt and on the fair value of om total outstanding debt, including our fixed-rate debt. Interest rate risk amounts were determined 
by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates on our debt. Quoted market prices were used to estimate the fair value 
of our marketable senior notes and debentures and discounted cash flow analysis is generally used to estimate the fair value of 
our mortgages and notes payable. Considerable judgment is necessary to estimate the fair value of financial instruments. This 
analysis does not purport to take into account all of the factors that may affect our debt, such as the effect that a changing 
interest rate environment could have on the overall level of economic act ivity or the action that our management might take to 
reduce our exposure to the change. This analysis assumes no change in our financial structure. 

Fixed Interest Rate Debt 

The majority of our outstanding debt obligations (maturing at various times through 2059) have fixed interest rates which limit 
the risk of fluctuating interest rates. However, interest rate fluctuations may affect the fair value of om fixed rate debt 
instruments. At December 31, 2024, we had $3.9 billion of fixed-rate debt outstanding, including $252.1 million in mortgage 
payables that are effectively fixed by five interest rate swap agreements. If market interest rates used to calculate the fair value 
on our fixed-rate debt instruments at December 31 , 2024 had been 1.0% higher, the fair value of those debt instruments on that 
date would have decreased by approximately $ 156.5 million. If market interest rates used to calculate the fair value on our 
fixed-rate deibt instruments at December 3 1, 2024 had been 1.0% lower, the fair value of those debt instruments on that date 
would have increased by approximately $173.8 million. 

Variable Interest Rate Debt 

Generally, we believe that our primary interest rate risk is due to fluctuations in interest rates on om outstanding variable rate 
debt. At December 31 , 2024, we had $600.0 mjllion of variable rate debt outstanding (the principal balance on our unsecured 
term loan). Based upon this amount of variable rate debt and the specific terms, if market interest rates increased 1.0%, our 
annual interest expense would increase approximately $6.0 million with a corresponding decrease in our net income and cash 
flows for the year. Conversely, if market interest rates decreased 1.0%, our annual interest expense would decrease by 
approximately $6.0 million with a corresponding increase in our net income and cash flows for the year. 

While no amounts were outstanding at December 31 , 2024, we have a $ ] .25 billion revolving credit facility that bears interest 
at a variable rate. If we increase our outstanding balance on the revolving credit facility in the future, additional decreases to 
future earnings and cash flows could occur. 

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

Our consolidated fmancial statements and supplementary data are included as a separate section of this Annual Report on Form 
I 0-K commencing on page F- 1 and are incorporated herein by reference. 
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ITEM 9. C HANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Management's Evaluations of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

The Trust and the Operating Partnership maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 
l5d-l5(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) that are designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is 
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such 
information is accumulated and communicated to the Trust and the Operating Partnership's management, including its Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Because 
of inherent limitations, disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only 
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of disclosure controls and procedures are met. 

Our management, with the participation of the Trust and the Operating Partnership's Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Trust and the Operating Partnership's 
disclosure contTOls and procedures as of December 31, 2024. Based on that evaluation, the Trust and the Operating 
Partnership's Chief Executive Officer and ChiefFinancial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, the Trust and the 
Operating Partnership's disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level. 

Management's Evaluations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

The Trust and the Operating Partnership's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control 
over frnancial reporting. Internal control over .frnancial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange 
Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Trust and the Operating Partnership's principal executive and 
principal financial officers and effected by our Board of Trustees, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (GAAP) and includes those policies 
and procedures that: 

• pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and 
disposition of our assets; 
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made 
only in accordance with authorization of management and our Trustees; and 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition 
of any of our assets in circumstances that could have a material adverse effect 0111 our financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over frnancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are sulbject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

We assessed! the effectiveness of the Trust and the Operating Partnership's internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2024. In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on that assessment and criteria, 
management concluded that the Trust and the Operating Partnership's internal control over financial reporting was effective as 
of December 31, 2024. 

Grant Thornton LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Trust and the Operating Partnership's 
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on the Trust 
and the Operating Partnership''s internal control over financial reporting, which appears on page F-2 of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. 

Changes in Jnternal Control Over Financial Reporting 

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our fourth fiscal quarter of2024 that materially 
affected, or is reasonably likeny to materially affect, our internal control over frnancial reporting. 
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ITEM 98. OTHER INFORMATION 

None. 

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS 

None. 
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PART IU 

Certain information required in Part ill is omitted from this Report but is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy 
Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (as amended or supplemented, the "Proxy Statement"). 

ITEM 10. TRUSTEES, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The tables and narrative in the Proxy Statement identifying our Tmstees and Board committees under the caption "Election of 
Trustees" and "Corporate Governance", the sections of the Proxy Statement entitled "Executive Officers" and "Section 16(a) 
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance," the section of the Proxy Statement entitled "Equity Grant Practices," and other 
information included in the Proxy Statement required by this Item l 0 are incorporated herein by reference. 

We have adopted a Code of Ethics, which is applicable to our Chief Executive Officer and senior financial officers. The Code 
of Ethics is available in the Corporate Governance section of the Investors section of our website at wwwjederalrealty.com. 

We have adopted an insider trading policy and related procedures governing the purchase, sale, and other dispositions of our 
securities that we believe are reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations and 
any NYSE listing standards applicable to us. 

ITEM 11. EXE CUTIVE COMPENSA TJON 

The sections of the Proxy Statement entitled "Summary Compensation Table," "Compensation Committee Interlocks and 
Insider Participation," "Compensation Committee Report," "Trustee Compensation" and " Compensation Discussion and 
Analysis" and other information included in the Proxy Statement required by this Item I I are incorporated herein by reference. 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSIDP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED SHAREHOLDER MA TIERS 

The sections of the Proxy Statement entitled "Share Ownership" and "Equity Compensation Plan Information" and other 
information included in the Proxy Statement required by this Item 12 are incorporated herein by reference. 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELA TJONSmPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND TRUSTEE INDEPENDENCE 

The sections of the Proxy Statement entitled "Certain Relationship and Related Transactions" and "Independence ofTrustees" 
and other information included in the Proxy Statement required by this Item 13 are incorporated herein by reference. 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

The sections of the Proxy Statement entitled "Ratification oflndependent Registered Public Accounting Finn" and 
"Relationship with Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm" and other information included in the Proxy Statement 
required by this Item 14 are incorporated herein by reference. 

PART IV 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a)(l) Financial Statements 
Our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto, together with Reports oflndependent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm are included as a separate section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K commencing on page F-1. 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules 

Our financial statement schedules are included in a separate section of this Annual Report on Form 1 0-K commencing 
on page F-39. 

(3) Exhibits 

(b) The following documents arc filed as exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference info, this report: 
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EXHlBIT INDEX 

Exhibit 
No. Oesc.-iption 

2.1 Merger Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated December 2, 2021 , by and among the Predecessor, the Parent 
Company, and Merger Sub (previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Predecessor's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
December 2, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference) ~ 

3.1 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Parent Company dated January 1, 2022, as amended by the 
Articles of Amendment effective as of January 1, 2022 and Articles of Amendment effective as of May 4, 2023 
(previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form I 0-Q filed on August 2, 2023 and incorporated 
herein by reference) 

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Parent Company dated January 1, 2022, as amended February 7, 2023 
(previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 1 0-Q filed on May 4, 2023 and incorporated herein 
by reference) 

3.3 Articles of Merger, dated December 8, 2021 , by and among Merger Sub and the Predecessor (previously filed as 
Exhibit 3.4 to the Parent Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 3, 2022 and incorporated herein 
by reference) 

3.4 Certificate of Limited Partnership of Federal Realty OP LP (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed on January 5, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference) 

3.5 Agreement of Limited Partnership of Federal Realty OP LP, dated as of January 5, 2022, by and between Federal 
Realty GP LLC and the Parent Company (Previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
January 5, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference) 

4. 1 Specimen Common Share certificate (previously filed as Exhibit4(i) to the Predecessor's Annual Report on 
Form I 0-K for the year ended December 3 1, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference) 

4.2 t Indenture dated December 1, 1993 related to the Partnership' s 7.48% Debentures due August 15, 2026; and 6.82% 
Medium Term Notes due August I , 2027; (previously filed as Exhibit 4(a) to the Predecessor' s Registration 
Statement on Form S-3, and amended on Form S-3 , filed on December 13, 1993 and incorporated herein by 
reference) t 

4.3 t Indenture dated September 1, 1998 related to the Partnership's 2.75% Notes due 2023; 3.95% Notes due 2024; 
4.50% Notes due 2044; 2.55% Notes due 202 1; 3.625% Notes due 2046; 3.25% Notes due 2027; 3.20% Notes due 
2029; 3.50% Notes due 2030; 1.25% Notes due 2026 (previously filed as Exhibit 4(a) to the Predecessor' s 
Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on September 17, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference) t 

4.4 t First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 5, 2022, by and between Federal Realty OP LP and U.S. Bank 
National Association, with respect to the Partnership's Indenture dated December 1, 1993 related to the Partnership's 
7.48% Debentures due August 15, 2026 and 6.82% Medium Term Notes due August 1, 2027 (pr,eviously filed as 
Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 5, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference) 

4.5 t First Supplementa l Indenture, dated as of January 5, 2022, by and between Federal Realty OP LP and U.S. Bank 
National Association, with respect to the Partnership's Indenture dated September l , 1998 related to the Partnership's 
2.75% Notes due 2023; 3.95% Notes due 2024; 4.50% Notes due 2044; 2.55% Notes due 2021 ; 3.625% Notes due 
2046; 3.25% Notes due 2027; 3.20% Notes due 2029; 3.50% Notes due 2030; 1.25% Notes due 2026; 5.375% Notes 
due 2028 (previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Cu.rrent Report on Form 8-K filed on January 5, 2022 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

4.6 Deposit Agreement, dated as of Sept,ember 29, 2017, by and among Federal Realty Investment Trust, Equiniti Trust 
Company, LLC (successor to American Stock Transfer and Trust Company, LLC), as Depositary, and all holders 
from time to time of Receipt (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Predecessor's Registration Statement on Form 8-
A, filed on September 29,2017 and incorporated herein by reference) 

4.7 Specimen certificate relating to the 5.000% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest 
(previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Predecessor's Registration Statement on Form 8-A, filed on September 29, 
20 17 and incorporated herein by reference) 

4.8 t Indenture dated January II, 2024 related to the 3.25% Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2029, by and between 
Federal Realty OP LP and U.S. Bank National Association (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our current report on 
Form 8-K filed on January 11 , 2023 .and incorporated herein by reference) 

4.9 Description of Securities (previously filed as Exhibit 4.9 to the Trust's Annual Report on Form I 0-K, filed on 
February 12, 2024 and incorporated here by reference) 

10.1 * Severance Agreement between Federal Realty Investment Trust and Donald C. Wood dated February 22, 1999 
(previously filed as a portion of Exhibit 10 to the Predecessor's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31 , 1999 (the "1999 1Q Form 10-Q") and incorporated herein by reference) 
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Exhibit 
o. Desniption 

---,--
10.2 *Executive Agreement between Federal Realty Investment Trust and Donald C. Wood dated February 22, 1999 

(previously filed as a portion ofExhibit 10 to the Predecessor's 1999 IQ Form 10-Q and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

10.3 *Amendment to Executive Agreement between Federal Realty Investment Trust and Donald C. Wood dated 
Felbruary 16, 2005 (previously filed as Exhibit I 0. 12 to the Predecessor's Annual Report on Form I 0-K for the year 
ended December 31 , 2004 (the "2004 Form 10-K") and in corp orated herein by reference) 

10.4 * Health Coverage Continuation Agreement between Federal Realty Investment Trust and Donald C. Wood dated 
Feibruary 16,2005 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Predecessor's 2004 Form 10-K and incorporated herein 
by reference) 

I 0.5 * Severance Agreement between Federal Realty Invesunent Trust and Dawn M. Becker dated April 19, 2000 
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Predecessor's 2005 2Q Form 10-Q and incorporated herein by reference) 

10.6 *Amendment to Severance Agreement between Federal Realt-y Investment Trust and Dawn M. Becker dated 
Feibruary 16, 2005 (previously filed as Exhibit I 0.27 to the Predecessor's 2004 Form I 0-K and incorporated herein 
by reference) 

10.7 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for long term vesting and retention awards for shares issued out of the 
2010 Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.35 to the Predecessor 's Annual Report on Form 1 0-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 (the "2010 Form 10-K") and incorporated herein by reference) 

10.8 *Amendment to Severance Agreement between Federal Realty Investment Trust and Donald C. Wood dated 
January 1, 2009 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Predecessor' s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31 , 2008 ("the 2008 Form I 0-K") and incorporated herein by reference) 

10.9 *Second Amendment to Executive Agreement between Federal Realty Investment Trust and Donald C. Wood dated 
January I, 2009 (previously fi led as Exhibit I 0.27 to the Predecessor's 2008 Form I 0-K and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

10.10 *Amendment to Health Coverage Continuation Agreement between Federal Realty Investment Trust and Donald C. 
Wood dated January 1, 2009 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.28 to the Predecessor' s 2008 Form 10-K and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

10.11 *Second Amendment to Severance Agreement between Federal Realty Investment Trust and Dawn M. Becker 
dated January 1, 2009 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.30 to the Predecessor's 2008 Form I 0-K and incorporated 
herein by reference) 

10.12 20 10 Performance Incentive Plan (previously filed as Appendix A to the Predecessor' s Defmitive Proxy Statement 
for the 20 I 0 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and incorporated herein by reference) 

I 0.13 Amendment to 20 I 0 Performance Incentive Plan ("the 20 I 0 Plan") (previously filed as Appendix A to the 
Predecessor' s Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and incorporated herein by reference) 

10.14 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for awards made under Federal Realty Investment Trust' s Long-Term 
Incentive Award Program and the Trust's Annual Incentive Bonus Program and basic awards with annual vesting for 
shares issued out of the 20 I 0 Plan (previously filed as Exhibit I 0.34 to the Predecessor' s 20 I 0 Form I 0-K and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

10.15 Revised Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for front loaded awards made under Federal Realty Investment 
Trust' s Long-Term Incentive Award Program for shares issued out of the 2010 Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 
I 0.35 to the Predecessor's Annual Report on Form I 0-K for the year ended December 31 , 2012 (the "2012 Fonn I O­
K") and incorporated herein by reference) 

10.16 Revised Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for long-term vesting and retention awards made under Federal 
Realty Investment Trust' s Long-Term Incentive Award Program for shares issued out of the 2010 Plan (previously 
filed as Exhibit 10.36 to the Predecessor's 2012 Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference) 

10.17 Revised Form of Performance Share Award Agreement for shares awarded out of the 2010 Plan (previously filed as 
Exhibit 10.37 to the Predecessor's 2012 Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference) 

10.18 Revised Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for awards made under Federal Realty Investment Trust's 
Long-Term incentive Award Program and the Trust's Annual Incentive Bonus Program and basic awards with 
annual vesting for shares issued out of the 20 I 0 Plan (previously filed as Exhibit I 0.38 to the Predecessor's 2012 
Form I 0-K and incorporated herein by reference) 

I 0.19 Severance Agreement between Federal Realty Investment Trust and Daniel Guglielmonc dated August 15, 2016 
(previously fi led as Exhibit I 0.36 to the Predecessor's Quarterly Report on Form I 0-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference) 

10.20 2020 Performance Incentive Plan (previously filed as Appendix B to the Predecessor' s Definitive Proxy Statement 
for the 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and incorporated herein by reference) 
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Exhibit 
No. Descr iption 

10.21 Term Loan Agreement dated as of May 6, 2020, by and among the Predecessor, as Borrower, the fmancial 
institutions party thereto and their permitted assignees under Section 12.6., as Lenders, PNC Bank, National 
Association, as Administrative Agent, Regions Bank, Truist Bank, and U.S. Bank National Bank Association as Co­
Syndication Agents, PNC Capital Markets, LLC, Regions Capital Markets, Suntrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., and 
U.S. Bank National Association, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Book Managers (previously filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the 
Predecessor's Current Report on Fonn 8-K, filed on May 6, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference) t 

I 0.22 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for awards made under Federal Realty Investment Trust's Long-Tenn 
Incentive Award Program and the Trust's Annual Incentive Bonus Program and basic awards with annual vesting for 
shares issued out the 2020 Plan (previously filed as Exhibit I 0.32 to the Predecessor's Annual Report on Fonn I 0-K, 
filed on February 11, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference) 

I 0.23 Form of Option Award Agreement for awards made under Federal Realty Investment Trust's Long-Term Incentive 
Award Program for shares issued out of the 2020 Plan (previously filed as Exhilbit 10.33 to the Predecessor's Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 11,2021, and incorporated herein by reference) 

I 0.24 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for long-tenn vesting and retention awards made under Federal Realty 
Investment Trust's Long-Term Incentive Award Program for shares issued out of the 2020 Plan (previously filed as 
Exhibit 10.34 to the Predecessor's Annual Report on Form 1 0-K, filed on February 11, 2021 , and incorporated herein 
by reference) 

10.25 Form of Performance Share Award Agreement for shares awarded out of the 2020 Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 
I 0.35 to the Predecessor's Annual Report on From I 0-K, filed on February II , 2021 , and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

10.26 Form of Option Award Agreement for basic options awarded out of the 2020 Plan (previously med as Exhibit 10.36 
to the Predecessor's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 11 , 2021 , and incorporated herein by reference) 

I 0.27 Form of Performance Award Agreement for JeffreyS. Berkes, dated February I 0, 2021 (previously filed as Exhibit 
10.1 to the Predecessor' s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 12,2021, and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

10.28 Amended and Restated Severance Agreement between Federal Realty Investment Trust and JefferyS. Berkes, dated 
February I 0, 2021 (previously flied as Exhibit 10.2 to the Predecessor's Current Report on Fonn 8-K, tiled on 
February 12, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference) 

I 0.29 First Amendment to Tenn Loan Agreement, dated as of April 16, 2021, by and among the Predecessor, as borrower, 
the Lenders, New Lenders, Departing Lenders (as each such term is defined therein) and PNC Bank, National 
Association, as Administrative Agent (previously ftled as Exhibit I 0.1 to the Predecessor's Current Report on From 
8-K, filed on April 19, 2021, and incorporated herein by reference) t 

I 0.30 Omnibus Assignment, Assumption and Amendment entered into between the Predecessor and the Parent Company 
(previously filed as Exh ibit I 0.1 to our Current Report on Fonn 8-K, filed on January 3, 2022 and incorporated 
herein by reference) 

I 0.31 Second Amendment to Tenn Loan Agreement and Consent, dated as of January I, 2022, by and among the 
Predecessor, as borrower, each of the lenders party thereto and! PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative 
agent (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Trust's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 3, 2022 and 
incorporated herein by reference) t 

I 0.32 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of October 5, 2022, by and among the Partnership, as 
borrower, each of the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent 
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Trust' s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 11 , 2022 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

10.33 Third Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of October 5, 2022, by and among the Partnership, as 
borrower, each of the lenders party thereto and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (previously 
filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Trust's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 11, 2022 and incorporated herein 
by reference) 

10.34 First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 25, 2023, by and among 
the Partnership, as borrower, each of the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as 
administrative agent (previously filed a Exhibit 10.34 to the Trust's Annual Report on Form 10-K , filed on February 
12, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference) 

10.35 Fourth Amendment to Tenn Loan Agreement, dated as of August 25, 2023, by and among the Partnership, as 
borrower, each of the lenders party thereto and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (previously 
filed a Exhibit I 0.35 to the Trust's Annual Report on Fonn I 0-K, filed on February 12, 2024 and incorporated herein 
by reference) 
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Exhibit 
No. Description 

10.36 Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2024, by and 
among the Partnership, as borrower, each of the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, 
as administrative agent (previously fi led a Exhibit I 0.36 to the Trust's Annual Report on Form 1 0-K, filed on 
February 12, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference) 

I 0.37 Fifth Amendment to Tenn Loan Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2024, by and among the Partnership, as 
borrower, each of the lenders party thereto and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent 
(previously filed a Exhibit 10.37 to the Trust's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 12, 2024 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

10.38 Registration Rights Agreement dated January 11, 2024 among the Issuer, the Parent and the Representatives 
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Trust's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January II , 2024 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

10.39 Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as ofMarch 14, 2024, by and among 
the Partnership, as borrower, each of the lenders arty thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as 
administrative agent (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Trust's Quarterly Report on Form 1 0-Q for the quarter 
ended March 31, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference) 

10.40 'f' Consulting Agreement between Federal Realty OP LP and JeffreyS. Berkes, dated January l , 2025 (filed 
herewith) 

19.1 Policy on Insider Information and Trading in Federal Realty Shares and other Securities (previously filed as Exhibit 
19.1 to the Trust's Annual Report on Form I 0-K, filed on February 12, 2024 and incorporated here by reference) 

21.1 Subsidiaries of Federal Realty Investment Trust and Federal Realty OP LP (filed herewith) 

23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP (fimed herewith) 

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer- Federal Realty Investment Trust (filed herewith) 

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification ofChiefFinancial Officer- Federal Realty Investment Trust (filed herewith) 

31.3 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification ofChiefExecutive Officer- Federal Realty OP LP (filed herewith) 

31.4 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer - Federal Realty OP LP (filed herewith) 

32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer- Federal Realty Investment Trust (filed herewith) 

32.2 Section 1350 Certi fication of Chief Financial Officer- Federal Realty Investment Trust (filed herewith) 

32.3 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer- Federal Realty OP LP (filed herewith) 

32.4 Section 1350 Certification ofChiefFinancial Officer- Federal Realty OP LP (filed herewith) 

97 Federal Realty Investment Trust and Federal Realty OP LP Clawback Policy (previously filed as Exhibit 97 to the 
Trust's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 12, 2024 and incorporated here by reference) 

101 The following materials from this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, formatted 
in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (1) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (2) the Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income, (3) the Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity, ( 4) the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (5) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements that have been detail 
tagged. 

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in In line XBRL and contained in Exhibit I 0 I) 

*Management contract or compensatory plan required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to Item 15(b) of Form 10-K. 
i" Pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(4)(iii), the Trust and the Partnership by this filing agree, upon request, to furnish to 
the Securities and Exchange Commission a copy of other instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt of the 
Trust and the Partnership. 
t In this Exhibit Index, the term "Predecessor" refers to Federal Really Investment Tmst before the effectiveness of our 
UPREIT conversion as described in our Current Reports on Form 8-K fLied on January 3 and 5, 2022. Upon completion of the 
UPREIT conversion, the Partnership became the successor to the Predecessor's rights and obligations under this instmmcnt. 
'I' Portions of this exhibit have been redacted because (i) the registrants customarily and actually treat that infom1ation as 
private or confidential and (ii) the omitted information is not material. 

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY 

None. 
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SIGNAT URES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15( d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, each of the 
Registrants have duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized this 
February I 3, 2025. 

Federal Realty Investment Tn1st 
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By: /S/ DONALD C. WOOD 

Donald C. Wood 
Chief Executive Officer and T.-ustee 
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such attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary 
in connection with such matters and hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorney-in-fact and agent or his or her 
substitutes may do or cause to· be done by virtue hereof. 

Signature 

IS/ DONALD C. WOOD 
Donald C. Wood 
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Item 8 and Item 15(a)(J) and (2) 
Index to Consolidated FinanciaJ Statements and Schedules 

Page No. 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ( PCAOB ID Number 248) F-2 

FcdcraJ Realty Investment T rust: 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2024 and 2023 F-8 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 F -9 
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equ ity for theY cars Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 F-lO 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31,2024,2023, and 2022 F-ll 

Fcdc1·al Realty OP LP: 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 F-12 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 3 1, 2024, 2023, and 2022 F-13 

Consolidated Statements of Capital for the Years Ended December 31,2024,2023, and 2022 F-14 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 3 1, 2024, 2023, and 2022 F-15 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-16 

Financial Statement Schedules 

Schedule III-Summary of Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation 

Schedule IV- Mortgage Loans on Real Estate 

F-39 

F-47 

All other schedules have been omitted either because the information is not applicable, not material, or is disclosed in our 
consolidated financial statements and related notes. 
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Report of Independent Registe•·ed Public Accounting Firm 

Trustees and Shareholders 
Federal Realty Investment Trust 

Opinion on internal control over financial reporting 

We have aud!ited the internal control over financial reporting of Federal Realty Investment Trust (a Maryland real estate 
investment trust) and subsidiaries (collectively, the "Trust") as of December 31 , 2024, based on criteria established in the 2013 
Internal Control- Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
("COSO"). In our opinion, the Trust maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by COSO. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
("PCAOB"), the consolidated financial statements of the Trust as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, and our report 
dated February 13, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. 

Basis for opinion 

The Trust's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Evaluation of 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on tlle Trust's internal control over 
fmancial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Trust in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we p lan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over fmancial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over f inancial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our a·udit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and limitations of internal control over fmancial reporting 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of fmancial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company' s internal control over fmancial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (I) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Is/ GRANT THORNTON LLP 

Jacksonville, Florida 
February 13, 2025 
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Report of Independent Registe•·ed Public Accounting Firm 

Trustees and Shareholders 
Federal Realty Investment Trust 

Opinion on the financial statements 

We have aud!ited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Federal Realty Investment Trust (a Maryland real estate 
investment trust) and subsidiaries (collectively, the "Trust") as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2024, and the related notes and financial statement schedules included under Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referred 
to as the "consolidated financial statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated fmancial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position oft he Trust as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
("PCAOB''), the Trust's internal control over fmancial reporting as of December 31,2024, based on criteria established in the 
2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission ("COSO"), and our report dated February 13, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion. 

Basis for opinion 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Trust' s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Trust's consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with 
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Trust in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and 
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standardls require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical audit matter 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that 
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (I) relate to accounts or disclosures that are 
material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The 
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and 
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matter or on the 
accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

Lease Collectibility Assessment 

In order to recognize rental income on an accrual basis, the Trust must determine whether substantially all the rents due under a 
lease arrangement are collectible. If the Trust reaches the conclusion that substantially all of the rents are not collectible for a 
specific lease, then rental income under that arrangement can only be recognized when cash payment from the tenant is 
received. 

Significant judgment is exercised by the Trust when making a collectibility assessment and includes the following 
considerations which require challenging and subjective auditor judgment in the execution of our audit procedures: 

Creditworthiness of the tenant 

• Current economic conditions 
Historical experience with the tenant and other tenants operating in the same industry 

Our audit procedures related to the collectibility assessment included the following: 

• We tested the design and tested the operating effectiveness of internal controls relating to the collectibility assessment 
process. 
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We evaluated management's accounting policies related to this assessment. 

We verified the completeness of the population of tenants that management evaluated. 

We researched recent publicly available information, including information for the I 0 tenants with the highest rental 
income recognized in the year ended December 31 , 2024, such as bankruptcy filings, industry journals, and 
periodicals, and for any of the Trust's tenants identified in our research, we evaluated whether such infonnation was 
considered in management's collectib-ility assessment. 

• We recalculated the aging for a selection of tenant receivable balances using supporting documentation. 

For a selection of tenant receivables where collectibility was deemed as probable, we evaluated the collectibility 
assessment conclusion reached by management and performed the following procedures for each selection: 

Verified that management' s acc01.mting policies related to the collectibility assessment were followed. 

Inspected documentation from management such as tenant collection history and any direct correspondence 
and evaluated management's considerations supporting the collectibility assessment conclusion reached. 

Researched publicly available information to independently verify the completeness and accuracy of 
management's information used to make the collectibility assessment. 

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP 

We have seiVed as the Trust's. auditor since 2002. 

Jacksonville, Florida 
February 13, 2025 
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Report of Independent Registe•·ed Public Accounting Firm 

Trustees and Unitholders 
Federal Realty OP LP 

Opinion on internal control over financial reporting 

We have aud!ited the internal control over financial reporting of Federal Realty OP LP (a Delaware limited partnership) and 
subsidiaries (collectively, the "Operating Partnership") as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in the 2013 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations ofthe Treadway Commission 
("COSO"). In our opinion, the Operating Partnership maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31 , 2024, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework 
issued by COSO. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
("PCAOB''), the consolidated financial statements of the Operating Partnership as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2024, and our report dated February 13, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. 

Basis for opinion 

The Operating Partnership's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over fmancial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's 
Evaluation of Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Operating 
Partnership's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Operating Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal 
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we p lan and perfonn the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and limitations of internal control over financial reporting 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (I) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP 

Jacksonville. Florida 
February 13, 2025 
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Report of Independent Registe•·ed Public Accounting Firm 

Trustees and Unitholders 
Federal Realty OP LP 

Opinion on the financial sta tements 

We have audlited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Federal Realty OP LP (a Delaware limited partnership) and 
subsidiaries (collectively, the '"Operating Partnership") as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements 
of comprehensive income, capital, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 , 2024, and the 
related notes and financial statement schedules included under Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referred to as the "consolidated 
fmancial statements"). In our opinion, the cons·olidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Operating Partnership as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 3 1, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
("PCAOB''), the Operating Partnership' s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria 
established in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission ("COSO"), and our report dated February 13, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion. 

Basis for opinion 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Operating Partnership's management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Operating Partnership's consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public 
accounting finn registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Operating Partnership in 
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations o f the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standardls require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. Our audits included perfonning p rocedures to assess the risks of material misstatement ofth·e financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We bel ieve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical audit matter 

The critical audit matter communicated below js a matter arising from th.e current period audit of the financial statements that 
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are 
material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The 
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and 
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matter or on the 
accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

Lease Collectibility Assessment 

In order to recognize rental income on an accrual basis, the Operating Partnership must detennine whether substantially all n.he 
rents due under a lease arrangement are collectible. If the Operating Part11ership reaches the conclusion that substantially all of 
the rents are not collectible for a specific lease, then rental income under that arrangement can only be recognized when cash 
payment from the tenant is received. 

Significant judgment is exercised by the Operating Partnership when making a collectibility assessment and includes the 
following considerations which require challenging and subjective auditor judgment in the execution of our audit procedures: 

Creditworthiness of the tenant 

• Current economic conditions 
Historical experience with the tenant and other tenants operating in the same industry 

Our audit procedures related to the collectibility assessment included the following: 
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We tested the design and tested the operating effectiveness of internal controls relating to the collectibility assessment 
process. 

• We evaluated management's accounting policies related to this assessment. 

We verified the completeness of the p·opulation of tenants that management evaluated. 

We researched recent publicly available information, including information for the 10 tenants with the highest rental 
income recognized in the year ended December 31 , 2024, such as bankruptcy filings, industry journals, and 
periodicals, and for any of the Operating Partnership's tenants identified in our research, we evaluated whether such 
information was considered in management's collectibility assessment. 

We recalculated the aging for a selection of tenant receivable balances using supporting documentation. 

• For a selection of tenants where collectibility was deemed as probable, we evaluated the collectibility assessment 
conclusion reached by management and performed the following procedures for each selection: 

Verified that management's accounting policies related to the collectibility assessment were followed. 

Inspected documentation from management such as tenant collection history and any direct correspondence 
and evaluated management's considerations supporting the collectibility assessment conclusion reached. 

Researched publicly available information to independently verify the completeness and accuracy of 
management' s information used to make the collectibihty assessment. 

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP 

We have served as the Operating Partnership's auditor since 2022. 

Jacksonville. Florida 
February 13, 2025 
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ASSETS 
Real estate, at cost 

Federal Realty Investment Tr ust 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

Operating (including $ 1,825,656 and $2,02 1,622 of consolidated variable interest 
entities, respectively) 
Construction-in-progress (including $9,939 and $8,677 of consolidated variable interest 
entities, respectively) 

Less accwn ulated depreciation and amortization (including $424,044 and $416,663 of 
consolidated variable interest entities, respectively) 

Net real estate 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts and notes receivable, net 
Mortgage notes receivable, net 
Investment in partnerships 
Operating lease right of use assets, net 
Finance lease right of use assets, net 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Liabilities 
Mortgages payable, net (including $186,643 and $189,286 of consolidated variable 
interest entities, respectively) 
Notes payable, net 
Senior notes and debentures, net 
Accatmts payable and accrued expenses 
Dividends payable 
Security deposits payable 
Operating lease liabilities 
Finance lease liabilities 
Other liabilities and deferred credits 

Total liabilities 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7) 

Redeemable noncontroll-ing interests 
Shareholders' equity 

Preferred shares, authorized 15,000,000 shares, $0.0 I par: 

5.0% Series C Ctlmulative Redeemable Preferred Shares, (stated at liquidation 
preference $25,000 per share), 6,000 shares issued and outstanding 
5.417% Series 1 Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares, (stated at liquidation 
preference $25 per share), 392,878 shares issued and outstanding 

Common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 
85,666,220 and 82,775,286 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 
Additional paid-in capital 
Accumulated dividends in excess of net income 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 

Total shareholders' equity of the Trust 
Noncontrolling interests 

Total shareholders' equity 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Dcccmbrr 31, 
2024 2023 

(Jn thousands, excep t share 1111d 
p e1· sbHI"e data) 

$ 10,363,961 $ 9,932,891 

539,752 613,296 
10,903,713 10,546,187 

(3,152,799) (2,963,519) 
7,750,914 7,582,668 

123,409 250,825 
229,080 201,733 

9, 144 9,[96 
33,458 34,870 
85,806 86,993 
6,630 6,850 

286,316 263,377 
$ 8,524,757 $ 8,436,512 

$ 514,378 $ 516,936 
601,414 601 ,945 

3,357,840 3,480,296 
183,564 174,714 
96,743 92,634 
30,941 30,482 
74,837 75,870 
12,783 12,670 

227,827 225,443 
5,100,327 5,210,990 

180,286 183,363 

150,000 150,000 

9,822 9,822 

862 833 
4,248,824 3,959,276 

(I ,242,654) ( 1,160,474) 

4,740 4,052 
3,171,594 2,963,509 

72,550 78,650 
3,244,144 3,042,[ 59 

$ 8,524,757 $ 8,436,512 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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Federal Realty Investment Trust 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

Year Ended Decem be•· 31, 

2024 2023 2022 
(In tbousands, except per share data) 

REVENUE 
Rental income $ 1, 170,078 $ 1,101 ,439 $ I ,047,793 

Other property income 31,258 29 ,602 25,499 
Mortgage interest income l ,116 I ,113 1,086 

Total revenue 1,202,452 1,132,154 1,074,378 
EXPENSES 

Rental expenses 249,569 231 ,666 228,958 

Real estate taxes 142,230 131 ,429 127,824 
General and administTative 49,739 50,,707 52,636 
Depreciation and amortization 342,598 321 ,763 302,409 

Total operating expenses 784, 136 735,565 711,827 

Gain on deconsolidation of VIE 70,374 

Gain on sale of real estate 54,040 9,881 93,4 83 

OPERATING INCOME 472,356 406,470 526,408 

OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE) 
Other interest income 4,294 4 ,687 1,072 
Interest expense (175,476) (167 ,809) (136,989) 
Income from partnerships 3,160 3,869 5,170 

NET INCOME 304,334 247 ,217 395,661 

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (9,126) (W,232) (10, 170) 
NET INCOME A TTRlBUT ABLE TO THE TRUST 295,208 236,985 385,49 1 

Dividends on preferred shares (8,032) (8,032) (8,034) 
NET INCOME AVAILABLE FOR COMMON SHAREHOLDERS $ 287, 176 $ 228,953 $ 377,457 

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE, BASIC 
Net income available for common shareholders $ 3.42 $ 2.80 $ 4.7 1 

Weighted average number of common shares 83,559 81 ,313 79,854 

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE, DILUTED 
Net income available for common shareholders $ 3.42 $ 2.80 $ 4.71 
Weighted average number of common shares 83,566 81 ,313 80,508 

NET INCOME $ 304,334 $ 247 ,217 $ 395,661 
Other comprehensive income (loss) - change in value of interest rate swaps 711 (1 ,824) 8,569 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 305,045 245 ,393 404,230 
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (9,149) (W,113) (10,935) 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME A TTRJBUT ABLE TO THE TRUST $ 295,896 $ 235 ,280 $ 393,295 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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Fed e r a l Realty Inves tme n t Trust 

Con solidated Statem ent of S hare h o lders' Equity 

S hareholders' Equity of the T rust 

P r eferred S hares C ommon Sh:lres Additional 
Accumulated 
Dividends in 

Accumulated 
Othe r Total 

Paid-in Excess of Net C omprehensive Noncontro lling S hareholders' 
Shares Amount Shares A mount C apita l Income (Loss) Income Interests Equity 

(In thousands, except share data) 

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 . 2021 405,896 s 159,997 78.603.305 s 790 s 3.488.794 s ( 1.066,932) s (2,047) s 82.546 s 2.663.148 
Net income, excluding$6,613 attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests - - - 385.491 - 3.557 389.048 
Other comprehensi'e income- change tn \alue of interest rate S\\aps. excluding 
$765 attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest - - - - - - 7,804 - 7.804 
Dividends declared to common shareholders ($4.30 per share) - - - - (344,711) - - (344,711) 
Dividends declared to preferred s hareholders - - - - - (8,034) - - (8,034) 
Distributions declared to noncontrolling interests. excluding $8.090 auributable 
to redeemable noncontrolling intcr..-sts - - - - - - (5.007) (5.007) 
Common shares issued. net - 2.634.223 26 306,828 - - 306,854 
Exercise of stock options - - 366 - 35 - - - 35 
Shares issued under dividend reinvestment plan - - 19.502 - 2,104 - - - 2,104 
Share-based compensation expense. net of forfeitures - - 110,395 2 15.016 - - - 15.018 
Shares withheld for employee taxes - (41, 105) - (4,900) - - {4.900) 
Conversion of preferred shares (7,0 18) (175) 1,675 - 175 

Conversion and redemption of downREIT OP units - 14.598 - 1,367 - - (2,065) (698) 
Deconsolidation of VI E - - - - - 972 972 
Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolli ng interests - - - 12,382 - - 12,382 
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 3 1, 2022 398,878 s 159,822 8 I .342,959 s 818 :s 3 ,82 1 ,8o I s <I ,634, I 86) s 5,757 s 86,003 $ 3,o34.o l 5 
Net income, excl uding $7,253 attributable to redeemable noncontrolling inte rests - - - - - 236,985 - 2.979 239.964 
Other comprehensive loss- change in value of interest rate swaps, exclud ing 
S 119 attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest - - - - - - (1,705) - (1,705) 
Dividends declared to common shareholders ($4.34 per share) - - - - - (355,24 1) - - (355,241) 
Dividends declared to preferred shareholders - - - - - (8,Q32) - (8.032) 
Distributions declared to noncont rolling interests. excluding $9,539 attributable 
to redeemable noncontrolling interests - - - - - (4.541) (4.541) 
Common shares issued, net - - 1.310.118 13 131,716 - - - 131.729 
Shares issued under dividend reinvestment plan - - 19.847 1,870 - - - 1.870 
Share-based compensation expense. net of forfeitures - - 139.248 2 15.425 - - - 15.427 
Shares " ithheld for emplo) cc taxes - - (46.009) - (5,019) - - - {5,019) 
Conversion and redemption of do" nREIT OP units - - 9.123 - 883 - - (883) 
Contributions from noncontrolling interests - - - - 1.092 1.092 
Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interests - - (7.400) - - (7.400) 
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31. 2023 398.878 s 159.822 82,775,286 s 833 s 3.959.276 s ( 1.160.474) s 4,052 s 78.650 s 3.042.159 
Net income. excluding $7,022 attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests - - - - 295,208 - 2.104 297.312 

Other comprehensive income - change in 'alue of interest rateS\\ aps, excluding 
$23 a ttributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest - - - - - 688 - 688 
Dividends declan.'<lto common shareholders ($4.38 per share) - - - - - (369.232) - (369.232) 
Dividends declared to preferred s hareholders - - - - - (8,032) - - (8.032) 
Dividend equivalent rights - - - - (124) (124) 
Distributions declared to noncont rolling interests. excluding $8.854 attributable 
to redeemable noncontrolling inte rests - - - - - - - (4.239) (4.239) 
Common shares issued, ne t - - 2.769,747 28 303,903 - - 303,93 1 
Shares issued under dividend re investment plan - - 18, 10 1 - 1,784 - - - 1,784 
Share-based compensation expense, net o f forfe itures - - 149.5 10 I 17,378 - - - 17,379 
Shares withheld for employee taxes - - (64,635) - (6,709) - - (6,709) 
Conversion and redemption of downR EIT 0 1' units - - 18,2 11 - 1,636 - - (2,596) (960) 
Purchase of capped calls - - - (19,448) - - - (19,448) 
Purchase o f noncontrolling interest - - - - (10,264) - - (2.094) (12.358) 
Contributions from noncontrolling interests - - - - - 725 725 
Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interests - - - - 1,268 - - 1,268 
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 3 1, 2024 398,878 s 159,822 85.666.220 s 862 s 4,248,824 S ( I ,242,654) s 4,740 s 72.550 s 3,244,144 

The accompany ing n o tes are a n integral p a rt o f these consolidated s ta te m ents . 
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Federal Realty Investment T rust 

C onsolidated Sta tements of Cash Flows 

Year Endt>d Oecembt>l'31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net income $ 304,334 $ 247,217 $ 395,66 1 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 342,598 321,763 302,409 
Gain on deconso1idation of VIE (70,374) 
Gain on sale of real estate (54,040) (9,881) (93,483) 

Income from partnerships (3,160) (3 ,869) (5, 170) 

Straight-line rent (26,833) ( 11 ,576) (18,326) 
Share-based compensation expense 16,357 14,308 13,704 

Other, net (2,158) (4,959) (4,812) 
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and dispositions: 

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable, net (796) 3,468 (12,071) 
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets (5,030) (6,881) ( 1 ,2I9) 

Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,550 6,005 77 

Increase in security deposits and other liabilities 1,741 235 10,373 
Net cash provided by operating activities 574,563 555,830 516,769 

fNVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Acquisition of real estate (273,927) (60,628) (438,494) 

Capital expenditures - development and redevelopment (139,534) (214,062) (309,046) 
Capital expenditures - other (107,226) (97,osg) (107,655) 
Costs associated with property sold under threat of condemnation (1 ,378) (18,031) 

Proceeds from sale of real estate 99,928 28,45I I33,7I7 
Change in cash from deconsolidation of VIE (4, 192) 
Investment in partnerships (23, 155) 

Distribution from partnerships in excess of earnings 4,742 9,860 6,864 
Leasing costs (30,809) (23,510) (22,54 1) 

Issuance of mortgage and other notes receivable, net (3,465) 

Net cash used in investing activities (446,826) (358,325) (785,998) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Costs to amend revolving credit facility (6,375) 

Issuance of senior notes, net of costs 471 ,507 345,698 
Repayment of senior notes (600,000) (275,000) 

Issuance and extension of mortgages and notes payable, net of costs (902) 1'99,237 298,568 

Repayment of mortgages, finance leases, and notes payable (3,496) (58,472) (19,443) 

Purchase of capped calls (19,448) 

Issuance of common shares, net of costs 304,045 131 ,895 307,275 

Dividends paid to common and preferred shareholders (371 ,586) (359,194) (347,284) 
Shares withheld for employee taxes (6,709) (5,0I9) (4,900) 

Contributions from noncontrolling interests 725 1,092 
Distributions to and redemptions of noncontrolling interests (26,434) (I4,086) (37,427) 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (252,298) (33 ,849) 190,414 
(Decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash ( 124,561) 163,656 (78,815) 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of year 260,004 '96,348 175, 163 

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of year $ 135,443 $ 260,004 $ 96,348 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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ASSETS 
Real estate, at cost 

Federal Realty OP LP 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

Operating (including $1 ,825,656 and $2,021,622 of consolidated variable interest 
entities, respectively) 
Construction-in-progress (including $9,939 and $8,677 of consolidated variable interest 
entities, respectively) 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (including $424,044 and $416,663 of 
consolidated variable interest entities, respectively) 

Net real estate 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts and notes receivable, net 
Mortgage notes receivable, net 
Investment in partnerships 
Operating lease right of use assets, net 
Finance lease right of use assets, net 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 
LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL 

Liabilities 
Mortgages payable, net (including $186,643 and $189,286 of consolidated variable 
interest entities, respectively) 
Notes payable, net 
Senior notes and debentures, net 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Dividends payable 
Security deposits payable 
Operating lease liabilities 
Finance lease liabilities 
Other liabilities and deferred credits 

T otalliabilities 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7) 
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 
Partner capital 

Preferred units, 398,878 units issued and outstanding 

Common units, 85,666,220 and 82,775,286 units issued and outstanding, respectively 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 

Total partner capital 
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated partnerships 

Total capital 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL 

December 31, 

2024 2023 

(In tbousllnds, except unit datil) 

$ 10,363,961 $ 9,932,891 

539,752 613,296 
10,903,713 10,546,187 

(3,152,799) (2,963,519) 
7,750,914 7,582,668 

123,409 250,825 
229,080 201 ,733 

9, 144 9)96 
33,458 34,870 
85,806 86,993 

6,630 6,850 
286,316 263,377 

$ 8,524,757 $ 8,436,512 

$ 514,378 $ 516,936 
601,414 601 ,945 

3,357,840 3,480,296 
183,564 174,714 
96,743 92,634 
30,941 30,482 
74,837 75,870 
12,783 12,670 

227,827 225,443 
5,100,327 5,210,990 

180,286 183,363 

154,788 154,788 

3,012,066 2,804,669 
4,740 4,052 

3, I 71,594 2,963,509 
72,550 78,650 

3,244, 144 3,042)59 
$ 8,524,757 $ 8,436,512 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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Federal Realty OP LP 
C onsolidated Statements of Comtu ehensive Income 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 
(In tbousllnds, except pr r unit dHta) 

REVENUE 
Rental income $ 1,170,078 $ 1,101,439 $ 1,047,793 

Other property income 31,258 29,602 25,499 
Mortgage interest income 1, 116 1 , I 13 1,086 

Total revenue 1,202,452 1,132, 154 1,074,378 

EXPENSES 
Rental expenses 249,569 231 ,666 228,958 
Real estate taxes 142,230 131 ,429 127,824 

Generati and administrative 49,739 50,,707 52,636 

Depreciation and amortization 342,598 321 ,763 302,409 
Total operating expenses 784,136 735 ,565 711,827 

Gain on deconsolidation of VIE 70,374 
Gain on sale of real estate 54,040 9 ,881 93,483 

OPERATING INCOME 472,356 406,470 526,408 

OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE) 
Other interest income 4,294 4 ,687 1,072 

Interest expense (175,476) (167 ,809) (136,989) 
Income from partnerships 3,160 3 ,869 5,170 

NET INCOME 304,334 247,217 395,661 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (9, 126) (10,,232) (10, 170) 

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARTNERSHIP 295,208 236,985 385,49 1 
Dividends on preferred units (8,032) (8,032) (8,034) 

NET INCOME AVAILABLE FOR COMMON UNIT HOLDERS $ 287,176 $ 228 ,953 $ 377,457 

EARNINGS PER COMMON UNIT, BASIC 
Net income available for common unit holders $ 3.42 $ 2.80 $ 4.71 

Weighted average number of common units 83,559 81 ,313 79,854 

EARNINGS PER COMMON UNIT, DILUTED 
Net income available for common unit holders $ 3.42 $ 2.80 $ 4.7 1 

Weighted average number of common uillts 83,566 81 ,313 80,508 

NET INCOME $ 304,334 $ 247,217 $ 395,661 
Other comprehensive income (loss) - change in value of interest rate swaps 711 (1 ,824) 8,569 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 305,045 245,393 404,230 

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (9, 149) (10>, 113) ( I 0,935) 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PAR TNERSHJP $ 295,896 $ 235 ,280 $ 393,295 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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Fcdcnll Realty OJ> LP 
Consolidntcd S tlltcmc nls of C npital 

Accumulated Noncontrolling 
Other Interests in 

Comprehensive Total Partner Consolidated 
Preferred Units Common Units (Loss) Income Capital Purtncrshii>S Total Capital 

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31.2021 s 154.963 s 2.427.686 s (2.047) s 2,580,602 s 82.546 s 2.663.148 

Net income, excluding 56,613 auributablc to n."'dcemable noncontrolling interests 8.034 377.457 - 385,491 3,557 389.048 
Other comprehensive income -change in fair value of interest rate s"aps. excluding S765 
attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest 7.804 7,804 - 7.804 
Distributions declared to common unit holders - (344,711) - (344,711) - (344,711) 
Distributions declared to preferred unit holders (8.034) - - (8,034) (8.034) 
Distributions declared to noncontrolling interests in consolidated partnerships. excluding $8,090 
anributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests - - - (5.007) (5.007) 
Common units issued as a result of common stock issued by Parent Company. net of issuance costs - 306.854 - 306,854 306.854 
Exercise of stock options - 35 - 35 - 35 
Common units issued under dividend rcim cstmcnt plan - 2.104 - 2.104 - 2,104 
Share-based compensation expense, net of forfeitures - 15.018 - 15,018 - 15.018 
Common units withheld for employee taxes (4.900) - (4,900) - (4.900) 
Conversion of preferred units (175) 175 

Conversion and redemption of downREIT OP units - 1,367 - 1,367 (2,065) (698) 
Deconsolidation of VIE - - - 972 972 
Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interests 12,382 - 12,382 12,382 
BALANCEATDECEMBER 31.2022 $ 154,788 $ 2.793,467 $ 5,757 $ 2,954,0 12 $ 80.003 $ 3,034,015 
Net income, excluding $7,253 attr ibutable to redeemable noncontrol ling interests 8,032 228.953 - 236,985 2,979 239,964 
Other comprehensive loss· change in fair value of interest rate swaps, excluding $119 attributable 
to redeemable noncontrolling interest - - (1,705) (1,705) (1.705) 
Distributions declared to common unit holders - (355,241) - (355,241) - (355,24 1) 
Distributions declared to preferred unit holders (8.032) - - (8,Q32) (8,032) 
Distributions declared to noncontrolling interests in consolidated partnerships, excluding $9,539 
anributable to redeemable noncomrolling interests - - - (4.541) (4,541) 
Common units issued as a result of common stock issued by Parent Company, net of issuance costs - 131.729 - 131,729 131.729 
Common units issued under dividend reinvestment plan - 1.870 - 1,870 - 1.870 
Share-based compensation expense. net of forfeitures - 15,427 15,427 - 15,427 
Common units withheld for employee taxes - (5,019) - (5,019) - (5.019) 
Conversion and redemption of do" nREIT OP units - 883 - 883 (883) 
Contributions from noncontrolling interests - - 1,092 s 1.092 
Adjustment to redeemable noncontroll ing interests p,400) - !7.400} p.400} 
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31.2023 s 154.788 s 2,804,669 s 4,052 s 2,963.509 s 78.650 $ 3.042.159 
Net income, excluding $7.022 attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests 8.032 287.176 - 295,208 2.104 297JI2 

Other comprehensive income -change in fair value of interest rate swaps, excluding $23 attributable 
to redeemable noncontrolling interest - - 688 688 - 688 
Distributions declared to common unit holders (369.232) - (369,232) - (369.232) 
Distributions declared to prefcm.·d unit holders (8.032) - (8.032) - (8,032) 
Distribution equivalent rights - (124) (124) - (124) 
Distributions declared to no neon trolling interests in consolidated partnerships, excluding $8,854 
attributable to redeemable nOI1COI11rOIIing interests - - - - (4.239) (4,239) 
Common units issued as a resu lt of common stock issued by Parent Company, net of issuance costs - 303,931 - 303,931 303,93 1 

Common units issued under dividend reinvestment plan - 1,784 - 1,784 - 1,784 
Share-based compensation expense, net of forfe itures - 17,379 - 17,379 - 17,379 
Common units withheld for employee taxes - (6,709) - (6.709) - (6,709) 
Conversion and redemption of downREIT 01' units - 1,636 - 1,636 (2,596) (960) 
Purchase of capped en lis - (19,448) - ( 19,448) (19,448) 
Purchase of noncontrolling interest - (10.264) - (I 0,264) (2.094) (12,358) 
Contributions from noncontrolling interests - - - 725 725 

Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interests - 1,268 1.268 1,268 
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31.2024 s 154,788 $ 3.012,066 s 4.740 s 3,171,594 s 72.550 $ 3.244.144 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 

F- 14 



Federal Realty OP LP 
Consolidated Statements of Cash F lows 

Year Ended DccembeJ· 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net income $ 304,334 $ 247,217 $ 395,661 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 342,598 321,763 302,409 
Gain on deconsolidation ofVIE (70,374) 
Gain on sale of real estate (54,040) (9,881) (93,483) 

Income from partnerships (3,160) (3 ,869) (5,170) 

Straight-line rent (26,833) (11 ,576) (18,326) 
Share-based compensation expense 16,357 14,308 13,704 
Other, net (2,158) (4,959) (4,812) 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and dispositions: 

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable, net (796) 3,468 (12,071) 
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets (5,030) (6,881) (1,219) 

Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,550 6,005 77 

Increase in security deposits and other liabilities 1,741 235 10,373 
Net cash provided by operating activities 574,563 555,830 516,769 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Acquisition of real estate (273,927) (60,628) (438,494) 

Capital expenditures - development and redevelopment (139,534) (214,062) (309,046) 
Capital expenditures - other (107,226) (97,058) (I 07,655) 

Costs associated with property sold under threat of condemnation (1 ,378) (18,031) 

Proceeds from sale of real estate 99,928 28,451 133,717 
Change in cash from deconsolidation ofVTE (4,192) 
Investment in partnerships (23,155) 

Distribution from partnerships in excess of earnings 4,742 9,860 6,864 
Leasing costs (30,809) (23,510) (22,54 1) 

Issuance of mortgage and other notes receivable, net (3,465) 

Net cash used in investing activities (446,826) (358,325) (785,998) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Costs to amend revolving credit facility (6,375) 

Issuance of senior notes, net of costs 471 ,507 345,698 
Repayment of senior notes (600,000) (275,000) 

Issuance and extension of mortgages and notes payable, net of costs (902) 199,237 298,568 
Repayment of mortgages, finance leases, and notes payable (3,496) (58,472) (19,443) 
Purchase of capped calls (19,448) 

Issuance of common units , net of costs 304,045 131 ,895 307,275 

Dividends paid to common and preferred unit holders (371 ,586) (359,194) (347,284) 
Common units withheld for employee taxes (6,709) (5,019) (4,900) 

Contributions from noncontrolling interests 725 1,092 
Distributions to and redemptions of noncontrolling interests (26,434) (14,086) (37,427) 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (252,298) (33 ,849) 190,414 
(Decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (124,561) 163,656 (78,815) 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of year 260,004 96,348 175,163 

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of year $ 135,443 $ 260,004 $ 96,348 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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Federal Realty Investment Trust 
Federal Realty OP LP 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 

NOTE I-BUSINESS AND ORGANIZATION 

Federal Realty Investment Trust (the "Parent Company" and "Trust") is an equity real estate investment trust ("REIT"). Federal 
Realty OP LP (the "Operating Partnership") is ithe entity through which the Parent Company conducts substantially all of its 
operating and owns all of its assets. The Parent Company owns 100% of the limited liability company interests of, is sole 
member of, and exercises control over Federal Realty GP LLC (the "General Partner"), which in turn, is the sole general partner 
of the Operating Partnership. T he Parent Company specializes in the ownership, management, and redevelopment of retail and 
mixed-use properties through the Operating Partnership. Our properties are located primar ily in communities where we believe 
retail demand exceeds supply, in strategically selected metropolitan markets in the Mid-Atlantic and Northeast regions of the 
United States, California, and South Florida. AI> ofDecember 31 , 2024, we owned or had a majority interest in community and 
neighborhood shopping centers and mixed-use properties which are operated as 102 predominantly retail real estate projects. 

We operate in a manner intended to enable the Trust to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. A REIT that 
distributes at least 90% of its taxable income to its shareholders each year and meets certain other conditions is not taxed on that 
portion of its taxable income which is distributed to its shareholders. 

General Economic Conditions 

The economy continues to face several issues including inflation risk, high interest rates, and potentially worsening economic 
conditions, which presents risks for our business and tenants. We continue to monitor and address risks related to the general 
state of the economy. The extent of the future effects on our business, results of operations, cash flows, and growth strategies is 
highly uncertain and will ultimately depend on future developments, none of which can be predicted. 

NOTE 2-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of Presentation 

In January 2022, we completed a reorganization into an umbrella partnership real estate investment trust, or "UPREIT." 
Immediately following the reorganization, the Parent Company had the same consolidated assets and liabilities as Federal 
Realty Investment Trust immediately before the reorganization. The Parent Company exercises exclusive control over the 
General Partner and does not have assets or liabilities other than its investment in the Operating Pannership. As a result, the 
UPRETT reorganization represented a merger of entities under common control in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP"). Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements including 
the notes thereto, are presented as if the UPREIT reorganization had occurred at the earliest period presented. 

Principles of Consolidation 

As discussed in the Explanatory Note, we have combined the Annual Reports on Fonn 10-K of the Parent Company and the 
Operating Partnership into this single report. As a result, we present two sets of consolidated financial statements. Both sets of 
consolidated fmancial statements include the accounts of the entity, its corporate subsidiaries, and all entities in which it has a 
controlling interest or has been determined to the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity ('VIE"). The Parent 
Company's consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries as the 
Parent, and through its ownership and control over the General Partner, exercises exclusive control over the Operating 
Partnership. The equity interests of other investors are reflected as noncontrolling interests or redeemable noncontrolling 
interests. All significant intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation. We account for our interests in 
joint ventures, which we do not control, using the equity method of accounting. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, referred to as "GAAP," requires management to make estimates and assumptions that in certain circumstances affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and revenues and expenses. These 
estimates are prepared using management' s best judgment, after considering past, current and expected events and economic 
conditions. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
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Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable 

Our leases with our tenants are classified as operating leases. When collection of substantially all lease payments during the 
lease term is considered probable, the lease qualifies for accrual accounting. Lease payments are recognized on a straight-line 
basis from the point in time when the tenant controls the space through the term of the related lease. Variable lease payments 
relating to percentage rent are recognized at the end of the lease year or earlier if we have determined the required sales level is 
achieved. Real estate tax and other cost reimbursements are recognized on an accrual basis over the periods in which the related 
expenditures are incurred. Many of our leases contain tenant options that enable the tenant to extend the term of the lease at 
expiration at pre-established rental rates that often include fixed rent increases, consumer :price index adjustments or other 
market rate adjustments from the prior base rent. For a tenant to terminate its lease agreement prior to the end of the agreed 
term, we may require that they pay a fee to cancel the lease agreement. Lease termination fees are generally recognized on the 
termination date if the tenant has relinquished control of the space. When a lease is terminated early but the tenant continues to 
control the space under a modified lease agreement, the lease tennination fee is generally recognized evenly over the remaining 
term of the modified lease agreement. Lease concessions are evaluated to determine whether the concession represents a 
modification of the original lease contract. Modifications generally result in a reassessment of the lease term and lease 
classification, and remeasurement of lease payments received. Remeasured lease payments are recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the remaining term of the modified lease contract. 

When collection of substantially all lease payments during the lease term is not considered probable, total lease revenue is 
limited to the lesser of revenue recognized under accrual accounting or cash received. Determining the probability of collection 
of substantially all lease payments during a lease term requires significant judgment. This determination is impacted by 
numerous factors including our assessment of the tenant's credit worthiness, economic conditions, tenant sales productivity in 
that location, historical experience with the tenant and tenants operating in the same industry, future prospects for the tenant and 
the industry in which it operates, and the length of the lease term. If leases currently classified as probable are subsequently 
reclassified as not probable, any outstanding lease receivables (including straight-line rentL receivables) would be written-off 
with a corresponding decrease in rental income. lfleases currently classified as not probable are subsequently changed to 
probable, any lease receivables (including straight-line rent receivables) are re-instated with a corresponding increase to rental 
income. 

As of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, our straight-line rent receivables balance was $164.6 million and $ 138.4 million, 
respectively, and is included in "accounts and notes receivable, net" on our consolidated balance sheet. 

Other revenue recognition policies 

Sales of real estate are recognized upon the transfer of control, which usually occurs when the real estate is. legally sold. When 
we enter into a transaction to sell a property or a portion of a property, we evaluate the recognition of the sale under ASC 
610-20, "Other Income - Gains and Losses from the Derecognition ofNonfinancial Assets." Jn accordance with ASC 610-20, 
we apply the guidance in ASC 606, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers," to determine whether and when control 
transfers and how to measure the associated gain or loss. We determine the transaction price based on the consideration we 
expect to receive. Variable consideration is included in the transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal 
of a gain recognized will not occur. We analyze the risk of a significant gain reversal and if necessary limit the amount of 
variable consideration recognized in order to mitigate this risk. The estimation of variable consideration requires us to make 
assumptions and apply significant judgment. 

Other property income includes revenue for our Pike & Rose hotel, parking income and other incidental income from the 
properties and is generally recognized at the point in time that the performance obligation is met. 

Real Estate 

Land, buildings and improvements are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method. Estimated 
useful lives range generally from 35 years to a maximum of 50 years on buildings and major improvements. Minor 
improvements, furniture and equipment are capitalized and depreciated over useful lives ranging from 2 to 20 years. 
Maintenance and repairs that do not improve or extend the useful lives of the related assets are charged to operations as 
incurred. Tenant improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the li fe of the related lease or their estimated useful life, 
whichever is shorter. If a tenant vacates its space prior to contractual termination of its lease, the undepreciated balance of any 
tenant improvements are written off if they are replaced or have no future value. In 2024, 2023 and 2022, real estate 
depreciation expense was $302.4 million, $282.0 million and $265.7 million, respectively, including amounts from real estate 
sold. 

Our methodology of allocating the cost of acquisitions to assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based on estimated fair 
values, replacement cost and/or appraised values. When we acquire operating real estate properties, the purchase price is 
allocated to land, building, improvements, leasing costs, intangibles such as acquired leases, assumed debt, if any, and to 
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current assets acquired and current liabilities assumed, if any. The value allocated to acquired leases is amortized over the 
related lease term and reflected as rental income in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. We consider 
qualitative and quantitative factors in evaluating the likelihood of a tenant exercising a below market renewal option and 
include such renewal options in the calculation of acquired lease value when we consider these to be bargain renewal options. If 
the value of below market lease intangibles includes renewal option periods, we include such renewal periods in the 
amortization period utilized. If a tenant vacates its space prior to contractual termination of its lease, the unamortized balance of 
any acquired lease value is written off to rental income. 

Transaction costs related to asset acquisitions, such as broker fees, transfer taxes, legal, accounting, valuation, and other 
professional and consulting fees, are capitalized as part of the acquisition cost. The acquisition of an operating shopping center 
typically qualifies as an asset acquisition. 

We capitalize certain costs related to the development and redevelopment of real estate including pre-construction costs, real 
estate taxes, insurance, construction costs and salaries and related costs of personnel directly involved, are capitalized. 
Additionally, we capitalize interest costs related to development and redevelopment activities. Capitalization of these costs 
begin when the activities and related expenditures commence and cease when the project is substantially complete and ready for 
its intended use at which time the project is placed in service and depreciation commences. Additionally, we make estimates as 
to the probability of certain development and redevelopment projects being completed. If we determine the development or 
redevelopment is no longer probable of completion, we expense all capitalized costs which are not recoverable. 

Long-Lived Assets and Impairment 

There are estimates and assumptions made by management in preparing the consolidated fmancial statements for which the 
actual results will be determined over long periods of time. This includes the recoverability of long-lived assets, including our 
properties that have been acquired or redeveloped and our investment in certain joint ventures. Management' s evaluation of 
impairment includes review for possible indicators of impairment as well as, in certain circumstances, undiscounted and 
discounted cash flow analysis. Since most of our investments in real estate are wholly-owned or controlled assets which are 
held for use, a property with impairment indicators is first tested for impairment by comparing the undiscounted cash flows, 
including residual value, to the current net book value of the property. If the undiscounted cash flows are less than the net book 
value, the property is written down to expected fair value. 

The calculation of both discounted and undiscounted cash flows requires management to make estimates of future cash flows 
including revenues, operating expenses, required maintenance and development expenditures, market conditions, demand for 
space by tenants and rental rates over long peri·ods. Because our properties typically have a long life, the assumptions used t·o 
estimate the future recoverability of book value requires significant management judgment. Actual results could be significantly 
different from the estimates. These estimates have a direct impact on net income, because recording an impairment charge 
results in a negative adjustment to net income. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

We defrne cash and cash equivalents as cash on hand, demand deposits with financial institutions and short term liquid 
investments with an initial maturity, when purchased, under three months. Cash balances in individual banks may exceed the 
federally insured limit by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the "FDIC"). At December 31, 2024. we had $129.3 
million in excess of the FDIC insured limit. 

Prepaid Expenses and Other· Assets 

Prepaid expenses and other assets consist primarily of lease costs, prepaid property taxes and acquired above market leases. 
Capitalized lease costs are incremental direct costs incurred which were essential to originate a successful Leasing arrangement 
and would not have been incurred had the leasing transaction not taken place. These costs include third party commissions 
related to obtaining a lease. Capitalized lease costs are amortized over the initial life of the related lease which generally ranges 
from three to ten years. We view these lease costs as part of the up-front initial investment we made in order to generate a long­
term cash inflow and therefore, we classify cash outflows related to leasing costs as an investing activity in our consolidated 
statements of cash flows. If a tenant vacates its space prior to the contractual termination of its lease, the unamortized balance of 
any previously capitalized lease costs are written off. 

Debt Issuance Costs 

Costs related to the issuance of debt instruments are deferred and are amortized as interest expense over the estimated life of the 
related issue using the straight-line method which approximates the effective interest method. If a debt instrument is paid off 
prior to its original maturity date, the unamortized balance of debt issuance costs are written off to interest ,expense or, if 
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significant, included in "early extinguishment of debt." Debt issuance costs related to our revolving credit facility are classified 
as an asset and are included in "prepaid expenses and other assets" in our consolidated baiance sheets. All other debt issuance 
costs are presented as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the debt liability. 

Derivative Instruments 

We may use derivative instruments to manage exposure to variable interest rate risk. We generally enter into interest rate swaps 
to manage our exposure to variable interest rate risk and treasury locks to manage the risk of interest rates rising prior to the 
issuance of debt. We enter into derivative instruments that qualify as cash flow hedges and do not enter into derivative 
instruments for speculative purposes. 

Interest rate swaps associated with cash flow hedges are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Effectiveness of cash flow 
hedges is assessed both at inception and on an ongoing basis. The effective portion of changes in fair value of the interest rate 
swaps associated with cash flow hedges is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) which is included in accumulated 
other comprehensive income ( loss) on the balance sheet and statement of shareholders' equity. Cash flow hedges become 
ineffective if critical terms of the hedging instrument and the debt instrument do not perfectly match such as notional amounts, 
settlement dates, reset dates, calculation period and SOFR rate. In addition, the default risk of the counterparty is evaluated by 
monitoring tlhe credit worthiness of the counterparty which includes reviewing debt ratings and financial perfonnance. If a cash 
flow hedge is deemed ineffective, the ineffective. portion of changes in fair value of the interest rate swaps associated with cash 
flow hedges is recogruzed in earnings in the period affected. 

At December 31, 2024, we have two interest rate swap agreements that effectively ftx the interest rate on a mortgage payabne 
associated wjth our Hoboken property at 3.67%, and three interest rate swap agreements that effectively fix the interest rate on a 
mortgage payable secured by our Bethesda Row property at a weighted average interest rate of 5.03% through the initial 
maturity date. As of December 31, 2024, our Assembly Row hotel joint venture is a party to two interest rate swap agreements 
that effectively fix the interest rate on I 00% of the joint venture's mortgage debt through May 2025 at 6.39%, and 50% of its 
outstanding debt from June 2025 through May 2028 at 6.03%. All swaps were designated and qualify as cash flow hedges. 
Hedge ineffectiveness has not impacted earnings in 2024, 2023 and 2022. 

Mortgage Notes Receivable 

We have invested in certain mortgage loans that, because of their nature, qualify as loan receivables. At the time of investment, 
we did not intend for the arrangement to be anything other than a financing and did not contemplate a real estate investment. 
We evaluate each investment to determine whether the loan arrangement qualifies as a loan, joint venture or real estate 
investment and the appropriate accounting thereon. Such determination affects our balance sheet classification of these 
investments and the recognition of interest income derived therefrom. 

Mortgage notes receivable are recorded at cost, net of any valuation adjustments. We account for mortgage notes receivable 
using the "expected credit loss" model, and accordingly impairment losses are estimated and recorded for the entire life of the 
loan. Interest income is accrued as earned. Mortgage notes receivable are considered past due based on the contractual terms of 
the note agreement. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the collectability of each mortgage note receivable and update our 
expected credit loss model based on various factors which may include payment history, expected fair value of the collateral 
securing the loan, internal and external credit information and/or economic trends. A loan is considered impaired when it is 
probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due under the existing contractual terms. When a loan is considered 
impaired, the amount of the loss accrual is calculated by comparing the carrying amount of the mortgage note receivable to the 
present value of expected future cash flows. As our loans are collateralized by mortgages, these loans have risk characteristics 
similar to the risks in owning commercial real estate. 

At December 31 , 2024, we had three mortgage notes receivable with an aggregate carrying amount, net of valuation 
adjustments of $9.1 million, and a weighted average interest rate of 11.0% . 

Share Based Compensation 

We grant share based compensation awards to employees and trustees typically in the form of restricted common shares, 
common shares, and options. We measure shar,e based compensation expense based on the grant date fair value of the award 
and recognize the expense ratably over the requisite service period, which is typically the vesting period. See Note 12 to the 
consolidated financial statements for further discussion regarding our share based compensation plans and policies. 
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Va.-iable Interest E ntities 

Certain entities that do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated 
fmancial support from other parties or in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest 
qualify as VIEs. VIEs are required to be consolidated by their primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary of a VIE has both 
the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact economic perfom1ance of the VJE and the obligation to absorb 
losses or the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. 

Our equity method investments in the Assembly Row hotel joint venture, the La Alameda shopping center, the Chandler 
Festival and Chandler Gateway shopping centers, and our mortgage notes receivable are considered variab[e interests in a 
VIE. As we do not control the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of our equity method joint 
ventures or the borrower entities related to our mortgage notes receivable, we are not the primary beneficiary and do not 
consolidate. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our investment in the equity method joint ventures and maximum exposure to 
loss was $29.4 million and $30.9 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our investment in mortgage notes 
receivable and maximum exposure to loss was $9.1 million and $9.2 million, respectively. 

In addition, we have 18 entities that meet the criteria of a VIE in which we hold a variable interest. For each of these entities, 
we control the significant operating decisions and consequently have the power to direct the activities that most significantly 
impact the economic performance of the entities. As we also have the obligation to absorb the majority of the losses and/or the 
right to receive a majority of the benefits for each of these entities, all are consolidated in our fmancial statements. Net real 
estate assets related to VIEs included in our consolidated balance sheets were approximately $1.4 billion and $1.6 billion, as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and mortgages related to Vl Es included in our consolidated balance sheets were 
approximately $186.6 million and $189.3 million, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Redeemable Noncontr·olling Interests 

We have certain non controlling interests that are redeemable for cash upon the occurrence of an event that is not solely in om 
control and th erefore are classified outside of permanent equity. We adjust the carrying amounts of these noncontrolling 
interests that are currently redeemable to redemption value at the balance sheet date. Adjustments to the carrying amount to 
reflect changes in redemption value are recorded as adjustments to additional paid-in capital in shareholders' equity. These 
amounts are classified within the mezzanine section of the consolidated balance sheets. 

The following table provides a rollforward of the redeemable noncontrolling interests: 

Beginning balance 

Net income. 

Contributions 

Other comprehensive income (loss) -change in value of interest rate swaps 

Distributions & redemptions 

Change in redemption value 

Ending balance 

Leases 

$ 

$ 

Yrlll" E nded 

December 31, 

2024 2023 

( In thousands) 

183,363 $ 178,370 

7,022 7,253 

23 (119) 

(8,854) (9,54 1) 

( 1,268) 7,400 

180,286 $ 183,363 

For operating leases where we are the lessee, the related operating lease right of use ("ROU") assets and lease liabilities are 
shown separately on the face of our consolidated balance sheet and reflect the present value of the minimum lease payments. A 
key input in the calculation is the discount rate. As the rate implied in the lease agreements is not readily determinable, we 
utilize our incremental borrowing rate that corresponds to the remaining term of the lease, our credit spread, and an adjustment 
to reflect the collateralized payment terms pres·ent in the lease. Our operating lease agreements may include options to extend 
the lease term or terminate it early. We include options to extend or terminate leases in the ROU operating lease asset and 
liability when it is reasonably certain we will exercise these options. Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the non-cancellable lease term and is included in rental expenses in our consolidated statements of operations. We 
recognize variable lease payments as expense in the period in which they are incurred. We do not record a ROU asset or lease 
liability for leases with terms of less than 12 months. 
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Income Taxes 

We operate in a matmer intended to enable us to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. A REIT that distributes at 
least 90% of its taxable income to its shareholders each year and meets certain other conditions is not taxed on that portion of its 
taxable income which is distributed to its shareholders. Therefore, federal income taxes on our taxable income have been and 
are generally expected to be immaterial. We are obligated to pay state taxes, generally consisting of franchise or gross receipts 
taxes in certain states. Such state taxes also have not been material. 

We have elected to treat certain of our subsidiaries as taxable REIT subs1diaries, which we refer to as a TRS. Jn general, a TRS 
may engage ]n any real estate business and certain non-real estate businesses, subject to certain limitations under the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). A TRS is subject to federal and state income taxes. Our TRS activities have 
not been material. 

With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to U.S. federal , state, and local tax examinations by tax authorities for years 
before 2019. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had no material unrecognized tax benefits. While we currently have no 
material unrecognized tax benefits, as a policy, we recognize penalties and interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits 
as income tax expense. 

Segment Information 

Our primary business is the ownership, management, and redevelopment of retail and mixed-use properties. Our chief executive 
officer is our chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), who regularly reviews operating and financial information for 
commercial and, as applicable, residential components for each property on an individual basis. As a result, each commercial 
and, as applicable, residential component for each property represents an individual operating segment. We evaluate financial 
performance using property operating income ("POI"), a non-GAAP measure which consists of rental income and mortgage 
interest income, less rental expenses and real estate taxes. 

Reconciliation of property operating income to consolidated net income: 

Year Ended Decem be•· 31, 

2024 2023 2022 
(In thousi'IOds) 

Property operating income $ 810,653 $ 769,059 $ 717,596 

General and administrative expense (49,739) (50,707) (52,636) 

Depreciation and amortization (342,598) (321 ,763) (302,409) 

Gain on deconsolidation of VIE 70,374 

Gain on sale of real estate 54,040 9,881 93 ,483 

Other interest income 4,294 4,687 1,072 

Interest expense (175,476) (167,809) (136,989) 

Income from partnerships 3,160 3,869 5,170 

Net income 304,334 247,217 395,66 1 

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (9,126) (10,232) (10,170) 

Net income attributable to the trust $ 295,208 $ 236,985 $ 385,491 

No individual commercial or residential property constitutes more than 10% of our revenues or property operating income and 
we have no operations outside of the United States of America. We do not distinguish or group our operations on a 
geographical basis for purposes of allocation of resources or capital. Therefore, we have aggregated our properties into one 
reportable segment as the properties share similar long-term economic characteristics and have other similarities including the 
fact that they are operated using consistent business strategies and are typ ically located in major metropolitan areas. 

We do not present significant expense disclosures for our reportable segment as operating segment level expenses are not 
regularly provided to our CODM. However, a breakout of the principal components of rental expense can be found in Note 11 
to the consolidated fmancial statements and real estate tax expense is presented on the face of the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

We do not present a reconciliation of our reportable segment's assets to consolidated assets, as asset information by operating 
segment is not used by our CODM to allocate resources and capital or assess performance. 
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Forward Equity Sales 

Our at-the-market ("ATM") equity program allows shares to be sold through forward sales contracts. Our forward sales 
contracts currently meet all the conditions for equity classification; and therefore, we record common stock on the settlement 
date at the purchase price contemplated by the ·contract. Furthermore, we consider the potential dilution resulting from forward 
sales contracts in our earnings per share calculations. We use the treasury stock method to determine the dilution, if any, from 
the forward sales contracts during the period of time prior to settlement. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for 
details of our forward sales transactions. 

Exchangeable Senior Notes 

On January 11, 2024, our Operating Partnership issued $485.0 million aggregate principal amount of3.25% Exchangeable 
Senior Notes due 2029 (the "Notes") in a private placement (see Note 5 for additional information). We account for our Not·es 
in accordance with ASC 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options (after the adoption of ASU 2020-06, Debt - Debt 
and Other Options (Subtopic 4 70-20) and Derivatives and Hedging- Contracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): 
Accounting for Contracts in an Entity's Own Equity (ASU 2020-06)). The embedded exchange feature is e ligible for an 
exception from derivative accounting because it is indexed to our own stock and meets the equity classification under ASC 
815-40; therefore, the exchange feature is not bifurcated. At each reporting period, we calculate the effect of the Notes on om 
dilutive earnings per common share and per common unit using the if-converted method. In connection with the Notes, we 
entered into privately negotiated capital call transactions with certain of the initial purchasers of the notes or their affi liates or 
other fmancial institutions. Similar to the exchange feature embedded in the Notes, the capped call transactions meet all the 
conditions for equity classification, and therefore, the related premiums paid are recorded in shareholders' equity for the Trust 
and capital for the Operating Partnership. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

Standard 

Adopted during 2024: 

ASU 2023-0 I , March 2023, 
Leases ([opic 842) Common 
Control Arrangements 

Des£ription 

This ASU requires all lessees in a lease with a lessor 
under common control to (I) amortize leasehold 
improvements over lheir useful life to lhe common 
control group, as long as the lessee controls the use 
of the underlying asset through a lease and (2) 
account for the Leasehold improvements as a transfer 
of assets between entities under common control 
through an adjustment to equity when the lessee no 
longer controls the use of the underlying as.set. 

The guidance may be applied prospectively to new 
and existing leasehold improvements, with the 
remaining balance of existing leasehold 
improvements amortized over their remaining useful 
life to the conun on control group or retrospectively, 
through a cumulative-effect adjustment to opening 
retained earnings. 

The guidance is effective in fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2023, and interim periods 
withing those fiscal years. Early adoption is 
permitted. 
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E ffect on the financial s ta tements or 
signifi£ant matters 

We adopted this ASU as of Janumy I, 2024. 
The implementation ofthis ASU did not 
have an impact on our consolidated financial 
statements. 



Stand ard 

ASU 2023-07, November 
2023, Segment Reporting 
(Topic 280), Improvements to 
Reportable Segment 
Disclosures 

Issued in 2014 and 2025: 

ASU 2024-03, November 
2024, and ASU 2025-0 1, 
January 2025, Income 
Statement- Reporting 
Comprehensive Income -
Expense Disaggregation 
Disclosures (Subtopic 
220-40) 

ASU 2024-04, November 
2024, Debt- Debt with 
Conversion and Other 
Options (Subtopic 470-20), 
Induced Conversions of 
Convertible Debt Instruments 

Description 

Tltis ASU requires public entities to provide 
disclosures of significant segment expense and other 
significant segment items, as well as provide in 
interim period all disclosures about a reportable 
segments's profit or loss and assets that are cunently 
requ ired annually. Additionally, public entities with a 
s ing le reportable segn1ent have to provide a ll of the 
disclosures required by ASC 280, including the 
s ignificant segment expense disclosures. 

The guidance is applied retrospectively to a ll periods 
presented in financial statements, unless it is 
impracticable. T he guidance applies to all public 
entities and is etfective tor fisca l years beginn ing 
after December 15, 2023, and for interim period 
begim1ing after December 15, 2024. Early adoption 
is permitted. 

This ASU requires the disaggregation of specific natural 
expense categories within relevant income statement 
captions. Public business entities are required to provide 
tabular disclosures which disaggregate expenses such as 
purchases of inventory, employee compensation, 
depreciation and amortization. A separate total of an 
entity's selling expenses is also required, along with the 
disclosure of how the company detennines them. 

The g11idance is required to be applied prospectively, 
but may be applied retrospectively for annual reporting 
periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim 
periods within annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15 2027. Early adoption is permitted. 

This ASU clarifies the requirements for determining 
whether to account for certain early settlements of 
convertible debt instruments as induced conversions. 
The guidance requires that an induced conversion 
include the issuance of all consideration issuable under 
the conversion privileges provided in the terms of the 
existing instrument. An entity that doesn't meet all of 
the criteria applies extinguishment accounting and 
recognizes a gain or loss for the difference between the 
fair value of the entire considerat.ion transfened and the 
net carrying amount of the debt. 

Entities have the option to apply the guidance either ( 1) 
prospectively to settlements of convertible debt 
instmments that occur during fiscal years (and interim 
periods within those fiscal years) beginning after the 
effective date or (2) retrospectively. Under the 
retrospective transition approach, the entity recasts prior 
periods and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment 
to equity as of the later of the beginning of the earliest 
period presented or the date the entity adopted ASU 
2020-06. This is effective for all entities for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2025, and interim periods 
within those fiscal years. 
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Effect on the financial statements or 
significant matte1·s 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we 
have provided disclosmes as required by 
ASC 280 in Note 2 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We are assessing the impact of this ASU on 
our consolidated financial statements. 

We are assessing the impact of this ASU on 
our consolidated financial statements. 



Effect on the financial statements or 
Standard Description significant matte•·s 

----~-------------------------------Issued in 2013: 

ASU 2023-06, October 2023, 
Disclosure improvements: 
Codification Amendments in 
Response to lhe SEC's 
Disclosure Update and 
Simplification initiative 

Tlus ASU amends the disclosure or presentation 
requirements related to various subtopics in the 
F ASB Accounting Standard Codification (the 
"Codification"). The new guidance is intended to 
align U.S. GAAP requirements with those of the 
SEC and to faci litate the application of U.S.. GAAP 
for all entities_ These disclosure requirements are 
currently included in either SEC Regulation S-X or 
SEC Regulation S-K. 

The effective date for each amendment will be the 
date on which the SEC's removal of that related 
disclosure from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K 
becomes effective. Early adoption is prohibited and 
the amendments should be applied prospectively. If 
the SEC has not removed the applicable requirement 
from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K by June 30, 
2027, the amendments will be removed from the 
Codification and will not be effective. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows-Supplemental DiscJosures 

We do not expect this ASU to have a material 
impact on our consolidated financial 
statements. 

The following table provides supplemental disclosmes related to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows: 

Year Ended Decembe•· 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES: 

Total interest costs incurred $ 195,958 $ 190,409 $ 155,659 

Interest capitalized (20,482) (22,600) (18,670) 
Interest expense $ 175,476 $ 167,809 $ 136,989 

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 169,333 $ 158,796 $ 130,912 
Cash paid for income taxes $ 177 $ 284 $ 624 

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING TRANSACTIONS: 

DownREIT operating partnership units redeemed for common shares $ 1,715 $ 883 $ 1,385 
Shares issued under dividend reinvestment plan $ 1,670 $ 1,704 $ 1,718 

5.417% Series I Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares redeemed for 
common shares $ $ $ 175 

December 31, 

2024 2023 

(In thousands) 

RECONCILlA TION OF CASH, CASH EQUlV ALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH: 
Cash an d cash equivalents $ 123,409 $ 250,825 
Restricted cash ( 1) 12,034 9,179 
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 135,443 $ 260,004 

(1) Restricted cash balances are included in "prepaid expenses and other assets" on our consolidated balance sheets, and is 
primarily related to escrow accounts. 

NOTE 3- REAL ESTATE 

2024 Property Acquisitions 

On May 31, 2024, we acquired the fee interest in Virginia Gateway, which is comprised of live adjacent shopping centers in 
Gainesville, Virginia, totaling 664,000 square feet, for $215.0 million. Approximately $2 I .I million and $0.4 million of net 
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assets acquired were allocated to other assets for "acquired lease costs" ru1d "above market leases," respectively, and $13.3 
million of net assets acquired were allocated to other liabilities for "below market leases." 

On July 31 , 2024, we acquired the fee interest in Pinole Vista Crossing, a 2 16,000 square foot retail shopping center in Pinole, 
California foT $60.0 million. Approximately $5.7 million of net assets acquired were allocated to other assets for "acquired 
lease costs," and $4.0 million of net assets acquired were allocated to other liabilities for "below market leases." 

2024 PrOJlerty DiSJlOsition 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold our Third Street Promenade property and a portion of our White Marsh 
Other property for sales prices totaling $106.8 million, resulting in a gain on sale of $53.8 million. 

2023 Pro(Jerty Acquisitions 

On January 31, 2023, we acquired the 168,000 square foot portion of Huntington Square shopping center that was not 
previously owned, as well as the fee interest in the land undemeath the portion of the shopping center which we controlled 
under a long-term ground lease for $35.5 million. As a result of this transaction, we now own the entire fee interest in this 
243,000 square foot property and the "operating lease right of use assets, net" on our consolidated balance sheet decreased by 
$5.3 million. Approximately $4.1 million and $1.3 million of net assets acquired were allocated to other assets for "acquired 
lease costs" and "above market leases," respectively. 

On May 26, 2023, we exercised our option and acquired the 22.3% tenancy in common ("TIC") interest from our co-owner at 
Escondido Promenade, as discussed in our 2023 Form I 0-K, for $30.5 million, bringing our ownership interest to I 00%. As a 
result of the transaction, we gained control of this property, and effective May 26, 2023, we have consolidated this property. 
Approximately $1.8 million and $0.2 million of net assets associated with the 22.3% interest acquired were allocated to other 
assets for "acquired lease costs" and "above market leases," respectively, and $ 1. 1 million of net assets associated with the 
22.3% interest acquired were allocated to other liabilities for "below market leases." 

On October 12, 2023, we acquired the fee interest under a portion of our Mercer on One (formerly Mercer Mall) shopping 
center for $55.0 million pursuant to the purchase option included in the master lease. As a result of this transaction, "finance 
lease right of use assets, net" of $37.8 million were allocated to "operating real estate" and "fmance lease liabilities" decreased 
by $55.0 mi11ion. 

2023 Property Dispositions 

During the year ended December 31 , 2023, we sold our Town Center of New Britain property and a portion of our Third Street 
Promenade property for sales prices totaling $30.4 million, resulting in net gains totaling approximately $9.7 million. 

NOTE 4-ACQUIRED LEASES 

Acquired lease assets compris.e of above market leases where we are the lessor and below market leases where we are the 
Jessee. Acquired lease liabilities comprise of below market leases where we are the lessor and above market leases where we 
are the lessee. As a lessor, acquired above market leases are included in prepaid expenses and other assets, and acquired below 
market leases are included in other liabilities and deferred credits. In accordance with our adoption of ASC Topic 842, acqu:ired 
below market leases and acqujred above market leases where we are the lessee are included in right of use assets. The following 
is a summary of our acquired lease assets and liabilities: 

Decembct· 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 
Accumulated Accumulated 

Cost Amot·tization Cost Amortization 
(m thoustmds) 

Above market leases, lessor $ 42,171 $ (34,046) $ 45,726 $ (35,209) 

Below market leases, lessee 28,101 (6, 145) 28,101 (5,411) 

Total $ 70,272 $ {40,191~ $ 73,827 $ {40,620~ 

Below market leases, lessor $ (277,883) $ 111,719 $ (269,268) $ 104,072 

Above market leases, lessee ( II ,127) 4,333 (11 ,127) 3,771 

Total $ {289,010~ $ 116,052 $ {280,3952 $ 107,843 
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The value allocated to acquired leases where we are the lessor is amortized over the related lease tenn and reflected as 
additional rental income for below market leases or a reduction of rental income for above market leases in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income. The related amortization of acquired leases where we are the lessee is reflected as 
additional rental expense for below market leases or a reduction of rental expenses for above market leases in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income. The following is a summary of acquired lease amortization: 

Year Ended Decembe•· 31, 

2024 2023 2022 
(in thousands) 

AmortiLation or abovt: market leases, lessor $ (2,799) $ (3,254) $ (3,437) 

Amortization of below market leases, lessor 16,290 15,864 14,543 

Net increase in rental income $ 13,491 $ 12,610 $ 11 ,106 

Amortization of below market leases, lessee $ 734 $ 742 $ 828 

Amortization of above market leases, lessee (562) (563) (554) 

Net increase in rental expense $ 172 $ 179 $ 274 

The following is a summary of the remaining weighted average amortization period for our acquired lease assets and acquired 
lease liabilities: 

Above market leases, lessor 

Below market leases, lessee 

Below market leases, lessor 

Above market leases, lessee 

December 31,2024 

2.5 years 

30.0 years 

16.6 years 

17.1 years 

The amortization for acquired leases during the next five years and thereafter, assuming no early lease tenninations, is as 
follows: 

Acquired Lease Acquired Lease 
Assets L i11bilities 

(In thousands) 

Year ending December 31 , 

2025 $ 2,497 $ 12,868 

2026 2,232 12,423 
2027 1,937 11,924 
2028 1,558 II , 104 

2029 1,332 10,120 
Thereafter 20,525 114,519 

$ 30 081 $ 172 958 
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NOTE5--D EBT 

The following is a sununary of our total debt outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
Pt·incipal Balance as of Stated Intet·est Stated Matut·ity Date 

December 3.1 , Rate as of as of 
Desuiption of Debt 2024 2023 D<:cember 31, 2024 Decembet· 31, 2024 

Mortgages payable (Dollars in thousands) 

Azalea $ 40,000 $ 40,000 3.73% November 1, 202S 
Bethesda Row (I) 200,000 200,000 SOFR + 0.9S% December 28, 202S 
Bell Gardens 11 ,21S li ,S3 1 4.06% August 1, 2026 
Plaza El Segundo J 2S,OOO 12S,OOO 3.83% JuneS, 2027 
The Grove at Shrewsbury (East) 43,600 43,600 3.77% September I, 2027 
Brook 35 ll ,SOO ll ,SOO 4.6S% July 1, 2029 
Hoboken (24 Buildings) (2) S2,123 S3,617 SOFR + L9S% December IS, 2029 
Various Hoboken (14 Buildings)(3) 28,838 29,878 Various Various through 2029 
Chelsea 3,S68 4,018 S.36% January IS, 2031 

Subtotal S I S,844 Sl9,144 
Net unamortized debt issuance costs and 
discount (1 ,466) (2,208) 

Total mortgages payable, net S14,378 Sl6,936 
Notes payable 

Tenn Loan (4)(6) 600,000 600,000 SOFR + 0.8S% Aprill6, 202S 
Revolving credit facility (4)(S)(6) SOFR + 0.77S% April S, 2027 
Various 1,680 2,387 Various Various through 2059 

Subtotal 601,680 602,387 
Net unamortized debt issuance costs (266) (442) 

Total notes payable, net 601,414 601 ,94S 
Senior notes and debentures (6) 

3.95% notes 600,000 3.95% January 15, 2 024 
1.2S% notes 400,000 400,000 1.25 % February 15, 2026 
7.48% debentures 29,200 29,200 7.48% August IS, 2026 
3.2S% notes 475,000 47S,OOO 3.25% July IS, 2027 
6.82% medium term notes 40,000 40,000 6.82% August 1, 2027 
S.37S% notes 3SO,OOO 3SO,OOO S.37S% May I, 2028 
3.2S% exchangeable notes 48S,OOO 3.2S% January IS, 2029 
3.20% notes 400,000 400,000 3.20% June 15, 2029 
3.SO% notes 400,000 400,000 3.50% June I , 2030 
4.SO% notes SSO,OOO SSO,OOO 4.SO% December I, 2044 
3.62S% notes 2SO,OOO 250,000 3.625% August 1, 2046 

Subtotal 3,379,200 3,494,200 
Net unamortized debt issuance costs and 
premmm (21,360) (13,904) 

Total senior notes and debentures, net 3,357,840 3,480,296 

Total debt $ 4,473,632 $ 4,599,177 

( I) The interest rate on this mortgage loan is fixed at a weighted average interest rate of 5.03% through the initial maturity 
date through three interest rate swap agreements. We have two one-year extensions, at our option to extend the 
maturity date of this mortgage loan to December 28, 2027. 

(2) The interest rate on this mortgage loan is fiXed at 3.67% through two interest rate swap agreements. 

(3) The interest rates on these mortgages range from 3.91% to 5.00%. 

(4) Our revolving credit facility SOFR loans bear interest at Daily Simple SOFR or Tenn SOFR and our term loan bears 
interest at Tenn SOFR as defined in the respective credit agreements, plus 0.1 0%, plus a spread, based on our current 
credit rating. 

(5) The maximum amount drawn under our revolving credit facility during the year ended December 31, 2024 was $202.7 
miltiion and the weighted average interest rate on borrowings under our revolving credit facility, before amortization of 
debt fees, was 6. I%. 
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(6) The Operating Partnership is the obligor under our revolving credit facility, term loan, and senior notes and 
debentures. Effective April!, 2024, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership guarantees the term loan. 

On January L I , 2024, our Operating Partnership issued $485.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.25% Exchangeable 
Senior Notes due 2029 (the "Notes") in a private placement. The notes bear interest at an annual rate of 3.25%, payable 
semiannually in arrears on January 15th and July 15th of each year, beginning July 15, 2024. The notes mature on January 15, 
2029, unless earlier exchanged, purchased, or redeemed. Net proceeds after the initial purchaser's discount and offering costs 
were approximately $471.5 mill ion. Interest expense, including $2.6 million of debt issuance cost amortization, was 
$17.9 million related to these Notes for the year ended December 31, 2024. Including the debt issuance cost amortization, the 
current effective interest rate on these notes is approximately 3.9%. The unamortized debt issuance costs related to the Notes 
were $10.9 million at December 31,2024. 

Prior to the close of business on July 15, 2028, the Notes will be exchangeable at the option of the holders only upon certain 
circumstances and during certain periods. On or after July 15, 2028, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading 
day immediately preceding the maturity date of the Notes, holders may exchange their Notes at any time. The Operating 
Partnership will settle exchanges of the Notes by delivering cash up to the principal amount of the Notes exchanged, and if 
applicable, cash, common shares of the Trust, or a combination thereof at our option, in respect of the remainder, if any, of the 
exchange obligation in excess of the principal amount. If we elect to settle any portion of the exchange obligation in excess ·of 
the principal amount with shares of the Trust, an equivalent number of common units will be issued by the Operating 
Partnership to the Trust. The exchange rate initially equals 8.1436 common shares per $1 ,000 principal amount of the Notes 
(which is equivalent to an exchange price of approximately $122.80 per common share and reflects an exchange premium of 
approximately 20% based on the closing price of $102.33 on January 8, 2024). The initial exchange rate is subject to 
adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events, including in the event of a payment of a quarterly common dividend in excess 
of$1.09 per share, but will not be adjusted for .any accrued and unpaid interest. While our quarterly common dividend per share 
currently exceeds $1.09, the exchange rate has not materially changed. 

The Operating Partnership may redeem the NoLes, at its option, in whole or in part, on or after January 20,2027 if the last 
reported sales price of the common shares has been at least 130% of the exchange price then in effect for at least 20 trading 
days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 day consecutive trading period (including the last trading day of such period) 
ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the Operating Partnership provides notice of 
redemption. The redemption price will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and 
unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding the redemption date. 

In connection with the Notes, we entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain of the initial purchasers 
of the notes or their affiliates or other financial institutions. The capped call transactions cover, subject to customary 
adjustments, the number of our common shares that initially underlie the Notes. The capped call transactions are expected 
generally to reduce the potential dilution to our common shares upon exchange of any Notes and/or offset any cash payments 
we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of the Notes, with such reduction and/or offset su~ject to a cap. The 
cap price of the capped call transaction initially is approximately $143.26 per share, whiclh represents a premium of 
approximately 40% over the last reported sale price of our common shares of $102.33 on the New York Stock Exchange on 
January 8, 2024, and is subject to certain adjustments under the terms of the capped call transactions. A portion of the proceeds 
from the Notes were used to pay the capped call premium of $19.4 million, which will be recorded in shareholders' equity for 
the Trust and capital for the Operating Partnership. 

On January 16, 2024, we repaid the $600.0 million 3.95% senior unsecured notes at maturity. 

On February 6, 2024, we exercised our first option and extended the maturity date of our $600.0 million unsecured term loan to 
April 16, 2025, with an additional one year extension at our option still available to further extend the loan to April 16, 2026. 

During 2024, 2023 and 2022, the maximum amount of borrowings outstanding under our revolving credit facil ity was $202.7 
million, $115.5 million and $330.0 million, respectively. The weighted average amount ofbonowings outstanding was $33.5 
million, $44.7 million and $80.3 million, respectively, and the weighted average interest rate, before amortization of debt fe.es, 
was 6.1 %, 5.9% and 3.2%, respectively. The revolving credit facility requires an annual facility fee which is $1.9 million under 
the amended credit agreement. At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, our revolving credit facility had no balance 
outstanding. 

Our revolving credit facility, term loan, and certain notes require us to comply with various financial covenants, including the 
maintenance of minimum shareholders' equity and debt coverage ratios and a maximum ratio of debt to net worth. As of 
December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with all default related debt covenants. 
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Scheduled principal payments on mortgages payable, notes payable, senior notes and debentures as of December 31 , 2024 are 
as follows: 

Mo•·tgnges Notes Senior Notes and Total 
Payable Payable Debentures Principal 

(In thousnnds) 

Year ending December 31 , 

2025 $ 247,592 ( I ) $ 600,538 (2) $ $ 848,130 

2026 26,282 99 429,200 455,581 
2027 178,282 43 (3) 515,000 693,325 

2028 2,511 350,000 352,511 

2029 60,434 885,000 945,434 

Thereafter 743 1,000 1,200,000 1,201,743 

$ 515,844 $ 601,680 $ 3,379,200 $ 4,496,724 (4) 

(1) Our $200.0 million mortgage loan secured by Bethesda Row matures on December 28, 2025 plus two one-year extensions, 
at our option to December 28,2027. 

(2) Our $600.0 million term loan matures on April 16, 2025, plus one one-year extension at our option to April 16, 2026. 
(3) Our $ 1.25 billion revolving credit facility matures on April 5, 2027 plus two six-month extensions, at our option to April 5, 

2028. As of December 31 , 2024, there was no balance outstanding under this credit facility. 
(4) The total debt maturities differ from the total reported on the consolidated balance sheet due to the unamortized net debt 

issuance costs and premium/discount on mortgage loans, notes payable, and senior notes as of December 31 , 2024. 

NOTE 6--FAfR VALUE OF FI NANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

A fair value measurement is based on the assumptions that market particjpants would use in pricing an asset or liability in an 
orderly transaction. The hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value are as follows: 

I. Level I Inputs-quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

2. Level 2 Inputs-Qbservable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities 

3. Level3 Inputs-prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value 
measurement and unobservable 

ln certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarclhy.ln such cases, for 
disclosure purposes, the level within which the fair value measurement is categorized is based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement. 

Except as disclosed below, the carrying amount of our financial instruments approximates their fair value. The fair value of our 
mortgages payable, notes payable and senior notes and debentures is sensitive to fluctuations in interest rates. Quoted market 
prices (Level I) were used to estimate the fair value of our marketable senior notes and debentures and discounted cash flow 
analysis (Level 2) is generally used to estimate the fair value of our mortgages and notes payable. Considerable judgment is 
necessary to estimate the fair value of financial instruments. The estimates of fair value presented herein are not necessarily 
indicative of the amounts that could be realized upon disposition of the fmancial instruments. A summary of the carrying 
amount and fair value of our mortgages payable, notes payable and senior notes and debentures is as follows: 

Decem bet· 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Can ·ying 
Value Fait· Value 

Can·yi11g 
Value Fait· Valu e 

(h1 thousands) 

Mortgages and notes payable .......................................... $ 1,115,792 $ 1,098,271 $ 1,118,881 $ 1' 101,479 
Senior notes and debentures ...... $ 2,883,713 $ 2,645,097 $ 3,480,,296 $ 3,201,174 

Exchangeable senior notes •••••••••••••••••••••••••• 00 $ 474, 127 $ 495,510 $ $ 

As of December 31 , 2024, we have five interest rate swap agTeements with total notional amounts of $252. I million that are 
measured at fai r value on a recurring basis. We have two interest rate swap agreements associated with our Hoboken portfolio 
that fix the interest rate on $52.1 million of mortgage payables at 3.67% through December 15, 2029. We also have three 
interest rate swap agreements associated with our Bethesda Row property that fix the interest rate on a $200.0 million mortgage 
payable at a weighted average interest rate of 5.03% through December 28, 2025. 
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The fair values of the interest rate swap agreements are based on the estimated amounts we would receive or pay to terminate 
the contracts at the reporting date and are determined using interest rate pricing models and interest rate related observable 
inputs. The fair value of our swaps at December 31 , 2024 was an asset of $5.2 million and is included in "prepaid expenses and 
other assets" on our consolidated balance sheet. During 2024, the value of our interest rate swaps increased $0.5 million 
(including $4.1 million reclassified from other comprehensive income as a decrease to interest expense). A summary of our 
financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, by level within the fair value hierarchy is as follows: 

Oecembel" 31,2024 Decem bel" 31, 2023 

Levell Level 2 Level 3 Total Levell Lcvcl2 L cvcl3 Total 

(Jn thousands) 

Interest rate swaps $ $ 5,208 $ $ 5,208 $ $ 4 ,668 $ - $ 4,668 

One of our equity method investees has two interest rate swaps which qualify as cash flow hedges. At December 31, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023, our share of the change in fair value of the related swaps included in "accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss)" was income of$0.2 million and a loss of$0.3 million, respectively. 

NOTE 7-COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

We are sometimes involved in lawsuits, warranty claims, and environmental matters arising in the ordinary course of business. 
Management makes assumptions and estimates concerning the likelihood and amount of any potential loss relating to these 
matters. 

We are currently a party to various legal proceedings. We accrue a liability for litigation if an unfavorable outcome is probable 
and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. If an unfavorable outcome is probable and a reasonable estimate of the loss 
is a range, we accrue the best estimate within the range; however, if no amount within the range is a better ,estimate than any 
other amount, the minimum within the range is accrued. Legal fees related to litigation are expensed as incurred. We do not 
believe that Lhe ultimate outcome of these mauers, either individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect 
on our financial position or overall trends in results of operations; however, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties. Also 
under our leases, tenants are typically obligated to indemnify us from and against all liabilities, costs and expenses imposed 
upon or asserted against us (1) as owner of the properties due to certain matters relating to the operation of the properties by the 
tenant, and (2) where appropriate, due to certain matters relating to the ownership of the properties prior to their acquisition by 
us. 

We are self-insured for general liability costs up to predetermined retained amounts per claim, and we believe that we maintain 
adequate accruals to cover our retained liability. We currently do not maintain third party stop-loss insurance policies to cover 
liability costs in excess ofpredetennined retained amounts. Our accrual for self-insurance liability is determined by 
management and is based on claims filed and an estimate of claims incurred but not yet reported. Management considers a 
number offactors, including third-party actuarial analysis, previous experience in our portfolio, and future increases in costs of 
claims, when making these determinations. If our liability costs exceed these accruals, it will reduce our net income. 

At December 31, 2024 and 2023 , our reserves for general liability costs were $4.4 million and $3.5 million, respectively, and 
are included in "accounts payable and accrued expenses" in our consolidated balance sheets. Any potential losses which exceed 
our estimates would result in a decrease in our net income. During 2024 and 2023, we made payments from these reserves of 
$2.1 million and $2.0 million, respectively. Although we consider the reserve to be adequate, there can be no assurance that the 
reserve will prove to be adequate over-time to cover losses due to the difference between the assumptions used to estimate the 
reserve and actual losses. 

On April 1, 2024, we acquired the approximately 10% noncontrolling interest in the partnership that owns our Coco Walk 
property for $12.4 million, bringing our ownership to I 00%. 

During the third quarter of 2024, the term of our ground lease for our Kings Court property expired. 

On December 11, 2019, we received proceeds related to the sale under threat of condemnation at San Antonio Center as 
discussed in our Annual Report on Form I 0-K for the year ended December 31 , 2019. We indemnified the condemning 
authority for all costs incurred related to the condemnation proceedings including any payments required to tenants at the 
property and recorded a corresponding liability for our estimate of these costs. During 2022, we recorded a net reduction of our 
liability for condemnation and transaction costs to reflect the impact of tenant settlement and our current estimate of remaining 
costs. As a result, for the year ended December 31 , 2022, we recognized a gain of$9.3 million. During 2023 and 2022, we 
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incurred $1.4 million and $18.0 million, respectively, of payments to tenants. We incurred no costs during 2024. At December 
31, 2024, we have a liability of $3.6 million to reflect our estimate of the remaining costs. 

In 2018, we fonned a new joint venture to develop Freedom Plaza, a grocery anchored shopping center in Los Angeles County, 
California. We own approximately 92% of the venture. The development generated income tax credits under the New Market 
Tax Credit Program ("NMTC"), which was provided for in the Community Renewal Tax Relief Act of2000 ("the Act") and is 
intended to induce investment in underserved areas in the United States. The Act permits taxpayers to claim credits against their 
Federal income taxes for qualified investments. A third party bank contributed $ 13.9 million in 2018 to the development, and is 
entitled to the related tax credit benefits, but they do not have an interest in the underlying economics of the property. The 
transaction also includes a put/call provision whereby we may be obligated or entitled to purchase the third party bank's interest. 
We believe the put will be exercised at its $1 ,000 strike price. Based on our assessment of control, we concluded that the project 
and certain other transaction related entities should be consolidated. The $13.9 million received in exchange for the transfer of 
the tax credits was deferred and will be recognized when the tax benefits are delivered to the third party bank without risk of 
recapture. Ditrect and incremental costs of $1 .6 million incurred in structuring the NMTC transaction have also been deferred. 
The Trust anticipates recognizing the net cash received as revenue upon completion of the seven-year NMTC compliance 
period. 

At December 31, 2024, we had letters of credit outstanding of approximately $5.9 million. 

As of December 31, 2024 in connection with capital improvement, development, and redevelopment projects, we have 
contractual obligations of approximately $252.4 million. 

We are obligated under operating lease agreements on several shopping centers and one office lease requiring minimum annual 
payments as follows, as of December 31 , 2024: 

Year ending December 31, 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

Thereafter 

Total future minimum operating lease payments 

Less amount representing interest 

Operating lease liabilities 

(In thousands) 

$ 5,895 

5,602 

5,325 

5,389 

5,422 

189,447 

217,080 

(142,243) 

$ 74,837 

Future minimum lease payments and their pres·ent value for properties under finance leases as of December 31 , 2024, are as 
follows: 

(In thousands) 

Year ending December 3 I , 

2025 $ 713 
2026 713 
2027 748 

2028 801 
2029 801 
Thereafter 67,074 

Total future minimum finance lease payments 70,850 
Less amount representing interest (58,067) 

Finance lease liabilities $ 12,783 
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Under the terms of the Congressional Plaza partnership agreement, a minority partner has the right to require us and the other 
minority partner to purchase its 26.63% interest in Congressional Plaza at the interest's then-current fair market value. If the 
other minority partner defaults in their obligation, we must purchase the full interest. Based on management's current estimate 
of fair market value as of December 31, 2024, our estimated maximum liability upon exercise of the put option would range 
from approximately $60 million to $63 million. 

A master lease for Melville Mall, as amended on October 14, 2021 , includes a fixed price put option at any time prior to June 
30, 2025, requiring us to purchase Melville Mall for approximately $3.6 million. Additionally, we have the right to purchase 
Melville Mall in 2026 for approximately $3.6 million. The consideration is net of a contract amendment fee to be paid by the 
landlord. 

The other member in The Gro·ve at Shrewsbury and Brook 35 has the right to require us to purchase all of its approximately 
4.1% interest in The Grove at Shrewsbury and approximately 6.5% interest in Brook 35 at the interests' then-current fair market 
value. Based on management's current estimate of fair market value as of December 31, 2024, our estimated maximum liability 
upon exercise of the put option would range from $8 million to $9 million. 

The other member in Hoboken has the right to require us to purchase all of its 10.0% ownership interest at the interest's then­
current fair market value. Based on management's CUITent estimate of fair market value as. of December 31, 2024, our estimated 
maximum liability upon exercise of the put option would range from $ 11 million to $12 million. 

Effective June 14, 2026, the other member in Camelback Colonnade and The Shops at Hilton Village has the right to require us 
to purchase all of its 2.0% ownership interest at the interest's then-current fair market value. Based on management's current 
estimate of fair value as of December 31 , 2024, our estimated maximum liability upon exercise of the put option would range 
from $4 million to $5 million. 

Effective October 6, 2027, the other member in the partnership that owns equity method investments in Chandler Festival and 
Chandler Gateway has the right to require us to purchase its 2.5% net ownership interest. Based on management's current 
estimate of fair value as of December 31 , 2024, our estimated maximum liability upon exercise of the put option would range 
from $1 million and $2 million. 

Effective June I , 2029, the other member in Grossmont Center has the right to require us to purchase all of its 40.0% ownership 
interest at the interest's then-current fair market value. Based on management's current estimate of fair valll!e as of December 31 , 
2024, our estimated maximum liability upon exercise of the put option would range from $68 million to $73 million. 

Under the terms of certain partnership agreements, the partners have the right to exchange their operating partnership units for 
cash or the same number of our common shares, at our option. A total of 608,348 downREIT operating partnership units are 
outstanding which have a total fair value of$68.1 million, based on our closing stock price on December 31, 2024. 

NOTE &----SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

We have a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (the "Plan"), whereby shareholders may use their dividends and optional cash 
payments to purchase shares.Jn 2024, 2023 and 2022, 18, I 01 shares, 19,847 shares, and 19,502 shares, res.pectively, were 
issued under the Plan. 

As of December 31 , 2024, 2023, and 2022, we had 6,000,000 Depositary Shares outstanding, each representing I I I OOOth 
interest of 5.0% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Share, par value $0.0 I per share ("Series C Preferred Shares"), at 
the liquidation preference of$25.00 per depositary share (or $25,000 per Series C Preferred share). The Series C Preferred 
Shares accrue dividends at a rate of 5.0% of the $25,000 liquidation preference per year and are redeemable at our option. 
Additionally, they are not convertible and holders of these shares generally have no voting rights, unless we fail to pay 
dividends for six or more quarters. 

As of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, we had 392,878 shares of 5.417% Series I Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares 
("Series 1 Preferred Shares") outstanding that have a liquidation preference of$25 per share and par value $0.01 per share. The 
Series I Preferred Shares accrue dividends at a rate of 5.4 17% per year and are convertible at any time by the holders to our 
common shares at a conversion rate of $ 104.69 per share. The Series I Preferred Shares are also convertible under certain 
circumstances at our election. The holders of the Series I Preferred Shares have no voting rights. 

On March 8, 2024, we amended our existing at-the-market ("A TM") equity program under which we may from time to time 
offer and sell common shares. This amendment reset the aggregate offering price of the program to $500.0 million. Our ATM 
equity program also allows shares to be sold through forward sales contracts. We intend to use the net proceeds to fund 
potential acquisition opportunities, fund our development and redevelopment pipeline, repay indebtedness and/or for general 
corporate purposes. 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we issued 2,059,654 common shares at a weighted average price per share of$109.20 
for net cash proceeds of$222.3 million including paying $2.2 million in commissions and $0.4 million in additional offering 
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expenses related to the sales o fthese common shares. For the year ended! December 31 , 2023, we issued 1,309,994 common 
shares at a weighted average price per share of $101.74 for net cash proceeds of $131.7 million including paying $1.3 million in 
commissions and $0.2 million in additional offering expenses related to the sales of these common shares. 

We also entered into forward sales contracts for the year ended December 31, 2024 for l ,186, 422 common shares under our 
A TM equity program at a weighted average offering price of$ 115.72. During 2024, we settled a portion of the forward sales 
agreements entered into during the year by issuing 709,925 common shares for net proceeds of $81.7 million. 

The forward price that we will receive upon physical settlement of the agreements is subject to the adjustment for (i) 
commissions, (ii) floating interest rate factor equal to a specified daily rate less a spread, (iii) the forward purchasers' stock 
borrowing costs and (iv) scheduled dividends during the term of the forward sale agreements. The remaining open forward 
shares may be settled at any time on or before December 2025. As of December 31 , 2024, we have the remaining capacity to 
issue up to $ 144.4 million in common shares under our A TM equity program. 

Effective May 4, 2023, our Declaration ofTrust was amended to increase the number of authorized common shares of 
beneficial interest to 200,000,000. 

NOTE 9-DIVIDENDS 

The following table provides a summary of dividends declared and paid per share: 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

Declared Paid Declared Paid Declared Paid 

Common shares $ 4.380 $ 4.370 $ 4.340 $ 4.330 $ 4.300 $ 4.290 

5.417% Series I Cumulative Convertible Preferred shares $ 1.354 $ 1.354 $ 1.354 $ 1.354 $ 1.354 $ 1.354 

5.0% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred shares ( I) $ 1.250 $ 1.250 $ 1.250 $ 1.250 $ 1.250 $ 1.250 

(1) Amount represents dividends per depositary share, each representing 111 OOOth of a share. 

A summary of the income tax status of dividends per share paid is as follows: 

Common shares 

Ordinary dividend 

Capital gain 

Return of capital 

5.417% Series I Cumulative Convertible Preferred shares 

Ordinary dividend 

Capital gain 

5.0% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred shares 

Ordinary dividend 

Capital gain 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

3.583 $ 

0.656 

0.13 1 

4.370 $ 

1.151 $ 

0.203 

].354 $ 

1.063 $ 

0.187 

1.250 $ 

3.551 $ 

0.130 

0.649 

3.518 

0.772 

4.330 =$======4=.2=90= 

1.313 $ 1.110 

0.041 0.244 

1.354 =$=====1=.3=54= 

1.213 1.025 

0.037 0.225 

1.250 =$=====1=.2=50= 

On October 30, 2024, the Trustees declared a quarterly cash dividend of $ 1.10 per common share, payable January 15, 2025 to 
common shareholders of record on January 2, 2025. 

NOTE 10- LEASES 

At December 31 , 2024, our I 02 predominantly retail shopping center and mixed-use properties are located in I 2 states and the 
District of Columbia. There are approximately 3,500 commercial leases and 3, l 00 residential leases. Our commercial tenants 
range from sole proprietorships to national retailers and corporations. At December 31 , 2024, no one tenant or corporate group 
of tenants accounted for more than 2.6% of annualized base rent. 

Our leases with commercial property and residential tenants are classified as operating leases. Commercial property leases 
generally range from three to ten years (certain leases with anchor tenants may be longer), and in addition to minimum rents, 
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may provide for percentage rents based on the tenant's level of sales ach1eved and cost recoveries for the tenant's share of 
certain operating costs. Leases on apartments are generally for a period of 1 year or Jess. 

As of December 31 , 2024, future minimum rentals from noncancelable commercial operating leases (excluding both tenant 
reimbursements of operating expenses and percentage rent based on tenants' sales) are as follows: 

(ln thousands) 

Year ending December 31, 

2025 $ 775,646 
2026 735,[ 91 
2027 663,562 
2028 565, [00 

2029 473)96 

Thereafter 1,881,620 

$ 5!094!315 

The following table provides additional information on our operating and finance leases where we are the lessee: 

Yea•· Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

LEASE COST: 
Finance lease cost: 

Amortization of right-of-use assets $ 220 $ 998 $ 1,251 
Interest on lease liabilities 825 4,332 5,743 

Operating lease cost 6,048 6,232 6,138 
Variable lease cost 413 348 309 
Total lease cost $ 7,506 $ 11,910 $ 13,441 

OTHER INFORMATION: 
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities 

Operating cash flows for finance leases $ 713 $ 4,227 $ 5,642 
Operating cash flows for operating leases $ 6,276 $ 6,146 $ 5,644 
Financing cash flows for finance leases $ $ 55,228 $ 50 

Decem be•· 3 1, 

2024 2023 

Weighted-average remaining term - finance leases 69.7 years 70.6 years 
Weighted-average remaining term- operating leases 53.2 years 53.6 years 
Weighted-average discount rate- finance leases 6.5% 6.5% 
Weighted-average discount rate- operating leases 4.8% 4.8% 
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NOTE 11-COMPONENTS OF RENTAL EXPENSES 

The principal components of rental expenses are as follows: 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In tbot~sands) 

Repairs and maintenance $ 99,367 $ 87,349 $ 90,343 

Utilities 38,676 35,109 34,226 
Management fees and costs 32,203 30,203 27,416 
Payroll 22,302 20,598 19,693 
Insurance 19,383 18,273 16,380 
Marketing 7,536 7,978 7,814 

Ground rent 5,259 5,303 5,092 
Other operating 24,843 26,853 27,994 

Total rental expenses $ 249,569 $ 231,666 $ 228,958 

NOTE 12-SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 

A summary of share-based compensation expense included in net income is as follows: 

Year Ended Decem be•· 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

Grants of common shares, restricted stock units, and options 

Capitalized share-based compensation 

Share-based compensation expense 

$ 

$ 

17,379 

(1,022) 

16,357 

(In thousands) 

$ 15,427 $ 15,0 18 

(1' 119) (1,314) 

$ 14,308 $ 13,704 

As of December 31, 2024, we have grants outstanding under two share-based compensation plans. In May 2020, our 
shareholders approved the 2020 Performance Incentive Plan ("the 2020 Plan"), which authorized the grant of share options, 
common shares, and other share-based awards for up to 1,750,000 common shares of beneficial interest. Our 2010 Long Term 
Incentive Plan, as amended (the "20 10 Plan"), which expired in May 2020, authorized the grant of share options, common 
shares and other share-based awards for up to 2,450,000 common shares of beneficial interest. 

Option awards under the plans are required to have an exercise price at least equal to the closing trading price of our common 
shares on the date of grant. Options and restricted share awards under the plan generally vest over three to seven years and 
option awards typically have a ten-year contractual tenn. We pay dividends on unvested shares. Certain options and share 
awards provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control. Additionally, the vesting on certain option and share 
awards can accelerate in part or in full upon termination without cause. 

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model. Expected volatilities, term, 
dividend yields, employee exercises and estimated forfeitures arc primadly based on historical data. The risk-free interest rate is 
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The fair value of eaclh share award is detennined based on 
the closing trading price of our common shares on the grant date. No options were granted in 2023 and 2022. The following 
table provides a summary of the assumptions used to value options granted in 2024: 

Volatility 

Expected dividend yield 

Expected term (in years) 

Risk free interest rate 
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Yen•· Ended 
December 31, 

2024 

31.9 % 

4.3% 

7.5 

4.1 % 



The weighted-average grant-date fa ir value of options granted in 2024 was $24.59 per share. The following table provides a 
summary of option activity for 2024: 

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 

Granted 

Exercised 

Forfeited or expired 

Outstanding at December 31, 2024 

Exercisable at December 31 , 2024 

Shares 
Undet· 
Option 

1,829 $ 

1,190 

Weighted­
Average 
Exucise 

Price 

95.77 

101.66 

3,019 =$===9=8.=09= 
1,097 $ 95.77 

======= 

The following table provides a summary of restricted share activity for 2024: 

Unvested at December 31 , 2023 

Granted 

Vested 

Forfeited 

Unvested at December 31, 2024 

Weighted­
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Term 

(In yeat·s) 

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value 

(In tbousauds) 

7.3 =$====42= 
6.1 $ 18 

===== 

Weighted-Aven ge 
Grant-Date F.air 

Shares Value 

286,205 $ 111.89 

149,842 101.84 

(167,495) 109.82 

(332) 104.66 

268,220 $ 107.57 

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock awarded in 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $101.84, $109.44 and $125.34, 
respectively. The total vesting-date fair value of shares vested during the year ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, was 
$17.3 million, $14.4 million and $14.3 million, respectively. 

On February 10, 2021 , 10,441 restricted stock units were awarded to an officer, ofwhich 7,204 vested on January 7, 2025, 
based on meeting certain market based performance criteria. The amount of dividend equivalent rights related to these units is 
approximately $0.1 million, and was recorded against retained earnings for the year ended December 31 , 2024. The weighted­
average grant-date fair value of the restricted stock units awarded in 2021 was $97.01. 

As of December 31 , 2024, there was $16.9 milaion of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested share-based 
compensation arrangements (i.e. options and unvested shares) granted under our plans. This cost is expected to be recognized 
over the next 3.5 years with a weighted-average period of 1. 8 years. 

Subsequent to December 31, 2024, common shares were awarded under various compensation plans as foUows: 

Da te 

January 2, 2025 
February 12, 2025 

Awat·d 

6,164 Shares 

136,810 Restricted Shares 

NOTE 13-SA VINGS AND RETIREMENT PLANS 

Vestiug Tet·m 

Immediate 

3-4 years 

Beneficiary 

Trustees 

Officers and key employees 

We have a savings and retirement plan in accordance with the provisions of Section 40 I (k) of the Code. Generally, employees 
can elect, at their discretion, to contribute a portion of their compensation up to a maximum of$23,000 for 2024,$22,500 for 
2023, and 20,500 for 2022. Under the plan, we contribute 50% of each employee' s elective deferrals up to 5% of eligible 
earnings. In addition, we may make discretionary contributions within the limits of deductibility set torth by the Code. Our full­
time employees are immediately eligible to become plan participants. Employees are eligible to receive matching contributions 
immediately on their participation; however, these matching payments will not vest until their third anniversary of employment. 
Our expense for the years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $ 1,012,000, $960,000 and $869,000, 
respectively. 

A non-qualified deferred compensation plan for our officers and certain other employees was established in 1994 that allows 
the participants to defer a portion of their income. As of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, we are liable to participants for 
approximately $24.0 million and $22.0 million, respectively, under this plan. Although this is an unfunded plan, we have 
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purchased certain investments to match this obligation. Our obligation under this plan and lhe related investments are both 
included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

NOTE 14-EARNINGS PER SHARE AND UNJT 

We have calculated earnings per share ("EPS") and earnings per unit ("EPU'') under lhe two-class method. The two-class 
method is an earnings allocation methodology whereby EPS and EPU for each class of common stock and partnership units, 
respectively, and participating securities is calculated according to dividends or distributions declared and participation rights in 
undistributed earnings. For 2024, 2023, and 2022, we had 0.3 million weighted average unvested shares and units outstanding, 
which are considered participating securities. Therefore, we have allocated our earnings for basic and diluted EPS and EPU 
between common shares and units and unvested shares and units; the portion of earnings allocated to the unvested shares and 
units is reflected as "earnings allocated to unvested shares" or "earnings a llocated to unvested units" in the reconciliation below. 

The following potentially issuable shares were excluded from lhe diluted EPS and EPU calculations because their impact is 
anti-dilutive: 

• exercise of 1,190 stock options in 2024 and 1,829 stock options in2023, 

conversions of downREIT operating partnership units for 2024 and 2023, 

5.417% Series l Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares and units for 2024, 2023, and 2022, and 

the issuance of 1.2 million shares and units issuable under common share forward sales agreements in 2024. 

Additionally, 7,204 unvested restricted stock shares and units are included in the diluted EPS and EPU calculations, as certain 
market based performance criteria in the award was achieved as of December 3 I , 2024. 

Federal Realty Investment Tmst Earnings per Share 

NUMERATOR 

Net income 

Less: Preferred share dividends 

Less: Income from operations attributable to noncontrolling interests 

Less: Earnings allocated to unvested shares 

Net income available for common shareholders, basic 

Add: Income attributable to downREIT operating partnership units 

Net income available for common shareholders, diluted 

DENOMINATOR 

Weighted average common shares outstanding-basic 

Effect of dilutive securities: 

Unvested performance shares 

DownREIT operating partnership units 

Weighted average common shares outstanding-diluted 

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE, BASIC 

Net income available for common shareholders 

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE, DILUTED 

Net income available for common shareholders 
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$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Year Ended Decembei· 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands, except per shtu·e data) 

304,334 $ 247,217 $ 395,661 

(8,032) (8,032) (8,034) 

(9, 126) (10,232) (10,170) 

(1 ,283) (1 ,286) (1,328) 

285,893 227,667 376,129 

2,810 

285,893 $ 227,667 $ 378,939 

83,559 .81,313 79,854 

7 

654 

83,566 81,313 80,508 

3.42 $ 2.80 =$==4=·=71= 

3.42 $ 2.80 $ 4.71 
:::i:::::::== 



Federal Realty OP LP Trust Earnings per Unit 

Yea•· Ended Decl'mbcr 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands, except per unit data) 

NUMERATOR 

Net income $ 304,334 

Less: Preferred unit distributions (8,032) 

Less: Income from operations aUTibutable to noncontrolling interests (9, 126) 
Less: Earnings allocated to unvested units (1 ,283) 

Net income available for common unit holders, basic 285,893 

Add: Income attributable to downREIT operating partnership units 

Net income available for common unit holders, diluted $ 285,893 
DENOMINATOR 

Weighted average common units outstanding-basic 83,559 
Effect of dilutive securities: 

Unvested perfom1ance units 7 

DownREIT operating partnership units 

Weighted average common units outstanding-diluted 83,566 

EARNINGS PER COMMON UNIT, BASIC 

Net income available for common unit holders $ 3.42 
EARNINGS PER COMMON UNIT, DILUTED 

Net income available for common unit holders $ 3.42 

NOTE IS-SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

On January 7, 2025, we sold a portion of our White Marsh Other property for $3.4 million. 

On January 9, 2025, we repaid a $1.2 million mortgage loan at our Hoboken property, at par. 
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$ 247,217 $ 395,661 

(8,032) (8,034) 

( 10,232) (lO,l 70) 

(1 ,286) (1 ,328) 

227,667 376,[29 

2,810 

$ 2271667 $ 378,939 

.81 ,313 79,854 

654 

.81 ,313 80,508 

$ 2.80 $ 4.71 

$ 2.80 $ 4.71 



FEDERAL REALTY INVESTMENT TRUST AND FEDERAL REALTY OP LP 
SCHEDULE III 

SUMMARY OF REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 
DECEMBER 31, 2024 
(Dollars in thousands) 

COLUMNA COLUMN 8 COLUMN C COLUMN D COLUMN E COLUMN F COLUMNG COLUMN H COLUMN I 

Gross amount at which carried at Life on which 
Initial cost to company Cost close of Jleriod depreciation 

Capitalized Accumulated in latest 
Subsequent Depreciation Date incon1e 

Building and to Building and and of Date statemcn ts is 
Descriptions Encumbrance Land Improvements Acq uisition Land Improvements Total Amortization Construction Acquired ~ted 

29TH PLACE (Virginia) $ 10,2 11 $ 18,863 $ 11,819 $ 10,195 $ 30,698 $ 40,893 $ 18,709 1975 - 2001 5/30/2007 (I) 

ANDORRA (Pennsylvania) 2,432 12,346 19,250 2,432 3 1,596 34,028 23,211 1953 1/ 1211988 (I) 

ASSEMBLY ROW/ASSEMBLY 
SQUARE MARKETPLACE 2005, 
(Massachusetts) 93,252 34,196 1,011,083 69,42 1 1,069, 110 1,138,531 197,521 2012-2023 2005-2013 (I) 

AZALEA (Ca lifornia) 39,955 40,2 19 67,1 17 2, 186 40,2 19 69,303 109,522 18,036 2014 8/212017 (I) 

BALA CYNWYD ON CITY 
AVENUE (Pennsylvania) 3,565 14,466 69,478 2,683 84,826 87,509 27,953 1955/2020 9/2211993 (I) 

1963, 1972, 
1990, & 1/ 13/ 16& 

BARCROFT PLAZA (Virginia) 12,6 17 29,603 9,515 12,617 39,118 51 ,735 11 ,885 2000 11/7/16 (I) 

BARRACKS ROAD (Virginia) 4,363 16,459 54,659 4,363 71,118 75,481 53,757 1958 12/3 1/1985 (I) 

1990, 2003, 8/2/17 & 
BELL GARDENS (California) 11,131 24,406 85,947 9,542 24,406 95,489 119,895 3 1,681 2006 11 /29118 (I) 

12/31/93, 
6/2/97, 

1/20/06, 
9/25/08, 

9/30/08, & 
BETHESDA ROW (Maryland) 199,548 46,579 35,406 188,872 44,347 226,510 270,857 118,234 1945-2008 12/27110 (I) 

9/30/67 & 
BIRCH & BROAD (Virginia) 1,798 1,270 23,046 1,8 19 24,295 26, 114 12,873 1960/ 1962 10105172 (I ) 

BRICK PLAZA (New Jersey) 24,7 15 80,017 4,385 I 00,347 104,732 68,642 1958 12/2811989 (I) 

BRISTOL PLAZA (Connecticut) 3,856 15,959 17,074 3,856 33,033 36,889 24,473 1959 9/2211995 (I) 

BROOK 35 (New Jersey) 11,407 7,128 38,355 8,469 7,128 46,824 53,952 15,288 1986/2004 1/ 1/2014 (I) 

CAMELBACK COLONNADE 
(Arizona) 52,658 126,646 3,234 52,658 129,880 182,538 16,329 1977/2019 6114/2021 (I) 

CAMPUS PLAZA (Massachusetts) 16,7 10 13,412 1,880 16,7 10 15,292 32,002 4,834 1970 1/13/2016 (I) 

8/25/06, 
CHELSEA COMMONS 1962/ 1969/ 1/30/07, & 
(Massachusetts) 3,461 8,689 19,466 12,607 8,669 32,093 40,762 12, 127 2008 7/16/08 (I) 

CHESTERBROOK (Virginia) 13,042 24,725 10,608 13,042 35,333 48,375 3,926 1967/ 1991 4/30/21 (I) 
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FEDERAL REALTY INVESTMENT TRUST AND FEDERAL REALTY OP LP 
SCHEDULE III 

SUMMARY OF REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 
DECEMBER 31,2024 
(Dollars in thousands) 

COLUMNA COLUMN B C OLUMN C COLUMN 0 COL UMN E COLUM N F COLUMNG CO LUMN H COLUMN I 

Gross amount at which carded at Life on which 
Initial cost to company Cost close of period depreciation 

Capitalized Accumulated in latest 
Subsequent Depreciation Date income 

Building and to Building and and of Date statemen Is is 
Descriptions Encumbrance Land Improvements Acquisition Land Improvements Total Amortization Construction Acquired ~uted 

5/4/ 15, 
7/ 1/ 15, 

12/16/ 15, 
1990/ 1994, 7/26/ 16, 
1922-1973, 6/30117, & 

COCOWALK (Florida) 32,5 13 7 1,536 101,487 48,943 I 56,593 205,536 34,298 2018-202 1 8/10117 (I) 

COLORADO BLVD (California) 2,4 15 3,964 7,636 2,415 11,600 14,015 10,585 1905-1988 8/14/98 (I) 

CONGRESSIONAL PLAZA 1965/2003/ 
(Maryland) 2,793 7,424 98,222 2,793 105,646 108,439 7 1,737 2016 4/ 1/1965 (I) 

COURTHOUSE CENTER 
(Maryland) 1,750 1,869 3,874 1,750 5,743 7,493 4, 158 1975 12/ 17/1997 (I) 

CROSSROADS (Ill inois) 4,635 11 ,611 21,54 1 4,635 33,152 37,787 25,837 1959 7119/1993 (I) 

CROW CANYON COMMONS Late 1970's/ 12/29/05 & 
(California) 27,245 54,575 11,946 27,245 66,52 1 93,766 37, 186 1998/2006 2/28/07 ( I) 

1920-2009/ 4/ 3/13 & 
DARIEN COMMONS (Connecticut) 30,368 19,523 102, 156 30,368 12 1,679 152,047 11 ,337 2022-2023 7120/18 (I) 

12/31/93, 
12/14116, 

1/29/19, & 
DEDHAM PLAZA (Massachusetts) 16,354 13,413 22,964 16,354 36,377 52,73 1 22,447 1959 3/12/19 (I) 

5/30/08, 
1982/ 1994/ 7/1 1/08, & 

DEL MAR VILLAGE (Florida) 15,624 4 1,7 12 18,785 15,587 60,534 76, 121 34,165 2007 10/14/14 ( I) 

1994-2001, 
EAST BAY BRIDGE (California) 29,069 138,035 11 ,803 29,069 149,838 178,907 59,988 20 11/20 12 12/2 1/2012 ( I) 

ELLISBURG (New Jersey) 4,028 11,309 23,701 4,0 13 35,025 39,038 24,641 1959 10/ 16/1992 (I) 

ESCONDIDO PROMENADE 
(California) 29,281 I 05,736 417 29,28 1 106,153 135,434 10,682 1987 5/26/2023 ( I ) 

1981/1986/ 2/ 8/19 & 
FAIRFAX JUNCTION (Virgina) 16,768 23,825 5,958 16,768 29,783 46,55 1 6,571 2000 1/ 10/20 (I) 

FEDERAL PLAZA (Maryland) 10,2 16 17,895 46, 183 10,216 64,078 74,294 55,584 1970 6/29/1989 ( I) 

FINLEY SQUARE (Illinois) 9,252 9,544 20,38 1 9,252 29,925 39, 177 2 1,457 1974 4/27/1995 ( I) 

FLOURTOWN (Pennsylvania) 1,345 3,943 14,510 1,507 18,291 19,798 8,873 1957 4/25/1980 (I) 

FOURTH STREET (California) 13,978 9,909 4,219 13,978 14,128 28, 106 5,381 1948,1975 5/l9/2017 (I) 

FREEDOM PLAZA (California) - 3,255 40,883 44,138 44, 138 5,552 2018-2020 6/ 15/2018 (I) 
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FEDERAL REALTY INVESTMENT TRUST AND FEDERAL REALTY OP LP 
SCHEDULE III 

SUMMARY OF REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 
DECEMBER 31,2024 
(Dollars in thousands) 

COLUMNA COLUMN B C OLUMN C COLUMN 0 COL UMN E COLUM N F COLUMNG CO LUMN H COLUMN I 

Gross amount at which carded at Life on which 
Initial cost to company Cost close of period depreciation 

Capitalized Accumulated in latest 
Subsequent Depreciation Date income 

Building and to Building and and of Date statemen Is is 
Descriptions Encumbrance Land Improvements Acquisition Land Improvements Total Amortization Construction Acquired ~ted 

FRESH MEADOWS (New York) 24,625 25,255 46,839 24,633 72,086 96,719 53,699 1946-1949 12/5/1997 (I) 

FRIENDSHIP CENTER (District of 
Columbia) 12,696 20,803 5,973 12,696 26,776 39,472 15,766 1998 9/2 1/2001 (I) 

GAITHERSBURG SQUARE 
(Maryland) 7,701 5,271 26,679 5,973 33,678 39,651 22,751 1966 4/22/1993 (1) 

GARDEN MARKET (Ill inois) 2,677 4,829 9,296 2,677 14,125 16,802 11 ,021 1958 7/2811994 (I) 

GEORGETOWN£ SHOPPING 1969/2006/ 
CENTER (New York) 32,202 49,586 5,005 32,202 54,591 86,793 9,566 2015 11115119 ( I) 

GOVERNOR PLAZA (Maryla.nd) 2,068 4,905 28,479 2,068 33,384 35,452 24,307 1963 10/111985 (I) 

GRAHAM PARK PLAZA (Virginia) 642 7,629 19,705 653 27,323 27,976 20,093 197 1 7/21/1983 (I) 

GRATIOT PLAZA (Michigan) 525 1,601 18,738 525 20,339 20,864 18,290 1964 3/2911973 (I) 

GREENLAWN PLAZA (New York) 10,590 20,869 2,705 10,946 23,218 34,164 7,346 197512004 1113/2016 (I) 

GREENWICH A VENUE 
(Connecticut) 7,484 5,445 10,819 7,484 16,264 23,748 8, 177 1968 411211995 (I) 

1961, 1963, 
1982-1983, 

GROSS MONT CENTER (California) 125,434 50,311 2,075 125,434 52,386 177,820 11 ,848 2002 6/1/2021 ( I) 

HASTJNGS RANCH PLAZA 1958, 1984, 
(California) 2,257 22,393 1, 143 2,257 23,536 25,793 6,263 2006,2007 211 /2017 (I) 

HAUPPAUGE (New York) 8,791 15,262 18,335 8,518 33,870 42,388 18,206 1963 8/6/1998 ( 1) 
9118119, 

l l/26/19, 
12119/l9, 

2112/20, & 
HOBOKEN (New Jersey) 80,714 56,866 167,835 5,195 56,872 173,024 229,896 27,492 1887-2006 I 1/18/22 (I) 

3/22/99 & 
I-lOLL YWOOD BLVD (California) 8,300 16,920 36,881 8,370 53,731 62, 101 26,897 192911991 6/ 18/99 ( I) 

12112/88, 
1962/2022- 10/26/07, & 

HUNTJNGTON (New York) 12,194 16,008 83,077 12,294 98,985 111,279 22,090 2023 I 1/24115 (I) 
8116/2010 

HUNTINGTON SQUARE (New 1980/2004- & 
York) 12,023 33,509 6,976 12,534 39,974 52,508 8,831 2007/2019 1/3 1/2023 (I) 

IDYL WOOD PLAZA (Virginia) 4,308 10,026 3,788 4,308 13,814 18,122 II , I ll 1991 411511994 ( 1) 

KI NGSTOWNE TOWNE CENTER 1996/2001/ 4/20122 & 
(Virginia) 72,234 137,466 2,294 72,234 139,760 211,994 13, 169 2006 7/27122 ( I) 
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FEDERAL REALTY INVESTMENT TRUST AND FEDERAL REALTY OP LP 
SCHEDULE III 

SUMMARY OF REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 
DECEMBER 31,2024 
(Dollars in thousands) 

COLUMNA COLUMN B C OLUMN C COLUMN 0 COL UMN E COLUM N F COLUMNG CO LUMN H COLUMN I 

Gross amount at which carded at Life on which 
Initial cost to company Cost close of period depreciation 

Capitalized Accumulated in latest 
Subsequent Depreciation Date income 

Building and to Building and and of Date statemen Is is 
Descriptions Encumbrance Land Improvements Acquisition Land Improvements Total Amortization Construction Acquired ~ted 

LANCASTER (Pennsylvania) 2,103 6,554 432 8,225 8,657 6,746 1958 4/24/1980 (I) 

LANGHO RNE SQUARE 
(Pennsylvania) 720 2,974 20,770 720 23,744 24,464 19,322 1966 l/3 1/1985 ( l) 

LAUREL (Maryland) 7,458 22,525 32,079 7,55 1 54,511 62,062 47,277 1956 811511986 ( l) 

7/23/1980 
LAWRENCE PARK (Pennsylvania) 6,150 8,491 51,056 6,16 1 59,536 65,697 28,373 1972 & 4/3117 ( I) 

LIN DEN SQUARE (Massachusetts) 79,382 19,247 60,224 79,346 79,507 158,853 39,371 1960-2008 8/24/2006 (I) 

MELVILLE MALL (New York) 35,622 32,882 36,673 35,622 69,555 105, 177 30,804 1974 10116/2006 (I) 
MERCER ON ONE (FORMERLY 10114/03, 
KNOWN AS MERCER MALL) 1131/17, & 
(New Jersey) 19,152 44,384 57,909 19,102 102,343 121,445 47,496 1975 10112/2023 (I) 

1960s, 
MONTROSE CROSSING 1970s, 1996 12/27/l l & 
(Maryland) 48,624 91,819 3 1,7 19 48,624 123,538 172, 162 52,558 & 20 11 12/19/13 ( I) 

3/31/03, 
MOUNT VERNON/SOUTH 3/21103, 
VALLEY/7770 RICHMOND HWY. 1966/1972/ l/27/06 & 
(Virginia) 15,769 33,501 48,433 15,85 1 81,852 97,703 53,729 1987/2001 114/21 ( I) 

NORTH DARTMOUTH 
(Massachusetts) 9,366 - 3 9,366 3 9,369 2 2004 8/24/2006 ( I) 

NORTHEAST (Pennsylvania) 938 8,779 25,954 939 34,732 35,671 24,536 1959 8/30/1983 (I) 

OLD KEENE MILL (Virginia) 638 998 17,578 638 18,576 19,2 14 8,352 1968 611511976 ( l) 

1962, 
OLD TOWN CENTER (California) 3,420 2,765 38,080 3,420 40,845 44,265 27,328 1997-1998 10/2211997 (I) 

OLIVO AT MISSION HILLS 
(California) 15,048 46,732 21, 127 15,048 67,859 82,907 12,574 2017-2018 8/2/2017 (I) 

PERRI NG PLAZA (Maryland) 2,800 6,461 32,748 2,800 39,209 42,009 24,984 1963 1011/1985 ( I) 

5118/82, 
1963, 10/26/07, & 

PIKE & ROSE (Maryland) 31,471 10,335 845,420 33,7 16 853,510 887,226 147,322 2012-2024 7/31/12 ( I) 

3/31197 & 
PIKE 7 PLAZA (Virginia) 14,970 22,799 18,56 1 14,914 4 1,416 56,330 24,352 1968 7/8115 ( I) 

PINOLE VISTA CROSSING 
(California) 25,2 18 33,286 - 25,2 18 33,286 58,504 737 1995,20 15 7/3 112024 ( I) 

PLAZA DEL MERCADO 
(Maryland) 10,305 21,553 15,060 10,305 36,613 46,918 12,793 1969 ll l3/2016 (I) 
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FEDERAL REALTY INVESTMENT TRUST AND FEDERAL REALTY OP LP 
SCHEDULE III 

SUMMARY OF REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 
DECEMBER 31,2024 
(Dollars in thousands) 

COLUMNA COLUMN B C OLUMNC COLUMN 0 COL UMN E COLUM N F COLUMNG CO LUM N H COLUMN I 

Gross amount a t which carded at Life on which 
Initial cost to company Cost close of period depreciation 

Capitalized Accumulated in latest 
Subsequent Depreciation Date income 

Building and to Building and and of Date sta temen Is is 
Descriptions Encumbrance Land Improvements Acquisition Land Improvements Total Amortization Construction Acquired ~ted 

PLAZA DEL SOL (California) 5,605 12,331 ( 12) 5,605 12,319 17,924 2,969 2009 8/2/2017 (I) 
12/30/ 11, 
6114/ 13, 

PLAZA EL SEGUNDO/THE POINT 2006/2007/ 7/26/ 13, & 
(California) 124,799 62, 127 153,556 95,868 64,463 247,088 311 ,551 92,094 2016 12/27113 (I) 

PROVIDENCE PLACE (fonnerly 
Pan Am) (Virginia) 8,694 12,929 15,435 8,695 28,363 37,058 19,092 1979 2/511993 (I) 

QUEEN ANNE PLAZA 
(Massachusetts) 3,3 19 8,457 7,986 3,319 16,443 19,762 12,878 1967 12/2311994 (I) 

QUINCE ORCHARD (Maryland) 3, 197 7,949 30,256 2,928 38,474 41 ,402 29,542 1975 4/2211993 (I) 

RIVERPOINT CENTER (Illinois) 15,422 104,572 2,850 15,422 107,422 122,844 26,428 1989, 2012 3/3 1/2017 (I) 

1958, 
1964-1965, 

SAN ANTONIO CENTER 1974-1975, 1/9/2015, 
(California) 26,400 18,462 7,388 26,400 25,850 52,250 8,428 1995-1997 9/ 13/19 (I) 

3/5/97, 
1999-2006, 7113112, 

2009, 201 1, 9/6/ 12, 
2014, 4/30/ 13 & 

SANTANA ROW (California) 66,682 7,502 1,282,018 57,592 1,298,610 1,356,202 343,439 2016-2024 9123113 (I ) 

SHOPS AT PEMBROKE GARDENS 
(Florida) 39,506 14 1,356 5,953 39,506 147,309 186,815 13,346 2007 7/27/2022 (I) 

SYLMAR TOWNE CENTER 
(California) 18,522 24,637 5,443 18,522 30,080 48,602 6,371 1973 8/2/2017 (I) 

THE AVENUE AT WHITE MARSH 
(Maryland) 20,682 72,432 44,086 20,685 116,515 137,200 58,425 1997 3/8/2007 (I) 

THE GROVE AT SHREWSBURY 1988/ 1993/ 1/ 1/2014 & 
(New Jersey) 43,363 18,0 16 103,1 15 15,570 18,02 1 118,680 136,701 39,683 2007 10/6/14 (I) 

THE SHOPPES AT NOTTINGHAM 
SQUARE (Maryland) 4,441 12,849 2,322 4,44 1 15,171 19,6 12 8,397 2005 - 2006 3/8/2007 (I ) 
THE SHOPS AT HILTON 6/ 14/21 & 
VILLAGE (Arizona) - 85,431 2,554 - 87,985 87,985 9,217 198211989 7/ 18/22 (I) 
TOWER SHOPPNG CENTER 
(Virginia) 7, 170 10,5 18 11, 187 7,280 2 1,595 28,875 12,356 1953- 1960 8/2411998 (I ) 

1/ 19/ 11 & 
TOWER SHOPS (Florida) 29,940 43,390 33,000 29,962 76,368 I 06,330 33,633 1989, 2017 6/ 13114 (I) 

TROY HILLS (New Jersey) 3, 126 5,193 28,322 5,865 30,776 36,641 2 1,942 1966 7/23/1980 (I) 
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FEDERAL REALTY INVESTMENT TRUST AND FEDERAL REALTY OP LP 
SCHEDULE III 

SUMMARY OF REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 
DECEMBER 31,2024 
(Dollars in thousands) 

COLUMNA COLUMN B C OLUMN C COLUMN 0 COL UMN E COLUM N F COLUMNG CO LUMN H COLUMN I 

Gross amount at which carded at Life on which 
Initial cost to company Cost close of period depreciation 

Capitalized Accumulated in latest 
Subsequent Depreciation Date income 

Building and to Building and and of Date statemen Is is 
Descriptions Encumbrance Land Improvements Acquisition Land Improvements Total Amortization Construction Acquired ~ted 

TWIN BROOKE CENTRE (Virginia) 16,484 18,898 1,845 16,484 20,743 37,227 2,509 1977 9/2/2021 (I) 

TYSON'S STATION (Virginia) 388 453 5,782 493 6,130 6,623 4,255 1954 111711978 (I) 

VILLAGE AT SH IRLINGTON 1940, 
(Virginia) 9,761 14,808 51,620 6,323 69,866 76, 189 40,565 2006-2009 12/21/1995 (1) 

1999, 
2006-2008, 

VIRGINIA GATEWAY (Virginia) 93,767 11 4,609 320 93,767 114,929 208,696 2,780 2013-2016 5/3 112024 (I) 

WESTGATE CENTER (California) 6,319 107,284 46,408 6,3 19 153,692 160,011 88,375 1960-1966 3/31/2004 (I ) 

WESTPOST (Virginia) 1998 & 
2,955 116,242 - 119,197 119, 197 67,940 1999 - 2002 11/22110 (I) 

WHITE MARSH PLAZA (Maryland) 3,478 2 1,4 13 2, 199 3,5 14 23,576 27,090 13,302 1987 3/8/2007 (I) 

WHITE MARSH OTHER 
(Maryland) 26,0 11 - 198 26,0 11 198 26,209 76 1985 3/8/2007 (I) 

WILDWOOD (Maryland) 9, 111 1,061 18,331 9,1 11 19,392 28,503 12,031 1958 5/5/1969 (I) 

WILLOW GROVE (Pennsylvania) 1,499 6,643 45,557 1,499 52,200 53,699 24,064 1953 11/2011984 (I) 

WILLOW LAWN (Virginia) 3,192 7,723 97,980 8,2 11 100,684 108,895 73,891 1957 12/511983 (I ) 

WYNNEWOOD (Pennsylvania) 8,055 13,759 22,438 8,055 36,197 44,252 29,234 1948 10/2911996 (I) 

TOTALS s 514.378 s 1.830,741 s 3,289.871 s 5,783,10 1 $ 1,824,068 s 9,079,645 S I 0,903, 713 $ 3.152.799 

( I) Depreciation of building and improvements is calculated based on useful lives ranging from the life of the lease to 50 years. 
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FEDERAL REALTY INVESTMENT TRUST AND FEDERAL REALTY OP LP 
SCHEDULElli 

SUMMARY OF REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION- CONTINUED 
Three Years Ended December 31, 2024 

Balance, December 31, 2021 

Additions during period 

Acquisitions 

Improvements 

Deductions during period 

Dispositions and retirements of property 

Deconsolidation of VIE 

Balance, December 31, 2022 

Additions during period 

Improvements 

Reconsolidation of VIE 

Acquisitions 

Reconciliation of Total Cost 
(in thousands) 

Deduction during period--dispositions and retirements of property 

Balance, December 31, 2023 

Additions during period 

Acquisitions 

Improvements 

$ 9,422,062 

445,319 

399,623 

(107,682) 

(54,823) 

10,104,499 

287,286 

135,017 

74,723 

(55,338) 

10,546,187 

266,877 

249,043 

(158,394) Deduction during period-dispositions and retirements of property 

Balance, December 31, 2024 (l) $ 10,903,713 

( I) For Federal tax purposes, the aggregate cost basis is approximately $9.8 billion as of December 31 , 2024. 
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FEDERAL REALTY INVESTMENT TRUST AND FEDERAL REALTY OP LP 
SCHEDULE III 

SUMMARY OF REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION- CONTINUED 
Three Years Ended December 31, 2024 

Reconciliation of Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization 
(In thousands) 

Balance, December 31, 2021 

Additions during period-depreciation and amortization expense 

Deductions during period 

Dispositions and retirements of property 

Deconsolidation of VIE 

Balance, December 3 I, 2022 

Additions during period 

Depreciation and amortization expense 

Reconsolidation of VIE 

Deductions during period -dispositions and retirements of property 

Balance, December 3 I, 2023 

Additions during period-depreciation and amortization expense 

Deductions during period -dispositions and retirements of property 

Balance, December 3 I, 2024 

F-46 

$ 2,531,095 

266,877 

(59,066) 

(23,089) 

2, 715,817 

282,896 

2,869 

(38,063) 

2,963,519 

302,635 

(113,355) 

$ 3,152,799 



Column A 

Descl'iption of Lien 

Second mortgage 
on a retail 
shopping center in 
Rockville, MD 

Second mortgage 
on a retail 
shopping center in 
Rockville, MD 

FEDERAL REALTY INVESTMENT TRUST AND FEDERAL REALTY OP LP 
SCHEDULEN 

Column n 

Interest Rate 

11.5% 

10.75% 

MORTGAGE LOANS ON REAL ESTATE 

Column C 

Matur ity Date 

febmary 
2026 

February 
2026 

Year Ended December 31,2024 

(Dolla•·s in thousands) 

ColumnD Coll!lmn E Column F 

Periodic Payment 
Terms 

interest only 
monthly; 
balloon 
payment due 
at maturity 

Interest only 
monthly; 
balloon 
payment due 
at maturity 

P•·ior 
L:iens 

$58,750 

58,750 

Face Amount 
of Mortgages 

(2) $ 5,075 

(2) 4,500 

Column G 

Canying 
Amount 

of Mo•·tgages(l) 

$ 4,644 

4,500 

Second mortgage 7 0% October 2031 Principal and 
interest monthly; 
balloon payment 
due at maturity 

4,990 (3) 453 
on a retail 
shopping center in 
Baltimore, MD 

$63,740 $10,028 $ 9,144 

Column H. 

Principal 
Amount 
of Loans 

Subject to 
delinquent 
Principal 

or lnte•·est 

$ 

$ 

(I) The amounts are net of any expected losses in accordance with ASU 2016-13. See note 2 to the consolidated fmancial statements. For 
federal tax purposes, the aggregate tax basis is approximately $10.0 million as of December 31 , 2024. 

(2) These mortgages are both subordinate to a first mortgage of$58.8 million in total. We do not hold the first mortgage loan on this 
property. Accordingly, the amount of the prior lien at December 31, 2024 is estimated. 

(3) This mongage is subordinate to a first mortgage of$5.0 million. We do not hold the first mortgage loan on this property. Accordingly, 
the amount of the prior lien at December 31 , 2024 is estimated. 
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FEDERAL REALTY INVESTMENT TRUST AND FEDERAL REALTY OP LP 
SCHEDULEN 

Balance, December 31, 2021 

Deductions during period: 

Valuation adjustments 

MORTGAGE LOANS ON REAL ESTATE- CONTINUED 
Three Years Ended December 31, 2024 

Reconciliation of Carrying Amount 
(In thousands) 

$ 9,543 

(44) 

Collection and satisfaction of loans ........................................................................................................... (43) 
------'-~ 

Balance, December 3 I, 2022 

Deductions during period: 

Valuation adjustments 

Collection and satisfaction of loans 

Balance, December 31, 2023 

Deductions during period: 

Collection and satisfaction of loans 

Valuation adjustments 

Balance, December 31, 2024 

9,456 

(213) 

............................................................................................. __ .......:.....(47~) 

$ 

F-48 

9, 196 

(50) 

(2) 

9,144 
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Letter to Our Shareholders 
March 28, 2025 

To our Shareholders: 

On behalf of the Board of Trustees and the entire Federal team, we invite you to join us for the 2025 Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders to be held virtually beginning at 9:00 a.m. eastern time on May 7, 2025. This proxy 
statement includes important information about how you can join and ask questions at the meeting and about the 
matters that will be voted on at the meeting. 

Federal's operating performance in 2024 showed continued strong demand for our real estate assets as 
evidenced by record leasing for comparable spaces and significant occupancy improvements. That strong 
demand allowed us to deliver a record level of total revenue and other strong financial results despite the higher 
cost of capital. We also made progress during 2024 in our efforts to reduce our Scope 1 and Scope 2 greenhouse 
gas emissions and to improve the resilience of our assets to the physical and transition risks associated with 
climate change. All parts of our business are working together to position us to be able to deliver strong results for 
years to come. 

Our strong performance would not have been possible without the extraordinary efforts of our Board and each 
and every one of our employees. We are extremely proud of the work this team has accomplished. 

Thank you for your continued support of Federal and we look forward to your participation in this year's annual 
meeting. 

David W. Faeder Donald C. Wood 
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer 





Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders 

ANNUAL MEETING PROPOSALS 

Board Voting Where to find more 
Recommendation information 

Proposal 1 Election of 7 trustees for 1 year terms 0 FOR each nominee Page 10 

Proposal 2 Non-bindi1ng advisory vote on 2024 executive 0 FOR Page 18 
compensation 

Proposal 3 Ratification of Grant Thornton, LLC as our 0 FOR Page 40 
independent registered public accounting firm 

Other business will be transacted as may properly come before the 2025 annual meeting of shareholders 
("Annual Meeting"). 

2025 ANNUAL MEETING INFORMATION 

Date and Time 

Wednesday, May 7, 2025 
9:00 a.m., Eastern Time 

Location 

Virtual Meeting 
https://web.lumiconnect.com/202329683 

~ 
E.! 

Record Date 

March 18, 2025 

Only holders of record of our common shares of beneficial interest, $.01 par value per share, at the close of 
business on the record date are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting. References to 
"Common Shares", "Shares", "common shares" and "shares" in this proxy statement refer to our common shares 
of beneficial interest, $.01 par value per share. 

Proxy Voting: 

Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting and vote your Shares at the Annual Meeting, we urge you 
to vote your Shares as instructed in the proxy statement. If you received a copy of the proxy card by mail, you 
may sign, date and mail the proxy card in the postage-paid envelope provided. If your Shares are held by a 
broker, bank or other nominee, please follow the instructions you receive from your broker, bank or other nominee 
to have your Shares voted. Any proxy may be revoked at any time prior to its exercise at the Annual Meeting. 

By Order of the Board of Trustees, 

Dawn M. Becker 
Executive Vice President 
Chief Legal Officer And Secretary 

March 28, 2025 

Important Notice Regarding Internet Availability of Proxy Materials 

The proxy statement and annual report to shareholders, including 
our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2024, are available at www.federalrealty.com. References in this 
proxy statement to our website are provided for your convenience 
only and the content on our website does not constitute part of 
this proxy statement. 
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Company Information 
Following is basic information about the Company and summary highlights of information contained elsewhere in 
the proxy statement. This summary does not contain all of the information that you should consider, and you 
should read the entire proxy statement carefully before voting. References to "we," "us," "our," "Federal" and the 
"Company" in this proxy statement refer to Federal Realty Investment Trust and its subsidiaries. 

Federal Realty Investment Trust is an S&P 500 company headquartered in North Bethesda, Maryland that owns, 
operates and redevelops high-quality retail based real estate located primarily in major coastal markets. 

Company Information 

Established in 1962 
Member of the S&P 500 

* Information as of December 31, 2024. 

Our Properties* 

1 02 Properties 
,.,27.0M SF of commercial space 

,.,3,100 residential units 

Our Employees* 

310 full-time employees 
6 primary offices 

Average tenure nearly 9.5 years 

> HIGHLIGHTS OF 2024 COMPANY PERFORMANCE 

Key business and financial achievements for 2024, in addition to net income per diluted share of $3.42 included: 

FFO per diluted share** of $6.77 representing growth of 3.4% over 2023 
driven by record levels of total revenue, positive impacts from capital 
investment, and overall continued strength in the broader retail real estate 
market 

Signed new and renewal comparable space leases covering a record of nearly 
2.4 million square feet of space and approximately $85.6 million of year 1 
revenue 

Investments in existing assets such as Pike & Rose and Huntington Shopping 
Center and new acquisitions such as Virginia Gateway producing significant 
yearoveryeargrowth 

Raised the dividend on our common shares for the 57th consecutive year, a 
record in the REIT industry, representing a compound annual growth rate of 
7% over that 57-year period 

Achieved ,., 32% decrease in Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions through 2023 
versus 2019 baseline in alignment with our 2030 GHG reduction target set in 
accordance with the Science-Based Target initiative 

** FFO per diluted share ("FFO per share") is a non-GAAP financial measure that we consider significant in our 
business. See Appendix A for a reconciliation of FFO per share to net income. 
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> CORPORATE VALUES 

Our four core values drive the behaviors, actions and decisions we make towards achieving our business 
objectives and promote a unified approach to our individual jobs. We strive to achieve Excellence in all that we 
do as we operate, develop and redevelop properties to serve the needs of the local communities. Innovation is 
key to introducing new ways of conducting our business to continue to meet the evolving economic, 
environmental and social challenges the real estate industry must address both in the short- and long-term. We 
hold ourselves Accountable for our work and our results and always act with the highest level of Integrity in our 
dealings with our shareholders, our employees, our tenants, our business partners and our community partners. 
Living these values underpins our ability to successfully deliver results for all stalkeholders. 

> OUR BOARD 

We have seven (7) trustees serving on our Board, all of whom are independent except for Don Wood who serves 
as our CEO. Each of these individuals has been nominated to stand for election at the 2025 annual shareholder 
meeting. 

Trustee Committee Memberships 
Name and Principal Occupation Age Since Independent AC CC NC 

David W. Faeder± 68 2003 Yes .1'$ .1' 
Managing/Partner Fountain Square Properties and 
Managing Member/Kensington Senior Living 

Elizabeth I. Holland 59 2017 Yes .1' c 
Chief Executive Officer/Abbell Credit Corporation 
and Abbell Associates, LLC 

Nicole Y. Lamb-Hale 58 2020 Yes .1' 
Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Corporate 
Secretary/Cummins Inc. 

Thomas A. McEachin 72 2022 Yes .1' .1' 
Former Chief Financial Officer/Covidien Surgical 
Solutions 

Anthony P. Nader, Ill 61 2020 Yes .1'$ c 
Managing Director/SWaN & Legend Partners 

Gail P. Steinel 68 2006 Yes C$ .1' 
Owner/Executive Advisors 

Donald C. Wood 64 2003 No 
Chief Executive Officer/Federal Realty Investment 
Trust 

Legend: 
AC-Audit Committee; CC-Compensation and Human Capital Management Committee; NC-Nominating and 
Corporate Governance Committee 

± Indicates Chairman of the Board 

C Indicates Committee Chair 
$ Indicates Audit Committee Financial Expert 
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> SUST AINABILITY SNAPSHOT 

Our sustainability initiatives are directly tied to supporting our business objective of using our real estate to create 
long-term value for all of our constituenciles, including our shareholders. We have focused our efforts around the 
five areas that we believe are most impactful to supporting our business objectives . 

Connect 
Communities* 

Foster loyalty and connection 
to communities around our 

properties to drive long-term 
property and community 

success 

Empower Teams* 

Attract, develop and retain 
the best talent with diverse 

perspectfves to best position 
us to deliver strong long-term 

results 

./ Science Based Target to reduce Scope 1&2 emissions by 46% by 2030 
(20 19 baseline) 

./ ""32% Scope 1 &2 GHG emissions reduction from 2019 through 2023 

./ 5.3 million square feet of LEED certified buildings built or in process 

./ 64% of electric consumption in 2023 provided by zero carbon sources 

./ 90% of our properties fully or partially upgraded with energy efficient LED 
lighting in landlord controlled areas 

./ 14.3 MW solar power generating capacity in solar arrays at 27 properties 

./ Climate change scenario analysis using RCP 8.5 showing minimal 
financial risk over short-, medium- and long-term 

./ Management of water usage through technology and landscaping choices 

./ Focus on increasing waste diverted to recycling 

./ Physical risk exposures incorporated into property level capital planning 
and investment decisions 

./ More than $400 million invested in partnership with Primestor 
Development in historically underrepresented communities 

./ Local cultural programming and events at properties 

./ Support local philanthropic initiatives and tenants 

./ Feature work of local artists in art installations at our properties 

./ Significant contributions to tax base of communities 

./ Competitive pay and benefits 

./ Average tenure of nearly 9.5 years 

./ Pay equity analysis shows no pay anomalies based on race or gender 

./ Women represented 55% of our workforce and 59% of all new hires in 
2024 

./ Minorities represented 57% of all new hires and 51% of all promotions in 
2024 

./ Comprehensive health and wellness programs through our Be Well at 
Federal program 
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Govern Responsibly* .I Annual election of all trustees 

.I Independent Non-Executive Chairman Implement and maintain a 
framework of controls to grow 
portfolio value while managing 

risk 

.I Majority voting and proxy access for trustee elections 

.I Prohibition on hedging and pledging our shares combined with clawback 
policy and equity hold requirements 

*All information provided is as of December 31 , 2024 unless otherwise indicated. 

More information about our sustainability initiatives can be found in our 2023 Sustainability Report which is 
available under the Sustainability tab on our website and can be accessed by using this link Federal Realty 1 2023 
Sustainability Report by Federal 1962- lssuu. The report provides additional, detailed information in alignment 
with the frameworks established by the Global Reporting Initiative, Task Force for Climate Related Financial 
Disclosures and Sustainability Accounting Standards Board. 

Our overall efforts on these 5 initiatives have earned us high marks from both MSCI and the Global Real Estate 
Sustainability Benchmark. 

MSCI 
ESG RATINGS 

I CCC i B BB 

I • 
~ 

• ' 

GRESS 

fl ln PHr Groop 
Retail C.Otor$; $.trip Mails 

Some of the areas where we have been recognized for our sustainability and workplace efforts include the 
followina: 

TOP 
WORK 
PLACES 

2024 
~hl' \Uashinglon post 

Governing the Company 
> GOVERNANCE DOCUMENTS 

S.m .!fr.mciscoll:hnmirk 

The Board is responsible for providing governance and oversight of the strategy, operations and management of 
the Company and has delegated to our senior management the authority to manage the day-to-day operations of 
the Company. The Board has adopted the following policies: 

Corporate Governance Guidelines 
Code of Business Conduct 
Code of Ethics for our Senior Financial Officers 
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These documents are reviewed periodically and revised when needed to reflect changing regulatory and 
governmental requirements and best practices. Complete copies of these documents are available in the Investor/ 
Corporate Governance section of our website at www.federalrealty.com. Printed copies of these documents are 
available upon written request to our Investor Relations department at 909 Rose Avenue, Suite 200, North 
Bethesda, Maryland 20852. 

> GOVERNANCE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

Our commitment to good governance is an integral part of our business. Highlights of our corporate governance 
practices include: 

.I Annual election of Trustees and .I Independent non-executive .I Board oversight of 
annual Board and Trustee chairman since 2003 sustainability, cyber security, 
evaluations data protection and human 

resources 

.I Prohibition on Trustees serving .I Majority voting in uncontested .I Proxy access for all 
on excessive numbers of other elections shareholders 
boards 

-
.I Prohibition on Trustees and .I Shareholder approval required .I Robust share ownership 

management hedging and to classify our Board guidelines in place for Trustees 
pledging our shares I I and senior management 

""' BOARD LEADERSHIP 

Our Board has been led lby an independent, Non-Executive Chairman for more than 20 years. Mr. Faeder has 
filled that role since May 2021. The Board determined and continues to believe that separating the roles of Board 
chairman and CEO is the most effective way to govern the Company. The separation allows our Chairman to 
focus on Board administration, to facilitate communication among Trustees and to serve as a liaison to our CEO 
while allowing our chief executive to focus on the day-to-day management and implementation of long-term 
strategy of the Company. 

> BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

The Board met six (6) times in 2024 and each trustee attended all of the 
meetings of the Board and the committees on which that trustee serves. 
Our practice is for all trustees to attend all meetings of each of the 
Board's standing committees to ensure that each Trustee is fully 
informed on all issues facing the Company and has the opportunity to 
participate in discussions surrounding those issues. Only trustees who 
are members of the specific committee are entitled to vote on matters 
presented to that committee. At each quarterly meeting, the Trustees 
met in executive session with all Trustees and then with just 
non-management Trustees, all of whom are independent. All Trustees 
are also expected to attend our annual shareholder meeting and all 
Trustees attended the 2024 annual shareholder meeting. 

> BOARD COMMITTEES 

100% 
Attendance at the annual 

shareholder meeting 

100% 
Attendance by Trustees of total Board 

meetings and meetings of 
Committees on which they serve 

The Board has three standing committees - the Audit Committee, the Compensation and Human Capital 
Management Committee ("Compensation Committee") and the Nominating and Corporate Governance 
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Committee ("Nominating Committee"). Each committee operates under a written charter that is available in the 
Investors/Corporate Governance section of our website at www.federalrealty.com. Each committee consiists 
entirely of independent, non-employee trustees. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Members 
Gail P. Steinel (Chair)* 
David W. Faeder* 
Elizabeth I. Holland 
Anthony P. Nader, Ill* 

Number of Meetings in 2024: 4 

• Audit committee financial expert as 
defined by the SEC. 

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE 

Members 
Elizabeth I. Holland (Chair) 
Nicole Y. Lamb-Hale 
Thomas A McEachin 
Gail P. Steinel 

Number o f Meetings in 2024: 2 
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The Audit Committee's responsibilities include: 

./ Select and oversee our independent auditor 

./ Oversee our financial reporting including reviewing results with 
management and independent auditors 

./ Oversee internal audit function 

./ Oversee adequacy and integrity of financial statements, financial 
reporting and disclosures 

./ Oversee financial risks and risks related to cybersecurity, data security 
and information protection 

./ Review and approve any related party transactions requiring disclosure 

Additional information on the Audit Committee is included in "Proposal 3: 
Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm" and the 
Audit Committee Report beginning on page 40. 

The Compensation Committee's responsibilities include: 

./ Evaluate performance of our CEO and recommend annual 
compensation and benefits for our CEO 

./ Review and approve compensation and benefits for our senior officers, 
including our NEOs 

./ Administer certain other benefit plans of the Company 

./ Review and approve employment related agreements for senior 
officers, including our NEOs 

./ Administer and make equity awards under our long-term plan 

./ Oversee key strategies and human resource policies and practices for 
all employees 

The Compensation Committee report is included at page 29 of this proxy 
statement and more detail on the work of the Compensation Committee iis 
included in the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" beginning on 
page 19. 



NOMINATING COMMITTEE 

Members 
Anthony P. Nader, Ill (Chair) 
David W. Faeder 
Nicole Y. Lamb-Hale 
Thomas A McEachin 

Number of Meetings in 2024: 2 

The Nominating Committee's responsibilities include: 

.I Identify and recommend individuals to stand for election to the Board 

.I Develop and oversee corporate governance policies and procedures 

.I Oversee annual trustee evaluation process 

.I Recommend members of the Board to serve on its committees and in 
leadership roles 

.I Oversee corporate responsibility and sustainability efforts and monitor 
priorities and progress on goals 

>- BOARD'S ROLE IN RISK OVERSIGHT 

The full Board has overall responsibility for risk oversight which it accomplishes directly and through its 
committees. The Board's committees are primarily responsible for certain matters relating to the risks inherent in 
the committees' respective areas of oversight as set forth in the committee charters. One of the primary ways the 
Board and its committees discharge their risk oversight responsibilities is through regular reporting from 
management which identifies key risks to enable the Board and management to identify and implement 
appropriate measures to manage and mitigate those risks. The chart below provides more detail on how the 
Board oversees risk management for the Company. The Board believes that this structure and division of 
responsibility is the most effective way to monitor and manage the Company's risk. 
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

r---+ Compensation and Human Capital Nominating and Corporate 
Audit Committee Management Committee Governance Committee 

. Integrity of financial reporting and Ability to attract. retain and motivate . Composition. leadership . 
controls over financial reporting talent needed to achieve business i11dependence and operation of 

objectives Board and committees 

. Performance and independence of Use of our compensation plans to . Conducting annual evaluations of 
our independent auditors align interests of our executives with Board and Trustees 

our shareholders 

. Performance of our internal audit Influence of incentive compensation . Compliance with our corporate 
function programs on excessive risk taking governance documents and 

applicable laws and regulations 

. Cyber security and data privacy Succession planning . Sustainability risks and issues that 
risks Could affect Company performance 

or reputation and progress made on 
Sustainability goals 

---- COMPANY MANAGEMENT 

Regular reporting on material risks Presentation for approval by the Board of significant transactions and other 
including: matters including: . Market Conditions Acquisition/disposition of properties above a specified dollar value 
. Tenant credit rislk DevelopmenVredevelopment projects above a specified dollar value 
. Leasing activity/occupancy levels Capital market activities including debt and ·equity issuances . Status of development projects Appointment of executive officers and consi:deration of all other officers . Compliance with financial covenants Transactions with related parties and conflicts of interest 
. Access to debt and equity capital 
. Capital needs of the Company . Existing and potential legal claims 
. Sustainability risks/goal progress 

);;>- BOARD AND COMMITTEE EVALUATION PROCESS 

Our Board and each standing committee conducts annual evaluations that cover overall effectiveness of the 
Board and the committee as well as the effectiveness of each individual trustee. The Nominating Committee leads 
the process for the evaluation of the overall Board and each individual trustee and each commiUee chair leads the 
evaluation process for his or her committee. Results of the evaluations are taken into account in determining 
trustees to stand for election at the next annual meeting and in determining committee assignments and 
leadership roles. 
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I 

I 

COMMITIEE ASSESSMENTS 

Annual assessment by each committee of its 
effectiveness using a committee specific list of topics to 
guide an in-depth discussion of performance. 

Topics include: 
• Skills and expertise of committee members 
• Adherence to committee charter 
• Committee specific topics 
• Information provided by and access to management 

CONTINUAL FEEDBACK 

The Board and the committees provide ongoing feedback 
on Board and Trustee performance throughout the year 
outside the formal evaluation process through executive 
session discussions. 

~ SUCCESSION PLANNING 

I 

TRUSTEE EVALUATIONS 

Each Trustee completes a confidential questionnaire 
evaluating the performance of each other trustee with the 
results provided to the chair of the Nominating 
Committee. 

Topics include: 
• Preparedness for meetings and understanding 

company business 
• Overall contributions to Board and Committees 
• Skill set 
• Effectiveness in leadership roles (if applicable) 

One-on-One Discussions 
The chair of the Nominating Committee discusses the 
individual assessments and overall Board effectiveness 
with each trustee. The Board chairman conducts the 
same process for the Nominating Committee chair. 

Results Summary and Action Taken 
Results of the assessments are provided to and 
discussed by the full Board. Identified issues are 
addressed with changes incorporated into Board policies 
and governance as needed. 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that we have a high performing management team in place. The Board 
regularly conducts a detailed review of management development and succession planning activities to ensure 
that top management positions, including the CEO role, can be filled without significant interruption both in an 
emergency situation as well as on a longer-term basis. 

~ COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE BOARD 

Shareholders and other interested parties may communicate with the Board or any Trustee by sending the 
communication to the intended recipient at c/o Corporate Secretary, 909 Rose Avenue, Suite 200, North 
Bethesda, Maryland 20852. Any communication which indicates it is for the Board of Trustees or fails to identify a 
particular Trustee will be deemed to be a communication intended for our Non-Executive Chairman of the Board. 
Our Secretary will promptlly forward to the appropriate Trustee all communications received for the Board or any 
individual Trustee which relate to our business, operations, financial condition, management, employees or similar 
matters. Our Secretary will not forward to any Trustee any advertising, solicitation or similar materials as she 
determines. 

> COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION 

The Compensation Committee consists of Ms. Holland, Ms. Lamb-Hale, Mr. McEachin and Ms. Steinel. There are 
no Compensation Committee interlocks and no member of the Compensation Committee serves, or has in the 
past served, as an employee or officer of the Company. 
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);;>- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Our Trustees and employees are required to deal with the Company on an arms-length basis in any related party 
transaction. Transactions between us and any of our Trustees or corporate officers must be approved in advance 
by the Audit Committee. Audit Committee approval is not required for us to enter into a lease with an entity in 
which any of our Trustees is a director, employee or owner so long as the lease is entered into in the ordinary 
course of business and is negotiated at arms-length and on market terms. 

We have no related party transactions with any of our Trustees that are required to be disclosed. During 2024, 
none of our named executive officers ("NEOs") had any indebtedness to the Company or any relationship with the 
Company other than as an employee and shareholder and none of our current NEOs has any indebtedness to the 
Company or any relationship with the Company other than as an employee and shareholder. We did enter into a 
post-employment consulting agreement with Mr. Berkes who was an NEO in 2024 and left the Company at the 
end of 2024. The consulting agreement along with post-employment and change-in-control arrangements 
between the Company and the NEOs are described in the "Potential Payments on Termination of Employment 
and Change-in-Control" section below. 

~ TRUSTEEINDEPENDENCE 

The Board has adopted a standard designed to assist the Board in assessing trustee independence. This 
standard, included in our Corporate Governance Guidelines, states that a Trustee's position as a director, officer 
or owner of a company with which we do business does not constitute a material relationship impacting 
independence so long as payments made by that company do not account for more than five percent (5%) of our 
gross revenues or more than ten percent (1 0%) of the gross revenues of that company. The Board performs an 
annual review of independence of all trustees and nominees. In order to make a determination that an individual 
is independent, the Board has to affirmatively conclude that the individual does not have any direct or indirect 
material relationship with the Company. This independence determination takes into account the requirements of 
our Corporate Governance Guidelines and any additional requirements imposed by law, regulation or the New 
York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") listing standards and is only made after a thorough review of all relationships that 
exist between the Company and a trustee. 

Based on this review process, the Nominating Committee recommended, and the Board concluded, that all of our 
Trustees, other than Mr. Wood, our chief executive officer, are independent under all applicable standards for 
service on the Board and each of its committees. In making this determination, the Board considered certain 
indirect passive investments Mr. Nader has directly and indirectly in three of the Company's small shop tenants. 
The Board determined that Mr. Nader's passive investment in these three small shop tenants did not constitute a 
material relationship with the Company and would not interfere with Mr. Nader's ability to exercise independent 
judgment. 

Proposal 1: Election of Trustees 
On recommendation of the Nominating Committee, our Board has nominated seven (7) candidates for election as 
trustees at the Annual Meeting. All of the nominees are incumbent trustees and were elected as trustees by our 
shareholders in May 2024. More detailed biographical information on each nominee can be found beginning on 
page 14. In accordance with our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Mr. McEachin submitted his resignation from 
the Board when he turned 72. After due consideration, the Board unanimously rejected Mr. McEachin 's 
resignation. Mr. McEachin did not participate in the consideration of or vote on his resignation. 

At the Annual Meeting, each trustee will be elected to hold office for a one-year term expiring at the 2026 annual 
meeting of shareholders and until his or her successor is elected and qualified. 
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);;>- VOTE REQUIRED AND MAJORITY VOTING STANDARD 

You are entitled to cast one vote per share for each of the seven nominees. Proxies may not be voted for more 
than seven individuals. In an uncontested election such as this one, our Bylaws require that a nominee receive a 
majority of votes cast with respect to that nominee in order to be elected. Accordingly, any nominee who does not 
receive a majority of votes cast will be required to resign from the Board within ninety (90) days. Broker non-votes 
and abstentions, if any, will not be treated as votes cast and as a result, will have no effect on the outcome of the 
vote for this proposal. Over the past 5 years, our nominees who have stood for election have received , on 
average, nearly 98% votes "for" at each shareholder meeting. 

0 Our Board recommends a vote FOR each of the seven nominees 

> NOMINEE CHARACTERISTICS AND SELECTION 

The Nominating Committee has primary responsibility for identifying and recommending individuals to be added to 
the Board and to stand for election by shareholders. Individuals identified must have the highest personal and 
professional integrity, demonstrated exceptional intelligence and judgment, have proven leadership skills, be 
committed to our success, have the requisite skills necessary to advance our long-term strategy, and have the 
ability to work effectively with our Chief Executive Officer and other members of the Board. In addition, the 
Nominating Committee assesses the contribution that a particular candidate's skills and expertise will make with 
respect to guiding our strategy and management when considered as a whole with the skills and expertise of 
other trustees. 

The chart below highlights some of the key qualifications and experience that our Board believes are relevant to 
the effective oversight of the Company and the execution of our long-term strategy and were considered as 
relevant for each nominee. The absence of a mark for an attribute for any nominee does not necessarily mean 
that the nominee does not possess that attribute; it means only that when the Board considered that nominee in 
the overall context of the composition of our Board, that attribi!Jte was not a key factor in the determination to 
nominate that individual. Further information on each nominee's qualifications and relevant experience is provided 
in the individual biographical descriptions below starting on page 14. 
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NOMINEE QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE 

Qualification!Experience Faeder Holland Lamb-Hale McEachin Nader Steinel Wood 

11 Strategic Planning and Leadership • • • • • • • 
II CEO/Executive Management • • • • • • • 
•• -REIT/Public Company Executive • • • 

• Public Company Board Service • • • • • • • 
la:dh Financial Expertise/Literacy • • • • • • 
e Real Estate Investing/Finance • • • • 
ft Retail Industry • • 
~ Risk Management • • • • • • • 
~ Human Capital Management • • • • • • • 
@ Corporate Governance • • • • • • • 
I~ Sustainability • • • 

DEMOGRAPHICS 

Race!Ethnicity Faeder Holland Lamb-Hale McEachin Nader Steinel Wood 

Black or African American 

White 

Gender 

Female • • • 
Male • • • • 

In 2024 the Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines were modified to provide that no trustee who is the 
CEO of a publicly traded company can serve on more than two public company boards, including the Board of the 
Company, and no other trustee who is not the CEO or a named executive offioer of a public company can serve 
on more than four public company boards, including the Board of the Company. These limitations were 
considered before nominating our existing trustees to stand for reelection in 2025. 

To identify, recruit and evaluate qualified candidates for the Board, the Board first looks to individuals known to 
current Board members through business and other relationships. If the Board is not able to identify qualified 
candidates in the foregoing way, the services of a professional search firm would be used. In addition, any 
shareholder, or a group of up to 20 shareholders, that has continuously owned for 3 years at least 3% of the 
Company's outstanding Common Shares can nominate and include in the Company's annual meeting proxy 
materials up to the greater of two trustees or 20% of the number of trustees serving on the Board, provided that 
the shareholder(s) and the nominee(s) satisfy the requirements set forth in our Bylaws. For further information 
regarding submission of a trustee nominee using the Company's proxy access Bylaw provision or otherwise, see 
the "Shareholder Proposals for the 2026 Annual Meeting" section starting at pa9'e 47. 
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> NOMINEE DIVERSITY AND TENURE 

The Board believes that a mix of skills, qualifications, ages, tenure and diversity are important considerations in 
identifying nominees so that the Board as a whole has the different viewpoints needed to provide appropriate 
oversight of the Company's business. Among the many items the Board takes into account, the· Board specifically 
considers the gender and race/ethnicity of prospective nominees in order to ensure diverse representation on the 
Board. 

AGE 

• 50s 

• 60s 

• 70s 

Average age of independent trustees 
64.3 years 

> OUR NOMINEES 

TENURE 

• < 5 years 

• 5-10 years 

• > lOyears 

Average tenure of independent trustees 
10.3 years 

GENDER & ETHNIC DIVERSITY 

Females 
43% 

Ethnic 
Minority 

29% 

Committees chaired by women 
67% 

The following biographical descriptions set forth certain information with respect to each nominee for election at 
the Annuall Meeting as well as the specific experience, qualifications, attributes and skills that led to our Board's 
conclusion that each nominee should serve as a trustee of our Company. 
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DAVID W. FAEDER 
Age:68 
Trustee Since: 2003 
Non-Executive Chairman 
Managing Partner of 
Fountain Square Properties 
and Managing Member of 
Kensington Senior Living 

Mr. Faeder has been the managing partner of 
Fountain Square Properties since 2003 and 
managing member of Kensington Senior Living 
since 2011, both of which are focused on the 
ownership, operation and development of senior 
housing. Prior to that, he held various positions at 
Sunrise Senior Living from 1993 to 2003. Those 
positions included Vice Chairman, President and 
Executive Vice President-Chief Financial Officer. 
Mr. Faeder began his career in public accounting 
before moving into investment banking 
immediately prior to joining Sunrise. Mr. Faeder 
received a BS in Business Administration from 
Old Dominion University and an MBA from the 
Colgate Darden Graduate School of Business at 
the University of Virginia. Mr. Faeder has been 
designated by the Board as an audit committee 
financial expert in accordance with the SEC 
definition. 

Skills and Qualifications 
Mr. Faeder has deep levels of experience in 
leadership, real estate investment and 
development as well as finance and accounting 
acquired from his time as a private investor and 
as a public company real estate CFO coupled 
with his public company and accounting 
background. This experience provides valuable 
perspective on our investment decisions, 
alignment of our capital structure to support those 
investments and on our financial reporting. His 
experience in senior living also provides valuable 
insights for a growing area that could be a source 
of additional value creation at a number of our 
properties. 

Prior Public Company Directorships: 
Arlington Asset Investment Corp. (until 2023) 

Committees: 
Audit Committee 
Nominating Committee 
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ELIZABETH I. HOLLAND 
Age: 59 
Trustee Since: 2017 
Chief Executive Officer of 
Abbell Credit Corporation 
and Abbell Associates, LLC 

Ms. Holland is the Chief Executive Officer of Abbell 
Credit Corporation and Abbell Associates, LLC, a 
private retail real estate company. She has held 
that position since 1997. Ms. Holland is also Chief 
Executive Officer of Consortia! Technologies, 
L.L.C., a software development company since 
2017. Prior to that, she served as a senior staff 
attorney on the Congressional Bankruptcy Review 
Commission (1996-1997), as a business 
reorganization attorney at Skadden, Arps, Slate, 
Meagher & Flam (1993-1996) and as a fixed 
income portfolio manager at Brown Brothers 
Harriman & Company from (1989-1990). From 
2016-2017, Ms. Holland served as the Chairman of 
the Board of Truste·es for ICSC (f/kla International 
Council of Shopping Centers) and has served as a 
trustee for that organization since 2004. Ms. 
Holland earned a BA from Hamilton College and a 
JD from Brooklyn Law School. In addition to her 
publ ic board service, Ms. Holland serves on the 
boards of The Village Bank & Trust, a Chicago 
based owner, manager and developer of multi­
family properties, and Primo Center for Women & 
Children, a non-profit organization whose mission is 
to provide family shelter and permanent supportive 
housing and other supportive services to homeless 
fami lies in Chicago. 

Skills and Qualifications 
Ms. Holland brings valuable insights into retailers 
and the retail industry in general from her time in 
leadership positions with ICSC and her own 
investing experience in retail real estate as well 
as a wealth of business and leadership 
experience from running a private real estate 
company. Those perspectives are invaluable for 
a retail based real estate company .. 

Cur1rent Public Company Directorships: 
VICI Properties, Inc. 

Committees: 
Audit Committee 
Compensation Committee (Chair) 



NICOLE Y. LAMB HALE 
Age: 58 
Trustee Since: 2020 
Vice President, Chief 
Legal Officer and 
Corporate Secretary of 
Cummins, Inc. 

Ms. Lamb-Hale currently serves as the Vice 
President, Chief Legal Officer and Corporate 
Secretary of Cummins Inc., a position she has 
held since 2023 overseeing all legal affairs and 
related risk management. While at Cummins Inc., 
Ms. Lamb-Hale has also held the titles Vice 
President and Chief Legal Officer (2023) and Vice 
President and General Counsel (2021-2022). 
Prior to that time, she was a Managing Director at 
Kroll, a global governance, risk and transparency 
consultant (2016-2021), a Senior Vice President 
at Albright Stonebridge Group (2013-2016), a 
global strategy consultancy, and served as the 
Assistant Secretary of Commerce for 
Manufacturin!;l and Services in the International 
Trade Administration of the U.S. Department of 
Commerce (2010-2013) and as the Deputy 
General Counsel for the U.S. Department of 
Commerce (2009-201 0). Ms. Lamb-Hale is a 
licensed attorney who began her career at law 
firms (1991-2009) where she practiced in the 
areas of business restructuring and public 
finance. Ms. Lamb-Hale earned an AB in Political 
Science from the University of Michigan and a JD 
from Harvard Law School. In addition to her 
servic.e on Federal 's Board, Ms. Lamb-Hale 
serves on the board of Delta Parent Holdings, Inc. 
as well as the boards of various non-profit groups 
including the American Leadership Initiative, the 
Center for International Private Enterprise, the 
Cummins Foundation and the U.S. Chamber of 
Commerce Foundation. 

Skills and Qualifications 
Ms. Lamb-Hale's 30 years of experience, 
spanning the private and public sectors, in law, 
executive level risk management and mitigation, 
and restructuring, coupled with her leadership 
skills gained from her varied executive roles, 
provides the company with diverse and valuable 
insights as it develop·s and implements its current 
and long-term business strategies. 

Committees: 
Compensation Committee 
Nom1nating Committee 

THOMAS A. McEACHIN 
Age:72 
Trustee Since: 2022 
Retired Vice President 
and Group· Chief Financial 
Officer of Covidien 
Surgical Solutions 

Mr. McEachin has served as Vice President and 
Group Chief Financial Officer (2008-2012) at 
Covidien Surgical Solutions, a division of Covidien 
pic, a global health c.are products. company and 
manufacturer of medical devices and supplies. From 
1997 to 2008, Mr. McEachin served in various 
finance capacities at United Technologies 
Corporation, a global leader in the aerospace and 
building industries, and its subsidiaries, including as 
chief Investor Relations officer, Vice President and 
Controller of Pratt & Whitney, and Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer of UTC Power. Prior to 
that, he held several executive posiNons with Digital 
Equipment Corporation, a vendor of computer 
systems, including computers, software, and 
peripherals, from 1986 to 1997. Mr. McEachin was 
with Xerox Corporation, a global corporation that 
sells print and digital document products and 
services, from 1975 to 1986, serving as Controller of 
the procurement organization. Mr. McEachin 
formerly served as a trustee and officer of the 
Wadsworth Athene1um (Hartford, CT), the oldest 
pub·lic art institution in the United States, serving on 
their executive, finance and investment committees. 
He also is a past board member of the Connecticut 
Science Center and chair of the audit committee. 
Mr. McEachin holds a B.S. from New York 
University School of Engineering, an MBA from 
Stanford University and completed the Advance 
Management Program at University of 
Pennsylvania's Wharton School. 

SkiUs and Qualifications 
Mr. McEachin's history as a CFO plus his extensive 
finance and executive management experience 
andl in-depth knowledge as a CFO of financial 
reporting, compliance, accounting and controls and 
corporate governance matters provides the 
company with important skills. 

Current Public Company Directorships: 
Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. 

Prior Public Company Directorships: 
Surgalign Holdings, Inc. (until 2023) 

Committees: 
Compensation Committee 
Nominating Committee 
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ANTHONY P. NADER, Ill 
Age:61 
Trustee Since: 2020 
Managing Director of 
SWaN & Legend Venture 
Partners 

Mr. Nader is a Managing Director of SWaN & 
Legend Venture Partners, an investment firm that 
Mr. Nader co-founded in 2006, making 
investments in growth-oriented companies. 
Mr. Nader also serves as Vice Chairman of 
Asurion, a privately held company with over 
19,000 employees that provides technology 
protection to approximately 300 million customers 
worldwide. In 2008, Mr. Nader successfully 
merged his prior company, National Electronics 
Warranty ("NEW") with Asurion. Mr. Nader joined 
NEW in 1990 as Chief Operating Officer, was 
named President in 1999 and Chi1ef Executive 
Officer in 2006, a position he held until 2013. 
Under his leadership, NEW grew to be the largest 
global provider of extended service plans for the 
consumer electronics and appliance industry. 
Mr. Nader earned a BSBA in Finance from John 
Carroll University and an MBA from Weatherhead 
School of Management at Case Western 
Reserve University. Mr. Nader also served as the 
Chairman of the lnova Health System Board of 
Trustees until December 31 2023. Mr. Nader has 
been designated by the Board as an audit 
committee financial expert in accordance with the 
SEC definition. 

Skills and Qualifications 
Mr. Nader provides our Board with more than 30 
years of business and leadership experience as 
well as a deep investment background in both 
real estate and growth-oriented companies 
including retailers. This background complements 
others on our Board and adds to our depth of 
financial and investing expertise that is so critical 
to the success of the Company. 

Prior Public Company Directorships: 
Arlington Asset Investment Corp. (until 2023) 

Committees: 
Audit Committee 
Nominating Committee (Chair) 
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GAIL P. STEINEL 
Age:68 
Trustee Since: 2006 
Owner of Executive 
Advisors 

Ms. Steinel is the owner of Executive Advisors 
(2007-present), a business that provides consulting 
services to chief executives and senior officers and 
leadership seminars/speeches to various 
organizations. Prior to creating her own consulting 
firm, Ms. Steinel was the Executive Vice President 
of Global Commercial Services of Bearing Point 
(2002-2007) and a global managing partner for 
Arthur Andersen's Business Consulting Practice 
(1984-2002) after beginning her career as an 
auditor at Arthur Andersen (1977-1984). Ms. Steinel 
received a BA in Accounting from Rutgers 
University. Ms. Steinel's public company board 
service experience includes MTS Systems 
Corporation (2009-2020). In addition, Ms. Steinel 
serves as the lead independent director since 2024 
of lnvesque, Inc., a Toronto stock exchange 
company that invests in a highly diversified portfolio 
of properties across the health care spectrum 
throughout the US and Canada, and serves on the 
board of DAI, an international development 
company that tackles fundamental social and 
economic development problems caused by 
inefficient markets, ineffective governance, and 
instability, and the Center for Hope & Safety, a 
nonprofit that assists women and children suffering 
from domestic violence. Ms. Steinel has been 
designated by the Board as an audit committee 
financial expert in accordance with the SEC 
definition. 

Skills and Qualifications 
Ms. Steinel's history as a CPA combined with her 
more than 35 years of experience in auditing, 
leadership, leadership development and financial 
systems provides us with valuable insights on 
leadership, leadership development, risk 
management and systems operations. 

Prior Public Company Directorships: 
MTS Systems Corporation (until 2020) 

Committees: 
Audit Committee (Chair) 
Compensation Committee 



DONALD C. WOOD 
Age: 64 
Trustee Since: 2003 
Chief Executive Officer of Federal Realty Investment Trust 

Mr. Wood currently serves as our Chief Executive Officer, a role he has held since 2003. Before 
assuming that role, h,e served as our President (2001 -2003) and held the titles of Chief Operating Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer at various points from 1998-2003. Prior to joining Federal, Mr. Wood served 
as the Chief Financial Officer for Caesers World, Inc. (1996-1998), the AssistanUDeputy Controller of ITT 
Corporation (1990-1996), the VP of Finance for Trump Taj Mahal Associates (1989-1990) and as an audit 
manager with Arthur Andersen (1982-1989). Mr. Wood is a CPA and received a BS in Business 
Administration from Montclair State College. Mr. Wood previously served as a director of public 
companies Quality Care Properties (2016-2018) and Post Properties (2011-2016). In addition to his 
public company board service, Mr. Wood served as Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the National 
Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (2011-2012) and previously served on the Board of 
Governors of ICSC (f/k/a International Council of Shopping Centers). 

Skills and Qualifications 
Mr. Wood's 25 years of experience with Federal, including his responsibilities as chief executive officer 
and as a REIT CFO, provide the Board with familiarity and details on all aspects of the operations and 
financial condition of the Company. 

Current Public Company Directorships: 
Healthcare Realty Trust Incorporated 

Prior Public Company Directorships: 
Quality Care Properties (until 2018) 
Post Properties (until 2016) 

~ TRUSTEE COMPENSATION 

As of December 31 , 2024, our standard arrangement for compensation for our non-management trustees 
included the following: 

Trustee Compensation Element 

Board Service 

Annual Retainer 

Annual Retainer Non-Executive Chairman 

Committee Chairs 

Audit Committee 

Compensation Committee 

Nominating Committee 

Amount Payment Form 

$ 200,000 40% cash; 60% equity 

$ 225,000 60% cash; 40% equity 

$ 25,000 Cash 

$ 15,000 Cash 

$ 15,000 Cash 
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All amounts are prorated for any partial years of service and shares issued are fully vested on the grant date. Effect ive 
January 1, 2025, the annual retainer for the Non-Executive Chairman increased to $275,000 and the annual retainer 
for all other Trustees increased to $225,000. All other aspects of trustee compensation remain unchanged. 

Our non-management Trustees are required to maintain ownership of our shares having a value equal to at least 
5 times the amount of their annual cash retainer. This requirement must be met within 5 years after joining the 
Board. As of December 31 , 2024, all of our Trustees were in full compliance with this ownership requirement 
except for Mr. McEachin who joined the Board in 2022. We expect Mr. McEachin to be in compliance with this 
equity ownership requirement within the 5-year time frame. 

The actual compensation awarded to our Trustees for service in 2024 was as follows: 

Annual Retainer Committee 
Name Paid in Cash Paid in Shares!1l Chair Fees Total 

David W. F.aeder $ 135,000 $ 90,000 $ - $ 225,000 

Elizabeth I. Holland $ 80,000 $ 120,000 $ 15,000 $ 215,000 

Nicole Y. Lamb-Hale $ 80,000 $ 120,000 $ - $ 200,000 

Thomas A. McEachin $ 80,000 $ 120,000 $ - $ 200,000 

Anthony P .. Nader, Ill $ 80,000 $ 120,000 $ 15,000 $ 215,000 

Gail P. Steinel $ 80,000 $ 120,000 $ 25,000 $ 225,000 

Tot al $ 535,000 $ 690,000 $ 55,000 $ 1,280,000 

(1) Shares were issued on January 2, 2025 with the number of shares received by each Trustee determined by dividing the 
amount to be paid in shares by $111.95, the closing price of our shares on the NYSE on December 31 , 2024. 

Proposal 2: Approving our Executive Compensation 
We are seeking an advisory vote to approve our executive compensation for 2024. We have always held our "Say 
on Pay" vote annually and in 2023, a majority of our shareholders voted to continue to hold this vote annually. 
Although this "Say on Pay" vote is advisory and is not binding on our Board, our Compensation Committee will 
take into consideration the outcome of this vote when making future executive compensation decisions. 

The text of the resolution if Proposal 2 is passed is: 

RESOLVED, that the shareholders of the Company hereby approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation 
of our NEOs as described in the CD&A and the Executive Compensation section that follows as required by 
Item 402 of Regulation S-K. 

The affirmative vote of a majority of votes cast at the Annual Meeting, in person or by proxy, is required to approve 
this proposal. An "abstention" or "broker non-vote" will have no effect on the outcome of the vote for this proposal. 

Our Board has designed our current executive compensation program to appropriately link compensation realized 
by our NEOs to our performance and properly align the interests of our NEOs with those of our shareholders. The 
details of this compensation for 2024, and the reasons we awarded it, are described in the "Compensation 
Discussion and Analysis," starting below. 

@ Our Board recommends a vote FOR the compensation of our NEOs 

I Federal Realty 2025 Proxy Statement 18 



Compensation Discussion and Analysis 
CD&A TABLE OF CONTENTS Page# 

Introduction 20 

2024 Business Highlights Supporting 
Compensation Decisions 20 

Program Philosophy and Objectives 20 

Executive Compensation Practices 21 

Components of Compensation 21 

Compensation Setting Process 21 

Annual Compensation Decision Making 21 

Role of the Compensation Committee 22 

Role of Management 22 

Role of Independent Compensation 
Consultant 22 

2024 Compensation Decisions 22 

Changes for 2024 22 

Setting 2024 Target Compensation 22 

Individual Elements of 2024 Pay 23 

Base Pay 23 

Annual Bonus Program 23 

Long-Term Incentive Program 24 

2024 NEO Performance Summary 26 

Other Compensation Practices and 
Policies 27 

Consideration of Say on Pay Vote 27 

No Hedging or Pledging of Our Shares 27 

Severance and Change-in-Control 
Arrangements 27 

Clawback Policy 28 

Share Ownership Guidelines 28 

Risk Assessment of Compensation 
Programs 28 

Equity Grant Practices 29 

Tax Deductibility of Executive Compensation 29 

Health and Welfare Benefits 29 

Compensation Committee Report 29 

Current NEOs 

DONALD C. WOOD 
Chief Executive Officer and President 
Age: 64 Joined Federal: 1998 

In position since: 2003 

DANIEL GUGLIELMONE 
EVP-Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 
Age: 58 Joined Federal: 2016 

In position since: 2016, 

DAWN M. BECKER 
EVP-Chief Legal Officer and Secretary 
Age: 61 Joined Federal: 1997 

In position since: 2002 

Federal Realty 2025 Proxy Statement 19 1 



INTRODUCTION 

> 2024 BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS SUPPORTING COMPENSATION DECISIONS: 

Business accomplishments for the year ended December 31 , 2024 that were considered as part of compensation 
decisions included, without limitation, the following: 

* 

FFO per diluted share* of $6.77 representing growth of 3.4% over 2023 driven 
by record levels of total revenue, positive impacts from capital! investment, and 
overall ,continued strength in the broader retail real estate market 

Signed new and renewal comparable space leases covering a record of nearly 
2.4 million square feet of space and approximately $85.6 million of year 1 
revenue 

Investments in existing assets such as Pike & Rose and Huntington Shopping 
Center and new acquisitions such as Virginia Gateway producing significant 
yearoveryeargrowth 

Raised the dividend on our common shares for the 57th consecutive year, a 
record in the REIT industry, representing a compound annual growth rate of 
7% over that 57-year period 

Achieved "" 32% decrease in Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions through 2023 
versus 2019 baseline in alignment with our 2030 GHG reduction target set in 
accordance with the Science-Based Target initiative 

FFO per diluted share ("FFO per share") is a non-GAAP financial measure that we consider significant in our 
business. See Appendix A for a reconciliation of FFO per share to net income. 

> PROGRAM PHILOSOPHY AND OBJECTIVES 

Our executive compensation philosophy and practices reflect a commitment to paying for performance - both 
short-term and long-term. Our programs are designed to attract, retain, motivate and reward talented, 
experienced executives to successfully manage our business, execute our strategy and drive shareholder value. 
We have three key objectives within this philosophy: 

Establish a strong link between pay and performance 
• Align the financial interest of our NEOs with our shareholders, particularly over the longer term 

Reinforce business strategies and objectives and drive sustained shareholder value 
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);;>- EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION PRACTICES 

The following table summarizes key governance elements related to our compensation programs: 

What We Do What We Don't Do 

Maintain a pay mix that is heavily 
performance-based 

Align compensation with company and 
individual performance 

Seek annual shareholder advisory approval of 
executive compensation 

Maintain strong share ownership guidelines of 
7x base salary for our CEO and 2.5x base 
salary plus annual bonus for our other NEOs 

Maintain incentive compensation clawback 
policy 

Conduct annual compensation risk 
assessment 

}> COMPONENTS OF COMPENSATION 

® 
® 

® 

® 

Have employment agreements with our NEOs 
with required fixed compensation increases 

Grant options below fair market value or 
reprice options 

Permit hedging or pledging of our shares 

Provide perquisites that are not made 
available to all of our employees 

The following table sets out the three components of our compensation plan as well as key information about 
each component. 

Base Pay 
Seep. 23 for more 
information 

Annual 
Performance Bonus 
Seep. 23 for more 
information 

Equity Incentive 
Seep. 24 for more 
information 

1 year FFO per Share 
Individual performance 

3 years Relative total shareholder 
return (34%) 
FFO multiple premium (33%) 
Return on invested capital 
(33%) 

COMPENSATION SETTING PROCESS 

>- ANNUAL COMPENSATION DECISION MAKING 

To provide fair and Attract and retain talent 
competitive compensation for 
individual performance and 
level of responsibility of 
position held 

To provide performance 
base·d annual cash awards to 
motivate and reward 
employees for achieving our 
short-term business 
objectives 

To provide performance­
base·d equity compensation 
in the form of restricted 
shares to drive medium and 
longer-term business 
objectives 

Drive ne.ar-term 
corporate and individual 
performance goals 

Drive medium and long­
term performance goals 
and retain talent 

Our Compensation Committee develops and executes our executive compensation program on behalf of the 
Board, including creating compensation programs and policies, setting target compensation levels for our NEOs, 
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setting perlormance metrics for incentive compensation plans, establishing expectations for individual NEO 
performance and determining payouts of incentive compensation for completed performance periods. 

In setting NEO compensation, the Compensation Committee considers competitive market data for similar jobs 
and job levels in the market, Company performance measured against financial metrics and targets established 
by the Compensation Committee, general business climate and each individual's experience, knowledge, skills 
and personal contributions. 

> ROLE OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE 

The Compensation Committee approves all final compensation arrangements for our NEOs including final 
payouts under our incentive compensation programs. It also oversees an annual evaluation of our CEO's 
performance by all of our independent Trustees. 

> ROLE OF MANAGEMENT 

Our CEO makes recommendations to the Compensation Committee regarding compensation for our NEOs (other 
than himself) taking into account Company performance, each executive's personal contributions to the 
Company's accomplishments and relevant market data. 

> ROLE OF INDEPENDENT COMPENSATION CONSULTANT 

The Compensation Committee retains consultants periodically to assist with setting compensation. No consultant 
was used in connection with the compensation of our NEOs for 2024. 

2024 COMPENSATION DECISIONS 

> CHANGES FOR 2024 

In addit ion to our current NEOs, Jeffrey S. Berkes, age 61, served as our President and Chief Operating Officer 
during 2024 and was an NEO during 2024. Effective December 31, 2024, the position of Chief Operating Officer 
of the Company was eliminated and as a result, Mr. Berkes was terminated without cause effective as of that 
date. A complete discussion of amounts paid to Mr. Berkes in connection with his termination is included in the 
"Potential Payments on Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control" section below. 

There were no changes made to the target compensation levels for any of our NEOs in 2024 other than 
Mr. Guglielmone. After reviewing market compensation levels for Chief Financial! Officers in the REIT industry, the 
Compensation Committee increased Mr. Guglielmone's long-term equity target to $1.5 million resulting in a total 
target compensation level for Mr. Guglielmone for 2024 of $2,650,000. 

> SETTING 2024 TARGET COMPENSATION 

The Compensation Committee determined target compensation for each NEO by considering numerous individual 
factors for each NEO, including job responsibilities and skill sets, performance in their position, importance to 
achieving our corporate objectives, retention risk, ability to replace the role, previously issued equity awards and 
tenure with the company. The Compensation Committee then reviewed the annual NAREIT compensation survey 
that gathers data from more than 100 REITs for the market compensation information for our NEOs. In addition, 
market data was reviewed for a comparable set of REITs for our Chief Financial Officer's compensation. Applying 
their individual judgments to our NEOs after consulting the NAREIT survey and reviewing the specific market data 
for the Chief Financial Officer position, the Compensation Committee established the following target 
compensation for our NEOs in 2024. 
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Target Annual Bonus Target Long- Total 
Base Pay % of Base Amount Term Incentive 2024 Target 

Mr. Wood 
Mr. Guglielmone 
Ms. Becker 
Mr. Berkes 

$ 1,000,000 
$ 575,000 
$ 575,000 
$ 650,000 

150% 
100% 
100% 
125% 

$ 1,500,000 
$ 575,000 
$ 575,000 
$ 812,500 

$ 6,000,000 
$ 1,500,000 
$ 1,000,000 
$ 1,000,000 

$ 8,500,000 
$ 2,650,000 
$ 2,150,000 
$ 2,462,500 

These target pay packages are heavily weighted to components that are paid based on both company and 
individual performance which creates significant alignment between our NEOs and shareholders. 

CEO Pay 
Mix 

Average 
Other NEOs 

Pay Mix 

Base Pay 

12% 

Annual Bonus 

Base Pay 

25% 

> INDIVIDUAL ELEMENTS OF 2024 PAY 

Base Pay 

Annual Bonus 

The base pay level established for each of our NEOs represents a modest portion of each individual's total 
compensation package and the Compensation Committee believes them to be competitive and appropriate based 
on market data. 

Annual Bonus Program 

Our bonus plan is an annual cash incentive program designed to reward achievement for the current year based 
on achieving a level of FFO per share that the Committee has determined is necessary for the Company to 
achieve its business objectives for the year. The Compensation Committee has determined that FFO per share is 
the appropriate measure to use for our annual bonus program because it is a key annual metric used by 
investors, the Board and management to evaluate the Company's annual performance and it reflects the full 
range of decision making and execution for the Company for the year. The Compensation Committee sets the 
required performance level for FFO per slnare at the beginning of each year with levels reflecting performance that 
ranges from acceptable at the threshold level to exceptional at the stretch level based on budgets reviewed by the 
entire Board. Approximately 94% of our employees participate in this annual bonus plan. 

Performance Goal 

Payout as Percentage of Target 

FFO per diluted Share 

Performance Levels 

Threshold Target Stretch 

75% 

$6.61 

100% 

$6.71 

125% 

$6.81 

Final Payout 

$6.77 

112.5% 

The required achievement levels of FFO per share were consistent with the annual budget approved by the Board 
in February 2024. 

Each NEO had a maximum potential bonus opportunity establis.hed as a percentage of base pay combined with 
the performance level achieved by the Company. Our NEOs are entitled to receive 25% of the flinal bonus amount 
solely based on Company performance. The remaining 75% is earned based on the Compensation Committee's 
assessment of each individual's performance and whether that NEO achieved the objectives set out by the 
Company within that NEO's area of responsibility. Based on a review of each individual's performance and the 
considerations outlined in detail on pages 26-27, the Compensation Committee elected to award each of our 
NEOs the full amount of the individual performance portion of his/her bonus potential. 
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Actual Earned 

Target Target • Company Individual Total 
(% Base Pay) ($) • Performance Performance Paid 

Mr. Wood 150% $ 1,500,000 $ 1,875,000 $ 421,875 $ 1,265,625 $ 1,687,500 
Mr. Guglielmone 100% $ 575,000 $ 718,750 $ 161 ,719 $ 485,156 $ 646,875 
Ms. Becker 100% $ 575,000 $ 718,750 $ 161 ,719 $ 485,156 $ 646,875 
Mr. Berkes 125% $ 812,500 $ 1,015,625 $ 914,063 $ 0 $ 914,063 

In connection with his termination, Mr. Berkes received the full amount of his actual earned bonus payout 
regardless of any evaluation of his performance during 2024. 

Our NEOs have the option to receive up to 25% of the final bonus payout in the form of shares that vest equally 
over three years with accelerated vesting on death, disability, change in control and termination without cause. In 
consideration of the extended payment period for this portion of the bonus already earned, the employee receives 
shares valued at 120% of the portion of the annual bonus he/she elects to receive in shares. This option is made 
available to all participants in our annual bonus plan at the level of Director and above. The cash portion of the 
2024 annual bonus is reflected in the "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation" column in the Summary 
Compensation Table in this proxy statement. The portion of the annual bonus paid in shares will be included in 
the "Stock Awards" column in the Summary Compensation Table and the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table in 
next year's proxy statement. 

Long-Term Incentive Program 

The largest portion of compensation for each of our NEOs comes from our equity based long-term incentive 
program that aligns the interests of our NEOs with shareholders by incentivizing our NEOs to identify and 
accomplish medium and longer-term business objectives that generate value through share price appreciation, 
dividend growth and prudent capital allocation decisions. Performance for purposes of our long-term incentive 
program is measured against the following preset metrics. 

Plan Metric 

Relative Total Shareholder Return 
(34% weighting) 

FFO Multiple Premium 
(33% weighting) 

Return on Invested Capital 
(33% weighting) 
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Description 

Compares our total shareholder return , taking into account share price 
appreciation and assuming reinvestment of dividends, against the total 
return achieved by the Bloomberg REIT Shopping Center Index 
("BBRESHOP") which is comprised of publicly traded companies that 
own and operate open air shopping centers. The Compensation 
Committee believes that the BBRESHOP provides an appropriate 
basis to compare our performance against similarly situated 
companies. 
Compares the FFO multiple at which the Company is trading at the 
end of the performance period against the average FFO multiple at 
which all other public shopping center companies (other than the 
Company) are trading at that time. Tlhe FFO multiples are provided by 
a third party investment bank and serves as a measure of investor 
expectations of our long-term growth potential and confidence in our 
management team versus other publicly traded open air shopping 
center companies. 
Reflects how effectively we have allocated our shareholders' capital 
during the 3-year performance period and incentivizes sound, long­
term investment decisions focused on generating strong future 
shareholder returns. The metric encompasses all .aspects of capital 
allocation decisions. Required performance levels are established to 
reflect changing market expectations as we acquire, sell and develop 
assets. 



The required performance levels for each of these metrics and the actual performance achieved for the 3-year 
performance period from 2022 through 2024 is set forth below. 

Performance Targets Payout Factor 
Performance Goal Weighting Threshold Target Stretch Unweighted Weighted 

Payout as Percentage of Target 50% 100% 150% 

Relative Total TSR 34% 5% <Index Index 5% >Index 58.7% 19.96% 

FFO Multiple Premium 33% 5% Premium 15% Premium 20% Premium 145.5% 48.02% 

Return on Invested Capital 33% 6.75% 7.00% 7.25% 150.0% 49.50% 

I Final Payout 117.47% 1 

The Compensation Committee has the right to increase or decrease each N EO's award under our long-term 
incentive program by up to 20% to reflect individual performance and chose not to exercise that discretion for any 
of our NEOs. See the discussions on pages 26-27 for the factors considered by the Compensation Committee in 
determining the final long-term incentive awards payable to our NEOs for the 2022 through 2024 performance 
period. 

The equity awards under our long-term incentive program are paid in the form of restricted shares that are issued 
after completion of the 3-year performance period and then vest equally over an additional period of 3 years from 
the date they are earned and issued. As a result, each NEO is required to hold all of their earned shares for 
1 year after they have been earned, two-thirds of their earned shares for 2 years after they are earned and 
one-third of their earned shares for 3 years after they are earned. 

Performance Period Award Earned Shares Vest 

Year1 Year2 Year3 Year4 Year5 Year6 

~ Shares issued IJI 
The actual number of shares awarded to each of our NEOs is determined by dividing the amount of the award by 
the closing price of our shares on the NYSE on the date the awards are made. 

There is no amount included in the Summary Compensation Table or Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table in this 
proxy statement for long-term incentive awards earned for the 2022-2024 perlformance period. Those amounts 
will be included in next year's proxy statement. The long-term incentive awards included in the Summary 
Compensation Table and the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table for our NEOs in this proxy statement relate to 
awards made in February 2024 for the 3-year performance period ending December 31, 2023. 
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2024 NEO PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 

Listed below are the individual performance achievements for each of our NEOs that tihe Compensation 
Committee considered to be instrumental in its determination to award each of our NEO's the full amount of 
compensation he or she was eligible to receive for 2024. Mr. Berkes received the entirety of his 2024 bonus in 
connection with his termination without any review of performance by the Compensation Committee. 

Donald C. Wood 
Chief Executive Officer 

2024 Compensation (in OOOs) 
Base Pay $1,000 

Annual Bonus $1,688 

Long-Term Equity $7,048 

Total $9,736 

Total as % of Target 115% 

Daniel Guglielmone 
Executive Vice President 

Chief Financial Officer 

2024 Compensation (in OOOs) 
Base Pay $ 575 

Annual Bonus $ 64 7 

Long-Term Equity $1 ,762 

Total $2,984 

Total as % ofTarget 113% 

Key Responsibilities 

Mr. Wood is responsible for setting and overseeing the Company's strategic 
direction and priorities, delivering both short- and long-term financial results, 
setting the culture for the Company and setting direction for all aspects of 
corporate responsibility. 

2024 Achievements 

.I Led the Company's efforts that delivered record levels of FFO per 
share, record top line revenue and record levels of comparable space 
leasing 

.I Led increased focus 011 acquisitions that resulted in $275 million 
invested in newly acquired assets with strong growth potential 

.I Led continued focus 011 sustainability initiatives relating to 
decarbonization and resilience 

.I Led decisions on reinvestment in our assets to position them for 
continued growth 

.I Led efforts that significantly increased the committed percentage of our 
mixed-use office portfolio by year-end 

Key Responsibilities 

Mr. Guglielmone has overall responsibility for all Company related financial 
activity including forecasting, reporting and capital allocation, in addition to 
management of investor relations activities and East Coast property 
transactions. 

2024 Achievements 

.I Co-led the Company's capital investment efforts with productive 
investments in existing assets contributing to FFO per diluted share 
growth in 2024 and expected significant future contrib·utions 

.I Raised $485 million through the Company's first convertible bond 
transaction which was used to pay maturing debt 

.I Opportunistically raised approximately $304 million of equity capital to 
maintain balance sheet strength 

.I Improved credit metrics including net debt to EBITDA 

.I Led financial efforts enabling the Company to increase our annual 
dividend rate to common shareholders for the 571h consecutive year 
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Dawn M. Becker 
Executive Vice President 

Chief Legal Officer 

2024 Compensation (in OOOs) 
Base Pay $ 575 

Annual Bonus $ 647 

Long-Term Equity $1 ' 175 

Total $2,397 

Total as % of Target 111% 

Key Responsibilities 

Ms. Becker has overall responsibil ity for all legal functions within the 
Company and heads all of our sustainability efforts in addition to overseeing 
our Human Resources, Information Technology and other administrative 
functions. 

2024 Achievements 

.I Led the Company's sustainability efforts 

.I Led the Company's progress to date on reducing Scope 1 and 2 GHG 

.I 

.I 

.I 

emissions, on pace to achieve our established science-based emission 
reduction target 
Guided the Company's legal efforts that contributed to record leasing 
volumes and an active year of acquisitions and dispositions 
Oversaw efforts that resulted in continued strong employee 
engagement results and improved succession planning in the Company 
Led continued technology system improvements and reporting to drive 
Company-wide efficiency and data availability and improved cyber 
security readiness 

OTHER COMPENSATION PRACTICES AND POLICIES 

> CONSIDERATION OF SAY ON PAY VOTE 

The Company conducts an annual "say on pay" vote to approve executive compensation. At the 2024 annual 
meeting of shareholders, approximately 92% of the shares voted were in support of the compensation paid to our 
NEOs. Although the vote is advisory and non-binding on the Board, the Compensation Committee regularly 
considers the results of this vote in evaluating the Company's compensation programs, including for 2024 
compensation. In light of the feedback from our shareholders and the Committee's evaluation, the Compensation 
Committee concluded that the Company provides executive competitive programs that effectively attract, 
motivate, reward and retain executives in a manner aligned with our shareholder interests and made no material 
changes to our executive compensation programs for 2025. 

> NO HEDGING OR PLEDGING OF OUR SHARES 

The Company prohibits all officers and Trustees from engaging in short sales of our securities, establishing 
margin accounts, pledging our securities as collateral for a loan, buying or selling puts or calls on our securities or 
otherwise engaging in hedging transactions (such as zero-cost dollars, exchange funds, and forward sale 
contracts) involving our securities. 

> SEVERANCE AND CHANGE-IN-CONTROL ARRANGEMENTS 

We do not have employment agreements in place with any of our NEOs or any other employee which provides 
the Compensation Committee with maximum flexibility to modify compensation as warranted based on market 
conditions and Company considerations. We do, however, have in place with each of our NEOs a severance 
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agreement that provides for certain payments and benefits to be provided to the NEO if he/she is terminated from 
employment under the conditions set forth in those agreements. The circumstances in which payments may be 
made and the potential amounts of those payments are described in more detail in the "Potential Payments on 
Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control" section below. We believe that the payments provided for in 
these agreements are consistent with market and important as part of the total compensation packages available 
for our NEOs. 

> CLAWBACK POLICY 

We have a clawback policy that provides for the return from an NEO of performance based compensation if we 
issue a restatement of financial results to correct material non-compliance with reporting requirements and the 
performance compensation paid to that NEO is more than it would have been based on the restated financial 
results. This clawback policy complies with the most current NYSE requirements. 

> SHARE OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES 

We maintain guidelines requiring each of our NEOs as well as other executive vice presidents to maintain a 
specific level of ownership of our shares as shown below. These guidelines are intended to link the interests of 
our NEOs and other executive vice presidents with the interests of our shareholders. Each individual subject to 
these guidelines has five years to achieve the required level of ownership after becoming subject to the 
guidelines. 

Compliance with our ownership guidelines gets measured and reviewed by the Board at the end of each fiscal 
year and the ownership level of each of our NEOs as of December 31, 2024 is shown below based on the closing 
price of our shares on December 31 , 2024. 

Our current NEOs were in compliance with our equity ownership requirements as of December 31, 
2024. 

Wood 

Guglielmone 

Becker :===== 
Ownership Target: 

2Y:.x Base Pay + Bonus 

Ownership Target: 

7x Base Pay 

> RISK ASSESSMENT OF COMPENSATION PROGRAMS 

The Compensation Committee completed its last annual review of our compensation programs and policies from 
a risk perspective in February 2025. The Compensation Committee does not believe that our programs 
encourage unnecessary or excessive risk or are likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company. Our 
compensation programs use both short- and long-term incentives with different metrics dr1iven by corporate 
performance, and have differing performance requirements. Further, we have in place policies to mitigate risk 
including robust share ownership requirements and vesting periods on equity awards made as part of our 
compensation programs. 
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> EQUITY GRANT PRACTICES 

We do not grant equity awards in anticipation of the release of material non-public information and we do not time 
the release of material non-public information based on equity award grant dates or for the purpose of affecting 
the value of executive compensation. In addition, we do not take material non-public information into account 
when determining the timing and terms of such awards. Although we do not have a formal policy with respect to 
the timing of our equity award grants, the Compensation Committee has historically granted such awards 011 a 
predetermined annual schedule. In 2024, we did not grant new awards of stock options, stock appreciation rights, 
or similar option-like instmments to our N EOs. All of our options have an exercise price equal to the closing price 
of our shares on the date of grant and our 2020 Performance Incentive Plan ("2020 Plan") expressly prohibits any 
repricing of options. The Compensation Committee has delegated to our CEO, in his capacity as a Trustee, 
authority to make equity awards to non-executive officers, subject to various limitations set forth in the delegation. 

> TAX DEDUCTIBILITY OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code generally limits deductibility of compensation paid to our NEOs to 
$1 million. Although the Compensation Committee considers the impact of Section 162(m) in structuring 
compensation programs, the primary focus is on creating programs and compensation packages that address the 
needs and objectives of the Company regardless of the impact of Section 162(m). As a result, the Compensation 
Committee has made and may continue to make awards and to structure programs that are non-deductible under 
Section 162(m). 

> HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS 

We provide health and welfare perquisites to our NEOs on the same basis as we provide those benefits to all 
employees. These benefits are competitive with those offered by companies with whom we compete for talent 
and provide another tool that allows us to attract and retain talented executives. Since 2005, we have agreed to 
provide to Mr. Wood, his spouse and one of his children continuation of health coverage after Mr. Wood's 
termination upon death, disability, retirement, change in control or otherwise (other than a termination with cause 
or resignation). This coverage will continue as to Mr. Wood and his spouse until their death, or with respect to his 
spouse until divorce, if earlier, and coverage continues for one of Mr. Wood's children until death. We are required 
to provide coverage of at least the same level as provided to Mr. Wood and his family at the time of his 
termination and such coverage will be secondary to certain other coverages that may be available to Mr. Wood 
and his family. 

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT 

The Compensation Committee of the Board has reviewed and discussed the CD&A required by Item 402(b) of 
Regulation S-K with management and, based on such review and discussion, the Compensation Committee 
recommended to the Board that the CD&A be included in this Proxy Statement. 

Submitted by: 

Elizabeth I. Holland, Chairperson 
Nicole Y. Lamb-Hale 
Thomas A. McEachin 
Gail P. Steinel 
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Compensation Tables and Narratives 
> SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 

The table below summarizes the total compensation earned by or paid to the individuals who were NEOs for the 
fiscal years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023 and 2022. All amounts are calculated in accordance with current 
SEC rules. 

Non-Equity 
Incentive All Other 

Name and Principal Position Year Salaryi'' Bonus121 Stock Awards131 Plan Compensation!•! Compensationl5l Total 

Donald c. Wood (PEO) 2024 $ 1,000,000 $ $ 6,946,529 $ 1,265,625 $ 2&,376 $ 9,240,530 

Chief Executive Officer and 2023 $ 1,000,000 $ $ 6,502,565 $ 1,406,250 $ 33,005 $ 8,941,820 

President 2022 s 1,000,000 $ $ 6,474,391 s 1,406,250 s 35,391 s 8,916,031 

Daniel Guglielmone (PFO) 2024 s 575,000 s $ 1,063,974 $ 646,875 $ 13,340 $ 2,299,188 

Executive Vice President- 2023 $ 575,000 $ 150,000 $ 989,990 $ 718,750 $ 12,389 $ 2,446,128 

Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer 2022 $ 575,000 $ $ 890,996 $ 718,750 $ 11,736 $ 2,196,482 

Dawn M. Becker 2024 $ 575,000 $ $ 1,279,594 $ 485,156 $ 18 ,868 $ 2,358,619 

Executive Vice President- 2023 s 575,000 $ $ 1,205,597 s 539,063 s 17,644 $ 2,337,304 

Chief Legal & Administrative Officer 2022 $ 575,000 $ $ 727,570 $ 539,063 $ 14,521 $ 1,856,154 

JeffreyS. Berkesl•l 2024 s 650,000 $ $ 1,368,649 $ 914,063 $1,736,328 $ 4,669,039 

Former President and Chief 2023 $ 650,000 $ $ 1,233,773 $ 761,719 $ 18,904 $ 2,664,395 

Operating Officer 2022 s 650,000 $ $ 1,205,703 $ 609,375 $ 15,613 $ 2,480,691 

(1l Amounts shown in the Salary column include all amounts deferred at the election of the NEOs into our non-qualified 
deferred compensation plan. 

(2) Amounts represent a one-time cash bonus. 
(3) Amounts shown in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of the awards calculated in accordance with 

FASB ASC Topic 718 that were issued in the year shown. 
(4l Amounts shown in this column represent the cash amount paid under our annual bonus plan arnd include amounts 

deferred by our NEOs into our non-qualified deferred compensation plan. 
(5l The amounts shown in this column for the most recent fiscal year include: (a) contributions to our 401 (k) plan of $8,625- for 

each of our NEOs; and (b) payments for various life, long-term disability and other medical related insurance of $19,751 
for Mr. Wood, $4,715 for Mr. Guglielmone, $10,243 for Ms. Becker and $1 1,518 for Mr. Berkes. In addition, the amount 
shown in this column for Mr. Berkes inciiUdes severance costs of $1 ,716,185 paid to Mr. Berkes in connection with him 
leaving the Trust as described in the "Potential Payments on Termination of Employment and Chang·e-in-Control" section 
below. 

(6l Mr. Berkes was a named executive officer until December 31 , 2024. In addition to the amounts ref lected above, at the 
conclusion of the term of his Consulting Agreement, Mr. Berkes will receive a distribution of the balance in his 
non-qualified deferred compensation account as reflected in the "Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation" section below. 
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> GRANTS OF PLAN BASED AWARDS TABLE 

The following equity awards were made in 2024 to our NEOs. 

All Other Stock Awards: 
Grant Number of Shares of Grant Date 

Name Date Stock or Unitsl3l Fair Value141 

Donald C. Wood 2/6/ 2024 (1) 5,533 $ 562,485 

2/6/2024 (2) 62,798 $ 6,384,045 

Daniel Guglielmone 2/6/2024 (2) 10,466 $ 1,063,974 

Dawn M. Becker 2/6/2024111 2,121 $ 215,621 

2/6/2024 (2) 10,466 $ 1,063,974 

JeffreyS. Berkes 2/6/2024 (1) 2,997 $ 304,675 

2/6/2024 (2) 10,466 $ 1,063,974 

(1l Issued under our annual bonus plan for the 1-year performance period ending December 31. 2023. These shares vest 
equally over 3 years. 

(2l Issued under our long-term incentive program for the 3-year performance period ending December 31, 2023. These 
shares vest equally over 3 years. 

(3) Dividends are paid on these shares issued at the same rate and time as paid to all other holders of our shares as declared 
by our Board from time to time. 

(4l Represents the grant date fair value of sh.are awards as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. 
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> OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR END TABLE 

The following table sets forth information about outstanding equity awards held by our NEOs as of December 31, 
2024: 

Name 

Donald C. Wood 

Daniel Guglielmone 

Dawn M. Becker 

JeffreyS. Berkes 

Number of Shares or 
Units of Stock That 

Have Not Vested 

5,533 111 

62,798 Ill 
3,407 111 

35,981 (1) 

1,408 131 

15,653 131 

10,466 (1) 

5,997 (1) 

2,348 131 

3,428 141 

2,121 (1) 

10,466 Ill 
1,306 111 

5,997 111 

352 m 
1,565 131 

Stock Awards 

Equity incentive plan 
Equity incentive plan awards: awards: market or payout 

Market Value of Shares or number of unearned shares, value of unearned shares, 
Units of Stock That Have units or other rights that units or other rights that 

Not Vestedl•l have not vested have not vestedl•l 

$ 619,419 

$ 7,030,236 
$ 381,414 
$ 4,0.28,073 
$ 157,626 

$ 1,752,353 

$ 1,171,669 

$ 671,364 

$ 262,859 
$ 383,765 

$ 237,446 

$ 1,171,669 

$ 146,207 
$ 671,364 

$ 39,406 

$ 175,202 

5,221(5) $ 584,491 

111 One-third of these shares vested on February 12, 2025 and the remaining shares wil l vest equally on February 12 of each 
of 2026 and 2027. 

(21 One-half of these shares vested on February 12, 2025 and the remaining shares will vest on February 12, 2026. 
131 These shares vested on February 12, 2025. 
(41 One-half of these shares will vest equally on August 3 of each of 2025 and 2026. 
(SJ The number of shares represent the threshold payout level under a performance award made in 2021 that included a 

performance period ending December 31, 2024. The final number of shares earned was calculated in January 2025 in 
accordance with the agreement which resulted in Mr. Berkes earning 7,204 shares and receiving a cash payment of 
$124,485 for accrued dividends also in 2025. All other shares held by Mr. Berkes vested in fu ll on December 31, 2024 in 
accordance with his severance arrangements. See the "Potential Payments on Termination of Employment and 
Change-in-Control" section below for more information. 

(6J The value of shares is calculated based on $111.95, the closing price of our shares on the NYSE on December 31, 2024. 
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> OPTIONS EXERCISED AND STOCK VESTED IN 2024 

The following table includes information with respect to shares held by our NEOs that vested in 2024. None of our 
NEOs holds any options or exercised any options during 2024. 

Stock Awards 

Number of Shares Value Realized 
Name Acquired on Vesting on Vestingl1l 

Donald C. Wood 54,904 $ 5,529,382 

Daniel Guglielmone 10,192 $ 1,046,598 

Dawn M. Becker 7,936 $ 799,235 

JeffreyS. Berkes 121 44,910 $4,840,877 

(1l The amounts in this column were calculat·ed using the closing price of a share on the date the shares vested. 
(2) Includes 28,291 Shares that vested on December 31, 2024 with a value realized on vesting of $3,167,177 in connection 

with Mr. Berkes' leaving the Company as described in "Potential Payments on Termination of Employment and 
Change-in-Control" section below. 

> NON-QUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION 

We maintain a non-qualif ied deferred compensation plan that is open to participation by 47 members of our 
management team, including our NEOs. Each participant can elect to defer up to 100% of his or her base salary 
and cash payment under our annual bonus plan with deferrall elections made in December of each year for 
amounts to be earned in the following year. A number of widely available investment options are made available 
to each plan participant who then decides how to allocate amounts deferred among those investment options. 
The amount earned by plan participants on their deferrals is calculated by our third party plan administrator as if 
the amounts deferred had actually been invested in the investment options selected by each participant. We do 
not make any contributions to the deferred compensation plan for any individual nor do we guarantee any rate of 
return on amounts deferred. Amounts deferred into the plan, including amounts earned on the deferrals, are 
generally payable to the participant shortly after he or she retires or is otherwise no longer employed by us; 
however, there are a few other alternatives where amounts may be paid to a participant sooner. All of our NEOs 
other than Mr. Guglielmone participate in our deferred compensation plan. 2024 activity for the participants in our 
plan is described below. 

Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate 
Contributions in Contributions in Last Earnings in Withdrawals/ Balance at Last 

Name Last Fiscal Year(ll Fiscal Year Last Fiscal Year Distributions Fiscal Year-End 

Donald C. Wood 

Dawn M. Becker 

Jeffrey S. Berkes 

$ 

$ 

$ 

250,000 $ 

57,500 $ 

190,430 $ 

- $ 

- $ 

- $ 

1,629,420 $ 

266,275 $ 

117,149 $ 

- $ 12,826,650 

- $ 2, 773,531 

- $ 926,563 

(1l All amounts in this column are included in either the "Salary" or "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation" column of the 
Summary Compensation Table for 2024. 
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> POTENTIAL PAYMENTS ON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT AND CHANGE-IN-CONTROL 

Termination Payments to JeffreyS. Berkes 

Mr. Berkes' position with the Company as Chief Operating Officer was eliminated and as a result, Mr. Berkes' 
employment with the Company was terminated without cause effective as of December 31 , 2024. Payments to 
Mr. Berkes were made in accordance with his Severance Agreement and applicable law and included the 
following: 

One year of current base pay equal to $650,000 

Highest annual bonus paid over prior three years equal to $1,015,625 

Accelerated vesting of 28,291 restricted Shares of the Company 

One year of COBRA continuation coverage costs equal to $50,560 

Mr. Berkes also had a performance share agreement where the performance period ended December 31, 2024. 
Final calculation of the shares earned under that agreement was calculated in January 2025 in accordance with 
terms of the agreement which resulted in Mr. Berkes being awarded in 7,204 shares and receiving a cash 
payment of $124,485 for accrued dividends in 2025 in accordance with his Performance Share Award agreeme·nt. 

Mr. Berkes will also receive a lump sum cash payment from his account under our non-qualified deferred 
compensation plan in accordance with the election made by Mlr. Berkes pursuant to our non-qualified deferred 
compensation plan. 

In addition, effective as of January 1, 2025, the Company and Mr. Berkes entered into a Consulting Agreement 
whereby Mr. Berkes will provide post-employment services relating to the Company's acquisition efforts for up to 
one year and will be paid a percentage of the purchase price for qualifying completed acquisitions as described in 
more detail in the agreement, a copy of which was filed as Exhibit 10.40 to the Company's Form 1 0-K for the 
fiscal year ending December 31, 2024 filed with the SEC on February 13, 2025. 

Potential Termination Payments to NEOs 

We have entered into severance agreements with each of our current and former NEOs that require us to make 
certain payments and provide certain benefits to them in the event of a termination of employment, whether 
following a change in control of the Company or in connection with other circumstances. Regardless of the reason 
for an NEO's termination of employment, he or she will be entitled to receive upon termination a distribution of any 
amounts in our non-qualified deferred compensation plan as described in the "Non-Qualified Deferred 
Compensation" section above. No NEO is entitled to receive a new award under the annual bonus plan or our 
long-term incentive plan for the year in which the termination occurs. The agreements with each of our NEOs 
contain provisions restricting the executive from engaging in competing behavior and soliciting and/or hiring our 
employees for a period of time after termination. The payments that will be made to an NEO on termination vary 
depending on the reason for termination and may be conditioned on the signing of a release in favor of the 
Company. 

The amount of compensation payable to each of our NEOs under various termination scenarios is reflected bellow 
assuming that the separation of service was effective on December 31, 2024, other than with respect to 
Mr. Berkes whose compensation reflects the actual amounts paid in connection with his termination. 
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Change-in-
For Cause Termination Control Termina1tion Termination on 

Name Type of Compensation Termination111 Without Cause(ll Termination(l1151 on Death111 Disability111 

Donald C. Wood Cash Benefits (multiple) 6 months 1.5x 3.0x N/A N/A 

Cash Benefits (amount) $ 500,000 $ 4,312,500 $ 8,625,000 $ - $ 1,400,544 

Medical Benefits(21 $ 22,297 $ 1,633,446 $ 1,733,784 $ 1,360,000 $ 1,610,595 

Accelerated Equityl31 $ $13,969,121 $13,969,121 $13,969,121 $13,969,121 

Other Benefitsl41 $ $ 60,000 $ 166,665 $ - $ 

Excise Tax Gross-Up N/A N/A $ N/A N/A 

Total $ 522,297 $19,975,067 $24,494,570 $15,329,121 $16,980,259 

Daniel Guglielmone Cash Benefits (multiple) 3 months N/A 2.0x N/A N/A 

Cash Benefits (amount) $ 143,750 $ $ 2,587,500 $ - $ 664,504 

Medical Benefitsl21 $ 12,253 $ $ 98,026 $ - $ 49,013 

Accelerated Equityl31 $ $ 2,489,656 $ 2,489,656 $ 2,489,656 $ 2,489,656 

Other Benefitsl41 $ $ $ 90,000 $ - $ 

Excise Tax Gross-Up N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Total $ 156,003 $ 2,489,656 $ 5,265,182 $ 2,489,656 $ 3,203,173 

Dawn M. Becker Cash Benefits (multiple) 6 months 1.0x 2.0x N/A N/A 

Cash Benefits (amount) $ 287,500 $ 1,293,750 $ 2,587,500 $ - $ 628,519 

Medical Benefitsl21 $ 11,270 $ 16,905 $ 45,081 $ - $ 22,541 

Accelerated Equityl31 $ $ 2,441,294 $ 2,441,294 $ 2,441,294 $ 2,441,294 

Other Benefitsl41 $ $ 60,000 $ 90,000 $ - $ 
Excise Tax Gross-Up N/A N/A $ N/A N/A 

Total $ 298,770 $ 3,811,949 $ 5,163,875 $ 2,441,294 $ 3,092,353 

JeffreyS. Berkes!GI Cash Benefits (multiple) N/A 1.0x N/A N/A N/A 

Cash Benefits (amount) N/A $ 1,665,625 N/A N/A N/A 

Medical Benefitsl21 N/A $ 50,560 N/A N/A N/A 

Accelerated Equityl31 N/A $ 3,167,177 N/A N/A N/A 

Other Benefitsl41 N/A $ N/A N/A N/A 

Excise Tax Gross-Up N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Total N/ A $ 4,883,362 N/ A N/ A N/ A 

111 For all NEOs, the cash payments for termination without cause and termination following a change-in-control include base 
salary plus the highest bonus earned during 2023, 2022 and 2021, the last three completed fiscal years. The cash 
payments on termination with cause for Mr. Wood, Mr. Guglielmone and Ms. Becker are 1 month of base pay for every 
year of service above 5 years, cappedl at 6 months of base pay. The cash payments on disalbility for Mr. Wood, 
Mr. Guglielmone and Ms. Becker represent 1 year of base salary less amounts received from disability insurance 
maintained by the Company, grossed up for taxes on non-tax exempt payments. 

121 Amounts in this row represent our estimate of the COBRA equivalent rates for health care benefits for all NEOs and 
current life and long-term disability premiums for Mr. Wood, Mr. Guglielmone and Ms. Becker. The period of time for which 
these benefits are provided varies as follows: (a) termination without cause - 9 months for Mr. Wood and Ms. Becker; 
(b) termination fo llowing a change-in-control - 3 years for Mr. Wood and 2 years for Ms. Becker and Mr. Guglielmone; 
(c) termination for cause - 1 month for every year of service above 5 years, capped at 6 months for Mr. Wood, 
Mr. Guglielmone and Ms. Becker; and (d) disability- 1 year. All amounts shown in this row for Mr. Wood also include the 
estimated costs (calculated in accordance with GAAP) of satisfying the obligations under his Health Continuation 
Coverage Agreement. 
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(3) All unvested restricted silares held by our NEOs will vest in the event of termination without cause, termination following a 
change-in-control, death or disability. Values were calculated by multiplying the number of unvested shares that vest 
under each termination event using the closing price of the Company's shares on December 31, 2024. With respect to 
Mr. Berkes, all of his unvested shares vested on December 31, 2024. 

(4) Amounts in this row are estimated costs for an administrative assistant and outplacement assistance for a period of 
6 months in the event of a termination without cause for Mr. Wood and Ms. Becker and for a period of 12 months for 
Mr. Wood and 9 months for Mr. Guglielmone and Ms. Becker in the event of a termination following a change-in-control. 
The amount also includes the cost of providing a company vehicle to Mr. Wood for three years in the event of a 
termination following a change-in-control should he choose to use that benefit. 

(5) Change-in-control is deemed to have occurred when a person acquires a 20% interest in us, or our current Trustees, or 
those subsequently approved by our current Trustees, constitute less than 50% of our Board. Upon a change-in-control, 
each NEO is entitled to receive payments and benefits in the following circumstance: (a) the NEO is terminated from 
employment by the Company (other than for cause) or leaves for good reason within 2 years after the change-in-control; 
or (b) Mr. Wood or Ms. Becker voluntarily leaves employment within the 30-day window following the 1-year anniversary 
of the change-in-control. 

(6) The amounts shown for Mr. Berkes are actual amounts paid to him in connection with his termination without cause as 
described above. In addition, in January 2025, Mr. Berkes earned 7,204 performance shares calculated based on a 
performance period that ended December 31 , 2024 and also received a cash payment of $124,485 for accrued dividends 
on those shares. Mr. Berkes will also receive a distribution from his account under our non-qualified deferred 
compensation plan as described above. 

> CEO PAY RATIO 

Our compensation and benefit programs are substantially similar throughout the Company and are designed to 
reward all employees who contribute to our success with a total compensation package that is competitive in the 
marketplace for each employee's position and performance. We are required to calculate and disclose the 
compensat ion of our median paid employee as well as the ratio of the total annual compensation paid to our CEO 
to the annual compensation of our median paid employee. The determination of our median paid employee was 
used taking our total employee population as of December 31, 2024, excluding our CEO, which included full-time 
and part-time employees ranging from executive vice presidents to maintenance technicians. For the 
determination, we used annual base pay plus annual bonus at target levels plus overtime actually paid, the 
combination of which we believe most closely approximates the total annual direct compensation of our 
employees. For purposes of the calculation, base pay was annualized for the 46 employees who started with us in 
2024. No other adjustments were made. 

The actual total annual compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and median paid employee for 2024 was 
calculated in accordance with the requirements of the Summary Compensat ion Table included in this proxy 
statement. Based on this methodology, we have determined that the total annual compensation paid to our Chief 
Executive Officer in 2024 was $9,240,530 and the total annual compensation paid to our median paid employee in 
2024 was $137,925 resulting in a ratio of 67:1. 

We calculated our pay ratio in accordance with SEC rules; however, those rules allow companies discretion in 
methodologies used to identify the median paid employee and the compensation used to determine the median 
paid employee. As a result, this ratio is unique to our Company. Other companies may make their determinations 
differently so that the ratio may not be comparable across companies. We believe our ratio is a reasonable 
estimate. Our ratio is very heavily influenced by what emplloyees/services we choose to provide through 
employees as opposed to through third parties who are not taken into account in the calculation of the pay ratio. 
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> PAY VERSUS PERFORMANCE DISCLOSURE 

Year 

2024 

2023 

2022 

2021 

2020 

Summary 
Compenstion 

Table Total for 
PEOit l 

$9,240,530 

$8,941,820 

$8,916,031 

$7,520,917 

$7,481,796 

Compensatuon 

Actually Paid to 
PEOill 

$11,336,876 

s 9,972,582 

$ 6,570,796 

$15,446,709 

$ 1,832,214 

Average 
Summary 

Compenstion 

Table Total for 
non-PEO NEOsl21 

$3,108,949 

$2,499,276 

$2,177,775 

$2,955,860 

$1,753,182 

Average 
Compensation 

Actually Paid to 
non-PEO NEOsl21 

$3,549,950 

$2,742,212 

$1,669,484 

$3,999,185 

$ 859,320 

Value of Initial Fixed $100 
Investment Based On: 

Peer Group 
Total Total 

Shareholder Shareholder 
Return Returnlll 

$106.52 $125.61 

s 95.04 $113.74 

$ 89.10 $104.09 

$115.21 $119.96 

$ 69.44 $ 73.36 

Net 

Income 
(in OOOs) 

$304,334 

$247,217 

$395,661 

$269,081 

$135,888 

FFO per 

Diluted 
Sharel41 

$6.77 

$6.55 

$6.32 

$5.57 

$4.38 

(1) Mr. Wood was our principal executive officer for all years shown. Following are the adjustments made during each year 
shown to arrive at compensation actually paid to our principal executive officer during each year. 

PEO 

Adjustments 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 

Amounts re·ported under "Stock Awards" in SCT $ (6,946,529) $ (6, 502,565) $ (6,474,391) $ (5,213,719) S (5,830,493) 

Change Fair Value of Awards Granted in Year 
and Unvested as of Year-End 

Change in Fair Value from Prior Year-End to 

Cu rrent Year-End of Awards Granted Prior to 
Year that were Outstanding and Unvested as 
of Yea r-End 

Change in Fair Value from Prior Year-End to 
Vesting Date of Awards Granted Prior to Year 
that Vested During Year 

Increase based on Dividends or Other Earnings 
Paid During Year prior to Vesting Date of 
Award 

Total Adjustments 

$ 7,649,655 $ 

$ 991,042 $ 

$ (128,475) $ 

$ 530,653 $ 

$ 2,096,346 $ 

6,203,610 $ 5,171,732 $ 7,421,261 $ 3,899,517 

406,886 $ (1,546,034) $ 4,544,000 $ (3,866,637) 

449,965 $ 66,969 $ 765,243 $ (223,600) 

472,866 $ 436,488 $ 409,008 $ 371,631 

1, 030,762 $ (2,345,236) $ 7,925,792 $ (5,649,582) 

(2) For 2020, our other NEOs were Mr. Guglielmone and Ms. Becker. For 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, our other NEOs were 
Mr. Berkes, Mr. Guglielmone and Ms. Becker. Following are the adjustments made during each year shown to arrive at 
the average compensation actually paid to our other NEOs during each year. 
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Average of Other NEOs 

Adjustments 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 

Amounts re·ported under "Stock Awards" in SCT 

Change Fair Value of Awards Granted in Year and 

Unvested as of Year-End 

$ (1,237,406) $ ( 1,143,120) $ (941,423) $ (1,903,744) $ (863,272) 

$ 1,362,655 $ 1,090,565 $ 752,007 $ 1,669,647 $ 577,369 

Change in Fair Value from Prior Year-End to 

Cu rrent Year-End of Awards Granted Prior to Year 
that were Outstanding and Unvested as of 

Year-End 

Change in Fair Value from Prior Year-End to Vesting 

Date of Awards Granted Prior to Year that Vested 

During Year 

Increase based on Dividends or Other Earnings Paid 

During Year prior to Vesting Date of Award 

Total Adjustments 

(3l Peer group is the BBRESHOP Index. 

$ 230,157 $ 

$ (20,379) s 

$ 105,973 $ 

$ 441,001 $ 

99,558 $ (433,020) $ 1,024,717 $ (616,362) 

91,527 s 5,263 s 149,658 s (51,710) 

104,406 $ 108,881 $ 103,048 $ 60,114 

242,936 $ (508,292) $ 1,043,325 $ (893,.862) 

(4l The Company has identified FFO per diluted share as the most important additional financial metric used to link pay and 
performance. Our annual bonus program pays out based on our absolute level of FFO per diluted share achieved for the 
year and one-third of our long-term incentive plan pays out based on a metric tied to FFO per diluted share. FFO per 
diluted share is a non-GAAP financial measure of a real estate company's operating performance and is defined by the 
National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts. We consider FFO per diluted share a meaningful measure of 
operating performance primarily because it avoids the assumption that the value of real estate assets diminishes 
predictably over time and is a primary way of evaluating our operating performance as compared to other real estate 
investment trusts. A reconciliation of FFO per diluted share to net income is included as Appendix A. 

Relationship to Compensation Actually Paid 

The following charts show the relationship of the compensation actually paid to our CEO and the average 
compensation actually paid to our other NEOs as compared to the total shareholder return for the Company and 
for the BBRESHOP Index. 

CEO Compensation Actually Paid v. TSR 

40% 

514,500 

512,000 
10% 

59,500 

57,000 

54,500 

$2,000 -SO% 
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

- CEOCAP - FRTTSR - BBRESHOPTSR 

Compensation actually paid is shown in thousands. 
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The following charts show the relationship of the compensation actually paid to our CEO and the average 
compensation actually paid to our other NEOs as compared to our GAAP reported net income and our FFO per 
diluted share. 

$45,000,000 

$37,500,000 

$30,000,000 

$22,500,000 

$1.5,000,000 

$7,500,000 

$· 

CEO Compensation Actua lly Paid v. Company 
Performance 

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

- CEO CAP - Net Income - FFO/share 

Net income is shown in ten thousands. 

$7.00 

$6.50 

$6.00 

$5.50 

$5.00 

$4.50 

$4.00 

Avg. NEO Compensation Actually Paid v. Company 
Performance 

$45,000,000 

$37,500,000 

$30,000,000 

$22,500,000 

$15,000,000 

$7,500,000 

S· 
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- Avg. NEO CAP - Net Income 

2023 2024 

FFO/!hare 

$7.00 

$6.50 

$6.00 

$5.50 

$5.00 

$4.50 

$4.00 

One of our primary compensation objectives is to align the financial interests of our NEOs with our shareholders. 
The high correlation shown above between the compensation actually paid to our CEO and otlher NEOs and the 
total shareholder return for us and the BBRESHOP Index reflect our success in achieving that objective. This is a 
direct result of the high percentage of our NEOs' compensation that is paid in the form of Company shares and 
our equity retention policies which directly align the interests of our NEOs with the interests of our shareholders. 
There is a less direct correlation between the compensation of our NEOs and our net income because no portion 
of our compensation program is linked directly to net income. There is also little correlation between the 
compensation of our NEOs and FFO per diluted share because FFO per diluted share metric is directly used only 
for our annual bonus plan which is a relatively modest portion of our NEOs' total compensation package and is 
only a component of the calculation that determines only a third of our NEOs' awards under our long-term 
incentive plan. 

Other lmp·ortant Financial Performance Measures for Executive Compensation 

Following is a list of the most important financial and non-financial measures used to link executive compensation 
and company performance. 

Return on invested capital 

Relative total shareholder return compared to the BBRESHP Index 

Relative FFO per diluted share multiple premium 

Individual performance including consideration of things such as leasing and occupancy activity, 
investment activity and advancement of ESG objectives 

Please se·e the Compensation Discussion and Analysis on pages 19 to 29 for more information on these 
measures and how they are taken into account in determining compensation for each of our NEOs. 
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> EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION 

The following table sets forth certain information on the 2020 Plan, our only act ive equity compensation plan, as 
of December 31 , 2024. 

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 

Total 3,019 $98.09 1,160,009 

Proposal 3: Ratification of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm 

Shareholders are being asked to ratify in a non-binding vote the selection of Grant Thornton, LLP ("GT") as our 
independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2025. Shareholder 
ratification of GT is not required by our governance documents; however, the Board is soliciting shareholder views 
on this matter. GT has served in this role since 2002 and the Board believes it is in the best interests of the 
Company and our shareholders for GT to continue in this role. If the selection of GT is not ratified, the Audit 
Committee may (but will not be required to) reconsider whether to retain GT. Even if the selection of GT is ratified, 
the Audit Committee may change the appointment of GT at any time if it determines such a change would be in 
the best interests of the Company and our shareholders. A representative of GT will be present at the Annual 
Meeting and will have the opportunity to make a statement if they so desire and answer appropriate questions 
from shareholders. 

The Audit Committee revi·ews and approves in advance all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by 
GT to the Company as required by and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

The following table sets forth the fees for services rendered by GT for the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 
2023: 

2024 2023 
Audit FeesCt) $ 948,975 $1,012,171 

Audit-Related Fees(2) $ 83,275 $ 54,075 

All Other Fees $ $ 

Total Fees $1,032,250 $1,066,246 

(1) Audit fees include all fees and expenses for services in connection with: (a) the audit of our financial statements included 
in our annual reports on Form 10-K; (b} Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 relating to our annual audit; (c) the review of the 
financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 1 0-Q; and (d) consents and comfort letters issued in 
connection with debt offerings and common share offerings. 

(2) Audit-related fees primarily include the audit of our employee benefit plan, which are paid by the plan and not the 
Company, and certain property level audits. 
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The affirmative vote of a majority of votes cast at the Annual Meeting, in person or by proxy, is required to 
approve this proposal. An "abstention" or "broker non-vote" will have no effect on the outcome of the vote for this 
proposal. 

Our Board recommends a vote FOR the ratification of the appointment 
of GT as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal 
year 2025 

> AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

The following Reporl of the Audit Committee does not constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed 
or incorporated by reference into any other filing by us under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, except to the extent the Company specifically incorporates this Report by reference therein. 

The Audit Committee is made up entirely of trustees who meet all independence requirements under the rules of 
the SEC and NYSE and have the requisite financial competence to serve on the Audit Committee. The Audit 
Committee meets at least quarterly and operates pursuant to a written charter that is reviewed at least every three 
years. That charter can be accessed under the Investors/Corporate Governance section of our website at 
www.federalrealty.com. In 2024, the Audit Committee met four times and each meeting included an executive 
session with our independent registered public accounting firm and no members of management present. 

The Audit Committee is directly responsible for the appointment, retention and oversight of Gl, the independent 
registered public accounting firm retained to audit our financial statements, and also oversees management of our 
internal audit firm in performance of their financial functions. Specifically, management is responsible for the 
financial reporting process, including the system of internal controls, for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States and for reporting on 
internal control over financial reporting. Management uses Pricewaterhouse Coopers, LLC ("PwC") to provide its 
internal audit function, including oversight of the ongoing testing of the effectiveness of our internal controls. The 
Audit Committee met regularly with PwC in 2024 and one meeting included an executive session with PwC with 
no members of GT or management present. GT is responsible for auditing the consolidated financial statements 
of the Company and expressing an opinion on the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal controls 
over financial reporting. 

As part of its oversight function, the Audit Committee: 

Met with management and GT and reviewed and discussed the Company's December 31, 2024 
audited financial statements; 

Worked with GT to oversee the audit of the Company's financial statements be-ginning with fiscal 
year 2024; 

Discussed with GT the matters required to be discussed by the applicable requirements of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB") and the SEC; 

Reviewed and discussed with management and GT, individually and collectivelly, all annual and 
quarterly financial statements and operating results prior to their issuance; 

Received the written disclosures and the letter from GT required by applicable requirements of the 
PCAOB regarding GT's communications with the audit committee concerning independence, and has 
discussed with GT its independence; 
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Discussed with GT matters required to be discussed pursuant to applicable audit standards, including 
the reasonableness of judgments and the clarity and completeness of financial disc!losures; 

Monitored the non-audit services provided by GT to ensure that performance of such services did not 
adversely impact GT's independence; and 

As part of the Committee's quarterly review of internal controls, the Committee discussed with 
management cybersecurity threats, cybersecurity training and ongoing areas of focus of 
management in protecting against cyber breaches. During those quarterly reviews in 2024, the 
Committee was advised that there were no breaches and that cybersecurity insurance had been 
procured. 

Based on the Audit Committee's reviews and discussions with GT, PwC and management, the Audit Committee 
recommended to the Board of Trustees that the Board approve the inclusion of our audited financial statements in 
our Annual Report on Form 1 0-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 , 2024 for fi ling with the SEC. 

Submitted by the Audit Committee: 

Gail P. Steinel , Chairperson 
David W. Faeder 
Elizabeth I. Holland 
Anthony P. Nader, Ill 
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Beneficial Ownership 
> OWNERSHIP OF PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

Amount and Nature of Percentage of Our 
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Beneficial Ownership Outstanding Shares<1> 

The Vanguard Group, lnc·l21 12,537,358 14.6% 

100 Vanguard Blvd. 

Malvern, PA 19355 

BlackRock, lncJ3) 8,169,558 9.5% 

55 East s2nd Street 

New York, NY 10055 

Norges Bank (The Central Bank of Norway)!4) 7,213,760 8.4% 

Bankplassen 2, PO Box 1179 Sentrum 

NO 0107 Oslo Norway 

State Street Corporation<S> 6,113,255 7.1% 

One Congress Street, Suite 1 

Boston, MA 02114 

JP Morgan Chase & Co.<G> 4,530,657 5.3% 

383 Madison Avenue 

New York, NY 10179 

<1> The percentage of outstanding shares is calculated by taking the number of shares stated in the Schedule 13G or 
13G/A, as applicable, filed with the SEC divided by 85,780,069, the total number of shares outstanding on March 18, 
2025. 

121 Information based on the most recently available Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 13, 2024 by The 
Vanguard Group which states that The Vanguard Group, an investment advisor, has shared voting power over 145,649 
shares, sole dispositive power over 12,144,222 shares and shared dispositive power over 393,136 shares. The 
Schedule 13G/A contained information as of December 31 , 2023 and may not reflect The Vanguard Group's current 
holdings of our shares. 

(3) Information based on the most recently available Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on January 24, 2024 by BlackRock, 
Inc .. which states that BlackRock, Inc .. a parent holding company, has sole voting power over 7,437,327 shares and 
sole dispositive power over 8,169,558 shares. The Schedule 13G/A contained information as of December 31 , 2023 and 
may not reflect BlackRock, Inc.'s current holdings of our shares. 

<4> Information based on the most recently available Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 13, 2024 by Norges 
Bank (The Central Bank of Norway) which states that Norges Bank (The Central Bank of Norway) has sole voting power 
and sole dispositive power over 7,213,760 shares. The Schedule 13G/A contained information as of December 31 , 2023 
and may not reflect Norges Bank's current holdings of our shares. 

<S> Information based on the most recently available Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on October 16, 2024 by State 
Street Corporation, which states that State Street Corporation, a parent holding company, has shared voting power over 
4,381 ,569 shares and shared dispositive power over 6,112,938 shares. The Schedule 13G/A contained information as of 
September 30, 2024 and may not reflect State Street Corporation's current holdings of our shares. 

!6> Information based on the most recently available Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on October 9, 2024 by JP Morgan 
Chase & Co. , which states that JP Morgan Chase & Co., a parent holding company, has sole voting power over 
1,298,488, shared voting power over 1,389,113 shares, sole dispositive power over 3,138,895 and shared dispositive 
power over 1 ,389, 708 shares. The Schedule 13G contained information as of September 30. 2024 and may not reflect 
JP Morgan Chase & Co.'s current holdings of our shares. 
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> OWNERSHIP OF TRUSTEES AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

The table below reflects beneficial ownership of our Trustees and NEOs as of March 18, 2025 determined in 
accordance with Rule 13d-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Unless noted in the footnotes 
following the table, each Trustee and NEO has sole voting and investment power as to all shares listed. 

Percentage of 
Unvested Total Shares Outstanding 

Restricted Beneficially Shares 
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner(1l Common Shares Owned Owned(2l 

Dawn M. Becker 160,483 24,423 184,906 * 

David W. faeder 26,446 0 26,446 * 

Daniel Guglielmone 38,842 29,342 68,184 * 

Elizabeth I. Holland 8,388 0 8,388 * 

Nicole Y. Lamb-Hale 4,774 0 4,774 * 

Thomas A. McEachin 2,535 0 2,535 * 

Anthony P. Nader, Ill 4,774 0 4,774 * 

Gail P. Steinel 16,678 0 16,678 * 

Donald C. Wood(3) 413,641 133,583 547,224 * 

Trustees, trustee nominees and executive officers as a 676,561 187,348 863,909 1.0% 
group (9 individuals) 

Less than 1% 
(1l The address for each of the named individuals is 909 Rose Avenue, Suite 200, North Bethesda, Maryland 20852. 
(2) The percentage of outstanding shares owned is calculated by taking the number of shares reflected in the column titled 

"Total Shares Beneficia lly Owned" divided by 85,780,069, the total number of shares outstanding on March 18, 2025. 
(3l Includes 53,879 shares owned by Stacey Wood Revocable Trust, 219,405 shares owned by Donald C. Wood Revocable 

Trust, 46,500 shares owned by Wood D-escendants Trust and 60,000 shares owned by IJKR II, LLC. 

Information about the Annual Meeting 
> NOTICE OF ELECTRONIC AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS 

We are furnishing proxy materials including this proxy statement and our 2024 Annual Report to Shareholders, 
including our Annual Report on Form 1 0-K for the year ended December 31 , 2024 ("Annual Report"), to each 
shareholder by providing access to such documents on the Internet. On or about March 28, 2025, we mailed to 
our shareholders a "Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials" ("Notice") containing instructions on how to 
access and review this proxy statement and our Annual Report and how to submit your vote on the Internet or by 
telephone. You cannot vote by marking the Notice and returning it. If you received the Notice, you will not 
automatically receive a printed copy of our proxy materials or Annual Report unless you follow the instructions for 
requesting these materials included in the Notice. This section does not apply if you previously requested to 
receive these materials by mail. Questions regarding the Notice or voting should be directed to our Investor 
Relations Department at (800) 937-5449 or by email at IR@federalrealty.com. 

> WHY YOU ARE RECEIVING THESE MATERIALS 

You are receiving these materials because you owned our shares as of March 18, 2025, the record date 
established by our Board of Trustees for our Annual Meeting. Everyone who owned our shares as of this date, 
whether directly as a registered shareholder or indirectly through a bank, broker or other nominee, is entitled to 
vote at the Annual Meeting. We had 85,780,069 shares outstanding on March 18, 2025. Each share 
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outstanding on the record date is entitled to one vote. A majority of the shares entitled to vote at the Annual 
Meeting must be present in person or by proxy for us to proceed with the Annual Meeting. 

> ACCESSING MATERIALS 

Shareholders can access this Proxy Statement, our Annual Report and our other filings with the SEC on the 
Investors page of our website at www.federalrealty.com. A copy of our Annual Report, including the financial 
statements and financial statement schedules ("Form 1 0-K") is being provided to shareholders along with this 
Proxy Statement. The Form 10-K includes certain exhibits, which we will provide to you only upon request 
addressed to Investor Relations at 909 Rose Avenue, Suite 200, North Bethesda, Maryland 20852. The request 
must be accompanied by payment of a fee to cover our reasonable expenses for copying and mailing the 
Form 10-K. 

In the future, if you wish to receive paper copies of our proxy materials, without charge, and are a registered 
shareholder, you may do so by written request addressed to Equiniti Trust Company, LLC. For those of you 
holding shares indirectly in "street name", you must write your bank, brokerage f irm, broker-dealer or nominee, to 
obtain paper copies. Any election you make on how to receive your proxy materials will remain in effect for all 
future annual meetings until you revoke it. 

> HOW TO VOTE 

If you own your shares directly with our transfer agent, Equiniti Trust Company, LLC (successor to American 
Stock Transfer and Trust Company) ("Equiniti"), you are a registered shareholder. If you are a registered 
shareholder and fail to give any instructions on your proxy card on any proposal , the proxies identified on the 
proxy card will vote in the manner recommended by the Board of Trustees for each proposal. Registered 
shareholders can vote either in person at the Annual Meeting or by proxy without attending the Annual Meeting 
through one of the following methods: 

By Internet 
www.voteproxy.com, available 24/7 

D 
By Telephone 

Call 1-800-776-9437, available 24/7 
By Mail 

Mark, sign and date your proxy card 

If you vote by internet or telephone, you will need the control number on your Notice, proxy card or voting 
instruction form. Votes must be submitted by the conclusion of the Annual Meeting to be counted for the meeting. 
You may ll'evoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at the Annual Meeting by notifying the secretary in 
writing, submitting a proxy dated later than your original proxy, or attending and voting at the Annual Meeting. 

If you hold your shares indirectly in an account at a bank, brokerage firm, brolker-dealer or nominee, you are a 
beneficial owner of shares held in "street name". You will receive all proxy materials directly from your bank, 
brokerage firm, broker-dealer or nominee and you must either direct them as to how to vote your shares or obtain 
from them a proxy to vote at the Annual Meeting. Please refer to the notice of internet availability of proxy 
materials or the voter instruction form used by your bank, brokerage firm, broker-dealer or nominee for specific 
instructions on methods of voting. If you fail to give your bank, brokerage firm, broker-dealer or nominee specific 
instructions on how to vote your shares with respect to Proposals 1 or 2, that organization will inform the inspector 
of election that it does not have the authority to vote on the matter with respect to your shares. This is generally 
referred to as a "broker non-vote". Broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of these matters. It is 
important for every shareholder's vote to be counted on these matters so we encourage you to provide your bank, 
brokerage firm, broker-dealer or nominee with voting instructions. If you fail to give your bank, brokerage firm, 
broker-dealer or nominee specific instructions on how to vote your shares on Proposal 3, your bank, brokerage 
firm, broker-dealer or nominee will generally be able to vote on Proposal 3 as he, she or it determines. 
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You are urged to vote either by telephone (1 -800-PROXIES or 1-800-776-9437) or on the Internet 
(www.voteproxy.com) by following the instructions on your Notice. If you elect to receive your proxy materials by 
mail, please make sure to complete, sign, date and return your proxy card promptly to make certain your shares 
will be voted at the Annual Meeting. 

If you do not vote your shares, your shares will not be counted and we may not be able to hold the Annual 
Meeting. We encourage you to vote by proxy using one of the methods described above even if you plan to 
attend the Annual Meeting so that we will know as soon as possible whether enough votes will be present. 

> HOW TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ANNUAL MEETING 

You will be able to join our Annual Meeting as either a shareholder or a guest. All registered shareholders and 
shareholders that own shares in "street name" will be able to ask questions and vote their shares at the meeting 
by following the instructions below. Guests will be permitted to join the meeting but will not be permitted to ask 
questions. 

You can access the Annual Meeting by joining through this link: https://web.lumiconnect.com/202329683. If you 
are a registered shareholder owning shares directly in your name and you would like to be able to ask a question 
or vote at the Annual Meeting, you should click on "I have a control number", enter the control number found on 
your proxy card or Notice you previously received, and enter the password "federa/2025' to enter the meeting. 
The password is case sensitive. If you hold your shares in "street name" through a bank, brokerage firm, broker­
dealer or nominee and you would like to be able to ask a question or vote at the Annual Meeting, you must first 
obtain a legal proxy from your bank, brokerage firm, broker-dealer or nominee and then submit a request for 
registration to Equiniti: (1) by email to proxy@equinity.com; (2} by facsimile to 718-765-8730; or (3) by mail to 
Equiniti, Attn: Proxy Tabulation Department, 55 Challenger Road, Suite 2008, 2nd Floor, Ridgefield Park, 
New Jersey 07660. Requests for registration must be labeled as "Legal Proxy" and must be received by Equiniti 
no later than 5:00 p.m. local time on April 28, 2025. You will receive a confirmation of your registration by email 
from Equiniti after they receive your registration materials. The email will also include a control number so that 
you can ask a question or vote at the Annual Meeting by clicking on "I have a control number". Shareholders who 
hold shares in "street name" will not be able to vote their shares or ask questions without first completing this 
registration process. Once you are in the meeting, you can vote your shares by clicking on the· Proxy Voting Site 
link on the screen to submit your ballot. You may also continue to vote using the instructions provided in the Proxy 
Materials until the Annual Meeting concludes. 

If you do not want to vote your shares during the meeting or ask a question, you can join the meeting as a guest 
using the same link above. You will not need to have your control number or to complete a registration in order to 
participate as a guest. We will have technicians ready to assist you with any technical difficulties you may have 
accessing the Annual Meeting webcast. Electronic check in begins at 8:30 a.m. local time on May 7, 2025, the 
day of the Annual Meeting, so that we may address any technical difficulties before the Annual Meeting webcast 
begins. If you encounter any difficulties accessing the Annual Meeting webcast during the check-in or meeting 
time, please go to https:llgo.lumiglobal.coml faq or call 352-803-0587. 

> ELIMINATING DUPLICATIVE PROXY MATERIALS 

We have adopted a procedure approved by the SEC called "householding" under which multiple shareholders 
who share an address and do not participate in electronic delivery will receive only one copy of the annual proxy 
materials or Notice unless we receive contrary instructions from one or more of the shareholders. If you would llike 
to opt out of householding and continue to receive multiple copies of the proxy materials or Notice at the same 
address, or if you have previously opted out of householding and would now like to participate, you can do so by 
notifying us in writing, by telephone or by email at: Investor Relations, 909 Rose Avenue, Suite 200, North 
Bethesda, Maryland 20852, (800) 937-5449, IR@federalrealty.com. 
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> SOLICITATION OF PROXIES 

We will bear the cost of soliciting proxies from beneficial owners of our shares. Our trustees, officers and 
employees, acting without special compensation, and other agents may solicit proxies by telephone, internet, or 
otherwise. Copies of solicitation materials will be furnished to brokerage firms, fiduciaries, and other custodians 
who hold our shares of record for beneficial owners for forwarding to such beneficial owners. We may also 
reimburse persons representing beneficial owners of our shares for their reasonable expenses incurred in 
forwarding such materials. Beneficial owners of our shares who authorize their proxies through the internet should 
be aware that they may incur costs to access the internet, such as usage charges from telephone companies or 
internet service providers and these costs must be borne by the shareholder. 

> SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR THE 2026 ANNUAL MEETING 

This solicitation is made by the Company on behalf of the Board. Proposals of shareholders intended to be 
presented at the 2026 Annual Meeting of Shareholders or nominations for persons for election to the Board of 
Trustees, must be delivered to us at 909 Rose Avenue, Suite 200, North Bethesda, Maryland 20852, Attention: 
Secretary and received by us no later than November 28, 2025 and no earlier than October 29, 2025, unless the 
date of the 2026 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is changed by more than 30 days from the date of the 2025 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, in which case such proposal or nomination must be received within a 
reasonable time before we begin to print and mail our proxy materials. All shareholder proposals and nominations 
must comply with the requirements set forth in our Bylaws and applicable state and federal laws. Shareholder 
proposals must comply with Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act in order to be included in the Company's proxy 
statement and proxy card for the 2026 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. Pursuant to our proxy access Byllaw 
provision, a shareholder, or a group of up to 20 shareholders, that has continuously owned for three years at least 
3% of the Company's outstanding common shares, may nominate and include iin the Company's annual meeting 
proxy materials up to the greater of two trustees or 20% of the number of trustees serving on the Board, if the 
shareholder(s) and the nominee(s) meet the requirements specified in Article II, Section 13 of our Bylaws. Our 
Bylaws are available by written request made to the Secretary, 909 Rose Avenue, Suite 200, North Bethesda, 
Maryland 20852. 

In addition to satisfying the foregoing requirements under our Bylaws, to comply with the universal proxy rules, 
shareholders who intend to solicit proxies in support of nominees other than the Company's nominees to the 
Board of Trustees must satisfy the requirements of Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act, including by providing 
notice and the information required thereunder no later than March 8, 2026 (exoept that, if the date of the meeting 
has changed by more than 30 days from the previous year, then such notice must be provided by the later of 
60 calendar days prior to the date of the annual meeting or the 1Oth day following the day on which we first 
publicly announce the date of the annual meeting). 

For the Trustees, 

~:~~t: 
Dawn M. Becker 
Executive Vice President- Chief Legal 
Officer and Secretary 

Federal Realty Investment Trust 
909 Rose Avenue, Suite 200 
North Bethesda, Maryland 20852 

YOUR PROXY IS IMPORTANT REGARDLESS OF THE NUMBER OF SHARES YOU OWN. PLEASE SUBMIT 
IT TODAY. 
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Appendix A 
Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

Funds from Operations: 
Funds from operations ("FFO") is a supplemental non-GMP financial measure of real estate companies' operating 
performance. The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts ("NAREIT") defines FFO as follows: net 
income, computed in acoordance with U.S. GMP, plus real estate related depreciation and amortization, and 
excluding gains and losses on the sale of real estate or changes in control, net of tax, and impairment write-downs 
of certain real estate assets and investments in entities when the impairment is directly attributable to decreases in 
the value of depreciable real estate held by the entity. We compute FFO in accordance with the NAREIT definition, 
and we have historically reported our FFO available for common shareholders in addition to our net income and net 
cash provided by operating activities. It should be noted that FFO: 

does not represent cash flows from operating activities in accordance with GAAP (which, unlike FFO, 
generally reflects all cash effects of transactions and other events in the determination of net income); 
should not be considered an alternative to net income as an indication of our performance; and 
is not necessarily indicative of cash flow as a measure of liquidity or ability to fund cash needs, including 
the payment of dividends. 

We consider FFO available for common shareholders a meaningful, additional measure of operating performance 
primarily because it excludes the assumption that the value of the real estate assets diminishes predictably over 
time, as implied by the historical cost convention of GMP and the recording of depreciation. We use FIFO 
primarily as one of several means of assessing our operating performance in comparison with other REITs. 
Comparison of our presentation of FFO to similarly titled measures for other REITs may not necessarily be 
meaningful due to possible differences in the application of the NAREIT definition used by such REITs. 

An increase or decrease in FFO available for common shareholders does not necessarily result in an increase or 
decrease in aggregate distributions because our Board of Trustees is not required to increase distributions on a 
quarterly basis. However, we must distribute at least 90% of our annual taxable income to remain qualified as a 
REIT. Therefore, a significant increase in FFO will generally require an increase in distributions to shareholders 
although not necessarily on a proportionate basis. 

The reconciliation of net income to FFO available for common shareholders is as follows: 

Net income 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 
Gain on deconsolidation of a VIE 
Gain on sale of real estate 
Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets 
Amortization of initial direct costs of leases 

Funds from operations 
Dividends on preferred shares(1l 
Income attributable to downREIT operating partnership units 
Income attributable to unvested shares 

Funds from operations available for common shareholders 

Weighted average number of common shares, dilutedC1J(2l 

Funds from operations available for common shareholders, per diluted share 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 
(In thousands, except per share data) 
$304,334 $247,217 $395,661 

(9, 126) (1 0,232) (1 0, 170) 

(54,040) 
302,455 

33,377 

577,000 
(7,500) 

2,743 
(2,004) 

$570,239 

84,286 

$ 6.77 

(9,881) 
285,689 

31,208 

544,001 
(7,500) 

2,767 
(1 ,955) 

$537,313 

82,044 

$ 6.55 

(70,374) 
(93,483) 
266,741 
27,268 

515,643 
(7,500) 

2,810 
(1 ,797) 

$509,156 

80,603 

$ 6.32 

C1l For the years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023 and 2022, dividends on our Series 1 preferred stock were not deducted in 
the calculation of FFO available to common shareholders, as the related shares were dilutive and included in "weighted 
average number of common shares, diluted." 

C2l The weighted average common shares used to compute FFO per diluted common share includes downREIT operating 
partnership units that were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS. Conversion of these operating partnership units 
is dilutive in the computation of FFO per diluted common share but is anti-dilutive for the computation of diluted EPS for 
2024 and 2023. 
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Corporate 
Information 
CORPORATE OFFICE 

909 Rose Avenue, Suite 200 
North Bethesda, MD 20852 
301.998.8100 

CO RPORA TE C OUN SEL 

Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP 
Washington, DC 

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED 
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Grant Thornton LLP 
New York, NY 

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

Equiniti Trust Company, LLC (successor to 
American Stock Transfer and Trust Company) 
55 Challenger Road, Sui te 200B, 2nd Floor 
Ridgef ield Park, New Jersey 07660 
718.921.8124 
800.937.5449 
www.astfinancial.com 

COMMON STOCK LISTING 

New York Stock Exchange 
Symbol: FRT 

MEMBERSHIPS 

International Council of Shopping Centers 
National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts 
Urban Land Institute 

ANNUAL MEETING 

Federal Realty Investment Trust will hold its Annual 
Sharelholder Meeting virtually at 9:00a.m. on May 7, 
2025 .. 

C ORPORAT E GO V E RNAN CE 

The Trust's Corporate Governance Guidel ines and the 
charters for the Audit Committee, the Compensation 
and Human Capital Management Committee and the 
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are 
available in the Investors section of our website at 
www .federalrealty.com. 

AUTOMATIC CASH INVESTMENT 
AND DIRECT DEPOSIT 

Federal Realty offers automatic cash investment, the 
option to automatically withdraw funds from a 
checking/savings or other bank account to purchase 
additional shares of FRT on the 151 and 1 S•h of each 
montlh. Federal Realty also offers shareholders the 
option to directly deposit their dividends. To sign up 
for automatic cash investment or direct deposit, please 
call 800.937.5449 or vi sit www.equiniti.com. 

INTERNET ! 
WWW . FEDERALREAL TY.COM 

Visitors to the site can search for and download 
Securit ies and Exchange Commission filings, review 
Federal Realty's Dividend Reinvestment Plan, obtain 
current stock quotes, read recent press releases, and 
see a listing of our properties and the properties' 
respective websites. Printed materials and email news 
alerts can also be requested. 

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT 

You may communicate directly with Federal Realty's 
Invest or Relations department via telephone at 
800.658.8980 or by email at IR@federalrealty.com. 
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